NEUROTRAUMA: FROM EMERGENCY ROOM TO BACK TO DAY-BY-DAY LIFE

EDITED BY: Renato Anghinah, Wellingson Silva Paiva, Tiago Henrique Falk and Felipe Fregni PUBLISHED IN: Frontiers in Neurology







Frontiers Copyright Statement

© Copyright 2007-2019 Frontiers Media SA. All rights reserved. All content included on this site, such as text, graphics, logos, button icons, images, video/audio clips, downloads, data compilations and software, is the property of or is licensed to Frontiers Media SA ("Frontiers") or its licensees and/or subcontractors. The copyright in the text of individual articles is the property of their respective authors, subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this e-book, wherever published, as well as the compilation of all other content on this site, is the exclusive property of Frontiers. For the conditions for downloading and copying of e-books from Frontiers' website, please see the Terms for Website Use. If purchasing Frontiers e-books from other websites or sources, the conditions of the website concerned apply.

Images and graphics not forming part of user-contributed materials may not be downloaded or copied without permission.

Individual articles may be downloaded and reproduced in accordance with the principles of the CC-BY licence subject to any copyright or other notices. They may not be re-sold as an e-book.

As author or other contributor you grant a CC-BY licence to others to reproduce your articles, including any graphics and third-party materials supplied by you, in accordance with the Conditions for Website Use and subject to any copyright notices which you include in connection with your articles and materials.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws.

The above represents a summary only. For the full conditions see the Conditions for Authors and the Conditions for Website Use.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-88945-724-3 DOI 10.3389/978-2-88945-724-3

About Frontiers

Frontiers is more than just an open-access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

Frontiers Journal Series

The Frontiers Journal Series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of open-access, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the Frontiers Journal Series operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

Dedication to Quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews.

Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the Frontiers Journals Series: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area! Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers Editorial Office: researchtopics@frontiersin.org

NEUROTRAUMA: FROM EMERGENCY ROOM TO BACK TO DAY-BY-DAY LIFE

Topic Editors: **Renato Anghinah**, University of São Paulo, Brazil **Wellingson Silva Paiva**, University of São Paulo, Brazil **Tiago Henrique Falk**, Institut National de la Recherche Scientifique (INRS), Canada **Felipe Fregni**, Harvard Medical School, United States

Citation: Anghinah, R., Paiva, W. S., Falk, T. H., Fregni, F., eds. (2019). NEUROTRAUMA: From Emergency Room to Back to Day-by-Day Life. Lausanne: Frontiers Media. doi: 10.3389/978-2-88945-724-3

Table of Contents

05 Editorial: NEUROTRAUMA: From Emergency Room to Back to Day-by-Day Life

Renato Anghinah, Wellingson Silva Paiva, Tiago Henrique Falk and Felipe Fregni

- **07** Altered Intracortical Inhibition in Chronic Traumatic Diffuse Axonal Injury Cintya Yukie Hayashi, Iuri Santana Neville, Priscila Aparecida Rodrigues, Ricardo Galhardoni, André Russowsky Brunoni, Ana Luiza Zaninotto, Vinicius Monteiro de Paula Guirado, Ana Sofia Cueva, Daniel Ciampi de Andrade, Manoel Jacobsen Teixeira and Wellingson Silva Paiva
- 15 Transcranial Direct Current Stimulation for Post-Concussion Syndrome: Study Protocol for a Randomized Crossover Trial Robson Luis Oliveira de Amorim, André Russowsky Brunoni, Mirian Akiko Furutani de Oliveira, Ana Luiza Costa Zaninotto, Marcia Mitie Nagumo, Vinícius Monteiro de Paula Guirado, Iuri Santana Neville, Gláucia Rosana Guerra Benute, Mara Cristina Souza de Lucia, Wellingson Silva Paiva, Almir Ferreira de Andrade and Manoel Jacobsen Teixeira
- 23 Investigating Microstructural Abnormalities and Neurocognition in Sub-Acute and Chronic Traumatic Brain Injury Patients With Normal-Appearing White Matter: A Preliminary Diffusion Tensor Imaging Study

Eyesha Hashim, Eduardo Caverzasi , Nico Papinutto, Caroline E. Lewis, Ruiwei Jing, Onella Charles, Shudong Zhang, Amy Lin, Simon J. Graham, Tom A. Schweizer, Aditya Bharatha and Michael D. Cusimano

- 35 Comparison Between Brain Computed Tomography Scan and Transcranial Sonography to Evaluate Third Ventricle Width, Peri-Mesencephalic Cistern, and Sylvian Fissure in Traumatic Brain-Injured Patients Raphael A. G. Oliveira, Marcelo de Oliveira Lima, Wellingson Silva Paiva, Luiz Marcelo de Sá Malbouisson, Manuel Jacobsen Teixeira and
- 40 Diffuse Axonal Injury: Epidemiology, Outcome and Associated Risk Factors

Rita de Cássia Almeida Vieira, Wellingson Silva Paiva, Daniel Vieira de Oliveira, Manoel Jacobsen Teixeira, Almir Ferreira de Andrade and Regina Márcia Cardoso de Sousa

52 Functional, Structural, and Neurotoxicity Biomarkers in Integrative Assessment of Concussions

Svetlana A. Dambinova, Joseph C. Maroon, Alicia M. Sufrinko, John David Mullins, Eugenia V. Alexandrova and Alexander A. Potapov

64 Restoration of Upper Limb Function in an Individual With Cervical Spondylotic Myelopathy Using Functional Electrical Stimulation Therapy: A Case Study

Milos R. Popovic, Vera Zivanovic and Taufik A. Valiante

Edson Bor-Seng-Shu

- 71 Diffusion Tensor Imaging Findings in Post-Concussion Syndrome Patients After Mild Traumatic Brain Injury: A Systematic Review Edrea Khong, Nicole Odenwald, Eyesha Hashim and Michael D. Cusimano
- 79 Role of Anticonvulsants in the Management of Posttraumatic Epilepsy Batool F. Kirmani, Diana Mungall Robinson, Ekokobe Fonkem, Kevin Graf and Jason H. Huang
- 84 Effects of Soccer Heading on Brain Structure and Function Ana Carolina Rodrigues, Rodrigo Pace Lasmar and Paulo Caramelli





Editorial: NEUROTRAUMA: From Emergency Room to Back to Day-by-Day Life

Renato Anghinah^{1*}, Wellingson Silva Paiva¹, Tiago Henrique Falk² and Felipe Fregni³

¹ Department of Neurology, Universidade de São Paulo, São Paulo, Brazil, ² Centre Énergie, Matériaux, Télécommunications, Institut National de la Recherche Scientifique, Quebec, QC, Canada, ³ Harvard Medical School, Boston, MA, United States

Keywords: traumatic brain injury, concussion, diffuse axonal injury, cognitive impairment, treatment

Editorial on the Research Topic

NEUROTRAUMA: From Emergency Room to Back to Day-by-Day Life

Traumatic brain injury (TBI) is a nondegenerative and non-congenital insult to the brain from an external mechanical force that can lead to permanent or temporary impairment of cognitive, physical, and psychosocial functions (1). TBI is considered a "silent epidemic" not only due to its magnitude, but also because it affects mostly young and productive individuals (2).

Most patients with TBI return home after the critical phase of hospital management. Although some patients manage to regain some degree of independence in their self-care, many are still incapable of applying critical thinking to decision-making processes, providing for their family needs, or continuing work, school or social activities. Moreover, many also manifest mood alterations and depression. As such, patient rehabilitation after hospital discharge is a critical step in returning to their day-by-day lives (3).

The objective of this *Frontiers in Neurology* Research Topic is to present the latest findings and views regarding the pathophysiology and treatment of TBI. It is comprised of 10 papers, each offering a unique view and understanding of how TBI can be detected and managed from the emergency room to back to day-by-day life.

Hayashi et al. evaluated the cortical excitability during the chronic phase of TBI in victims diagnosed with diffuse axonal injury (DAI). Amorim et al. in turn, studied the effects of transcranial direct current stimulation (tDCS) in patients with persistent post-concussion syndrome who demonstrated cognitive deficits in long-term episodic memory, working memory, and executive function following mild TBI. Hashim et al. used diffusion tensor imaging to investigate the apparently normal white matter (assessed by routine magnetic resonance imaging) in the brains of subjects with sub-acute and chronic TBI. Oliveira et al. studied the usefulness of transcranial color-coded duplex sonography for evaluating TBI patients. Vieira et al. described the outcome for patients with a primary diagnosis of DAI 6 months after trauma and identified sociodemographic and clinical factors associated with mortality and dependence at this time point. Dambinova et al. hypothesized that neurotoxicity AMPA, NMDA, and kainite receptor biomarkers might be utilized as part of a comprehensive approach to concussion evaluations. Popovic et al. in turn, described a case of a man with non-traumatic spinal cord injury that was submitted to functional electrical stimulation therapy to restore voluntary reaching and/or grasping function of his hand. Khong et al. conducted a systematic review regarding the evidence for the use of diffusion tensor imaging parameters in the human brain as a diagnostic tool for and predictor of post-concussion syndrome after a mild traumatic brain injury. Kirmani et al. reviewed the literature to understand the role

OPEN ACCESS

Edited and reviewed by:

Mårten Risling, Karolinska Institutet (KI), Sweden

> *Correspondence: Renato Anghinah anghinah@terra.com.br

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Neurotrauma, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neurology

Received: 20 August 2018 Accepted: 27 August 2018 Published: 19 September 2018

Citation:

Anghinah R, Paiva WS, Falk TH and Fregni F (2018) Editorial: NEUROTRAUMA: From Emergency Room to Back to Day-by-Day Life. Front. Neurol. 9:776. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2018.00776

5

Lastly, of anticonvulsants in the treatment of posttraumatic epilepsy. Rodrigues et al. conducted a review of existing literature regarding the effects of soccer heading on brain structure and function.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors listed have made a substantial, direct and intellectual contribution to the work, and approved it for publication.

REFERENCES

- Jang SH, Ahn SH, Byun WM, Kim CS, Lee MY, Kwon YH. The effect of transcranial direct current stimulation on the cortical activation by motor task in the human brain: an fMRI study. *Neurosci Lett.* (2009) 460:117–20. doi: 10.1016/j.neulet.2009.05.037
- Langlois JA, Rutland-Brown W, Thomas KE. The incidence of traumatic brain injury among children in the United States: differences by race. *J Head Trauma Rehabil.* (2005) 20:229–38. doi: 10.1097/00001199-200505000-00006
- 3. Mansur LL, Radanovic M. (editors). *Neurolinguistica: Princípios Para a Prática Clínica*. São Paulo: Edições Inteligentes (2004).

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Anghinah, Paiva, Falk and Fregni. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Altered Intracortical Inhibition in Chronic Traumatic Diffuse Axonal Injury

Cintya Yukie Hayashi¹*, Iuri Santana Neville¹, Priscila Aparecida Rodrigues¹, Ricardo Galhardoni^{1,2}, André Russowsky Brunoni³, Ana Luiza Zaninotto^{1,4}, Vinicius Monteiro de Paula Guirado¹, Ana Sofia Cueva¹, Daniel Ciampi de Andrade¹, Manoel Jacobsen Teixeira¹ and Wellingson Silva Paiva¹

¹Department of Neurology, School of Medicine, University of São Paulo (USP), São Paulo, Brazil, ²School of Medicine, Universidade da Cidade de São Paulo (UNICID), São Paulo, Brazil, ³Service of Interdisciplinary Neuromodulation, Institute of Psychiatry, Hospital das Clínicas HCFMUSP, University of São Paulo (USP), São Paulo, Brazil, ⁴Division of Psychology, Hospital das Clínicas HCFMUSP, University of São Paulo (USP), São Paulo, Brazil

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Kenneth Curley, latrikos Research and Development Solutions, LLC, United States

Reviewed by:

Ramon Diaz-Arrastia, University of Pennsylvania, United States Rao P. Gullapalli, School of Medicine, University of Maryland, United States

*Correspondence: Cintya Yukie Hayashi cintya.hayashi@yahoo.com.br

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Neurotrauma, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neurology

Received: 28 August 2016 Accepted: 12 March 2018 Published: 28 March 2018

Citation:

Hayashi CY, Neville IS, Rodrigues PA, Galhardoni R, Brunoni AR, Zaninotto AL, Guirado VMdP, Cueva AS, de Andrade DC, Teixeira MJ and Paiva WS (2018) Altered Intracortical Inhibition in Chronic Traumatic Diffuse Axonal Injury. Front. Neurol. 9:189. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2018.00189 **Background:** Overactivation of NMDA-mediated excitatory processes and excess of GABA-mediated inhibition are attributed to the acute and subacute phases, respectively, after a traumatic brain injury (TBI). However, there are few studies regarding the circuitry during the chronic phase of brain injury.

Objective: To evaluate the cortical excitability (CE) during the chronic phase of TBI in victims diagnosed with diffuse axonal injury (DAI).

Methods: The 22 adult subjects were evaluated after a minimum of 1 year from the onset of moderate or severe TBI. Each of the subjects first had a comprehensive neuropsychological assessment to evaluate executive functions—attention, memory, verbal fluency, and information processing speed. Then, CE assessment was performed with a circular coil applying single-pulse and paired-pulse transcranial magnetic stimulation over the cortical representation of the abductor pollicis brevis muscle on M1 of both hemispheres. The CE parameters measured were resting motor threshold (RMT), motorevoked potentials (MEPs), short-interval intracortical inhibition (SIICI), and intracortical facilitation (ICF). All data were compared with that of a control group that consisted of the healthy age-matched individuals.

Results: No significant differences between the left and right hemispheres were detected in the DAI subjects. Therefore, parameters were analyzed as pooled data. Values of RMT, MEPs, and ICF from DAI patients were within normal limits. However, SIICI values were higher in the DAI group—DAI SIICI = 1.28 (1.01; 1.87) versus the control value = 0.56 (0.33; 0.69)—suggesting that they had a disarranged inhibitory system (p < 0.001). By contrast, the neuropsychological findings had weak correlation with the CE data.

Conclusion: As inhibition processes involve GABA-mediated circuitry, it is likely that the DAI pathophysiology itself (disruption of axons) may deplete GABA and contribute to ongoing disinhibition of these neural circuits of the cerebrum during the chronic phase of DAI.

Keywords: brain injuries, craniocerebral trauma, diffuse axonal injury, neurophysiology, transcranial magnetic stimulation

INTRODUCTION

Traumatic brain injury (TBI) is one of the major health consequences of trauma from motor vehicle accidents having its highest incidence among young male adults (1, 2). Considering that this age group is at its prime economic productivity, should they suffer a TBI which can cause long-term motor and cognitive disabilities, the negative impact of TBI stretches beyond just the individual victim (3, 4).

Traumatic brain injury is classified by clinical severity (mild, moderate, or severe), pathoanatomic type (focal or diffuse), and mechanism of injury (blunt or penetrating) (1). Focal lesions tend to have simpler management compared to diffuse injuries, whereas widespread damage has a complex mechanism that contributes to morbidity and limits clinical study and management.

Diffuse axonal injury (DAI) is a clinical condition often related to closed head traumas. It is the predominant finding in approximately half of TBI patients, and it has been found in all levels of TBI severity. Clinically, trauma victims with prolonged unconsciousness (6 h or more) unaccompanied by ischemic damage or mass lesions are usually diagnosed with DAI. Still, most of the features of DAI are microscopic and cannot be identified on conventional methods of neuroimaging, such as computed tomography (CT) scans or conventional magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) (1, 5, 6).

The diagnosis of DAI can only be confirmed by postmortem histopathological analysis and, for this reason, the development of new and more refined techniques—for instance, diffusionweighted imaging and diffusion tensor imaging in MRI—enables further studies of DAI *in vivo*. In particular, transcranial magnetic stimulation (TMS) seems to be an interesting tool for neurophysiological testing as it allows a noninvasive real-time study of the brain, providing indirect information about intracortical interneuronal circuits through cortical excitability (CE) assessments (6–10).

Some studies using TMS show changes in CE after strokes, in psychiatric disorders, in pain syndromes, and even during acute phases of TBI (11–14). Mechanisms of intracortical facilitation (ICF) and intracortical inhibition are related to glutamatergic and GABAergic pathways, respectively, and the imbalance of these neurotransmitters is somehow involved in maladaptive plasticity (15, 16). Knowledge about how these imbalances lead to the pathophysiology that develops after brain injury would enable the development of new therapeutic strategies and rehabilitation options.

Unfortunately, there are few studies of CE after TBI, and most of those studies were carried out in patients with TBI of mild severity or only during the acute phase (14–16). Thus, in the present study, we sought to evaluate CE in patients during the chronic phase of TBI, diagnosed with DAI, using the diagnostic mode of TMS. In addition, we tried to correlate the neuropsychological profile of these patients with the CE data and clinical characteristics.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Setting and Subjects

A convenience sample of 73 adults, 18-60 years old, of both genders, who had been clinically diagnosed with DAI during an

acute hospitalization following trauma were initially evaluated at the neurotrauma outpatient center of a tertiary referral hospital in Sao Paulo, Brazil.

After this initial screening, 51 patients were excluded. Exclusion criteria included (1) associated focal lesions or the presence of any abnormality other than DAI (e.g., epidural/ subdural hematoma); (2) having suffered more than one TBI; (3) major psychiatric disorders (e.g., major depression, bipolar disorder, any disorder requiring admission to a psychiatric ward); (4) history of surgical procedures to the brain/skull; (5) the presence of metallic devices/pieces in the brain/skull (clips, plates, electrodes, etc.); (6) pregnancy; (7) epilepsy/seizures; (8) severe language impairment (writing/reading/speaking); or (9) illicit drug and/or alcohol abuse.

To achieve the most homogeneous sample possible, DAI diagnosis was established for this study as (1) a clinical condition of prolonged unconsciousness (6 h or more) following TBI; (2) a head CT scan image taken during acute hospitalization, demonstrating a wide spectrum of findings such as a relatively normal examination, small hemorrhagic (hyperdense) or non-hemorrhagic (hypodense) lesions no more than 25 cm³ in size (typically located at the gray-white matter junction, in the corpus callosum, and in more severe cases in the brainstem); small intraventricular hemorrhage, subarachnoid hemorrhage, and signs of brain swelling, such as compressed or even absent basal cisterns; (3) MRI obtained during the chronic phase (i.e., taken at least 6 months after TBI), demonstrating small regions of susceptibility artifact at the gray-white matter junction, in the corpus callosum, or the brain stem. Some lesions might be entirely non-hemorrhagic (even using susceptibility-weighted imaging sequences at high-field strengths). These would, however, be visible as regions of high fluid-attenuated inversion recovery signals on an MRI of the cranium.

Twenty-two subjects selected to participate in this exploratory study were assessed after a 1-year interval, at least, from the moment of trauma. The recruitment period was from May 2014 to 2015. For general comparisons, we used the normative data of CE as reference (17), and for supplementary analysis, we selected a control group consisting of 22 healthy subjects, with no history of brain injury or trauma, from a normative CE database (17), matching the DAI subjects for age and gender.

The protocol was approved by the Ethics Committee for Research of the respective institutions (Protocol #707.642), in compliance with the Declaration of Helsinki, and written informed consent was obtained from all the subjects participating in the study.

Neuropsychological Assessment

All of the selected patients underwent a broad neuropsychological assessment to evaluate attention, memory, information processing speed, dexterity, and executive functions (inhibitory control, verbal fluency, and working memory). All the neuropsychological tests were conducted at one session in a quiet room, with only the subject and the examiner, at 2–7 days before the CE assessment and included the following:

- STAI (State-Trait Anxiety Inventory) (18, 19),
- BDI (Beck Depression Inventory) (18, 20),

- HVLT (Hopkins Verbal Learning Test)—immediate recall/ delayed recall/recognition (21),
- BVMT (Brief Visual Memory Test)—immediate recall/delayed recall/recognition (21),
- TMT A and B (Trail-Making Test parts A and B) focused visual attention and task-switching attention (22),
- Stroop test, Victoria version—selective attention and inhibition (22),
- Digit Span Test—working memory (23),
- COWAT (Controlled Oral Word Association Test)—phonologic and semantic verbal fluency (24),
- Symbol digit test—information processing speed (24),
- Five-point test—visual fluency (24),
- Grooved pegboard test-dexterity (25).

CE Assessment: TMS

The CE assessment was performed using MagPro X100 (MagVenture Tonika Elektronik, Farum, Denmark) with a C-100 circular coil connected to an electromyography amplifier of a one-channel, three-surface electrode output.

The stimulation target—*hotspot*—was determined using 70% intensity to identify the point of highest response of the hand muscles, which would correspond to the cortical representation of the abductor pollicis brevis muscle on M1 of both hemispheres. Each subject sat comfortably on a reclining armchair and wore a polyester swim cap on which the *hotspot* was marked.

The parameters measured were resting motor threshold (RMT), motor-evoked potentials (MEPs), short-interval intracortical inhibition (SIICI), and ICF. Peak-to-peak MEP amplitudes were considered in microvolts (μ V). RMT was established as the lowest intensity at which MEP of at least 50- μ V amplitude could be elicited in 5 of 10 consecutive stimuli (13, 17, 26–30).

We used single-pulse TMS for RMT and MEP measurements. The average value of four MEP curves taken at 120% of RMT was used for analysis. The same procedure was adopted for MEP curves at 140% of RMT. Paired-pulse TMS (pp-TMS) was used for SIICI and ICF measurements, with the conditioning stimulus set at 80% of RMT and the test stimulus at 120% of RMT (13). For SIICI analysis, response curves were taken using pp-TMS with 2 and 4 millisecond (ms) intervals between pulses [interstimulus intervals (ISI)], denominated ICI 2 ms and ICI 4 ms. As for ICF, ISI were 10 and 15 ms, denominated ICI 10 ms and ICI 15 ms. The average value of four MEP curves at each interval was used for analysis. CE measurements were performed using the same technique as in previous studies to facilitate comparison (17, 26–30).

Statistical Analysis

All neuropsychological and CE data were analyzed using the SPSS version 22.0 Statistical package (SPSS, IBM Inc., Chicago, IL, USA) with two-tailed tests and a 5% level of significance. Shapiro–Wilk tests were used to verify continuous variables for normal distribution, and Wilcoxon tests were used to compare the right and left hemispheres in the DAI group.

For inferential analysis, all subjects from DAI group were matched by age and gender to healthy subjects from a normative database of CE (17), and a Mann–Whitney *U*-test was performed.

The Spearman test was performed to analyze correlation between neuropsychological and CE data results.

RESULTS

Demographic and Clinical Characteristics

Most participants had severe TBI. They were mostly young adult males (86%), as trauma in general is common in this group. For the outcome measure (functionality), participants were classified according to the Glasgow Outcome Scale-Extended (31). Most of them were independent, both inside and outside their homes but could not resume all their pre-injury social activities *upper moderate disability*—mostly due to irritability, concentration problems, and memory failures (**Table 1**).

Three subjects had used medications in the past that could interfere with the neurophysiological tests, but by the time they were included in the study, they were no longer taking any medications and were not outliers on CE data. Therefore, they were not excluded from analysis.

CE Results

The CE data distribution was skewed, and there were no significant differences between hemispheres (p = 0.125). A pooled analysis was performed in which data from both hemispheres (left and right) were combined (22 subjects, 44 hemispheres). One subject had traumatic amputation of the right arm, and CE data of the left hemisphere were not collected. Another subject had a brachial plexus injury of the left arm, and CE data of right hemisphere were not collected. In summary, 42 hemispheres were analyzed for the DAI patients.

DAI Group Data Classified According to Normative Data

On a group analysis, CE values for the DAI group were classified according to normative data (**Table 2**). The confidence interval

TABLE 1 | Demographic and clinical characteristics of 22 subjects with DAI.

	,
	Mean (\pm SD) or number (%)
Demographic	
Age, years	30.1 (±10.3)
Gender, male	19 (86.36)
Education, years	10.3 (±2.3)
Clinical characteristics	

20 (90.9)
18.7 (±2.5)
2 (9.09)
10 (45.45)
7 (31.82)
3 (13.64)
16 (72.73)
9 (40.91)
8 (36.36)
3 (13.64)
2 (9.09)
19 (86.36)
2 (9.09)
1 (4.55)

CE parameters	Median (95% CI)		<i>p</i> -Value	95% CI normative data (17) ^a	Classificat	tion of DAI pa	tients <i>n</i> (%)
	Control (n = 44)	DAI (n = 42)			High	Normal	Low
RMT	48.5 (44; 52)	47.5 (43; 51)	0.604	46.3–49.8	19 (45.24)	3 (7.14)	20 (47.62)
MEP-120%	310.5 (260.03; 436.52)	435.85 (253.38; 581.28)	0.388	423.3-689.6	11 (26.19)	11 (26.19)	20 (47.62)
MEP-140%	756.5 (592.31; 1,300)	1,000 (742.02; 1,385.64)	0.346	987.0-1,385.7	15 (35.71)	9 (21.43)	18 (42.86)
Ratio 140/120	2.02 (1.80; 3.16)	2.46 (1.79; 3.12)	0.853	2.4-3.3	11 (26.19)	11 (26.19)	20 (47.62)
ICI 2 ms	0.26 (0.20; 0.47)	1.28 (0.79; 1.70)	<0.001	0.2-0.4	36 (85.71)	5 (11.90)	1 (2.38)
ICI 4 ms	0.36 (0.28; 0.62)	1.17 (1.0; 1.84)	<0.001	0.4–0.6	36 (85.71)	5 (11.90)	1 (2.38)
ICF 10 ms	1.31 (0.91; 1.77)	1.20 (0.94; 1.57)	0.638	1.5–2.1	7 (16.67)	10 (23.81)	25 (59.52)
ICF 15 ms	1.15 (0.87; 1.37)	1.47 (1.18; 1.88)	0.131	1.4-2.1	12 (28.57)	11 (26.19)	19 (45.24)
SIICI	0.56 (0.33; 0.69)	1.28 (1.01; 1.87)	<0.001	0.4–0.6	36 (85.71)	4 (9.52)	2 (4.76)
ICF	1.13 (0.96; 1.48)	1.40 (1.10; 1.68)	0.432	1.5-2.0	10 (23.81)	10 (23.81)	22 (52.38)

TABLE 2 | CE data comparison between DAI patients and healthy controls, analyzed according to normative data.

aNormative data 95% CI obtained by Cueva (17).

RMT, Resting motor threshold; MEP-120%, Motor-evoked potential at 120% of RMT; MEP-140%, Motor-evoked potential at 140% of RMT; Ratio 140/120, Motor-evoked potential amplitude ratio for stimulus intensity at 140 and 120% of RMT; ICI 2 ms, Motor-evoked potential amplitude ratio for 2 ms ISI and 120% of RMT; ICI 4 ms, Motor-evoked potential amplitude ratio for 4 ms ISI and 120% of RMT; ICI 4 ms, Motor-evoked potential amplitude ratio for 10 ms ISI and 120% of RMT; ICF 10 ms, Motor-evoked potential amplitude ratio for 10 ms ISI and 120% of RMT; ICF 15 ms, Motor-evoked potential ratio for 15 ms ISI and 120% of RMT; SIICI, Short-interval intracortical inhibition; ICF, intracortical facilitation; CI, confidence interval.

range of normal values obtained by Cueva and collaborators (17) was utilized to classify CE results for each parameter of each patient. Values above the highest confidence limit were classified as "high," those within the confidence interval were classified as "normal," and those under the lowest limit were classified as "low."

For each CE parameter, there were patients with higher/ lower values than normative data ones. For RMT values, there were 39 hemispheres (92.86%) out of common healthy values (normative data); for MEP-120% values, there were 31 hemispheres (73.81%); for MEP-140%, there were 33 hemispheres (78.57%); for Ratio 140/120, there were 31 hemispheres (73.81%); for ICI 2 ms, there were 37 hemispheres (88.09%); for ICI 4 ms, there were also 37 hemispheres (88.09%); for ICF 10 ms, there were 32 (76.19%); for ICF 15 ms, there were 31 (73.81%); for SIICI, there were 38 (90.47%), and for ICF, there were 32 (76.19%).

DAI Patients Compared to Healthy Controls

When data from the DAI patients on an individual level were analyzed, the difference on SIICI and its components was indeed statistically significant compared to those of healthy subjects (**Table 2**). Normal SIICI values usually range from 0.0 to 1.0, and our results showed SIICI median values of 1.28 (1.01; 1.87) (**Figure 1**).

Neuropsychological Results

The majority of neuropsychological tests of patients with DAI showed mean raw scores below the average expected for healthy individuals in our country. Assessments of HVLT, BVMT (immediate and delayed recall), TMT, Stroop, COWAT, Symbol Digit, Five Points, and Grooved Pegboard indicated that DAI patients were cognitively impaired considering age and/or years of schooling. On the other hand, full Digit Span test and only the recognition part of BVMT showed results within the normative average. **Table 3** presents mean scores of neuropsychological assessment. Each test has a standard score limit that defines normal and/or impaired function.





The hypothesis from the SIICI information and neuropsychological findings was that both of these could somehow be related *via* effects on inhibitory processes. For that reason, a correlation analysis was attempted using tests that assessed selective attention and inhibition (**Table 4**), but only weak correlations were found, though, and few of them were statistically significant (**Figures 2–4**).

DISCUSSION

From a pathophysiologic perspective on DAI, damage to axons occurs at the moment of trauma (primary axotomy) when abrupt acceleration–deceleration of the cranium results in shear forces and tensile strains on the white matter, generating small loci of hemorrhage. The resulting axonal degeneration can last for many hours after the trauma episode (caused by secondary axotomy and biochemical cascades) (1, 5, 6).

To minimize the influence of inflammation on these neurophysiological changes, and focus on the direct neuronal damage, we selected subjects during the chronic phase of DAI (at least 1

Tests/inventory		n	Mean Raw score (SD)	Mean Z-score (SD)
STAI	_	21	54.14 (8.79)	-
BDI	-	21	14.19 (12.03)	-
HVLT	Immediate recall	22	17.68 (4.19)	-1.79 (1.06)
	Delayed recall	22	5.23 (2.79)	-1.42 (1.21)
	Recognition	22	9.86 (1.78)	0.75 (1.30)
BVMT	Immediate recall	21	16.38 (8.65)	-1.10 (1.17)
	Delayed recall	21	6.76 (4.23)	-1.13 (1.47)
	Recognition	21	5.24 (1.09)	-0.44 (1.18)
TMT	Part A	22	49.72 (27.12) ^a	-0.80 (1.39)
	Part B	20	135.55 (91.36) ^a	-1.43 (1.22)
Stroop	Card 1	22	23.90 (14.88)ª	-1.80 (1.25)
	Card 2	22	24.86 (10.22) ^a	-1.35 (1.20)
	Card 3	22	34.09 (11.88) ^a	-1.17 (1.41)
Digit Span	Original order	22	5.00 (1.07)	-0.01 (0.77)
	Reversed order	22	3.45 (0.80)	-0.42 (0.50)
COWAT	Phonologic	22	24.14 (9.77)	-1.48 (0.84)
	Semantic	21	14.38 (4.65)	-1.39 (0.97)
Symbol Digit	-	22	38.45 (14.29)	-1.86 (1.00)
Five Point	-	22	19.64 (7.21)	-1.47 (0.87)
Grooved	Dominant hand	19	87.42 (22.80)ª	-1.43 (1.27)
Pegboard	Non-dominant hand	21	108.10 (35.89) ^a	-1.70 (1.15)

^aTask execution score measured by time in seconds.

BDI, Beck Depression Inventory; BVMT, Brief Visual Memory Test; COWAT, Controlled Oral Word Association Test; HVLT, Hopkins Verbal Learning Test; STAI, State-Trait Anxiety Inventory; TMT, Trail-Making Test.

TABLE 4 | Correlation between SIICI values and inhibitory control main neuropsychological test results (Spearman's correlation coefficient).

Neuropsychological tests (inhibitory control assessment)		SII	CI
		rho	<i>p</i> -Value
Stroop Card 3	Time	0.080	0.611
	<i>Z</i> -score	-0.019	0.904
COWAT phonologic	Raw score	-0.407	0.007
	Z-score	-0.487	0.001
COWAT semantic	Raw score	-0.314	0.047
	Z-score	-0.300	0.059
Symbol digit	Raw score	-0.274	0.078
	Z-score	-0.385	0.011
Five point	Raw score	-0.129	0.414
	Z-score	-0.129	0.414
Grooved Pegboard dominant hand	Time	0.212	0.207
	<i>Z</i> -score	-0.151	0.370
Grooved Pegboard Non-dominant hand	Time	0.031	0.845
	<i>Z</i> -score	-0.121	0.449

SIICI, Short-interval intracortical inhibition; COWAT, Controlled Oral Word Association Test.

year after TBI). Although there are many mechanisms involved in the development and evolution of DAI, such as diffuse vascular injury and blood-brain barrier disruption that could also interfere with the function of the neural circuitry, the paucity of studies on neurophysiological changes after moderate and severe DAI prevents comparison.

From the CE assessment perspective, pp-TMS using short ISI applied to the motor cortex can indirectly evaluate inhibitory processes mediated by GABAergic circuits (26). The altered SIICI results we found drove us to consider a possible association of





FIGURE 2 | Correlation between short-interval intracortical inhibition (SIICI) values and Controlled Oral Word Association Test (COWAT) phonologic test results.



it with dexterity alterations (Grooved Pegboard Test scores) as specific motor task controlling involves intracortical inhibition process by activating a few selective cells and barring other motor neurons (32). The statistical analysis showed that it was not significant even though patients with TBI often present associated motor and cognitive injuries due to the various mechanisms of trauma (4, 33, 34).

Only few neuropsychological tests showed results within the average expected. Nevertheless, the recognition on visual memory (BVMT) and the original order of Digit Span are rather simple tests which might have the results overestimated, considering that the city we held this study in has a high schooling rate. All other aspects, such as information processing speed, selective and task-switching attention, episodic and working memory, verbal fluency, and inhibition process, were all impaired on DAI group, even though it was not possible to establish a relation between the also altered SIICI values.



It seems that the attention and memory impairment in DAI are not only affected by intracortical inhibition (GABAergic) and facilitation (glutamatergic) processes but also by many other circuits with complex influences that could not be fully identified in this study. Also, CE assessments can only be performed on a single area (the motor cortex), while cognitive tasks activate different areas of the brain at the same time in a complex pattern.

Another limitation of our study for correlating CE and neuropsychological data is the limited sample size (n = 22), so further studies with larger sample sizes are needed to elucidate this problem. Despite there being only a few statistically significant correlation of these aspects (**Table 4**), post-TBI cognition recovery still needs investigation, and unfortunately, the post-trauma setting restrained knowledge on how these individuals were before the incident and on any discrepancies from the neuropsychological perspective.

When considering the control group CE data alone, some values can be interpreted as already abnormal. Still, they are not pathological and just out of what would be considered "common"/"norm." It is worth mentioning that even in healthy individuals, CE values are subject to a large variability or be influenced by many environmental issues (lack of sleep, caffeine consumption, etc.) (17, 35). Minutely, as expected in normative data, there will be 5% of healthy sample that will not be within confidence interval (95% CI), by definition (36, 37). For this study, the control group was considered "healthy" from TBI perspective and free from any other CNS disease, so that the comparison we wanted to make was DAI patients and healthy (non-TBI) subjects.

Revising potential outliers on DAI group, they seemed mathematically outliers, however, not actual clinically outliers. This would be explained by the fact that maximum values for SIICI in healthy subjects over 50 years can be up to 6.7 and up to 3.5 for those who are under 50 years (17).

Regarding the mechanisms of TBI, Almeida-Suhett and collaborators (38) suggested that the loss of GABAergic interneurons after mild TBI reflects a reduction of neuronal inhibition. Miller and collaborators (39) also suggested an influence of mild TBI on intracortical inhibition, measured by silent period (SP) parameters. Bernabeu and collaborators (40) showed the abnormal corticospinal excitability in patients with DAI where motor recovery was related to the severity of TBI (the lower the severity, the better the motor recovery) using input–output curves and SP. These studies address mild TBI with a similar change in inhibition parameter as we found in moderate and severe TBI.

As the inhibition processes involve GABA-mediated circuitry, it is reasonable to infer that DAI pathophysiology itself (disruption of axons) may deplete GABA, contributing to a defective inhibition of neural system on the chronic phase of DAI. For better evidence of GABA depletion, we would recommend further studies measuring GABA noninvasively, if possible, using MR spectroscopy.

We acknowledge that measuring MEPs using cancelation techniques, such as the triple stimulation method, would provide better reliability and more accurate measurements of central conduction times and MEP amplitudes. However, our main aim was to have a concise and brief assessment of CE parameters that would provide a more general view of the excitability status on DAI patients. It is interesting that the present study could find altered intracortical inhibition on these patients but the imbalance of inhibition and facilitation processes is not limited only to GABA-mediated or glutamate-mediated pathways, suggesting that different mechanisms may influence on TBI recovery.

ETHICS STATEMENT

CAPPesq—Comissao de Etica para Analise de Projetos de Pesquisa do Hospital das Clinicas da Faculdade de Medicina da Universidade de Sao Paulo. Protocol #707.642. All eligible patients were interviewed and invited to voluntarily participate in our study. All aspects of our study were explained and clarified. Those who accepted gave written informed consent upon recruitment in compliance with Declaration of Helsinki. Not applicable.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All of the authors contributed to patient recruitment, data analysis, and preparation of the manuscript.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We would like to express our gratitude to our Service of Interdisciplinary Neuromodulation colleagues Rosa Rios, RN, and secretary Sandra Falcon for their help in patient care and scheduling. We would also like to thank psychologist Thiago Pedroso for assistance with neuropsychological assessments.

FUNDING

Cintya Yukie Hayashi—funded by CAPES Postgraduate Scholarship Program (Coordination for Improvement of Higher Education Staff). Andre Russowsky Brunoni is supported by the following grants: National Alliance for Research on Schizophrenia and Depression 2013 Young Investigator from the Brain & Behavior Research Foundation (NARSAD, Grant Number 13/20493), FUNDAÇÃO DE AMPARO A PESQUISA DO ESTADO DE SAO PAULO 2012 Young Researcher from the Sao Paulo State

Foundation (FAPESP, Grant Number 12/20911-5) and National Council for Scientific and Technological Development (CNPq, Grant Number 13/470904, 459077/2014).

REFERENCES

- Andrade AF, Figueiredo EG, Teixeira MJ, Taricco MA, Amorim RLO, Paiva WS. Neurotraumatologia. Rio de Janeiro: Guanabara Koogan (2015).
- 2. World Health Organization (WHO). *World Health Statistics 2008 [Document on the Internet]*. Geneva: World Health Organization (2008).
- Rabinowicz AR, Levin HS. Cognitive sequelae of traumatic brain injury. *Psychiatr Clin North Am* (2014) 37:1–11. doi:10.1089/neu.2014.3555
- Hyder AA, Wunderlich CA, Puvanachandra P, Gururaj G, Kobusingye OC. The impact of traumatic brain injuries: a global perspective. *NeuroRehabilitation* (2007) 22:341–53.
- Johnson VE, Stewart W, Smith DH. Axonal pathology in traumatic brain injury. Exp Neurol (2013) 246:35–43. doi:10.1016/j.expneurol.2012.01.013
- Gennarelli TA, Graham DI. Neuropathology of the head injuries. Semin Clin Neuropsychiatry (1998) 3:160–75.
- Yasokawa YT, Shinoda J, Okumura A, Nakayama N, Miwa K, Iwama T. Correlation between diffusion-tensor magnetic resonance imaging and motor-evoked potential in chronic severe diffuse axonal injury. *J Neurotrauma* (2007) 24:163–73. doi:10.1089/neu.2006.0073
- Castel-Lacanal E, Tarri M, Loubinoux I, Gasq D, de Boissezon X, Marque P, et al. Transcranial magnetic stimulation in brain injury. *Ann Fr Anesth Reanim* (2014) 33:83–7. doi:10.1016/j.annfar.2013.11.006
- Wank JY, Bakhadirov K, Devous MD Sr, Abdi H, McColl R, Moore C. Diffusion tensor tractography of traumatic diffuse axonal injury. *Arch Neurol* (2008) 65:619–26. doi:10.1001/archneur.65.5.619
- Pascual-Leone A, Tormos JM, Julian K, Tarazona F, Canete C, Catala MD. Study and modulation of human cortex excitability with transcranial magnetic stimulation. *J Clin Neurophysiol* (1998) 15:333–43. doi:10.1097/00004691-199807000-00005
- Liuzzi G, Horniss V, Lechner P, Hoppe J, Heise K, Zimerman M, et al. Development of movement-related intracortical inhibition in acute to chronic subcortical stroke. *Neurology* (2014) 82:198–205. doi:10.1212/WNL. 000000000000028
- Croarkin PE, Nakonezny PA, Husain MM, Melton T, Buyukdura JS, Kennard BD. Evidence for increased glutamatergic cortical facilitation in children and adolescents with major depressive disorder. *JAMA Psychiatry* (2013) 70:291–9. doi:10.1001/2013.jamapsychiatry.24
- Mhalla A, de Andrade DC, Baudic S, Perrot S, Bouhassira D. Alteration of cortical excitability in patients with fibromyalgia. *Pain* (2010) 149:495–500. doi:10.1016/j.pain.2010.03.009
- Powers KC, Cinelli ME, Kalmar JM. Cortical hypoexcitability persists beyond the symptomatic phase of a concussion. *Brain Inj* (2014) 28:465–71. doi:10.3109/ 02699052.2014.888759
- Dermitas-Tatlidede A, Vahabzadeh-Hagh AM, Bernabeu M, Tormos JM, Pascual-Leone A. Noninvasive brain stimulation in traumatic brain injury. *J Head Trauma Rehabil* (2010) 27:274–92. doi:10.1097/HTR.0b013e318217df55
- Cantu D, Walker K, Andresen L, Taylor-Weiner A, Hampton D, Tesco G, et al. Traumatic brain injury increases cortical glutamate network activity by compromising GABAergic control. *Cereb Cortex* (2015) 25:2306–20. doi:10.1093/cercor/bhu041
- Cueva AS, Galhardoni R, Cury RG, Parravano DC, Correa G, Araujo H, et al. Normative data of cortical excitability measurements obtained by transcranial magnetic stimulation in healthy subjects. *Neurophysiol Clin* (2016) 46:43–51. doi:10.1016/j.neucli.2015.12.003
- Gorenstein C, Andrade L. Validation of a Portuguese version of the Beck depression inventory and the state-trait anxiety inventory in Brazilian subjects. *Braz J Med Biol Res* (1996) 29:453–7.
- Spielberg CD, Gorsuch RL, Luschene R. Test Manual for the State-Trait Anxiety Inventory. Palo Alto: Consulting Pshychologist Press (1960).
- Beck AT, Erbaugh J, Ward CH, Mock J, Mendelsohn M. An inventory for measuring depression. Arch Gen Psychiatry (1961) 4:561–71. doi:10.1001/ archpsyc.1961.01710120031004

- Miotto EC, Campanholo KR, Rodrigues MM, Serrao VT, Lucia M, Scaff M. Hopkins verbal learning test-revised and brief visuopatial memory test-revised: preliminary normative data for the Brazilian population. Arq Neuropsiquiatr (2012) 70:962–5. doi:10.1590/S0004-282X201200120001
- Campanholo KR, Romao MA, Machado MAR, Serrao VT, Coutinho DGC, Benute GRG, et al. Performance of an adult Brazilian sample on trail making test and Stroop test. *Dement Neuropsychol* (2014) 8:26–31. doi:10.1590/ S1980-57642014DN81000005
- Wechsler D. Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scale—Third Edition (WAIS-III). New York: Psychological Corporation (1997).
- 24. Strauss E, Sherman EMS, Spreen O. A Compendium of Neuropsychological Tests: Administration, Norms and Commentary. New York: Oxford University Press (2006).
- 25. Tiffin J. Purdue Pegboard: Examiner Manual. Chicago: Science Research Associates (1968).
- Chen R. Interactions between inhibitory and excitatory circuits in the human motor córtex. *Exp Brain Res* (2004) 154:1–10. doi:10.1007/s00221-003-1684-1
- Rothwell JC, Hallett M, Berardelli A, Eisen A, Rossini P, Paulus W. Magnetic stimulation: motor evoked potentials. The international federation of clinical neurophysiology. *Electroencephalogr Clin Neurophysiol Suppl* (1999) 52:97–103.
- Rossini PM, Burke D, Chen R, Cohen LG, Daskalakis Z, Di Iorio R, et al. Non-invasive electrical and magnetic stimulation of the brain, spinal cord, roots and peripheral nerves: basic principles and procedures for routine clinical application. An update report from IFCN committee. *Clin Neurophysiol* (2015) 126:1071–107. doi:10.1016/j.clinph.2015.02.001
- Lefaucheur JP. Use of repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation in pain relief. *Expert Rev Neurother* (2008) 8:700–808. doi:10.1586/14737175. 8.5.799
- Groppa S, Oliviero A, Eisen A, Quartarone A, Cohen LG, Mall V, et al. A practical guide to diagnostic trasncranial magnetic stimulation: report of an IFCN committee. *Clin Neurophysiol* (2012) 123:858–82. doi:10.1016/j. clinph.2012.01.010
- Wilson JT, Pettigrew LE, Teasdale GM. Structured interviews for the Glasgow outcome scale and the extended Glasgow outcome scale: guidelines for their uses. *J Neurotrauma* (1998) 15:573–85. doi:10.1089/neu.1998. 15.573
- Abruzzese G, Trompetto C. Clinical and research methods for evaluating cortical excitability. *J Clin Neurophysiol* (2002) 19:307–21. doi:10.1097/00004691-200208000-00005
- Zaninotto AL, Vincentini JE, Solla DJ, Silva TT, Guirado VM, Feltron F, et al. Visuospatial memory improvement in patients with diffuse axonal injury (DAI): a 1-year follow-up study. *Acta Neuropsychiatr* (2017) 29:35–42. doi:10.1017/neu.2016.29
- Vieira RC, Paiva WS, de Oliveira DV, Teixeira MJ, de Andrade AF, de Sousa RM. Diffuse axonal injury: epidemiology, outcome and associated risk factors. *Front Neurol* (2016) 7:178. doi:10.3389/fneur.2016.00178
- Wasserman EM. Variation in the response to transcranial magnetic brain stimulation in the general population. *Clin Neurophysiol* (2002) 113:1165–71. doi:10.1016/S1388-2457(02)00144-X
- Dwason B, Trapp RG. Basic & Clinical Biostatistics. New York: McGraw-Hill (2004).
- 37. Glantz SA. Primer of Biostatistics. New York: McGraw-Hill (2012).
- Almeida-Suhett CP, Prager EM, Pidoplichko V, Figueiredo TH, Marini AM, Li Z, et al. Reduced GABAergic inhibition in the basolateral amygdala and the development of anxiety-like behaviors after mild traumatic brain injury. *PLoS One* (2014) 9:e102627. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0102627
- Miller NR, Yasen AL, Maynard LF, Chou LS, Howell DR, Christie AD. Acute and longitudinal changes in motor cortex function following mild traumatic brain injury. *Brain Inj* (2014) 28:1270–6. doi:10.3109/02699052.2014. 915987

 Bernabeu M, Dermitas-Tatlidede A, Pisso E, Lopez R, Tormos JM, Pascual-Leone A. Abnormal corticospinal excitability in traumatic diffuse axonal brain injury. J Neurotrauma (2009) 26:2185–93. doi:10.1089/neu.2008.0859

Conflict of Interest Statement: This research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial considerations that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Hayashi, Neville, Rodrigues, Galhardoni, Brunoni, Zaninotto, Guirado, Cueva, de Andrade, Teixeira and Paiva. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Transcranial Direct Current Stimulation for Post-Concussion Syndrome: Study Protocol for a Randomized Crossover Trial

Robson Luis Oliveira de Amorim^{1*}, André Russowsky Brunoni², Mirian Akiko Furutani de Oliveira³, Ana Luiza Costa Zaninotto³, Marcia Mitie Nagumo¹, Vinícius Monteiro de Paula Guirado¹, Iuri Santana Neville¹, Gláucia Rosana Guerra Benute³, Mara Cristina Souza de Lucia³, Wellingson Silva Paiva¹, Almir Ferreira de Andrade¹ and Manoel Jacobsen Teixeira¹

¹Division of Neurosurgery, University of São Paulo Medical School, São Paulo, Brazil, ²Division of Psychiatry and Psychology, University Hospital of São Paulo University, São Paulo, Brazil, ³Division of Psychology, University of São Paulo Medical School, São Paulo, Brazil

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Mattias K. Sköld, Uppsala University, Sweden

Reviewed by:

Eric Peter Thelin, University of Cambridge, UK Lynda Mainwaring, University of Toronto, Canada

*Correspondence:

Robson Luis Oliveira de Amorim amorim.robson@gmail.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Neurotrauma, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neurology

Received: 31 October 2016 Accepted: 07 April 2017 Published: 02 May 2017

Citation:

Amorim RLO, Brunoni AR, Oliveira MAF, Zaninotto ALC, Nagumo MM, Guirado VMP, Neville IS, Benute GRG, de Lucia MCS, Paiva WS, Andrade AF and Teixeira MJ (2017) Transcranial Direct Current Stimulation for Post-Concussion Syndrome: Study Protocol for a Randomized Crossover Trial. Front. Neurol. 8:164. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2017.00164 **Background:** Mild traumatic brain injury (MTBI) represents 70–80% of all treated brain injuries. A considerable proportion of MTBI patients experience post-concussion symptoms for a prolonged period after MTBI, and these symptoms are diagnosed as persistent post-concussion syndrome (PPCS). PPCS is defined as a range of physical, cognitive, and emotional symptoms. However, memory and executive dysfunction seems to be one of the most debilitating symptoms. Recently, non-invasive brain stimulation has been studied as a potential treatment method for traumatic brain injury (TBI) patients. Therefore, our primary goal is to verify the effects of transcranial direct current stimulation (tDCS) in patients with PPCS who demonstrate cognitive deficits in long-term episodic memory, working memory, and executive function following MTBI.

Methods/design: This is a randomized crossover trial of patients with a history of MTBI with cognitive deficits in memory and executive function. Thirty adult patients will be randomized in a crossover manner to receive three weekly sessions of anodal tDCS (2 mA) at left dorsolateral prefrontal cortex, left temporal cortex, and sham stimulation that will be performed at 7-day intervals (washout period). The clinical diagnosis of PPCS will be determined using the Rivermead Post-Concussion Symptoms Questionnaire. Patients who meet the inclusion criteria will be assessed with a neuropsychological evaluation. A new battery of computerized neuropsychological tests will be performed to determine trends of cognitive improvement.

Discussion: There is paucity of studies regarding the use of tDCS in TBI patients, and although recent results showed controversial data regarding the effects of tDCS in such patients, we will address specifically patients with PPCS and MTBI and no brain abnormalities on CT scan other than subarachnoid hemorrhage. Moreover, due

15

to the missing information on literature regarding the best brain region to be studied, we will evaluate two different regions to find immediate effects of tDCS on memory and executive dysfunction.

Clinical Trial Registration: www.ClinicalTrials.gov, identifier NCT02292589 (https://register.clinicaltrials.gov).

Keywords: brain injuries, post-concussion syndrome, transcranial direct current stimulation, non-invasive brain stimulation, crossover studies

INTRODUCTION

Traumatic brain injury (TBI) is the leading cause of death and disability among children and young adults. Approximately 90% of more than two million annual traumatic brain injuries in the United States are classified as mild traumatic brain injury (MTBI) (1). The criteria for clinical identification of MTBI consists of one or more of the following: a Glasgow Coma Scale (GCS) score of 13–15, confusion and disorientation, loss of consciousness for 30 min or less, posttraumatic amnesia for less than 24 h, and/or other transient neurologic abnormalities (2).

Mild traumatic brain injury has been referred to as a "silent epidemic" because the problems experienced by patients after injury are often unnoticed but can have profound consequences, such as long-term physical, mental, social, or occupational sequelae (3–5). For the majority of patients, MTBI follows a natural course in which the symptoms rapidly resolve within 3 months. However, a considerable proportion of patients with MTBI experience post-concussion symptoms (PCS) for a prolonged period after injury (6). The range of these symptoms can include headache, dizziness, fatigue, irritability, sleep disturbance, difficulties with concentration, memory loss, stress intolerance, light and sound sensitivity, balance problems, anxiety, and a depressed mood. Such prolonged post-injury effects are referred to as persistent post-concussion syndrome (PPCS).

The consequences of PPCS are overwhelming and include a broad spectrum of cognitive, behavioral, and sensorimotor disabilities that dramatically reduce the quality of life; therefore, PPCS is a worldwide public health problem that requires longterm care (7). Given the magnitude of the problem and the lack of specificity of PPCS symptoms, there is an obvious need for studies to examine whether early intervention might reduce the duration of PPCS symptoms.

Neurological and Neuropsychological Findings concerning PPCS

Along with changes in emotional regulation, impairments in attention, memory, and executive function dominate the clinical profile of PPCS (8). However, a variety of symptoms can exist following concussion. The most common symptoms are a disruption of consciousness and a brief period of posttraumatic amnesia. The individual may also report feeling as though he or she is "in a fog." Somatic symptoms, such as headache, fatigue, and balance problems, are also very common. During the acute stages following concussion, a patient may demonstrate disturbances in memory and concentration and feel "slowed down" (9). It has been hypothesized that PPCS is caused by microstructural damage to the brain due to shearing injury, which is not detectable with conventional imaging techniques and may be responsible for functional deficits (10, 11). The brain regions affected by a concussion seem to especially involve the mesial regions and deeper regions including the hippocampus and corpus callosum. This "preference" would justify the deficits found in post-concussion patients who have memory complaints. Another area that is frequently involved is the prefrontal cortex, which would explain the executive function deficits that can persist even 3 months after the trauma (12, 13).

Cognitive dysfunction is characterized by impairments in attention, concentration, memory, and/or executive function. Patients may have difficulties following instructions and performing tasks or jobs that would have been routine before the trauma (14).

The rapid resolution of symptoms after MTBI raises questions of whether patients can directly benefit from neuropsychological interventions. However, PCS can undoubtedly persist in some cases. Addressing such cases through research in neuropsychology and neuroscience would help to improve our understanding of the progression and etiology of PCS, as well as produce new interventions to help patients who do not improve as expected (15).

Neuropsychological assessment provides diagnostic information about the nature and extent of cognitive dysfunction in neurological conditions, including MTBI. The National Institute of Mental Health and Neurosciences suggests that some neuropsychological batteries have adequate sensitivity and ecological validity to assess the cognitive deficits associated with MTBI (16).

Cognitive Rehabilitation—The Role of Non-Invasive Neuromodulation

Recent reports have documented the therapeutic potential of noninvasive neuromodulation techniques for cognitive enhancement (17–23). The main techniques used for this purpose are repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation (rTMS) and transcranial direct current stimulation (tDCS).

Transcranial direct current stimulation is a non-invasive neuromodulatory technique that is inexpensive, is easy to use, and applicable to the modification of cerebral excitability. This technique delivers weak polarizing direct current to the cortex *via* two electrodes placed on the scalp. One electrode is an active electrode that is placed over the targeted cortical region, whereas the second electrode is a reference electrode that is typically placed over the contralateral supraorbital area or a non-cephalic region (24). Several studies have demonstrated that a single session of rTMS or tDCS can improve performance on computerized neuropsychological tests that measure cognitive functions, such as working memory, verbal fluency, reaction time, cognitive interference, and sustained attention in patients with TBI (23, 25–28). These stimulation techniques appear to modulate not only "cold" (non-emotional) cognitive functions but also cognitive processes that involve decision-making, attention, and working memory, as shown in studies of patients with depression (29) and eating disorders (30, 31).

Most studies show that anodal instead of cathodal tDCS is better to enhance cognitive function (32–44). Repetitive anodal tDCS (A-tDCS) applied to the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex (DLPFC) was reported to enhance cognition (37–39), reduce depression (40), and suppress food craving (41). Some studies showed short-term facilitation effects on visual recognition memory and memory peformance after prefrontal and temporal A-tDCS applied 30 min at 2 mA, in patients with Alzheimer disease (42–44). Moreover, A-tDCS over the DLPFC may also improve working memory in patients with Alzheimer disease (42). Another recent study showed that applying tDCS to the left temporal lobe effectively improved auditory memory of patients with poststroke cognitive impairment (45). To date, no study evaluated the effects of A-tDCS over left temporal lobe on cognitive function in patients with TBI.

Considering the possible cognitive effects of tDCS and the clinical importance of TBI, the purpose of this study is to investigate the early effects of tDCS in patients diagnosed with PPCS exhibiting cognitive deficits in long-term episodic memory, working memory, and executive function. tDCS was chosen instead of rTMS for several reasons, including that tDCS is more suitable for conducting neuropsychological tests (rTMS causes noise and slight discomfort at the stimulation site, which could interfere with patient performance on the tests), that blinding to tDCS is more reliable considering the study design, and that rTMS is expensive. Furthermore, there is a lower risk of seizures related to tDCS than to rTMS, which is contraindicated for patients with an elevated risk of seizures (46).

Study Purpose and Objectives

The purpose of this study is to determine the early effects of a single session tDCS in patients with MTBI and PPCS with cognitive deficits in long-term episodic memory and executive function (inhibitory control).

Primary Outcome Measures

The primary hypothesis is that there will be evidence of improvement of patient's episodic memory and executive function measured by neuropsychological test after the stimulation over the left DLPFC (L-DLPFC) in comparison to the other two types of stimulation [sham stimulation and stimulation over the left temporal cortex (L-TC)].

METHODS AND ANALYSIS

Trial Design

This is a randomized, sham-controlled, crossover trial. All patients will be selected from the outpatient services at the

Neurotrauma Clinic of the Hospital das Clínicas of the University of São Paulo Medical School (HCFMUSP). The recruitment period will be from February 2016 to April 2018.

This trial will follow the main Consolidated Standards of Reporting Trials guidelines.

Participants

Thirty patients with a history of MTBI who are least 18 years of age will be recruited through our outpatient services at the Neurotrauma Clinic. In our institution, all patients sustaining MTBI at the emergency department are advised to come to our outpatient clinic if they have persistent symptoms. Participants must be diagnosed with clinically defined PPCS based upon established criteria for the presence and frequency of three or more current PCS-like symptoms. Those symptoms will be assessed using the Rivermead Post-Concussion Symptoms Questionnaire (RPQ) (47). The inclusion criteria are as follows: (1) a history of MTBI on hospital admission, (2) age between 18 and 60 years, (3) current subjective complaints related to memory and executive function, (4) able to sign an informed consent form, and (5) consent to participate in the study. The exclusion criteria are as follows: (1) outside the age limits, (2) no specific complaints related to memory or executive function, (3) severe symptoms of major depression (Beck Inventory >35), (4) drug addiction, (5) uncontrolled epilepsy, (6) presence of a metallic prosthesis implant, (7) presence of a cochlear implant, (8) intracranial hemorrhage other than subarachnoid hemorrhage on admission CT scan, or (9) unable to sign an informed consent form.

All patients will be informed about tDCS and the experimental protocol, which has been approved by the Ethics Committee of our hospital.

Recruitment

First the patients will be evaluated by a senior licensed neurosurgeon in the outpatient clinic. Those who present with PCS for a minimum of 3 months will be diagnosed with PPCS. The diagnosis of PPCS will be established using the RPQ (42). Patients will then be referred for a neuropsychological evaluation. Individuals with cognitive impairment related to episodic memory, working memory, and/or executive function will be eligible for the study.

Procedure

The study will consist of three phases: (1) a baseline neuropsychological assessment before starting the stimulation sessions; (2) a single tDCS session (L-DLPFC, L-TC, or Sham stimulation) once a week for three consecutive weeks. **Figure 1** show the fluxogram of the study.

All the subjects will receive all types of stimulation (L-DLPFC, L-TC, or Sham). The interval between each session will be 7 days to avoid carry-over effects. Because this is a crossover study, all participants will receive all proposed stimulation sessions. A computerized neuropsychological test will be performed before and immediately after each stimulation session.

(A) Frontal stimulation: patients will receive A-tDCS over the L-DLPFC at an intensity of 1.5 mA for 20 min.



- (B) Temporal stimulation: patients will receive A-tDCS over the L-TC at an intensity of 1.5 mA for 20 min.
- (C) Sham stimulation: patients will receive sham stimulation over the occipital area for only 30 s, after which the current will be turned off automatically without the patient's knowledge. To guarantee blinding to the stimulation parameters, the A-tDCS electrode will be placed over the occipital region to simulate a study protocol using three different stimulation positions.

Tolerability and Safety

After each session, patients will be questioned about adverse events. If a major adverse event occurs, the patient will receive

medical assistance and further examination and investigation will be provided as needed.

Instruments

To obtain the necessary data to perform this clinical trial and to analyze the results, the following instruments will be used.

Demographic Questionnaire

Information such as age, gender, initial score on the GCS, trauma mechanism, medications in use, and imaging findings will be collected.

Rivermead Post-Concussion Symptoms Questionnaire (47)

The RPQ is used to determine the presence and severity of PPCS according to a set of 16 different symptoms commonly found after MTBI. These symptoms are reported by their severity on a scale from 0 (not experienced) to 4 (severe problem). This instrument will be the screening test to identify patients with PPCS.

Beck Depression Inventory (BDI) (48)

Brazilian version (49) of the BDI will be used. The BDI is a 21-question multiple-choice self-report inventory designed for individuals aged 13 and over to assess depressive symptoms, such as hopelessness, irritability, guilt, and feeling of being punished, as well as physical symptoms, such as fatigue, weight loss, and lack of interest in sex (31). The BDI ranges from 0 to 63 points. The BDI will be assessed only at baseline.

The above neuropsychological tests will be assessed before and after each tDCS session.

Hopkins Verbal Learning Test (50)—Computer Version

This test consists of a list of 12 words. The computer program verbally reproduces the list at a 2-s interstimulus interval. Afterward, the patient is asked to recall as many items as possible in any order. Two additional learning trials are performed, and the delayed recall trial is conducted after a 25-min interval (51).

Forward and Backward Digit Span

The computer version of the Wechsler Intelligence Scale for adults (WAIS III) (52) will be used. The digits forward test assesses attention and short-term memory, whereas the digits backward test measures working memory. A random number sequence is presented to the patient at a rate of approximately one number per second. At the end of each sequence, the patient must repeat the digits in the exact sequence (for the forward sequence) in which they were presented or in the opposite order (for the backward sequence). The test is stopped when the patient has consecutive failure on a sequence with the same digit span.

Stroop Color–Word Test (53)

The Stroop test measures selective attention, cognitive flexibility, and processing speed. It consists of three cards presented by the examiner. The first card (word card) has 24 rectangles painted in brown, pink, blue, or green; the second card (color card) has 24 words (EACH, NEVER, TODAY, ALL) painted in brown, pink, blue, or green; the third card (color–word card) has 24 words (BROWN, PINK, GREEN, and BLUE) painted with mismatched colors. For each card, the subject is asked to say the name of the color as fast as he/she can. The score is calculated based on the time required to respond for each card.

Corsi Block Test (Computerized Version) (53)

This test assesses visual-spatial short-term working memory. This test requires the subject to observe the sequence of blocks "tapped" (illuminated in the computer version) and then repeat the sequence in the same order. The task starts with a short sequence of blocks that gradually increases in number for up to nine blocks. The test measures both the number of correct sequences and the longest sequence remembered.

Inhibitory Control Test (ICT) – Computerized Version (54)

This test assesses attention and inhibitory control of action. In this computerized test, the patient is shown a series of letters and is asked to press the backspace of the keyboard when the letter X is followed by the letter Y or if Y is followed by X. X and Y are the target letters; however, during the presentation of the series, other letters are included and serve as distracters. Patients are instructed not to respond to X following X or Y following Y. The ICT is administered as a practice test followed by a series of six similar 2-min trials separated by breaks to allow the subjects to rest. Performance is evaluated as the number of times the patient misses by clicking following an incorrect letter sequence (55).

Randomization and Blinding

Randomization will be done *via* a computer-produced randomized controlled table. All the 20 patients will be randomized into the three types of stimulation: frontal stimulation, temporal stimulation, and sham stimulation. The neuropsychologists and the patients will be blinded for the type of stimulation performed in each session.

Electronic Data Collection and Management

Data will be stored in a database developed with the Research Electronic Data Capture system (56), which is hosted on the server of the University of São Paulo. This software developed at Vanderbilt University (TN, USA) is fully web-based and enables electronic data collection, management, and also study process management, while meeting the criteria set by the international policies on data privacy and security in the health sector (57).

Sample Size Calculation

Most studies which aimed to assess the effects of non-invasive neurostimulation on cognitive function in TBI were case reports or small open labels studies. Moreover, there have been no previous studies comparing the cognitive effects of tDCS stimulation in patients with PPCS. Considering that there were no prior data on the effects of A-tDCS on patients with PPCS using our primary outcome measure, a formal sample size calculation was not possible; thus, we estimated that enrolling 30 patients would be a reasonable approach for an exploratory trial.

Statistical Analysis

All analysis will be performed using Statistical Package for Social Sciences software version 23.0 for Windows (Prentice Hall, Chicago, IL, USA). A significance level of p < 0.05 will be considered for all tests. The quantitative variables will be described using the mean and SDs for normally distributed data or median with inter-quartile range for non-parametric data. The qualitative variables will be presented as absolute and relative frequencies. The five neuropsychological assessments will be summed and averaged to create a composite score. Cohen's *d* will be calculated to compare the changes in the neuropsychological scores between the groups. An analysis of variance will be used to test whether there is an overall effect of any type of active stimulation on each outcome measure. When appropriate, we will perform *post hoc* paired comparisons using Bonferroni correction for multiple comparisons.

Ethical Issues

Considering the study's context and design, there will be minimal risk to patients. Non-invasive neuromodulation techniques follow the ethical criteria for studies involving human participants by respecting the principles of autonomy, beneficence, nonmaleficence, and proportionality to ensure that the subject will not be harmed if he/she participates in the study.

Transcranial direct current stimulation can be considered a safe intervention for several reasons: (A) the electric current applied is very low (1–2 mA over an area of 25–35 cm²), (B) there is no direct contact between the electrodes and the brain, and (C) the electrodes are embedded in a saline solution, minimizing tissue resistance and avoiding overheating (58–60).

The most common adverse effects observed in safety studies were tingling sensations, itching, mild transient redness of the skin and discomfort on the site of stimulation, moderate fatigue, difficulty concentrating, nausea, and headache. However, these effects were short-lived and were presented at the same frequency between the experimental and placebo groups (60). Patients will be queried after each tDCS session as to whether they experienced adverse effects and how these effects were related to the tDCS treatment. Stimulation sessions have been established by Dr. André Russowski Brunoni, Assistant Professor in the Division of Psychiatry of HC-FMUSP, who will provide any assistance if necessary.

Several advantages of tDCS have been highlighted in clinical practice. These advantages include few side effects that are usually benign, high tolerability, and good potential for efficacy. Notably, it has been emphasized that this technique "has been used in several clinical trials in the last decade and to date, no serious adverse effect has been reported" (58).

DISCUSSION AND DISSEMINATION

This study protocol aims to investigate the neuromodulatory effects of tDCS in patients with a history of MTBI who developed PPCS with a current subjective complaint involving long-term episodic memory, working memory, and executive function. Additionally, the study aims to verify the hypothesis that tDCS exerts pro-cognitive effects in the described population.

Interesting findings have emerged from both clinical trials and neuropsychological studies using tDCS. Knowledge about the cognitive and behavioral functions of brain lesions together with sophisticated neuroimaging techniques have provided major contributions to the fields of neuropsychology and cognitive neuroscience.

The interest in this topic arises from the understanding that neuromodulation techniques can provide causal data that answer questions about the effect of stimulation on cortical structures and specific cognitive functions. The modulatory effect of neuromodulatory stimulation on executive function is of particular interest for understanding the mechanisms underlying the integration of cognition with behavior.

The data that will be obtained in this study may help to provide a step forward for neuropsychology and cognitive neuroscience, as the results will help to reveal brain functioning and the effects derived from interventions. This study also may produce new information regarding the possible pro-cognitive effects of tDCS. Therefore, therapeutic interventions in subsequent studies may be investigated, since the present study will use only a single session of tDCS. We decided to initially study the immediate effects of tDCS in such patients because of the following reasons: (1) we will study a specific population of TBI patients, then, as the first study to evaluate the referred outcomes, we believe that we need to have preliminary data to move forward. (2) We do not know what is the best region to be stimulated, and this trial probably will be able to solve this issue.

This study is expected to initiate a discussion about PPCS thus contributing to the creation of public health policies to treat this underdiagnosed disease. On one hand, PPCS affects a patient's life in social, work, and cognitive contexts. On the other hand, these patients are poorly supported, and their condition is rarely established based on the findings of imaging exams; this lack of evidence could lead to difficulty in diagnosing and treating PPCS patients.

We believe that tDCS holds great promise. It has been shown in previous studies that tDCS is successful, capable, inexpensive, and safe for use in the treatment of a wide range of neurological conditions. Thus, the application of tDCS might improve the efficiency of different neurorehabilitation techniques and provide further relief to patients suffering from long-term disabilities.

ETHICS STATEMENT

Ethics approval has been obtained from the Ethics Committee for Analysis of Research Projects, Hospital das Clínicas, University of São Paulo (CAPPesq 612.643/14). Written informed consent will be obtained from all participants.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

RA participated in conception and design of the study, manuscript writing, and its final approval. AB designed the study and helped with data analysis. MO recruited patients, designed the neuropsychological assessment battery, and performed the neuropsychological assessments. AZ recruited patients and designed the neuropsychological assessment battery. MN performed tDCS applications, collected data, reviewed the literature, recruited patients, and contributed to patient follow-up. VG, IN, GB, ML, WP, and AA participated in the conception and design of the study. MT conceived the study and revised the manuscript.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors would like to acknowledge "Serviço Interdisciplinar de Neuromodulação—IPQ/HCFMUSP" under the coordination

of AB for providing the tDCS equipment and consultation rooms to perform all tDCS sessions. The authors thank Mrs. Sandra Aparecida de Lima Falcon for her assistance in scheduling all patients for tDCS sessions.

REFERENCES

- Naunheim RS, Matero D, Fucetola R. Assessment of patients with mild concussion in the emergency department. J Head Trauma Rehabil (2008) 23:116–22. doi:10.1097/01.HTR.0000314530.30401.70
- Stuart B, Mandleco B, Wilshaw R, Beckstrand RL, Heaston S. Mild traumatic brain injury: are ED providers identifying which patients are at risk? *J Emerg Nurs* (2012) 38:425–42. doi:10.1016/j.jen.2011.04.006
- McCauley SR, Boake C, Levin HS, Contant CF, Song JX. Postconcussional disorder following mild to moderate traumatic brain injury: anxiety, depression, and social support as risk factors and comorbidities. J Clin Exp Neuropsychol (2001) 23:792–808. doi:10.1076/jcen.23.6.792.1016
- Ruffolo CF, Friedland JF, Dawson DR, Colantonio A, Lindsay PH. Mild traumatic brain injury from motor vehicle accidents: factors associated with return to work. Arch Phys Med Rehabil (1999) 80:392–8. doi:10.1016/ S0003-9993(99)90275-7
- Lima DP, Simão Filho C, Abib Sde C, de Figueiredo LF. Quality of life and neuropsychological changes in mild head trauma. Late analysis and correlation with S100B protein and cranial CT scan performed at hospital admission. *Injury* (2008) 39:604–11. doi:10.1016/j.injury.2007.11.008
- Ahman S, Saveman BI, Styrke J, Björnstig U, Stålnacke BM. Long-term follow-up of patients with mild traumatic brain injury: a mixed-methods study. J Rehabil Med (2013) 45:758–64. doi:10.2340/16501977-1182
- Willemse-van Son AH, Ribbers GM, Verhagen AP, Stam HJ. Prognostic factors of long-term functioning and productivity after traumatic brain injury: a systematic review of prospective cohort studies. *Clin Rehabil* (2007) 21:1024–37. doi:10.1177/0269215507077603
- Lundin A, de Boussard C, Edman G, Borg J. Symptoms and disability until 3 months after mild TBI. *Brain Inj* (2006) 20:799–806. doi:10.1080/ 02699050600744327
- Prigatano GP, Gale SD. The current status of postconcussion syndrome. Curr Opin Psychiatry (2011) 24:243–50. doi:10.1097/YCO.0b013e328344698b
- Bigler ED. Distinguished neuropsychologist award lecture 1999. The lesion(s) in traumatic brain injury: implications for clinical neuropsychology. Arch Clin Neuropsychol (2001) 16:95–131. doi:10.1016/S0887-6177(00)00095-0
- King N. Mild head injury: neuropathology, sequelae, measurement and recovery. *Br J Clin Psychol* (1997) 36:161–84. doi:10.1111/j.2044-8260.1997. tb01405.x
- Datta SG, Pillai SV, Rao SL, Kovoor JM, Chandramouli BA. Post-concussion syndrome: correlation of neuropsychological deficits, structural lesions on magnetic resonance imaging and symptoms. *Neurol India* (2009) 57:594–8. doi:10.4103/0028-3886.57810
- Howell D, Osternig L, Van Donkelaar P, Mayr U, Chou LS. Effects of concussion on attention and executive function in adolescents. *Med Sci Sports Exerc* (2013) 45(6):1030–7. doi:10.1249/MSS.0b013e3182814595
- Riggio S, Wong M. Neurobehavioral sequelae of traumatic brain injury. Mt Sinai J Med (2009) 76:163–72. doi:10.1002/msj.20097
- Bigler ED. Neuropsychology and clinical neuroscience of persistent postconcussive syndrome. J Int Neuropsychol Soc (2008) 14:1–22. doi:10.1017/ S135561770808017X
- Lezak MD, Howieson DB, Bigler ED, Tranel D. Neuropsychological Assessment.
 5th ed. Newyork, NY: Oxford Press (2012).
- Cerruti C, Schlaug G. Anodal transcranial direct current stimulation of the prefrontal cortex enhances complex verbal associative thought. J Cogn Neurosci (2009) 21:1980–7. doi:10.1162/jocn.2008.21143
- Dockery CA, Hueckel-Weng R, Birbaumer N, Plewnia C. Enhancement of planning ability by transcranial direct current stimulation. *J Neurosci* (2009) 29:7271–7. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0065-09.2009
- Dresler M, Sandberg A, Ohla K, Bublitz C, Trenado C, Mroczko-Wasowicz A, et al. Non-pharmacological cognitive enhancement. *Neuropharmacology* (2013) 64:529–43. doi:10.1016/j.neuropharm.2012.07.002

FUNDING

This research received no specific grant from any funding agency in the public, commercial, or not-for-profit sector.

- Koski L, Kolivakis T, Yu C, Chen JK, Delaney S, Ptito A. Noninvasive brain stimulation for persistent postconcussion symptoms in mild traumatic brain injury. J Neurotrauma (2015) 32(1):38–44. doi:10.1089/neu.2014.3449
- Leśniak M, Polanowska K, Seniów J, Członkowska A. Effects of repeated anodal tDCS coupled with cognitive training for patients with severe traumatic brain injury: a pilot randomized controlled trial. *J Head Trauma Rehabil* (2014) 29(3):E20–9. doi:10.1097/HTR.0b013e318292a4c2
- 22. Ulam F, Shelton C, Richards L, Davis L, Hunter B, Fregni F, et al. Cumulative effects of transcranial direct current stimulation on EEG oscillations and attention/working memory during subacute neurorehabilitation of traumatic brain injury. *Clin Neurophysiol* (2015) 126(3):486–96. doi:10.1016/j. clinph.2014.05.015
- Kang EK, Kim DY, Paik NJ. Transcranial direct current stimulation of the left prefrontal cortex improves attention in patients with traumatic brain injury: a pilot study. *J Rehabil Med* (2012) 44(4):346–50. doi:10.2340/16501977-0947
- Bolognini N, Pascual-Leone A, Fregni F. Using non-invasive brain stimulation to augment motor training-induced plasticity. *J Neuroeng Rehabil* (2009) 6:8. doi:10.1186/1743-0003-6-8
- Demirtas-Tatlidede A, Vahabzadeh-Hagh AM, Bernabeu M, Tormos JM, Pascual-Leone A. Noninvasive brain stimulation in traumatic brain injury. *J Head Trauma Rehabil* (2012) 27:274–92. doi:10.1097/HTR.0b013e318217df55
- Bonnì S, Mastropasqua C, Bozzali M, Caltagirone C, Koch G. Theta burst stimulation improves visuo-spatial attention in a patient with traumatic brain injury. *Neurol Sci* (2013) 34(11):2053–6. doi:10.1007/s10072-013-1412-y
- Louise-Bender Pape T, Rosenow J, Lewis G, Ahmed G, Walker M, Guernon A, et al. Repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation-associated neurobehavioral gains during coma recovery. *Brain Stimul* (2009) 2:22–35. doi:10.1016/j. brs.2008.09.004
- Angelakis E, Liouta E, Andreadis N, Korfias S, Ktonas P, Stranjalis G, et al. Transcranial direct current stimulation effects in disorders of consciousness. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil* (2014) 95:283–9. doi:10.1016/j.apmr.2013.09.002
- Boggio PS, Bermpohl F, Vergara AO, Muniz AL, Nahas FH, Leme PB, et al. Go-no-go task performance improvement after anodal transcranial DC stimulation of the left dorsolateral prefrontal cortex in major depression. J Affect Disord (2007) 101:91–8. doi:10.1016/j.jad.2006.10.026
- Fecteau S, Fregni F, Boggio PS, Camprodon JA, Pascual-Leone A. Neuromodulation of decision-making in the addictive brain. Subst Use Misuse (2010) 45:1766–86. doi:10.3109/10826084.2010.482434
- Van den Eynde F, Claudino AM, Mogg A, Horrell L, Stahl D, Ribeiro W, et al. Repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation reduces cue-induced food craving in bulimic disorders. *Biol Psychiatry* (2010) 67:793–5. doi:10.1016/j. biopsych.2009.11.023
- Cotelli M, Manenti R, Brambilla M, Petesi M, Rosini S, Ferrari C, et al. Anodal tDCS during face-name associations memory training in Alzheimer's patients. *Front Aging Neurosci* (2014) 6:38. doi:10.3389/fnagi.2014.00038
- Pereira JB, Junqué C, Bartrés-Faz D, Martí MJ, Sala-Llonch R, Compta Y, et al. Modulation of verbal fluency networks by transcranial direct current stimulation (tDCS) in Parkinson's disease. *Brain Stimul* (2013) 6(1):16–24. doi:10.1016/j.brs.2012.01.006
- Kang EK, Baek MJ, Kim S, Paik NJ. Non-invasive cortical stimulation improves post-stroke attention decline. *Restor Neurol Neurosci* (2009) 27(6):645–50. doi:10.3233/RNN-2009-0514
- Jo JM, Kim YH, Ko MH, Ohn SH, Joen B, Lee KH. Enhancing the working memory of stroke patients using tDCS. Am J Phys Med Rehabil (2009) 88(5):404–9. doi:10.1097/PHM.0b013e3181a0e4cb
- 36. Park SH, Koh EJ, Choi HY, Ko MH. A double-blind, sham-controlled, pilot study to assess the effects of the concomitant use of transcranial direct current stimulation with the computer assisted cognitive rehabilitation to the prefrontal cortex on cognitive functions in patients with stroke. *J Korean Neurosurg Soc* (2013) 54(6):484–8. doi:10.3340/jkns.2013.54.6.484

- Jones KT, Stephens JA, Alam M, Bikson M, Berryhill ME. Longitudinal neurostimulation in older adults improves working memory. *PLoS One* (2015) 10:e0121904. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0121904
- Vanderhasselt MA, De Raedt R, Brunoni AR, Campanhã C, Baeken C, Remue J, et al. tDCS over the left prefrontal cortex enhances cognitive control for positive affective Stimuli. *PLoS One* (2013) 8:e62219. doi:10.1371/journal.pone. 0062219
- Wu YJ, Tseng P, Chang CF, Pai MC, Hsu KS, Lin CC, et al. Modulating the interference effect on spatial working memory by applying transcranial direct current stimulation over the right dorsolateral prefrontal cortex. *Brain Cogn* (2014) 91:87–94. doi:10.1016/j.bandc.2014.09.002
- Bueno VF, Brunoni AR, Boggio PS, Bensenor IM, Fregni F. Mood and cognitive effects of transcranial direct current stimulation in post-stroke depression. *Neurocase* (2011) 17:318–22. doi:10.1080/13554794.2010.509319
- Goldman RL, Borckardt JJ, Frohman HA, O'Neil PM, Madan A, Campbell LK, et al. Prefrontal cortex transcranial direct current stimulation (tDCS) temporarily reduces food cravings and increases the self-reported ability to resist food in adults with frequent food craving. *Appetite* (2011) 56:741–6. doi:10.1016/j.appet.2011.02.013
- Boggio PS, Ferrucci R, Rigonatti SP, Covre P, Nitsche M, Pascual-Leone A, et al. Effects of transcranial direct current stimulation on working memory in patients with Parkinson's disease. *J Neurol Sci* (2006) 249(1):31–8. doi:10.1016/j. jns.2006.05.062
- Boggio PS, Khoury LP, Martins DC, Martins OE, de Macedo EC, Fregni F. Temporal cortex direct current stimulation enhances performance on a visual recognition memory task in Alzheimer disease. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry* (2009) 80:444–7. doi:10.1136/jnnp.2007.141853
- Boggio PS, Fregni F, Valasek C, Ellwood S, Chi R, Gallate J, et al. Temporal lobe cortical electrical stimulation during the encoding and retrieval phase reduces false memories. *PLoS One* (2009) 4:e4959. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0004959
- Yun GJ, Chun MH, Kim BR. The effects of transcranial direct-current stimulation on cognition in stroke patients. J Stroke (2015) 17(3):354–8. doi:10.5853/ jos.2015.17.3.354
- Rossi S, Hallett M, Rossini PM, Pascual-Leone A; Safety of TMS Consensus Group. Safety, ethical considerations, and application guidelines for the use of transcranial magnetic stimulation in clinical practice and research. *Clin Neurophysiol* (2009) 120:2008–39. doi:10.1016/j.clinph.2009.08.016
- King NS, Crawford S, Wenden FJ, Moss NE, Wade DT. The Rivermead Post Concussion Symptoms Questionnaire: a measure of symptoms commonly experienced after head injury and its reliability. *J Neurol* (1995) 242:587–92. doi:10.1007/BF00868811
- Beck AT. An inventory for measuring depression. Arch Gen Psychiatry (1961) 4:561–71. doi:10.1001/archpsyc.1961.01710120031004
- Gorenstein C, Andrade L. Validation of a Portuguese version of the Beck Depression Inventory and the State-Trait Anxiety Inventory in Brazilian subjects. *Braz J Med Biol Res* (1996) 29:453–7.

- Benedict RHB, Schretlen D, Groninger L. Hopkins verbal learning test revised: normative data and analysis of inter-form and test-retest reliability. *Clin Neuropsychol* (1998) 12:43–55. doi:10.1076/clin.12.1.43.1726
- Brandt J, Benedict RHB. The Hopkins Verbal Learning Test Revised: Professional Manual. Odessa, FL: Psychological Assessment Resources, Inc (2001).
- 52. Weschler D. Weschler Adult Intelligence Scale. San Antonio, TX: The Psychological Corporation (1997).
- Spreen O, Strauss E. A Compendium of Neuropsychological Tests Administration Norms and Commentary. New York, NY: Oxford University Press (1998).
- Garavan H, Ross TJ, Stein EA. Right hemispheric dominance of inhibitory control: an event-related functional MRI study. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (1999) 96:8301–6. doi:10.1073/pnas.96.14.8301
- Bajaj JS, Hafeezullah M, Franco J, Varma RR, Hoffmann RG, Knox JF, et al. Inhibitory control test for the diagnosis of minimal hepatic encephalopathy. *Gastroenterology* (2008) 135:1591–600. doi:10.1053/j.gastro.2008.07.021
- Harris PA, Taylor R, Thielke R, Payne J, Gonzalez N, Conde JG. Research electronic data capture (REDCap) – a metadata-driven methodology and workflow process for providing translational research informatics support. *J Biomed Inform* (2009) 42(2):377–81. doi:10.1016/j.jbi.2008.08.010
- 57. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. *Health Insurance Portability* and Accountability Act of 1996 (HIPAA) Privacy, Security and Breach Notification Rules. USA Public law (1996) (Vol 104), 191 p.
- Brunoni AR, Nitsche MA, Bolognini N, Bikson M, Wagner T, Merabet L, et al. Clinical research with transcranial direct current stimulation (tDCS): challenges and future directions. *Brain Stimul* (2012) 5:175–95. doi:10.1016/j. brs.2011.03.002
- Nitsche MA, Cohen LG, Wassermann EM, Priori A, Lang N, Antal A, et al. Transcranial direct current stimulation: state of the art 2008. *Brain Stimul* (2008) 1:206–23. doi:10.1016/j.brs.2008.06.004
- Iyer MB, Mattu U, Grafman J, Lomarev M, Sato S, Wassermann EM. Safety and cognitive effect of frontal DC brain polarization in healthy individuals. *Neurology* (2005) 64:872–5. doi:10.1212/01.WNL.0000152986.07469.E9

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2017 Amorim, Brunoni, Oliveira, Zaninotto, Nagumo, Guirado, Neville, Benute, de Lucia, Paiva, Andrade and Teixeira. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Investigating Microstructural Abnormalities and Neurocognition in Sub-Acute and Chronic Traumatic Brain Injury Patients with Normal-Appearing White Matter: A Preliminary Diffusion Tensor Imaging Study

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Renato Anghinah, University of São Paulo, Brazil

Reviewed by:

Eric Peter Thelin, University of Cambridge, UK Renata Areza-Fegyveres, University of São Paulo, Brazil

*Correspondence:

Michael D. Cusimano injuryprevention@smh.ca

†First co-authors.

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Neurotrauma, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neurology

Received: 05 August 2016 Accepted: 28 February 2017 Published: 20 March 2017

Citation:

Hashim E, Caverzasi E, Papinutto N, Lewis CE, Jing R, Charles O, Zhang S, Lin A, Graham SJ, Schweizer TA, Bharatha A and Cusimano MD (2017) Investigating Microstructural Abnormalities and Neurocognition in Sub-Acute and Chronic Traumatic Brain Injury Patients with Normal-Appearing White Matter: A Preliminary Diffusion Tensor Imaging Study. Front. Neurol. 8:97. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2017.00097 Eyesha Hashim^{1†}, Eduardo Caverzasi^{2,3†}, Nico Papinutto², Caroline E. Lewis¹, Ruiwei Jing¹, Onella Charles¹, Shudong Zhang¹, Amy Lin⁴, Simon J. Graham⁵, Tom A. Schweizer¹, Aditya Bharatha^{6,7} and Michael D. Cusimano^{1,8*}

¹ Department of Neurosurgery, St. Michael's Hospital, Toronto, ON, Canada, ² Department of Neurology, University of California at San Francisco, San Francisco, CA, USA, ³ Department of Brain and Behavioral Sciences, University of Pavia, Italy, ⁴ Department of Radiology, St. Michael's Hospital, Toronto, ON, Canada, ⁵ Sunnybrook Research Institute, University of Toronto, Toronto, ON, Canada, ⁶ Department of Medical Imaging, St. Michael's Hospital, University of Toronto, Toronto, Toronto, Toronto, Toronto, Toronto, Toronto, Toronto, Toronto, ON, Canada, ⁸ Faculty of Medicine, Department of Surgery, Division of Neurosurgery, University of Toronto, Toronto, ON, Canada

For a significant percentage of subjects, with chronic traumatic brain injury (TBI), who report persisting cognitive impairment and functional loss, the diagnosis is often impeded by the fact that routine neuroimaging often does not reveal any abnormalities. In this paper, we used diffusion tensor imaging (DTI) to investigate the apparently normal white matter (as assessed by routine magnetic resonance imaging) in the brains of 19 subjects with sub-acute (9) and chronic (10) TBI. We also assessed memory, executive function, and visual-motor coordination in these subjects. Using a voxel-wise approach, we investigated if parameters of diffusion were significantly different between TBI subjects and 17 healthy controls (HC), who were demographically matched to the TBI group. We also investigated if changes in DTI parameters were associated with neuropsychological performance in either group. Our results indicate significantly increased mean and axial diffusivity (MD and AD, respectively) values in widespread brain locations in TBI subjects, while controlling for age, sex, and time since injury. HC performed significantly better than the TBI subjects on tests of memory and executive function, indicating the persisting functional loss in chronic TBI. We found no correlation between diffusion parameters and performance on test of executive function in either group. We found negative correlation between FA and composite memory scores, and positive correlation between RD and visuomotor coordination test scores, in various tracts in both groups. Our study suggests that changes in MD and AD can indicate persisting micro-structure abnormalities in normal-appearing white matter in the brains of subjects with chronic TBI. Our results also suggest that FA in major white matter tracts is correlated with memory in health and in disease, alike; larger and longitudinal studies are needed to discern potential differences in these correlations in the two groups.

Keywords: diffusion tensor imaging, chronic traumatic brain injury, white matter microstructure, human, voxelbased analysis, sub-acute traumatic brain injury, normal-appearing white matter

INTRODUCTION

Traumatic brain injury (TBI) often results in cognitive and functional deficits, impairs daily life functioning, and degrades the quality of life of the injured person significantly in the acute stage (1). Furthermore, the cognitive and functional deficits may persist and yet remain untreated in the chronic stage, particularly when routine diagnostic imaging [e.g., structural magnetic resonance imaging (MRI), and computed tomography (CT)] does not reveal any gross structural abnormalities, indicative of the cognitive or functional loss, in the brain of the injured patients. A large literature indicates that these persisting deficits are linked to microstructural damage in the brain (2). Diffusion tensor imaging (DTI) (3), which uses the diffusion of water molecules to assess microstructure in both pathological and normal brain tissue, has frequently been used in the past decade to investigate microstructural damage in patients with TBI (4-6) [also see the review by Hulkower et al. (7)]. The DTI studies of TBI often investigate the change in one or more of the classic diffusion parameters-axial diffusivity (AD), radial diffusivity (RD), mean diffusivity (MD), and fractional anisotropy (FA)-using either region of interest (ROI) (8, 9) or whole brain voxel-wise (10, 11) approaches. Most of these studies have focused on FA alone (10) or FA and MD (12, 13), the two parameters that describe the overall or average diffusion trends. These studies suggest a general trend of decrease in directionality of diffusion as measured by FA (7, 10, 14, 15) and an increase in the overall diffusion as measured by MD (7, 16, 17) in subjects with chronic TBI and associate these changes with diffuse axonal injury (DAI).

The DAI, an example of microstructural disruption resulting from TBI, is thought to be one of the major causes of neurocognitive deficits after TBI (18, 19). However, given the complexity of the various cognitive and executive function networks in the brain, it is important to investigate the role of DAI in neurocognitive deficits after TBI in situations where no other confounding structural anomalies (e.g., focal lesions indicative of the cognitive or functional loss) are present and by adopting a whole-brain analysis approach. The DTI is an excellent technique to investigate the DAI in TBI, however, with notable exceptions (20, 21), most of the DTI studies investigating the correlation between neurocognitive function and DTI parameters did not exclude subjects with white matter abnormalities as assessed with routine diagnostic imaging (22-25). Furthermore, many of these DTI studies investigating neurocognitive function after TBI are restricted only to FA and MD and only to TBI patients, excluding healthy controls (HC) from the correlation analysis (9, 22, 23, 26-28). A few studies investigated this correlation in all subjects including HC using an ROI approach (22, 23, 29, 30) and only a fraction of these extended the correlation analysis to whole brain white matter tracts using the voxel-wise approach (31–33). While the aforementioned studies present similar conditions, these studies either did not investigate the presence of gross or focal white matter abnormalities (31, 33) or did not exclude the subjects with such abnormalities from the extended investigation of neurocognitive deficits. The present study builds on these latter studies of the whole brain white matter tracts using a voxel-wise analysis approach to elucidate the relationship between neuro-cognition and white matter microstructure in sub-acute and chronic TBI patients with normal-appearing white matter (NAWM).

In this pilot study, we investigate if the classic DTI parameters (FA, MD, RD and AD) exhibit any changes in patients with subacute and chronic TBI of all severities but with no gross abnormalities on routine MRI. We also aim to explore if the relationship between the classic DTI parameters and neurocognitive function is altered when compared with HC. This knowledge is essential as part of considering whether classic DTI parameters are useful biomarkers of the degree of neurocognitive deficit after TBI.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Participants

This study was performed at St. Michael's Hospital in Toronto, ON, Canada with approval from the hospital's Research Ethics Board. Patients with a positive history of TBI were recruited from the Trauma/Neurosurgery Ward, Neurosurgery and Head Injury Clinics, and Trauma Registry Centre at the hospital. Inclusion criteria for TBI patients required that they were within 16-70 years of age and had sustained an isolated, closed head TBI with Glasgow Coma Score [GCS; (34)] in the range 5-15 as assessed within 12 h of injury. The HC were recruited through the word-of-mouth and through online advertisement. For HC, the inclusion criterion was to be within 16-70 years of age, while the exclusion criterion included having a history of TBI, motor vehicle collisions, or falls. The exclusion criteria, as applicable to both groups, included the presence of non-hemorrhagic or micro-hemorrhagic brain lesions as assessed by fluid-attenuated inversion recovery (FLAIR) and gradient recalled echo (GRE) MRI. The presence of small superficial contusions and superficial hemosiderin staining was not considered to be an exclusion criterion, as these lesions are not expected to affect the central white matter tracts that this study aimed to analyze. The exclusion criterion for both groups also included incomplete assessment of neuro-cognition as tested with standardized neuropsychological (NP) tests (see below for more details). Subjects with existing substance abuse were excluded from the study, as this dependency can potentially alter cognition (35), and is known to be associated with microstructural abnormalities with altered FA values (36). Both groups also were subject to standard MRI exclusion criteria (e.g., claustrophobia, ferromagnetic implants) and were required to possessed adequate verbal English language skills. All participants provided informed consent to participate in the study, and received monetary compensation for the time spent on the study.

NP Testing

Cognitive function was assessed in all subjects in the three categories of memory, executive function, and visual-motor coordination. These assessments were performed using the following standardized NP tests. Memory was assessed with the Digit Span subtest (37) of the Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scale (WAIS-III) (38) and the Hopkins Verbal Learning Test (HVLT) (39). Executive function was assessed using the Token Test (40), the Phonemic Fluency subtest, which is a part of the Neurosensory Center Comprehensive Examination for Aphasia (41), and the Digit Symbol subtest of the Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scale (WAIS-III) (38). The visuomotor coordination skill was assessed using the Grooved Pegboard test (42). The National Adult Reading Test (NART) (43) was used as a measure of verbal IQ. Except for the Grooved Pegboard, all tests were administered using pen and paper.

In the Digit Span test, the subjects were asked to recall numbers in forward and backward order and the number of correct responses was recorded in each case. The HVLT consisted of three trials; the total correct responses, incorrect responses, and intrusions were recorded for each trial and the number of correct delayed recall responses at the end of the three trials was also recorded. For the Token test, the total correct responses in each of the two trials performed were recorded. The Phonemic Fluency test required subjects to list words starting with each of the letters F, A, and S; total correct responses, incorrect/ repeated responses, and intrusions were recorded in each case. For the Digit Symbol test, the total number of correctly completed, incorrectly completed, skipped, and incomplete boxes were recorded. For the Grooved Pegboard test, the time (in seconds) taken to put all the pegs in the board and the number of pegs dropped during the procedure were noted. Subjects completed the task first with their dominant hand, then the non-dominant hand. The test thus resulted in four scores: time to complete with the dominant hand (dominant time), the number of drops with the dominant hand (dominant drop), time to complete with the non-dominant hand (non-dominant time), and the number of drops with the non-dominant hand (non-dominant drop).

For each of the NP tests administered, a higher score indicates better performance. The one exception is the Grooved Pegboard test, in which a higher score indicates poorer visuomotor coordination.

MRI Protocol

Imaging was performed with a research-dedicated MRI system at 3.0 T (MR750, GE Healthcare, Waukesha, WI, USA)

at Sunnybrook Health Sciences Centre in Toronto. The MRI protocol for each subject (TBI patients and controls) included a three-dimensional (3D) longitudinal relaxation time (T₁)weighted sequence to rule out gross structural abnormalities and for anatomical reference and two-dimensional (2D) FLAIR and GRE sequences to detect microbleeds, along with a 2D DTI sequence. The parameters for these MRI sequences were as follows: 3D axial T₁-weighted inversion-recovery prepped fast gradient echo imaging—in-plane resolution = $0.9 \text{ mm} \times 0.9 \text{ mm}$; field of view (FOV) = $220 \text{ mm} \times 165 \text{ mm}$; slice thickness = 1.4 mm; flip angle = 15° ; repetition time (TR) = 8.2 ms; echo time (TE) = 3.2 ms, axial FLAIR imaging-resolution = $0.9 \text{ mm} \times 1.1 \text{ mm} \times 3.0 \text{ mm}$; FOV = $220 \text{ mm} \times 200 \text{ mm}$; flip angle = 90° ; TR = 9,950 ms; TE = 96 ms; axial GRE imaging—resolution = $0.8 \text{ mm} \times 1.0 \text{ mm} \times 3.0 \text{ mm}$; FOV = 200 mm \times 200 mm; flip angle = 20°; TR = 784 ms; TE = 35 ms; and axial DTI imaging—FOV = $240 \text{ mm} \times 240 \text{ mm}$; resolution = $1.9 \text{ mm} \times 1.9 \text{ mm}$; slice thickness = 3 mm; noncollinear diffusion directions = 11 with b = 1,000 s/mm² and with two volumes applied without diffusion sensitizing gradients $(b = 0 \text{ s/mm}^2)$, averages = 4; TR = 9,400 ms; TE = 89.7 ms. The MRI protocol lasted approximately 40 min.

DTI Data Processing

Diffusion tensor imaging data were processed using the Oxford Centre for Functional MRI of the Brain (FMRIB) Software Library (FSL- version 5.0.5-http://www.fmrib.ox.ac.uk/fsl) (44). The diffusion data were corrected for distortions due to eddy currents and minor head motion using the b = 0 image as a reference. Brain extraction was then performed on these data using the FSL brain extraction tool (45). The diffusion tensor model was fitted to the images of the extracted brain tissue to produce maps of FA, MD, RD, and AD in individual subjects. Voxel-wise analyses of the DTI parameters were performed using the Tract-Based Spatial Statistics (TBSS) package (46). As part of TBSS processing, the FA image of each subject was transformed into the Montreal Neurological Institute (MNI)-152 standard space (47), using non-linear registration (44, 48) to the FMRIB58 FA 1mm image (average high-resolution FA image of 58 subjects in MNI 152 standard space). The mean FA maps of all subjects enrolled in the study were then created. A mean white matter skeleton was subsequently generated using a threshold of FA > 0.2 to include only the centers of white matter tracts common to the entire group. The FA data from each subject were then projected onto this mean FA skeleton to generate a 4D data matrix (x, y, z, FA) characterizing the group. The non-linear transformations used in this procedure were then applied to create analogous 4D data matrices of the skeletonized MD, RD, and AD values, respectively. These matrices were used for the inter-group statistical analyses.

Statistical Analyses

A Student's *t*-test was used to compare the mean NP test scores between the two groups, after assessing for normality of the data. Differences were considered statistically significant using a threshold *p*-value ≤ 0.05 .

A General Linear Model (GLM) (49) was applied using a voxel-based approach to each of the 4D data matrices of FA, MD, AD, and RD within the FSL framework to investigate the relationship of DTI parameters with the group (TBI versus HC). The GLM was applied using non-parametric permutation-based statistics by employing the *randomize* tool in FSL with threshold-free cluster enhancement and 5,000 permutations (50). Age, sex, and time since injury were included as non-interacting covariates in the GLM. The contrasts were designed to investigate if the two groups had statistically significant differences in DTI parameters (TBI > HC and HC > TBI).

The investigation of whether DTI parameters were correlated with NP test performance was also performed with the randomize tool within the framework of GLM in FSL. For this analysis, a composite score for each category of NP function (memory, executive function, and visuomotor coordination) was calculated using the following procedure. First, the Pearson correlation coefficient (R) was calculated to assess the correlation between scores and sub-scores of various tests within the same category and only those subtests that had significant positive correlation with each other (R > 0.5, *p*-value ≤ 0.05) were included in the subsequent analyses. These selected tests/subtests scores for all subjects (TBI and HC) were then converted into ranks. Finally, a composite score for each category was calculated as the mean of ranks of all subtests and tests in that category. The correlation and rank calculations were performed using the Statistical Analysis System, 9.4 (SAS Institute Inc. 2013, Cary, NC, USA). These composites scores for NP tests were entered in the GLM design matrix for investigation of the correlation between DTI parameters and NP test performance. First, an investigation of whether the correlation between NP test performance and DTI parameters varied according to the group was performed. For this, an interaction term for each NP test category was added to the design matrix and contrasts were designed to determine positive and negative interactions between composite test scores in the three NP categories and group predictor variable. Afterward, correlations of the composite scores in the three NP categories were investigated with contrasts designed to calculate positive as well as negative correlations. For these analyses involving NP tests, IQ and education were also included in the GLM as noninteracting covariates.

A *p*-value ≤ 0.05 , corrected for multiple comparisons within *randomize* by controlling for the family-wise error rate (51), was considered significant for all statistical comparisons performed within the framework of the GLM in FSL.

Identifying the Regions with Significant Inter-Group Differences/Correlations

The *randomize* outputs consisting of *p*-values corrected for multiple comparisons were thresholded to keep voxels with *p*-value ≤ 0.05 . The FSL atlas query and cluster identification tools (merged as the *autoaq* algorithm) were used on the thresholded images to identify various white matter tracts using the Johns Hopkins University White Matter Labels atlas (52). To eliminate noise due to averaging and normalization, tracts with <50 significantly different voxels were not considered as tracts exhibiting structural

differences between the two groups and were excluded from the reported results.

Post Hoc Analyses

The *post hoc* analyses, where mentioned, were performed using only those voxels that were found significant at $p \le 0.05$ level. The *post hoc* analyses were also performed within the framework of the GLM in FSL and the results were corrected for multiple comparisons within *randomize* by controlling for the family-wise error rate (51).

RESULTS

Subjects

A total of 52 patients and 18 HC met the inclusion criteria and underwent MRI and standardized NP tests. FLAIR and GRE images of all the subjects were reviewed by two board-certified neuroradiologists to rule out non-hemorrhagic (53) and microhemorrhagic (54) lesions. Twelve patients were excluded from the study: five did not complete the MRI exam, four had significant head motion during MRI and three withdrew their consent after MRI. Twenty-one patients and one HC were excluded from the analyses due to gross abnormalities in the central cerebral white matter, visible on FLAIR or GRE images. Most of the TBI subjects had small superficial contusions and superficial hemosiderin staining but were not excluded, as these lesions are not expected to affect the central white matter tracts that this study aimed to analyze. Nineteen patients with a history of trauma from a motor vehicle collision (5 patients) or fall (14 patients) were thus included in the study. Based on the GCS scores at the time of emergency department arrival, 15 patients had mild TBI (reference GCS: 13-15), three patients had moderate TBI (reference GCS: 9-12) and one patient had severe TBI (reference GCS \leq 8). Time elapsed between injury and MRI for the present study ranged from 0.2 to 5.1 years (Table 1). Nine subjects were in the sub-acute stage (2 weeks < time since injury < 1 year), whereas the rest of the subjects were in the chronic stage after TBI (time since injury > 1 year) (7).

The group of HC consisted of individuals recruited through online advertisement as well as friends and family members of patients who attended the injury, trauma, or neurosurgery clinics at the hospital. The group of HC was matched by age, sex, and education to the group of TBI patients. **Table 1** lists the demographic details of all subjects in the study.

	TBI (<i>N</i> = 12 ma		Healthy controls $(N = 17; 10 \text{ males})$	
	Median	IQR	Median	IQR
Age (years)	47	22.5	42	31
Education (years)	15	2.5	15	3
Glasgow Coma Score	14	2	Not appli	cable
Time since injury (years)	1	1.8		

Median and interquartile range (IQR) for demographic variables of traumatic brain injury (TBI) patients and control subjects.

NP Performance

Healthy controls performed better than the TBI group on all NP tests, based on score results. However, only the scores for Digit Span, Phonemic Fluency, the third trial of the HVLT, and Digit Symbol tests were significantly higher in HC at *p*-value ≤ 0.05 . A significant positive correlation was found between the Digit Span scores (forward and backward), the total correct responses in each of the three trials of HVLT, and the correct delayed recall score in the memory category. In the executive function category, a significant positive correlation was found between the total correct phonemic score, the total correct score in the Digit Symbol test, and the total score in each of the two Token test trials. In the visuomotor coordination category, the dominant and non-dominant times were found to have a significant positive correlation. No significant difference was found in the verbal IQ of the two groups as measured with the NART. The results of NP test performance are summarized in Table 2.

Inter-Group Differences in DTI Parameters

Significantly increased MD and AD values were found in the TBI group compared to HC in several brain regions (controlling for age, sex, and time since injury). **Table 3** lists MD and AD values in those tracts where significant inter-group differences in MD and AD were found. In particular, significant differences in MD and AD were found in the corpus callosum and bilateral internal capsule, external capsule, corona radiata, posterior thalamic radiations, and various other structures. Changes in AD were more widespread compared to those in MD (**Figures 1** and **2**). No significant differences between the two groups were found in FA and RD. Although trends of increased RD and FA in TBI were

TABLE 2 NP performance results.						
NP test	ТВІ	Healthy controls	p-Value			
	Median/ interquartile range (IQR)		_			
National Adult Reading Test (verbal IQ)	34/15	39.5/14	0.1			
Memory						
Digit span (forward and backward)	9/4; 6/3.5	12/3; 7.5/4.8	0.003*; 0.03*			
Hopkins Verbal Learning Test (3 trials	6/3; 9/2.5; 8/4;	5.5/2.8;	0.8; 0.4;			
and delayed recall)	8/2.5	8.5/3; 10/2; 8.5/3.8	0.04*; 0.2			
Executive function						
Token test (2 trials)	21/3; 22/0	21/2; 22/1	0.2; 0.7			
Digit symbol (total correct)	64/9	71.5/29.3	0.02*			
Phonemic fluency (total correct)	36/12	42/13.5	0.02*			
Visuomotor coordination						
Pegboard (dominant and non- dominant time- seconds)	70/11; 79/30.5	60/28.5; 70/20	0.16; 0.08			

List of subtests and tests in each category of neuropsychological (NP) function that were found to have significant positive correlation with each other. Higher values imply better performance on the corresponding NP test except for the Pegboard where the reverse is true. The last column lists the p-value for Student's t-test. *represents statistically significant difference between the mean scores of the two

groups.

visible in several major white matter tracts, notable exceptions included a trend of decreased FA in TBI in the corpus callosum and the bilateral cingulum.

Post Hoc Analyses of the Inter-Group Differences in DTI Parameters

The *post hoc* analyses, involving only the significant voxels at $p \le 0.05$ level confirmed the inter-group differences in the DTI variables. The *p* values of the *post hoc* analyses are also listed in **Table 3**.

Interactions

No significant interactions between the composite test scores in the three NP function categories and group variables were found, indicating that both groups exhibited similar relationships between the NP explanatory variables on the DTI parameters. Therefore, the NP-group interaction terms were excluded, and contrasts were appropriately modified for the subsequent analyses to investigate the effect of group and NP explanatory variables on the DTI parameters.

Correlation of NP Test Scores with DTI Parameters

Continuing with the GLM design matrix with the composite test scores in the three NP function categories added as covariates along with age, sex, time since injury, education and the NART (verbal IQ), the correlation between NP test scores and DTI parameters was investigated with appropriate contrasts. In this analysis, a negative correlation was found between the composite memory score and FA in all subjects, in several tracts widespread in the entire brain. These tracts included bilateral internal and external capsules, corona radiata, cingulum, posterior thalamic radiations and superior longitudinal fasciculi. A positive correlation between composite visuomotor score and RD was also found in both groups, in a few tracts including the corpus callosum and only the right components of corona radiata, cingulum, and superior longitudinal fasciculus. Table 4 lists the tracts where a significant correlation between the DTI parameters and the composite NP test scores was found. No significant correlations between the composite NP function scores and MD or AD were found.

DISCUSSION

This study was designed to investigate the microstructural abnormalities in NAWM using DTI and to explore their potential impact on cognitive function in post-acute TBI patients compared to HC using a voxel-wise approach. Most often, TBI patients report persisting cognitive deficits and hence are not able to return to their pre-morbid daily activities, sometimes also including the inability to resume work, resulting in financial stress and increased psychological stress. The clinical assessment of this persisting cognitive deficit is challenging, especially when no gross abnormalities indicative of the cognitive or functional loss are detected on routine diagnostic imaging (e.g., structural MRI and CT). The DTI method, however, has been shown to

TABLE 3 Tracts with significantly increased MD and AD values in TBI.
--

Structure		MD			AD	
	Mean <u>+</u> SD (×10 ⁻⁴ – mm ² s ⁻¹)		p-Value	Mean \pm SD (×10 ⁻³ – mm ² s ⁻¹)		<i>p</i> -Value
	ТВІ	НС	(post hoc)	тві	НС	(post hoc)
Corpus callosum	8.1 ± 0.4	7.8 ± 0.3	0.03 (0.008)	1.5 ± 0.7	1.5 ± 0.5	0.03 (0.004)
Corticospinal tract-R	-	-	-	1.3 ± 0.7	1.2 ± 0.7	0.03 (0.005)
Corticospinal tract-L	-	-	-	1.2 ± 1	1.2 ± 0.5	0.04 (0.007)
Cerebral peduncle-R	6.8 ± 0.4	6.6 ± 0.4	0.04 (0.01)	1.5 ± 0.8	1.4 ± 0.6	0.03 (0.005)
Cerebral peduncle-L	-	-	-	1.4 ± 0.8	1.4 ± 0.8	0.03 (0.005)
Internal capsule-R	7.5 ± 0.3	7.2 ± 0.2	0.03 (0.006)	1.4 ± 0.6	1.3 ± 0.4	0.02 (0.003)
Internal capsule-L	7.4 ± 0.3	7.2 ± 0.2	0.04 (0.01)	1.3 ± 0.5	1.3 ± 0.3	0.02 (0.003)
External capsule-R	7.6 ± 0.3	7.3 ± 0.2	0.03 (0.009)	1.2 ± 0.6	1.1 ± 0.2	0.03 (0.003)
External capsule-L	7.4 ± 0.3	7.2 ± 0.2	0.04 (0.02)	1.2 ± 0.6	1.1 ± 0.3	0.02 (0.004)
Corona radiata-R	7.4 ± 0.3	7.2 ± 0.2	0.02 (0.003)	1.2 ± 0.5	1.2 ± 0.4	0.02 (0.002)
Corona radiata-L	7.4 ± 0.3	7.2 ± 0.2	0.03 (0.007)	1.2 ± 0.5	1.2 ± 0.4	0.02 (0.002)
Cingulum-R	7.8 ± 0.3	7.4 ± 0.2	0.03 (0.005)	1.2 ± 0.5	1.2 ± 0.3	0.03 (0.004)
Cingulum-L	7.7 ± 0.4	7.4 ± 0.2	0.03 (0.01)	1.2 ± 0.6	1.2 ± 0.4	0.03 (0.004)
Thalamic rad Post-R	8.3 ± 0.4	7.9 ± 0.4	0.03 (0.007)	1.5 ± 0.7	1.4 ± 0.5	0.03 (0.004)
Thalamic rad Post-L	8.0 ± 0.4	7.6 ± 0.4	0.04 (0.01)	1.4 ± 0.6	1.3 ± 0.5	0.04 (0.007)
Longitudinal fasc Sup-R	7.4 ± 0.3	7.1 ± 0.2	0.02 (0.006)	1.2 ± 0.6	1.1 ± 0.4	0.03 (0.004)
Longitudinal fasc Sup-L	7.5 ± 0.3	7.2 ± 0.2	0.03 (0.009)	1.2 ± 0.34	1.1 ± 0.3	0.03 (0.005)
Frontooccipital fasc Sup-R	7.1 ± 0.3	6.7 ± 0.2	0.02 (0.005)	1.1 ± 0.6	1.1 ± 0.5	0.02 (0.003)
Frontooccipital fasc Sup-L	6.8 ± 0.4	6.5 ± 0.3	0.03 (0.008)	1.1 ± 0.7	1.1 ± 0.5	0.02 (0.002)

White matter tracts where mean diffusivity (MD) and axial diffusivity (AD) were found to be significantly higher in the traumatic brain injury (TBI) group compared to healthy controls (HC), after controlling for age, sex, and time since injury at p-value ≤ 0.05 , corrected for multiple comparisons. For each structure, the mean value of the diffusion parameters is first calculated in every subject for only those voxels where significant differences were identified, and then the mean across all subjects is calculated. The p-values quoted are the mean values calculated only for those voxels where significant differences were identified. The numbers in parenthesis in the p-value column represent p-value obtained in the post hoc analyses which was performed with only those voxels where a significant difference at p-value ≤ 0.05 was earlier found.

fasc, fasciculus, L, left, Post, posterior, rad, radiations, R, right, Sup, superior.

detect micro-abnormalities and hence can be helpful in explaining the functional or cognitive deficit in sub-acute and chronic TBI with NAWM. Voxel-wise analysis of the DTI parameters and of the correlation of cognitive function with DTI parameters performed over the entire brain has the advantage of identifying partial regions or tracts with significant inter-group differences and significant correlations. Such regions may not be successfully detected *via* analyses which involve ROI selection based on *a priori* hypotheses. Partial regions or tracts with significant inter-group differences may also be masked by spatial averaging in ROI analyses.

Our neuroradiologists confirmed the absence of gross abnormalities in the central white matter of the brain in only 19 of the 40 TBI patients after reviewing their FLAIR and GRE data. These numbers suggest that some gross abnormalities due to TBI are likely to persist for lengthy time periods and may account for the changes in DTI parameters in chronic TBI, as widely quoted in the literature. It is noteworthy, however, that most of the TBI patients with NAWM that were included in our analyses had mild TBI (15 out of 19 subjects). Mild TBI is more frequent than other forms of TBI world-wide (55), and is less likely to cause gross lesions in the brain.

Our finding of widespread increase in the overall diffusivity of water molecules (as measured with MD) in the post-acute TBI subjects, while controlling for age, sex, and time since injury, robustly reaffirms the findings of previous studies (12, 13, 21, 24, 32, 33, 56, 57) and indicates the persistence of DAI in sub-acute and chronic TBI with NAWM. We also found an accompanying increase in AD in the TBI group. Many DTI studies of TBI have not analyzed AD. However, those studies that explored intergroup differences in AD also found an increase in this parameter in post-acute TBI (21, 32). The changes in AD were more widespread compared to changes in MD, and potentially significantly contributed to increase in MD.

We did not find any significant differences between the two groups in FA. Several DTI studies of TBI reported a decrease of FA in post-acute TBI; however, these studies included more acute patients, up to 1 month from the injury (22, 23, 27, 30). Some other studies with a minimum post-injury time similar to ours (2-3 months) reported variable FA results: some reported a decrease (12, 24, 26, 31, 32); one reported an increase (58); and others reported no change (9, 25, 59). One potential reason for this variability may be the presence of gross abnormalities in the brain, as some of the studies that reported decreased FA either included subjects with gross abnormalities (24, 32) or did not screen subjects for gross abnormalities (26). Furthermore, one study that found reduced FA (12) focused on TBI subjects using prescribed medicines for major depression or post-traumatic stress disorder, which constitute a known confounding factor (60).

We also did not find any significant differences between the two groups in RD; however, trends of increased RD in TBI were evident. Very often, studies of DTI in post- acute TBI have not investigated the RD parameter. A few studies involving RD reported variable findings, with increase (32) or no difference (26) observed in chronic TBI compared to HC.



A survey of the TBI literature suggests that DTI parameters change dynamically with time post-injury. One longitudinal study assessing FA values in TBI patients reported a decrease at the acute and sub-acute stage (range of time since injury = 3-55 days) when compared with controls, an increase at the chronic stage (minimum of 238 days since the first scan) in comparison with patients' first measurements and no difference at the chronic stage when compared with controls (25). The same study also reported an increase in MD in the TBI group in comparison with controls at both time-points, and an increase in MD with time in the TBI group. Another longitudinal study reported increases in AD, MD, and FA in the acute stage, and no differences in RD; and sustained increase in MD in the chronic stage accompanied by an increase in RD, normal AD levels, and a reduction in FA compared to HC (33). These observations suggest that the absence of statistically significant differences in RD and FA in our study might be due to inclusion of both sub-acute and chronic TBI patients.

Considering these findings collectively with our results, we conclude that DAI, as manifested in elevated diffusivity, potentially persist from the acute stage to well into the chronic stage after TBI, whereas changes in FA may be more sensitive to time since injury and may not remain detectable later on in the chronic stage. The different effects shown by these parameters are interesting, and may reflect their biophysical underpinnings. Whereas MD is a linear combination of diffusivities in the three orthogonal directions and will increase if all three diffusivities are increased, FA is a measure of difference among the three diffusivities and may show no change if the three diffusivities are all modulated proportionally in the same manner. An



increase in AD and MD and no difference in FA in our study, therefore, suggest a trend of increased RD values in TBI subjects. Furthermore, AD is thought to be a measure of axonal integrity (61). By extension, our results suggest that the repair of the axonal cytoskeleton, thought to result in rising AD values during recovery (24), happens before the repair of axonal membranes or re-myelination of axons, both of which are thought to restrict perpendicular diffusion and to help normalize increased RD values (62).

Persisting elevated MD values in sub-acute and chronic TBI, encompassing association (e.g., external capsule), projection (e.g., corona radiata, thalamic radiation), and commissural (e.g., corpus callosum) fibers, despite overall NAWM, suggest that microstructural damage or pathological change remains a salient feature of chronic TBI. The significant changes in MD which represent a cumulative effect of AD and RD values are of primary importance, possibly suggesting that MD can be used for assessing the burden of microstructural damage in sub-acute and chronic TBI characterized with NAWM. Our *post hoc* analyses also confirmed these differences.

Our investigation of the relationship between NP function and DTI parameters primarily revealed effects involving FA and RD, and not AD and MD. The absence of interaction effects between NP test scores and DTI parameters implies that positive and negative correlations hold similarly in all subjects regardless of the group status. A significant negative correlation was found between the composite memory score and FA in several white matter tracts. Notably, the negative correlation was found in the structures of the corpus callosum, bilateral external capsule, bilateral posterior thalamic radiations, and bilateral superior longitudinal fasciculi, which constitute either the commissural, projection, or long-range

TABLE 4 Tracts with significant correlations between diffusion tensor
imaging parameters and composite neuropsychological scores.

Structure	<i>p</i> -Value		
Corpus callosum ^a	0.02 (0.05)		
Cerebral peduncle-R	0.03		
Internal capsule-R	0.03		
Internal capsule-L ^a	0.03 (0.05)		
External capsule-R	0.03		
External capsule-L	0.03		
Corona radiata-R ^a	0.03 (0.05)		
Corona radiata-L	0.03		
Cingulum-R ^a	0.03 (0.05)		
Cingulum-L	0.03		
Thalamic radiations Post-R	0.02		
Thalamic radiations Post-L	0.02		
Longitudinal fasciculus Sup-R ^a	0.02 (0.05)		
Longitudinal fasciculus Sup-L	0.02		

White matter tracts where fractional anisotropy was found to be negatively correlated with the composite memory score, after correcting for multiple comparisons. ^aThe tracts where a significant positive correlation between radial diffusivity (RD) and the composite visuomotor score was also found. The p-values for significant positive correlations for RD are mentioned in parentheses in the second column.

association fibers. Working and short-term memory is known to be associated with various regions in the frontal, parietal, and anterior-cingulate cortices and basal ganglia (63). The white matter tracts involved in memory are the relatively short-length or U-association fibers connecting these cortical regions. The major white matter tracts that are known to be involved in memory include the fornix (64, 65), which projects to the cingulate cortex, and the internal capsule (66), which connects the cortex with basal ganglia. Furthermore, the DTI literature suggests a positive correlation of FA with function, indicating higher FA (and hence intact structure of axons, with no disruption in myelin or axonal membranes) in subjects with better performance on memory (67) as well as other cognitive tasks (68, 69). Interestingly, our results show a negative correlation of FA in the white tracts which are not directly involved in memory. Keeping in mind the evidence of widespread DAI in the brain, we explain this finding by suggesting that whereas FA increases within the network of interest are correlated with improved performance, the negative correlation of FA in another network or some sub-network might indicate hyperfunction resulting in less effective mental processing and thus a decrement in behavioral performance.

We also found a significant positive correlation between RD and visuomotor performance in the corpus callosum and right aspects of corona radiata, cingulum, and superior longitudinal fasciculus. This means that poor visuomotor coordination (higher scores on the Pegboard task) were associated with elevated RD values. Each of the structures where a positive correlation of RD with visuomotor task performance is found is known to be involved in the visual or motor tasks: the corona radiata are associated with the corticospinal tract, the superior longitudinal fasciculi are involved in integrating the motor and decision-making centers with ipsilateral visual centers (70), and the posterior aspect of cingulum is involved in visual skills. Although other studies have reported tracing of superior longitudinal fasciculi associated with investigation of language networks (71), our study is the first to report the involvement of this structure in visuomotor skills using DTI parameters.

Our study has some limitations, which include the collection of DTI data in only 12 diffusion-weighted directions with coarse resolution, the small sample size, and the inclusion of subjects with all TBI severities. Another limitation is that we did not use susceptibility-weighted imaging (SWI) to detect microstructural abnormalities in the NAWM because the protocol was not available on the MRI scanner at the time of data collection. As SWI is known to be superior to GRE in detecting micro-hemorrhages (72), it can be argued that the differences between the two groups might be influenced by undetected micro-hemorrhages in NAWM, which were not visible on GRE. However, the intergroup differences that were found are well supported by earlier studies (12, 24, 32, 73). The similarity of the effect of NP performance on the DTI parameters across both groups and the lack of interaction between NP performance and group variable also indirectly supports that no gross abnormalities were present in the white matter of subjects with TBI.

Conclusion and Future Directions

Overall, this pilot study shows DTI to be helpful in evaluating the microstructural abnormalities in sub-acute and chronic TBI patients even when there are no apparent abnormalities in the central white matter. Elevated diffusivity values appear to persist well into the chronic stage after TBI, and hence MD can be used to assess persisting microstructural damage in chronic TBI. No clear trend for FA values in post-acute TBI is visible. The study also indicates the potential use of DTI in assessing neurocognitive functions in both TBI patients and HC. The authors recommend larger and longitudinal studies for each of mild, moderate, and severe TBI, to establish the use of DTI parameters as biomarkers of DAI and neurocognitive function in patients with NAWM.

ETHICS STATEMENT

Research Ethics Board, St. Michael's Hospital, Toronto, ON, Canada. M5B 1W8. Telephone: 416-864-6060 extension: 2557. REB # 11-282 (Strategic Teams in Applied Injury Research Protocol). Informed consent was obtained from the participants on a paper form, after a research team member explained the objectives and methods of the study to them.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

EH and EC performed the neuroimaging analyses with help from CL and OC. NP provided input for TBSS analyses. RJ helped with the statistical analyses. MC and AB were involved in study design. SZ assisted with patient recruitment and research coordination. EH, EC, NP, and MC wrote the manuscript. All authors participated in discussing the results and editing the manuscript.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This research was supported by the Canadian Institutes of Health Research Strategic Team Grant in Applied Injury Research

REFERENCES

- Dikmen SS, Corrigan JD, Levin HS, Machamer J, Stiers W, Weisskopf MG. Cognitive outcome following traumatic brain injury. *J Head Trauma Rehabil* (2009) 24(6):430–8. doi:10.1097/HTR.0b013e3181c133e9
- Arenth PM, Russell KC, Scanlon JM, Kessler LJ, Ricker JH. Corpus callosum integrity and neuropsychological performance after traumatic brain injury: a diffusion tensor imaging study. *J Head Trauma Rehabil* (2014) 29(2):E1–10. doi:10.1097/HTR.0b013e318289ede5
- Rugg-Gunn FJ, Symms MR, Barker GJ, Greenwood R, Duncan JS. Diffusion imaging shows abnormalities after blunt head trauma when conventional magnetic resonance imaging is normal. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry* (2001) 70(4):530–3. doi:10.1136/jnnp.70.4.530
- Wang JY, Bakhadirov K, Devous MD Sr, Abdi H, McColl R, Moore C, et al. Diffusion tensor tractography of traumatic diffuse axonal injury. *Arch Neurol* (2008) 65(5):619–26. doi:10.1001/archneur.65.5.619
- Marquez de la Plata CD, Yang FG, Wang JY, Krishnan K, Bakhadirov K, Paliotta C, et al. Diffusion tensor imaging biomarkers for traumatic axonal injury: analysis of three analytic methods. *J Int Neuropsychol Soc* (2011) 17(1):24–35. doi:10.1017/S1355617710001189
- Perez AM, Adler J, Kulkarni N, Strain JF, Womack KB, Diaz-Arrastia R, et al. Longitudinal white matter changes after traumatic axonal injury. *J Neurotrauma* (2014) 31(17):1478–85. doi:10.1089/neu.2013.3216
- Hulkower MB, Poliak DB, Rosenbaum SB, Zimmerman ME, Lipton ML. A decade of DTI in traumatic brain injury: 10 years and 100 articles later. *AJNR Am J Neuroradiol* (2013) 34(11):2064–74. doi:10.3174/ ajnr.A3395
- Kumar R, Gupta RK, Husain M, Chaudhry C, Srivastava A, Saksena S, et al. Comparative evaluation of corpus callosum DTI metrics in acute mild and moderate traumatic brain injury: its correlation with neuropsychometric tests. *Brain Inj* (2009) 23(7):675–85. doi:10.1080/0269905090 3014915
- Levin HS, Wilde E, Troyanskaya M, Petersen NJ, Scheibel R, Newsome M, et al. Diffusion tensor imaging of mild to moderate blast-related traumatic brain injury and its sequelae. *J Neurotrauma* (2010) 27(4):683–94. doi:10.1089/ neu.2009.1073
- Rutgers DR, Toulgoat F, Cazejust J, Fillard P, Lasjaunias P, Ducreux D. White matter abnormalities in mild traumatic brain injury: a diffusion tensor imaging study. AJNR Am J Neuroradiol (2008) 29(3):514–9. doi:10.3174/ajnr.A0856
- Cubon VA, Putukian M, Boyer C, Dettwiler A. A diffusion tensor imaging study on the white matter skeleton in individuals with sports-related concussion. J Neurotrauma (2011) 28(2):189–201. doi:10.1089/neu.2010.1430
- Yurgelun-Todd DA, Bueler CE, McGlade EC, Churchwell JC, Brenner LA, Lopez-Larson MP. Neuroimaging correlates of traumatic brain injury and suicidal behavior. *J Head Trauma Rehabil* (2011) 26(4):276–89. doi:10.1097/ HTR.0b013e31822251dc
- Xiong K, Zhu Y, Zhang Y, Yin Z, Zhang J, Qiu M, et al. White matter integrity and cognition in mild traumatic brain injury following motor vehicle accident. *Brain Res* (2014) 1591:86–92. doi:10.1016/j.brainres.2014. 10.030
- Nakayama N, Okumura A, Shinoda J, Yasokawa YT, Miwa K, Yoshimura SI, et al. Evidence for white matter disruption in traumatic brain injury without macroscopic lesions. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry* (2006) 77(7):850–5. doi:10.1136/jnnp.2005.077875
- Oni MB, Wilde EA, Bigler ED, McCauley SR, Wu TC, Yallampalli R, et al. Diffusion tensor imaging analysis of frontal lobes in pediatric traumatic brain injury. *J Child Neurol* (2010) 25(8):976–84. doi:10.1177/0883073 809356034

#TIR-103946, and the Ontario Neurotrauma Foundation (www. onf.org). The authors are grateful to Dr. Amy W. Lin (Boardcertified radiologist) for screening the MRI scans of all subjects for gross abnormalities in the central white matter of the brain.

- Goetz P, Blamire A, Rajagopalan B, Cadoux-Hudson T, Young D, Styles P. Increase in apparent diffusion coefficient in normal appearing white matter following human traumatic brain injury correlates with injury severity. *J Neurotrauma* (2004) 21(6):645–54. doi:10.1089/0897715041269731
- Rutgers DR, Fillard P, Paradot G, Tadie M, Lasjaunias P, Ducreux D. Diffusion tensor imaging characteristics of the corpus callosum in mild, moderate, and severe traumatic brain injury. *AJNR Am J Neuroradiol* (2008) 29(9):1730–5. doi:10.3174/ajnr.A1213
- Bigler ED. Distinguished Neuropsychologist Award Lecture 1999. The lesion(s) in traumatic brain injury: implications for clinical neuropsychology. *Arch Clin Neuropsychol* (2001) 16(2):95–131. doi:10.1016/S0887-6177(00) 00095-0
- Chang MC, Kim SH, Kim OL, Bai DS, Jang SH. The relation between fornix injury and memory impairment in patients with diffuse axonal injury: a diffusion tensor imaging study. *NeuroRehabilitation* (2010) 26(4):347–53. doi:10.3233/NRE-2010-0572
- Newcombe VF, Williams GB, Scoffings D, Cross J, Carpenter TA, Pickard JD, et al. Aetiological differences in neuroanatomy of the vegetative state: insights from diffusion tensor imaging and functional implications. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry* (2010) 81(5):552–61. doi:10.1136/jnnp.2009.196246
- Newcombe V, Chatfield D, Outtrim J, Vowler S, Manktelow A, Cross J, et al. Mapping traumatic axonal injury using diffusion tensor imaging: correlations with functional outcome. *PLoS One* (2011) 6(5):e19214. doi:10.1371/journal. pone.0019214
- 22. Niogi SN, Mukherjee P, Ghajar J, Johnson C, Kolster RA, Sarkar R, et al. Extent of microstructural white matter injury in postconcussive syndrome correlates with impaired cognitive reaction time: a 3T diffusion tensor imaging study of mild traumatic brain injury. *AJNR Am J Neuroradiol* (2008) 29(5):967–73. doi:10.3174/ajnr.A0970
- Niogi SN, Mukherjee P, Ghajar J, Johnson CE, Kolster R, Lee H, et al. Structural dissociation of attentional control and memory in adults with and without mild traumatic brain injury. *Brain* (2008) 131(Pt 12):3209–21. doi:10.1093/ brain/awn247
- Bonnelle V, Leech R, Kinnunen KM, Ham TE, Beckmann CF, De Boissezon X, et al. Default mode network connectivity predicts sustained attention deficits after traumatic brain injury. *J Neurosci* (2011) 31(38):13442–51. doi:10.1523/ JNEUROSCI.1163-11.2011
- Grossman EJ, Jensen JH, Babb JS, Chen Q, Tabesh A, Fieremans E, et al. Cognitive impairment in mild traumatic brain injury: a longitudinal diffusional kurtosis and perfusion imaging study. *AJNR Am J Neuroradiol* (2013) 34(5):S951–3. doi:10.3174/ajnr.A3358
- Kraus MF, Susmaras T, Caughlin BP, Walker CJ, Sweeney JA, Little DM. White matter integrity and cognition in chronic traumatic brain injury: a diffusion tensor imaging study. *Brain* (2007) 130(Pt 10):2508–19. doi:10.1093/brain/ awm216
- Hartikainen KM, Waljas M, Isoviita T, Dastidar P, Liimatainen S, Solbakk AK, et al. Persistent symptoms in mild to moderate traumatic brain injury associated with executive dysfunction. *J Clin Exp Neuropsychol* (2010) 32(7):767–74. doi:10.1080/13803390903521000
- Maruta J, Suh M, Niogi SN, Mukherjee P, Ghajar J. Visual tracking synchronization as a metric for concussion screening. *J Head Trauma Rehabil* (2010) 25(4):293–305. doi:10.1097/HTR.0b013e3181e67936
- Wozniak JR, Krach L, Ward E, Mueller BA, Muetzel R, Schnoebelen S, et al. Neurocognitive and neuroimaging correlates of pediatric traumatic brain injury: a diffusion tensor imaging (DTI) study. *Arch Clin Neuropsychol* (2007) 22(5):555–68. doi:10.1016/j.acn.2007.03.004
- 30. Grossman EJ, Ge Y, Jensen JH, Babb JS, Miles L, Reaume J, et al. Thalamus and cognitive impairment in mild traumatic brain injury: a diffusional

kurtosis imaging study. J Neurotrauma (2012) 29(13):2318–27. doi:10.1089/ neu.2011.1763

- Geary EK, Kraus MF, Pliskin NH, Little DM. Verbal learning differences in chronic mild traumatic brain injury. J Int Neuropsychol Soc (2010) 16(3):506– 16. doi:10.1017/S135561771000010X
- Kinnunen KM, Greenwood R, Powell JH, Leech R, Hawkins PC, Bonnelle V, et al. White matter damage and cognitive impairment after traumatic brain injury. *Brain* (2011) 134(Pt 2):449–63. doi:10.1093/brain/awq347
- Croall ID, Cowie CJ, He J, Peel A, Wood J, Aribisala BS, et al. White matter correlates of cognitive dysfunction after mild traumatic brain injury. *Neurology* (2014) 83(6):494–501. doi:10.1212/WNL.00000000000666
- Teasdale G, Jennett B. Assessment of coma and impaired consciousness a practical scale. *Lancet* (1974) 2(7872):81–4. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(74) 91639-0
- 35. Gould TJ. Addiction and cognition. Addict Sci Clin Pract (2010) 5(2):4–14.
- Lim KO, Wozniak JR, Mueller BA, Franc DT, Specker SM, Rodriguez CP, et al. Brain macrostructural and microstructural abnormalities in cocaine dependence. *Drug Alcohol Depend* (2008) 92(1–3):164–72. doi:10.1016/ j.drugalcdep.2007.07.019
- Heinly MT, Greve KW, Bianchini KJ, Love JM, Brennan A. WAIS digit span-based indicators of malingered neurocognitive dysfunction: classification accuracy in traumatic brain injury. *Assessment* (2005) 12(4):429–44. doi:10.1177/1073191105281099
- Burton DB, Ryan JJ, Axelrod BN, Schellenberger T. A confirmatory factor analysis of the WAIS-III in a clinical sample with crossvalidation in the standardization sample. *Arch Clin Neuropsychol* (2002) 17(4):371–87. doi:10.1016/ S0887-6177(01)00121-4
- Shapiro AM, Benedict RH, Schretlen D, Brandt J. Construct and concurrent validity of the Hopkins Verbal Learning Test-revised. *Clin Neuropsychol* (1999) 13(3):348–58. doi:10.1076/clin.13.3.348.1749
- Renzi ED, Faglioni P. [Verbal comprehension in aphasic and in normal subjects with a shortened version of the token test (author's transl)]. *Riv Patol Nerv Ment* (1975) 96(4):252–69.
- Spreen O, Benton AL. Neurosensory Center Comprehensive Examination for Aphasia: Manual of instructions (NCCEA). British Columbia: Neuropsychology Laboratory, University of Victoria (1977).
- Schear JM, Sato SD. Effects of visual acuity and visual motor speed and dexterity on cognitive test performance. *Arch Clin Neuropsychol* (1989) 4(1):25–32. doi:10.1093/arclin/4.1.25
- Riley GA, Simmonds LV. How robust is performance on the National Adult Reading Test following traumatic brain injury? *Br J Clin Psychol* (2003) 42(Pt 3):319–28. doi:10.1348/01446650360703410
- 44. Smith SM, Jenkinson M, Woolrich MW, Beckmann CF, Behrens TE, Johansen-Berg H, et al. Advances in functional and structural MR image analysis and implementation as FSL. *Neuroimage* (2004) 23(Suppl 1):S208–19. doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2004.07.051
- Smith SM. Fast robust automated brain extraction. Hum Brain Mapp (2002) 17(3):143–55. doi:10.1002/hbm.10062
- Smith SM, Jenkinson M, Johansen-Berg H, Rueckert D, Nichols TE, Mackay CE, et al. Tract-based spatial statistics: voxelwise analysis of multisubject diffusion data. *Neuroimage* (2006) 31(4):1487–505. doi:10.1016/ j.neuroimage.2006.02.024
- Grabner G, Janke AL, Budge MM, Smith D, Pruessner J, Collins DL. Symmetric atlasing and model based segmentation: an application to the hippocampus in older adults. *Med Image Comput Comput Assist Interv* (2006) 9(Pt 2):58–66. doi:10.1007/11866763_8
- Andersson JLR, Jenkinson M, Smith S. Non-Linear Registration, aka Spatial Normalization. Oxford, UK: FMRIB Analysis Group, University of Oxford (2007). 2 p. FMRIB Technical Report TR07JA2. Available from: http://www. fmrib.ox.ac.uk/datasets/techrep/
- 49. Neter J, Wasserman W, Whitmore GA. *Applied Statistics*. Boston: Allyn and Bacon (1993).
- Winkler AM, Ridgway GR, Webster MA, Smith SM, Nichols TE. Permutation inference for the general linear model. *Neuroimage* (2014) 92:381–97. doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2014.01.060
- Nichols T, Hayasaka S. Controlling the familywise error rate in functional neuroimaging: a comparative review. *Stat Methods Med Res* (2003) 12(5):419–46. doi:10.1191/0962280203sm341ra

- 52. Mori S, Wakana S, van Zijl PCM, Nagae-Poetscher LM. *MRI Atlas of Human White Matter*. Amsterdam: Elsevier (1995).
- Parizel PM, Van Goethem JW, Ozsarlak O, Maes M, Phillips CD. New developments in the neuroradiological diagnosis of craniocerebral trauma. *Eur Radiol* (2005) 15(3):569–81. doi:10.1007/s00330-004-2558-z
- Huisman TA, Sorensen AG, Hergan K, Gonzalez RG, Schaefer PW. Diffusion-weighted imaging for the evaluation of diffuse axonal injury in closed head injury. *J Comput Assist Tomogr* (2003) 27(1):5–11. doi:10.1097/ 00004728-200301000-00002
- Cassidy JD, Carroll LJ, Peloso PM, Borg J, von Holst H, Holm L, et al. Incidence, risk factors and prevention of mild traumatic brain injury: results of the WHO collaborating centre task force on mild traumatic brain injury. *J Rehabil Med* (2004) 43:28–60. doi:10.1080/16501960410023732
- Inglese M, Makani S, Johnson G, Cohen BA, Silver JA, Gonen O, et al. Diffuse axonal injury in mild traumatic brain injury: a diffusion tensor imaging study. *J Neurosurg* (2005) 103(2):298–303. doi:10.3171/jns.2005.103.2.0298
- Sidaros A, Engberg AW, Sidaros K, Liptrot MG, Herning M, Petersen P, et al. Diffusion tensor imaging during recovery from severe traumatic brain injury and relation to clinical outcome: a longitudinal study. *Brain* (2008) 131(Pt 2):559–72. doi:10.1093/brain/awm294
- Lo C, Shifteh K, Gold T, Bello JA, Lipton ML. Diffusion tensor imaging abnormalities in patients with mild traumatic brain injury and neurocognitive impairment. J Comput Assist Tomogr (2009) 33(2):293–7. doi:10.1097/ RCT.0b013e31817579d1
- Lange RT, Iverson GL, Brubacher JR, Madler B, Heran MK. Diffusion tensor imaging findings are not strongly associated with postconcussional disorder 2 months following mild traumatic brain injury. *J Head Trauma Rehabil* (2012) 27(3):188–98. doi:10.1097/HTR.0b013e318217f0ad
- Murphy ML, Frodl T. Meta-analysis of diffusion tensor imaging studies shows altered fractional anisotropy occurring in distinct brain areas in association with depression. *Biol Mood Anxiety Disord* (2011) 1(1):3. doi:10.1186/2045-5380-1-3
- Di Paola M, Spalletta G, Caltagirone C. In vivo structural neuroanatomy of corpus callosum in Alzheimer's disease and mild cognitive impairment using different MRI techniques: a review. *J Alzheimers Dis* (2010) 20(1):67–95. doi:10.3233/JAD-2010-1370
- Beaulieu C. The basis of anisotropic water diffusion in the nervous system a technical review. NMR Biomed (2002) 15(7–8):435–55. doi:10.1002/nbm.782
- Linden DE. The working memory networks of the human brain. Neuroscientist (2007) 13(3):257–67. doi:10.1177/1073858406298480
- Gaffan EA, Gaffan D, Hodges JR. Amnesia following damage to the left fornix and to other sites. A comparative study. *Brain* (1991) 114(Pt 3):1297–313. doi:10.1093/brain/114.3.1297
- Tsivilis D, Vann SD, Denby C, Roberts N, Mayes AR, Montaldi D, et al. A disproportionate role for the fornix and mammillary bodies in recall versus recognition memory. *Nat Neurosci* (2008) 11(7):834–42. doi:10.1038/nn.2149
- Tatemichi TK, Desmond DW, Prohovnik I, Cross DT, Gropen TI, Mohr JP, et al. Confusion and memory loss from capsular genu infarction: a thalamocortical disconnection syndrome? *Neurology* (1992) 42(10):1966–79. doi:10.1212/WNL.42.10.1966
- Palacios EM, Fernandez-Espejo D, Junque C, Sanchez-Carrion R, Roig T, Tormos JM, et al. Diffusion tensor imaging differences relate to memory deficits in diffuse traumatic brain injury. *BMC Neurol* (2011) 11:24. doi:10.1186/1471-2377-11-24
- Grieve SM, Williams LM, Paul RH, Clark CR, Gordon E. Cognitive aging, executive function, and fractional anisotropy: a diffusion tensor MR imaging study. *AJNR Am J Neuroradiol* (2007) 28(2):226–35.
- Sugiyama K, Kondo T, Oouchida Y, Suzukamo Y, Higano S, Endo M, et al. Clinical utility of diffusion tensor imaging for evaluating patients with diffuse axonal injury and cognitive disorders in the chronic stage. *J Neurotrauma* (2009) 26(11):1879–90. doi:10.1089/neu.2008-0839
- Schmahmann JD, Smith EE, Eichler FS, Filley CM. Cerebral white matter: neuroanatomy, clinical neurology, and neurobehavioral correlates. *Ann N Y Acad Sci* (2008) 1142:266–309. doi:10.1196/annals.1444.017
- Kamali A, Flanders AE, Brody J, Hunter JV, Hasan KM. Tracing superior longitudinal fasciculus connectivity in the human brain using high resolution diffusion tensor tractography. *Brain Struct Funct* (2014) 219(1):269–81. doi:10.1007/s00429-012-0498-y

- Mittal S, Wu Z, Neelavalli J, Haacke EM. Susceptibility-weighted imaging: technical aspects and clinical applications, part 2. *AJNR Am J Neuroradiol* (2009) 30(2):232–52. doi:10.3174/ajnr.A1461
- Ljungqvist J, Nilsson D, Ljungberg M, Sorbo A, Esbjornsson E, Eriksson-Ritzen C, et al. Longitudinal study of the diffusion tensor imaging properties of the corpus callosum in acute and chronic diffuse axonal injury. *Brain Inj* (2011) 25(4):370–8. doi:10.3109/02699052.2011.558038

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

The reviewer RF and handling Editor declared their shared affiliation, and the handling Editor states that the process nevertheless met the standards of a fair and objective review.

Copyright © 2017 Hashim, Caverzasi, Papinutto, Lewis, Jing, Charles, Zhang, Lin, Graham, Schweizer, Bharatha and Cusimano. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Comparison between Brain Computed Tomography Scan and Transcranial Sonography to Evaluate Third Ventricle Width, Peri-Mesencephalic Cistern, and Sylvian Fissure in Traumatic Brain-Injured Patients

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Kenneth Curley, latrikos Research and Development Solutions, LLC, USA

Reviewed by:

Zhifeng Kou, Wayne State University, USA Alexander Razumovsky, Sentient NeuroCare Services, Inc., USA

*Correspondence:

Raphael A. G. Oliveira raphael.oliveira@hc.fm.usp.br

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Neurotrauma, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neurology

Received: 05 August 2016 Accepted: 31 January 2017 Published: 15 February 2017

Citation:

Oliveira RAG, de Oliveira Lima M, Paiva WS, de Sá Malbouisson LM, Teixeira MJ and Bor-Seng-Shu E (2017) Comparison between Brain Computed Tomography Scan and Transcranial Sonography to Evaluate Third Ventricle Width, Peri-Mesencephalic Cistern, and Sylvian Fissure in Traumatic Brain-Injured Patients. Front. Neurol. 8:44. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2017.00044 Raphael A. G. Oliveira¹*, Marcelo de Oliveira Lima², Wellingson Silva Paiva², Luiz Marcelo de Sá Malbouisson¹, Manuel Jacobsen Teixeira² and Edson Bor-Seng-Shu²

¹ Intensive Care Unit, Discipline of General Surgery and Trauma, Hospital das Clínicas, São Paulo University Medical School, São Paulo, Brazil, ² Division of Neurosurgery, Hospital das Clínicas, São Paulo University Medical School, São Paulo, Brazil

Introduction: Transcranial color-coded duplex sonography (TCCS) may help guide multimodal monitoring in the neurocritical setting. It may provide indirect information about intracranial hypertension, such as midline shift, third ventricle width, and perimesencephalic cistern obliteration. We aim to assess the agreement between brain computed tomography scan (CT scan) and TCCS in traumatic brain injury (TBI) patients.

Methods: In this retrospective cross-sectional observational study, TCCS was performed within 6 h before a brain CT scan. Only the first CT and TCCS after ICU admission were included. The agreement between the CT scan and TCCS was assessed by Bland–Altman plots and evaluating the intraclass correlation coefficient.

Results: Overall, 15 consecutive patients were included (80% male, 42 ± 23 years of age, Glasgow Coma Score 5 [4,6]). The mean difference between the brain CT scan and TCCS in measuring the midline shift was 0.30 ± 2.1 mm (intraclass correlation coefficient: 0.93; p < 0.01). An excellent correlation was also observed between the methods in assessing the third ventricle width (intraclass correlation coefficient: 0.88; p < 0.01). Bland–Altman plots did not show any systematic bias in either agreement analysis. TCCS showed good accuracy in predicting non-compressed peri-mesencephalic cisterns (AUC: 0.83, 95% CI 0.46–1.0) and the presence of the Sylvian fissure (AUC: 0.91, 95% CI 0.73–1.0) on CT scan.

Conclusion: TCCS is a promising tool and may be an alternative to CT scans for evaluating TBI patients.

Keywords: traumatic brain injury, transcranial color-coded sonography, midline shift, perimesencephalic cisterns, sylvian fissure
INTRODUCTION

Severe traumatic brain injury (TBI) remains an important cause of death and severe disability in adults. Thus, serial computed tomography (CT) brain scan imaging plays a crucial role in monitoring patients and helping guide intensive care management in the acute TBI phase (1). In addition to the identification of neurosurgical lesions, brain CT scanning provides important information about intracranial pressure features, such as midline structural shifts, peri-mesencephalic cisterns, and third ventricle widths (2).

In addition to brain CT scans, transcranial color-coded sonography (TCCS) has been commonly applied in neurocritical care scenarios as a valuable tool to monitor acute brain-injured patients because of its non-invasive feature and bedside application. TCCS has been widely used as a standard technique to evaluate the cerebral blood flow velocity of the intracranial arterial system, mainly in the acute stroke setting (3–6). However, TCCS also allows an accurate description of the cerebral anatomy, including hematomas or ventricular enlargements, in patients with intact skulls. Additionally, several authors demonstrated that midline structural displacement and hyperdense lesions could be accurately measured by TCCS compared to brain CT scanning in acute braininjured patients, with either intact skulls or decompressive craniectomy (7).

However, it is unknown whether TCCS is able to assess features usually seen in brain CT scans to evaluate intracranial hypertension, such as compressed peri-mesencephalic cisterns, third ventricle obliteration, and Sylvian fissure effacement (8). Thus, considering the potential role of TCCS to evaluate intracranial hypertension in TBI, we hypothesized that this technique could be used as an adjuvant neuroimaging methodology in scenarios where the patient cannot be transported to the CT room or if CT is not available.

Thus, in this study, we aimed to evaluate the agreement between cerebral CT scanning and TCCS to visualize third ventricle widths, Sylvian fissure effacement, and peri-mesencephalic cistern compression in severe traumatic brain-injured patients.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

We performed a cross-sectional retrospective observational study at the 18-bed Surgical Emergencies and Trauma Intensive Care Unit of the General Hospital of the University of São Paulo Medical School. The data were collected between July 2015 and October 2015. All consecutive patients with severe TBI admitted to the ICU were evaluated during this period. The hypotheses were generated before data analysis and after data collection. The ethics committee approved the study (CAPPesq), and written informed consent was waived because of the study's rigorous observational design.

Only the first brain CT scan and TCCS of each patient was included. All exams were performed conforming to medical decisions and within 24 h after ICU admission. The Marshall classification was used to assess the severity of the injury (9). An experienced neuro-intensive care physician who was blinded to the TCCS results evaluated the CT scans. TCCS was performed within 6 h before the CT scan by an experienced single-operator using a Sonosite® device with a 2.5 MHz phased array transducer probe with the transcranial Doppler setting through the transtemporal acoustic bone window (axial plane), as described by Seidel (10). Initially, the mesencephalon was tracked with a classic "butterfly-wing" structure (mesencephalic plane). We supposed that well-defined mesencephalon margins on TCCS denoted the peri-mesencephalic cisterns clearly seen on CT scan, which would indicate a non-compressed state (Figure 1). Later, the probe was moved 10° upward to locate the third ventricle with its hyperechogenic margins and the surrounding hypoechogenic talami and posterior hyperechogenic pineal gland (diencephalic plane). We also observed the Sylvian fissure on this plane and characterized it as the hyperechogenic structure perpendicular to the probe on the contralateral side, nearly to the skull (Figure 2). The third ventricle width was measured in the axial plane between its hyperechogenic margins. We presumed that in cases of high cerebral complacency, we would observe the presence of the Sylvian fissure on TCCS, as is normally seen on brain CT scans in this scenario. Furthermore, the presence of the third ventricle on TCCS was interpreted as indicating a normal cerebral complacency status.



FIGURE 1 | (A) TCCS image shows the mesencephalic plane with a "butterfly-wing" structure surrounded by a white circle. Note the hyperechogenic (B) Corresponding tomographic imaging is shown.



The distance between the probe and the center of the third ventricle was measured along a line perpendicular to the walls of the third ventricle from both the ipsilateral and contralateral sides, called the *A* and *B* distances, respectively. The midline shift was calculated by (A-B)/2 (11).

Clinical data such as age, gender, Simplified Acute Physiology Score 3 (SAPS 3), Glasgow Coma Score, TCCS results, and hospital mortality were extracted from our electronic database to perform a baseline analysis.

Statistical Analysis

Parametric variables were expressed as the mean (SD), and non-parametric variables were expressed as the median [IQ]. Inferential analysis was performed to evaluate the agreement between the CT scan and TCCS in measuring the midline shift and third ventricle width. The agreement between the techniques was evaluated by analyzing the intraclass correlation coefficient (>0.75 was considered a good correlation) and Bland–Altman plots (12). The area under the curve, specificity, and sensitivity were analyzed to evaluate the performance of TCCS in predicting non-compressed peri-mesencephalic cisterns and the presence of the Sylvian fissure compared to the CT scan. The correlation between parametric variables was evaluated using Pearson's correlation. p < 0.05 was considered statistically significant. Statistical analyses were conducted using SPSS 19 (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA) and the R Project.

RESULTS

Fifteen consecutive severe traumatic brain-injured patients with intact skulls were evaluated. The mean age was 42 ± 23 years, and 80% were male. The SAPS 3 score was 56 ± 12 . The Glasgow coma score at the trauma scene after initial stabilization was 5 [4,6]. The observed hospital mortality rate was 53%. The individual characteristics at baseline are presented in **Table 1**.

An excellent correlation was observed between CT scanning and TCCS concerning midline structural shifts (*b*: 0.978, p < 0.01) and third ventricle widths (*b*: 0.85, p = 0.01). The mean difference between the CT scan and TCCS was -0.308 [95% confidence interval (CI), -4.42-3.80, p = 0.57] and -0.08 (95%

TABLE 1 Individual characteristics at baseline and outcome.

Patient	Age, years	Gender	Simplified Acute Physiology Score 3	GCSª	Marshall CT	Hospital mortality
1	27	F	63	7		Yes
2	22	М	48	4	III	Yes
3	15	М	53	5	V	Yes
4	32	F	51	5	V	Yes
5	79	Μ	67	5	V	Yes
6	23	М	82	3	III	No
7	90	F	65	5	V	No
8	42	Μ	54	8	11	No
9	52	Μ	41	3	V	No
10	20	Μ	56	4	V	No
11	51	Μ	68	6	VI	Yes
12	38	Μ	40	5	11	No
13	67	Μ	66	8	V	No
14	61	Μ	67	4	V	Yes
15	22	М	42	6	III	Yes

^aGlasgow coma score at hospital admission.

TABLE 2 | Results of comparison between TCCS and brain computed tomography scan (CT scan).

Variable	TCCS ^a	Computed tomography	Intraclass correlation (95% CI)	p
Shift medium	3.6 ± 4.5	3.3 ± 4.17	0.93 (0.81, 0.98)	<0.01
Third ventricle width, mm	35.5 ± 12	33.1 ± 14	0.88 (0.63, 0.96)	<0.01

^aTranscranial color-coded sonography.

CI, -14.97-14.81, p = 0.96) for the measure of midline structure shift and third ventricle width, respectively. The agreement between the methods for both measures was excellent (**Table 2**), and no systematic bias was observed on the Bland–Altman plot (**Figure 3**).

TCCS showed a good performance in predicting noncompressed peri-mesencephalic cisterns (AUC: 0.83, 95% CI 0.46–1.0), with 100% sensitivity and 50% specificity (**Figure 4**). TCCS also presented the same performance in predicting the



FIGURE 3 | Bland-Altman plot shows measurement agreement between TCCS and brain computed tomography scan (CT scan).



presence of the Sylvian fissure (AUC: 0.91, 95% CI 0.73–1.0), with 83% sensitivity and 100% specificity (**Figure 5**).

DISCUSSION

In this study, TCCS showed an excellent performance in predicting non-compressed peri-mesencephalic cisterns and the presence of the Sylvian fissure compared to brain CT scanning. We also observed a good correlation and agreement between TCCS and CT scanning regarding the shift of midline structures and the third ventricle width.



Recently, TCCS has been used increasingly frequently in the ICU environment because of its non-invasive characteristic, and it has become a reliable tool for assessing the brain parenchyma and cerebral vasculature in patients with an adequate acoustic window (13). Some authors have demonstrated that midline shifts could be reliably evaluated non-invasively at bedside in patients with intact skulls and with decompressive craniectomy (7). It has brought an opportunity to develop new forms of imaging for neuromonitoring without the risks of serial CT scans, especially in the transport of patients to the CT room.

In this study, we evaluated the TCCS ability to measure and predict some important findings that are usually seen only on brain CT scans. We observed an excellent correlation between the methods in measuring midline structure shifts, as demonstrated previously (11), and an excellent correlation in measuring the third ventricle width. This is an important finding and suggests some evidence about the cerebral complacency status because its absence could be interpreted as a high elastance cerebral system.

Another relevant and outstanding finding is the good performance in predicting non-compressed peri-mesencephalic cisterns, with high sensitivity (100%) and median specificity (50%). Usually, the peri-mesencephalic cistern's obliteration on brain CT scan is interpreted as a strong predictor of intracranial hypertension. Thus, TCCS could lead to obtaining valuable knowledge at the bedside regarding the intracranial pressure status. Analogously, the excellent performance of TCCS in predicting the presence of the Sylvian fissure promotes the same information regarding good cerebral complacency, with 100% specificity and 83% sensitivity. To our knowledge, this is the first study to show the ability of TCCS in predicting perimesencephalic cisterns and Sylvian fissure status in neurocritical care patients.

This study has several limitations. First, the small number of patients could compromise the interpretation of the results. Second, although we did not identify any inadequate acoustic

REFERENCES

- 1. Coles JP. Imaging after brain injury. *Br J Anaesth* (2007) 99:49–60. doi:10.1093/ bja/aem141
- Meixensberger J, Jager A, Dings J, Baunach S, Roosen K. Multi-modal hemodynamic neuromonitoring–quality and consequences for therapy of severely head injured patients. *Acta Neurochir Suppl* (1998) 71:260–2.
- Bogdahn U, Becker G, Winkler J, Greiner K, Perez J, Meurers B. Transcranial color-coded real-time sonography in adults. *Stroke* (1990) 21:1680–6. doi:10.1161/01.STR.21.12.1680
- Martin PJ, Evans DH, Naylor AR. Transcranial color-coded sonography of the basal cerebral circulation: reference data from 115 volunteers. *Stroke* (1994) 25:390–6. doi:10.1161/01.STR.25.2.390
- Seidel G, Kaps M, Gerriets T. Potential and limitations of transcranial color-coded sonography in stroke patients. *Stroke* (1995) 26:2061–6. doi:10.1161/01.STR.26.11.2061
- Nedelmann M, Stolz E, Gerriets T, Baumgartner RW, Malferrari G, Seidel G, et al. Consensus recommendations for transcranial colour-coded duplex sonography for the assessment of intracranial arteries in clinical trials on acute stroke. *Stroke* (2009) 40:3238–44. doi:10.1161/STROKEAHA. 109.555169
- Caricato A, Mignani V, Bocci MG, Pennisi MA, Sandroni C, Tersali A, et al. Usefulness of transcranial echography in patients with decompressive craniectomy: a comparison with computed tomography scan. *Crit Care Med* (2012) 40:1745–52. doi:10.1097/CCM.0b013e318246b6ea
- Chesnut RM, Temkin N, Carney N, Dikmen S, Rondina C, Videtta W, et al. A trial of intracranial-pressure monitoring in traumatic brain injury. N Engl J Med (2012) 17:2471–81. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1207363
- Marshall LF, Marshall SB, Klauber MR, Clark MB. A new classification of head injury based on computerized tomography. *J Neurosurg* (1991) 75: S14–20.

windows in our sample, it has been reported in 5–18% of patients (14, 15), which could be a limitation of our findings' reproducibility. Finally, cerebral blood flow velocity and pulsatility index, which could be used as potential intracranial hypertension surrogates, were not evaluated because they were missing on our electronic database.

Thus, our findings showed that TCCS affords valuable information at the bedside in the neurocritical care setting. Its good accuracy in evaluating parameters that are surrogates for intracranial hypertension provides the much-needed possibility to manage severe traumatic brain-injured patients without the risks associated with patient transport and radiation dosage with a serial CT scan approach. Although we believe that more data are necessary to validate our results, the harmless and non-invasive nature of TCCS provides the feasibility to add it to the imaging armamentarium for the management of severe TBI.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The study was approved by the *Comissão de Ética para Análise de Projetos de Pesquisa – CAPPesq.*

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors listed, have made substantial, direct and intellectual contribution to the work, and approved it for publication.

- Seidel G, Kaps M, Gerriets T, Hutzelmann A. Evaluation of the ventricular system in adults by transcranial duplex sonography. *J Neuroimaging* (1995) 5:105–8. doi:10.1111/jon199552105
- Seidel G, Gerriets T, Kaps M, Missler U. Dislocation of the third ventricle due to space occupying stroke evaluated by transcranial duplex sonography. *J Neuroimaging* (1996) 6:227–30. doi:10.1111/jon199664227
- 12. Martin Bland J, Altman DG. Statistical methods for assessing agreement between two methods of clinical measurement. *Lancet* (1986) 1:307–11.
- Zipper SG, Stolz E. Clinical application of transcranial colour-coded duplex sonography–a review. *Eur J Neurol* (2002) 9:1–8. doi:10.1046/j.1468-1331. 2002.00272.x
- Becker G, Berg D. Neuroimaging in basal ganglia disorders: perspectives for transcranial ultrasound. *Mov Disord* (2001) 16:23–32. doi:10.1002/1531-8257(200101)16:1<23::AID-MDS1003>3.0.CO;2-2
- Wijnhoud AD, Franckena M, van der Lugt A, Koudstaal PJ, Dippel ED. Inadequate acoustical temporal bone window in patients with a transient ischemic attack or minor stroke: role of skull thickness and bone density. *Ultrasound Med Biol* (2008) 34:923–9. doi:10.1016/j.ultrasmedbio.2007. 11.022

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2017 Oliveira, de Oliveira Lima, Paiva, de Sá Malbouisson, Teixeira and Bor-Seng-Shu. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Diffuse Axonal Injury: Epidemiology, Outcome and Associated Risk Factors

Rita de Cássia Almeida Vieira¹*, Wellingson Silva Paiva², Daniel Vieira de Oliveira², Manoel Jacobsen Teixeira², Almir Ferreira de Andrade² and Regina Márcia Cardoso de Sousa¹

¹ School of Nursing, University of São Paulo (USP-SP), São Paulo, Brazil, ²Department of Neurology, School of Medicine, University of São Paulo (USP-SP), São Paulo, Brazil

Diffuse axonal injury (DAI), a type of traumatic injury, is known for its severe consequences. However, there are few studies describing the outcomes of DAI and the risk factors associated with it. This study aimed to describe the outcome for patients with a primary diagnosis of DAI 6 months after trauma and to identify sociodemographic and clinical factors associated with mortality and dependence at this time point. Seventy-eight patients with DAI were recruited from July 2013 to February 2014 in a prospective cohort study. Patient outcome was analyzed using the Extended Glasgow Outcome Scale (GOS-E) within 6 months of the traumatic injury. The mean Injury Severity Score was 35.0 (SD = 11.9), and the mean New Injury Severity Score (NISS) was 46.2 (SD = 15.9). Mild DAI was observed in 44.9% of the patients and severe DAI in 35.9%. Six months after trauma, 30.8% of the patients had died, and 45.1% had shown full recovery according to the GOS-E. In the logistic regression model, the severity variables - DAI with hypoxia, as measured by peripheral oxygen saturation, and hypotension with NISS value - had a statistically significant association with patient mortality; on the other hand, severity of DAI and length of hospital stay were the only significant predictors for dependence. Therefore, severity of DAI emerged as a risk factor for both mortality and dependence.

Keywords: head trauma, diffuse axonal injury, Glasgow Outcome Scale, recovery, severe traumatic brain injury, cohort study

INTRODUCTION

Diffuse axonal injury (DAI), the microscopic damage to the axons in the brain neural tracts, corpus callosum, and brainstem, is associated with significant mortality and morbidity. The occurrence of DAI depends on the mechanism of injury; it is more common in higher energy trauma, especially traffic accidents (1–3).

Diffuse axonal injury is clinically defined by coma lasting 6 h or more after traumatic brain injury (TBI), excluding cases of swelling or ischemic brain lesions (2). DAI is considered the most important factor in determining morbidity and mortality in victims of TBI and is the most common cause of posttraumatic coma, disability, and a persistent neurovegetative state (1, 2).

Diffuse axonal injury causes cognitive, physical, and behavioral changes that compromise social reintegration, return to productivity, and quality of life of patients and their families (1-10). These changes persist beyond the acute phase of treatment and continue for a long period after the traumatic

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Firas H. Kobeissy, University of Florida, USA

Reviewed by:

Karin A. Rafaels, Army Research Laboratory, USA Karim A. Sarhane, University of Toledo, USA

***Correspondence:** Rita de Cássia Almeida Vieira ritavieira@usp.br

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Neurotrauma, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neurology

Received: 18 July 2016 Accepted: 03 October 2016 Published: 20 October 2016

Citation:

Vieira RdCA, Paiva WS, de Oliveira DV, Teixeira MJ, de Andrade AF and Sousa RMC (2016) Diffuse Axonal Injury: Epidemiology, Outcome and Associated Risk Factors. Front. Neurol. 7:178. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2016.00178

40

event. Because the brain tissue is functionally impaired but not destroyed, the brain may gradually regain normal function as the clinical condition stabilizes and neural connections are remodeled due to plasticity (9–12).

According to some authors (7, 9, 10, 13), understanding the variables associated with recovery after TBI is needed for the development of individualized therapy, the evaluation of care provided, and the development of systematic care focused on patient rehabilitation. It is also important for the evaluation of the efficacy of new techniques and treatments, as these should result in better outcome and survival.

Diffuse axonal injury, and more generally TBI, often results in physical, cognitive, and behavioral impairments that can be temporary or permanent (1–10). Research on outcome after TBI, using scales of function and performance in activities of daily living (ADLs), depicts the individual and social consequences of these changes suffered by patients after TBI.

The outcome of patients after DAI has been linked to the number of lesions identified through imaging. A longitudinal study that analyzed the evolution of traumatic axonal injury using magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) of 58 patients with moderate or severe TBI showed that the greater the number of lesions observed early after trauma, the greater the impairment of functionality after 12 months (14). A study of 26 DAI patients (15) indicated that the volume and number of lesions identified by MRI performed within 48 h of hospital admission strongly correlated with the level of disability observed at the time of hospital discharge.

Few studies on DAI patients have focused on the clinical and sociodemographic factors associated with outcome and mortality. Thus, the aim of this study was to describe the outcome of patients with primary diagnosis of DAI and to identify clinical and sociodemographic factors associated with mortality and functional capacity 6 months after the injury.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Patients

This was a prospective cohort study, with data collected at the time of hospital admission and 6 months after DAI in the Neurosurgical Outpatient Clinic and Trauma at the Central Institute of the Hospital das Clínicas da Faculdade de Medicina da Universidade de São Paulo (IC/HCFMUSP) in São Paulo, Brazil.

Seventy-eight patients with DAI admitted to the IC/ HCFMUSP from July 2013 to February 2014 were enrolled in the study. Patients eligible for the study had Glasgow Coma Scale (GCS) scores of ≤ 8 at admission, were between 18 and 60 years old, and had a computed tomography (CT) scan showing either normal outcome or signs of DAI. DAI was confirmed by signs of injury identified in CT or MRI scans by neurosurgeons experienced with this type of injury. Cases with GCS ≤ 8 , and without MRI and normal CT were also diagnosed as DAI (16–21). The study criteria excluded patients who were admitted to these hospitals more than 6 h after trauma, who were transferred from other hospitals with previous diagnosis of TBI, or who had psychiatric disorders or other injuries to the head or spinal cord with a severity score \geq 3, according to the Abbreviated Injury Scale (21).

For each patient, the following data were recorded:

- Sociodemographic characteristics: age, sex, marital status, race, and occupational status.
- Characteristics related to trauma and pre-hospital care (PHC): traffic accident, type of PHC, orotracheal intubation (OTI) at the scene, and alcohol intake.
- Characteristics related to admission: sedation, respiratory rate (RR), hypotension, bradycardia, tachycardia, hypoxia by peripheral oxygen saturation (SpO₂), hypoxia by partial pressure of oxygen (PO₂), hypoglycemia, hyperglycemia, and pupillary abnormalities.
- Characteristics related to hospital stay: intensive care unit (ICU) stay, use of continuous sedation, treatments with drugs that act on the central nervous system (CNS), surgery, second surgery, infection, other complications, early DAI signs in CT, intracranial pressure (ICP) monitoring, intracranial hypertension (ICH), hypotension, hypertension, hypothermia, hyperthermia, hypoglycemia, and hyperglycemia.

The secondary systemic injuries recorded for each patient during admission and hospital stay are as follows:

- RR: normal 10–29 breaths per minute and RR changes <10 or >29 breaths per minute.
- Hypotension: systolic blood pressure <90 mmHg;
- Hypertension: systolic blood pressure $\geq 160 \text{ mmHg}$;
- Bradycardia: heart rate variability <50 beats per minute;
- Tachycardia: heart rate variability >100 beats per minute;
- Hypoxia by SpO₂: SpO₂ <90%;
- Hypoxia by PO₂: PO₂ <60%;
- Hypoglycemia: glycemia <70 mg/dL;
- Hyperglycemia: glycemia >160 mg/dL;
- Hypothermia: axillary temperature \leq 35°C;
- Hyperthermia: axillary temperature \geq 38°C;
- Early DAI signs in CT: based on cranial CT scan in the first 72 h of hospital admission, this included individuals with intraventricular hemorrhage, subarachnoid hemorrhage, gliding contusion, or diffuse swelling with deletions of the basilar cisterns or grooves (indirect signs of injury) (16–21).

Procedure

Sociodemographic data, clinical variables related to trauma, PHC, admission and hospitalization details, and variables related to the severity and consequences of DAI were collected for all of the patients. During the 6-month follow-up interview, sociodemographic data and data related to the traumatic event were confirmed, and information on the functional outcome of victims was recorded using the Extended Glasgow Outcome Scale (GOS-E).

Trauma severity was estimated with the Injury Severity Score (ISS) (22) and the New Injury Severity Score (NISS) (23). The Maximum Abbreviated Injury Scale (MAIS), referring to the head region (MAIS-Head) (21), was used to characterize the severity of TBI. For DAI severity, Gennarelli's clinical classification, rating diffuse lesions as mild, moderate, or severe, was applied (1, 2). In mild DAI, coma lasts 6–24 h. In moderate DAI, coma lasts longer than 24 h but without abnormal posturing. In severe cases of DAI, coma duration is longer than 24 h, and signs of brainstem impairment can also be observed (1, 2). Patients were considered to have awakened from the coma when they scored 6 on the best motor response (BMR) in the GCS.

To evaluate the functional outcome, GOS-E was applied, encompassing seven categories: upper good recovery, lower good recovery, upper moderate disability, lower moderate disability, upper severe disability, lower severe disability, and persistent vegetative state. For the patients alive at 6 months after trauma, level of dependence was determined according to the criteria of this scale; patients included in the categories of upper good recovery, lower good recovery, upper moderate disability, and lower moderate disability were grouped as independent, whereas those with upper severe disability, lower severe disability, or in a persistent vegetative state were classified as dependent (24, 25).

The study was approved by the Research Ethics Committee of the Escola de Enfermagem da Universidade de São Paulo and of the Escola de Medicina da Universidade de São Paulo (certificate of submission to ethics review number 14115513.1.3001.0068). All participants freely consented to participation and signed the informed consent form. Written and informed consent was given by all participants who were clinically able to do so; otherwise, the forms were signed by their legal representatives.

Statistical Analysis

The information related to this investigation was stored in a computerized database in the Statistical Package for Social Sciences software version 17.0 (SPSS[®], IBM).

To identify associations between the variables of interest and the outcomes of mortality and dependence 6 months after trauma, comparisons were made between groups of individuals who died or survived and between those who were dependent or independent, as determined by the GOS-E. In these comparisons, Pearson's chi-square and Fisher's exact tests were applied for categorical and numerical variables, respectively. Both discrete and continuous numerical variables were compared using Student's *t*-test.

Multiple logistic regression analysis with stepwise forward method was performed on the variables associated with risk factors for mortality and dependence. Separate models were created with ISS and NISS for these variables, as ISS and NISS estimate the overall severity of the trauma and thus display multicol-linearity problems. During modeling, the final model used only those variables that showed statistical significance in the logistic regression model ($p \le 0.05$).

RESULTS

Between July 2013 and February 2014, 78 patients with DAI admitted to IC/HCFMUSP met the inclusion criteria of the study and participated in the survey at the hospital admission stage. Of these patients, 24 (30.8%) died during the following 6 months, 51 (65.4%) were evaluated 6 months after DAI, and 3 (3.8%) withdrew from the study after hospital discharge.

Table 1 shows that the vast majority of the study participants were male (89.7%) and employed at the time of the injury (89.7%). The sample consisted mostly of young people between 18 and 28 years of age (43.6%), and the mean age of patients was 32 years (SD = 11.2). Participants who did not complete primary education only constituted 48.7% of the sample, and the average length of education was 9.1 years (SD = 9.1). Most of the trauma victims were white (65.4%) and single (51.3%); 73.0% had monthly per capita family income between one and five times the minimum wage, with an average income of R\$1,290.98 (SD = R\$2,282.64).

As shown in **Table 2**, the main cause of DAI in this study was traffic accidents, with motorcyclists being the largest group of

TABLE 1 | Comparisons between patient conditions (dead or alive, independent or dependent) at 6 months after diffuse axonal injury (DAI) in relation to sex, race, marital status, and occupational status at the time of trauma.

	Surv	vival		GOS-E		
Sociodemographic characteristics	No n (%)	Yes n (%)	<i>p</i> -Value	Independent n (%)	Dependent n (%)	p-Value
Sex						
Male	22 (91.7)	48 (88.9)	>0.999	40 (88.9)	5 (83.3)	0.548
Female	2 (8.3)	6 (11.1)		5 (11.1)	1 (16.7)	
Marital status						
Single	12 (50.0)	28 (51.9)	0.971	23 (51.1)	4 (66.7)	0.659
Married	10 (41.7)	21 (38.9)		18 (40.0)	2 (33.3)	
Separated	2 (8.3)	5 (9.2)		4 (8.9)	-	
Race						
White	16 (66.7)	35 (64.8)	0.874	29 (64.4)	4 (66.7)	>0.999
Black	8 (33.3)	19 (35.2)		16 (35.6)	2 (33.3)	
Occupational status						
Employed	20 (83.3)	50 (92.6)	0.242	42 (93.3)	6 (100)	>0.999
Unemployed	4 (16.7)	4 (7.4)		3 (6.7)	-	

HCFMUSP, 2013-2014.

GOS-E, Extended Glasgow Outcome Scale.

	Survival			GOS-E		
Characteristics related to trauma and PHC	No n (%)	Yes n (%)	<i>p</i> -Value	Independent ^a n (%)	Dependent ^a n (%)	<i>p</i> -Value
Traffic accident						
Yes	20 (83.3)	45 (83.3)	>0.999	36 (80.0)	6 (100.0)	0.575
No	4 (16.7)	9 (16.7)		9 (20.0)	_	
Type of PHC						
Air	11 (45.8)	26 (48.1)	0.850	22 (48.9)	2 (33.3)	0.671
Land	13 (54.2)	28 (51.9)		23 (51.1)	4 (66.7)	
OTI at the scene						
Yes	18 (75.0)	44 (83.0)	0.535	38 (86.4)	4 (66.7)	0.242
No	6 (25.0)	9 (17.0)		6 (13.6)	2 (33.3)	
Alcohol intake						
Yes	8 (33.3)	25 (46.3)	0.285	20 (44.4)	2 (33.3)	0.688
No	16 (66.7)	29 (53.7)		25 (55.6)	4 (66.7)	

TABLE 2 | Comparisons between patient conditions (dead or alive, independent or dependent) at 6 months after DAI in relation to characteristics related to trauma and pre-hospital care (PHC).

HCFMUSP, 2013-2014.

*Excludes 1 case without information.

OTI, orotrachial intubation.

trauma victims (43.6%) in those events, followed by car occupants (25.6%). A large proportion of the patients (42.3%) referred to alcohol intake in the period immediately preceding the trauma event. All participants were transported to the hospital by prehospital emergency care services, with a significant proportion of air transport use (47.4%) for the victims. Individuals in a coma (GCS \leq 8) constituted 75.7% of trauma victims, with 79.5% of survey participants intubated at the scene of the incident.

Regarding the severity of the trauma, ISS ranged from 17 to 75, with a mean of 35 (SD = 11.9) and median of 33. As for the distribution of the victims in the three categories of severity, there were no patients with mild trauma (ISS < 16), 19.2% with moderate trauma (≥ 16 and <25), and the majority had severe trauma (ISS \geq 25). According to NISS, almost all of the victims (91.0%) had severe trauma (NISS \geq 25). The average for this index was 46.2 (SD = 15.9), and the median was 43, ranging from 18 to 75.

All DAI patients had MAIS score ≥ 4 in the head region, with an average of 4.6 (SD = 0.5). Critical injuries, i.e., MAIS score = 5, were found in 55.1% of the sample. Mild DAI was observed in 44.9% of the victims, moderate DAI in 19.2%, and severe DAI in 35.9%.

The clinical conditions of the victims on arrival at IC/ HCFMUSP are shown in **Table 3**. RR was altered in 10.3% of the sample, with tachypnea as the most frequent change (6.4%). Hypoxia was detected by SpO₂ measurement in 15.3% (SpO₂ < 90%) and by PO₂ in 14.1% (PO₂ < 60%) of the trauma victims. Of the study participants, 19.2% had an SBP <90 mmHg, 2.5% experienced cardiac arrest, and most (52.5%) had tachycardia at this stage of treatment. Glycemic alterations were found in 32.0% of the sample, with hyperglycemia being the most frequent change (28.2%). All patients had a GCS score \leq 8, as this was an inclusion criterion, and 60.3% had pupillary changes.

As shown in **Table 4**, almost all of the victims were hospitalized in the ICU (92.3%), with an average length of stay in this unit of 11.7 days (SD = 15.4) and a median of 7 days (range: less than 1–109 days). Of all patients, 69 (88.5%) were continuously sedated for an average of 4.1 days (SD = 4.3) and median of 3 days (ranging from less than 1–18 days). Fentanyl and propofol, used in 94.2 and 92.7% of sedated patients, respectively, were the most prescribed drugs for sedation. Most patients (61.5%) were treated with drugs that act on the CNS without the purpose of sedating. Among those, the most common drug types were anticonvulsants (83.3%), neuroleptics (70.8%), and benzodiazepines (25.0%).

After hospital admission, DAI patients took on average 3.7 days (SD = 7.2) to achieve a score of 6 on the BMR item of the GCS. The median time was 1 day, ranging from less than 24 h to 32 days. However, at the 6-month follow-up, 23 patients (29.5%) did not reach a score of 6 on the BMR item of the GCS; 22 died before reaching that score, and 1 was in a persistent vegetative state until the end of the evaluation period.

As shown in **Table 4**, during hospitalization, most patients (53.8%) underwent surgery, and 19.2% had second surgery. Infections were recorded in 25.6% of cases and other complications in 52.6% of patients. Most of the victims showed early signs of DAI in the CT (70.5%), and ICH after DAI was detected in 24.2% of the patients, although ICP monitoring was performed in only three patients (3.8%).

In this study, the average hospital stay of patients was 19.1 days (SD = 22.9), and the median stay was 11 days (range: less than 1–111 days). Mortality at 6 months after DAI was 30.8%; among those who died, the average survival was 13.5 days (SD = 24.1), and the median survival was 4.5 days (range: less than 1–110 days). Most patients (63.0%) went home after discharge from IC/HCFMUSP; the others required hospitalization in other hospitals for continued care.

Outcome at 6 Months

Six months after the DAI, according to the GOS-E, a large portion (45.1%) of these patients reached upper good recovery, and 25.5% showed lower good recovery. Individuals that were classified as "independent but disabled" amounted to 16.6% of the sample

	Sur	vival		GOS	S-E	
Characteristics related to admission	No n (%)	Yes n (%)	<i>p</i> -Value	Independent n (%)	Dependent n (%)	<i>p</i> -Value
Sedation						
Yes	22 (91.7)	50 (92.6)	>0.999	41 (91.1)	6 (100.0)	>0.999
No	2 (8.3)	4 (7.4)		4 (8.9)	_	
RR	а	a		c	с	
Normal	19 (82.6)	45 (91.8)	0.257	38 (92.7)	5 (83.3)	0.432
Altered	4 (17.4)	4 (8.2)		3 (7.3)	1 (16.7)	
Hypotension						
Yes	11 (45.8)	4 (7.4)	<0.001	4 (8.9)	-	>0.999
No	13 (54.2)	50 (92.6)		41 (91.1)	6 (100.0)	
Bradycardia						
Yes	2 (8.3)	-	0.092	-	-	-
No	22 (91.7)	54 (100.0)		45 (100.0)	6 (100.0)	
Tachycardia						
Yes	15 (62.5)	26 (48.1)	0.241	23 (51.1)	3 (50.0)	>0.999
No	9 (37.5)	28 (51.9)		22 (48.9)	3 (50.0)	
Hypoxia by SpO _{2^b}						
Yes	9 (37.5)	3 (5.7)	0.001	3 (6.7)	-	>0.999
No	15 (62.5)	50 (94.7)		42 (93.3)	5 (100.0)	
Hypoxia by PO₂	c	c		e	e	
Yes	3 (12.5)	8 (16.0)	>0.999	6 (14.3)	2 (33.3)	0.258
No	21 (87.5)	42 (84.0)		36 (85.7)	4 (66.7)	
Hypoglycemia	d	d		c	c	
Yes	1 (4.3)	2 (4.2)	>0.999	2 (4.9)	-	>0.999
No	22 (95.7)	46 (95.8)		39 (95.1)	6 (100.0)	
Hyperglycemia	d	d		c	c	
Yes	12 (52.2)	10 (20.8)	0.008	9 (22.0)	1 (16.7)	>0.999
No	11 (47.8)	38 (79.2)		32 (78.0)	5 (83.3)	
Pupillary abnormalities		· · · ·		· · ·	· · · /	
Yes	21 (87.5)	26 (48.1)	0.001	21 (46.7)	4 (66.7)	0.419
No	3 (12.5)	28 (51.9)		24 (53.3)	2 (33.3)	

TABLE 3 Comparisons between patient conditions (dead or alive, independent or dependent) at 6 months after DAI in relation to characteristics at hospital admission.

HCFMUSP. 2013-2014.

^aExcludes 6 cases without information.

^bExcludes 1 case without information.

•Excludes 4 cases without information.

^dExcludes 7 cases without information eFxcludes 3 cases without information.

RR, respiratory rate; SpO₂, peripheral oxygen saturation; PO₂, partial pressure of oxygen. Bold numbers correspond to significant p values

(9.8% upper moderate disability and 7.8% lower moderate disability); six subjects were classified as disabled and dependent (11.8%), with three ranked as having upper severe disability, two as lower severe disability, and one was in a persistent vegetative state. Thus, the vast majority of patients (88.2%) achieved recovery consistent with independent life at 6 months after DAI, while those severely disabled and dependent constituted a small proportion (11.8%; Figure 1).

Factors Associated With Mortality

To identify factors associated with mortality within 6 months of the DAI, the 78 patients admitted to IC/HCFMUSP were grouped according to their vital state (dead or alive) in this period. In the analysis of the variables that reflected the severity of the trauma and TBI, as measured by the ISS, NISS, MAIS-Head, severity of DAI, and the presence of hypotension, statistically significant differences were observed for all variables (p < 0.001). Table 5 shows

that death was the most frequent outcome among patients with severe DAI; out of 28 patients with severe DAI, 22 died (78.6%).

In Table 3, a statistically significant difference is apparent between the groups (dead and alive) for the presence of hypotension (p < 0.001), hypoxia by SpO₂ (p = 0.001), hyperglycemia (p = 0.008), and pupillary changes (p = 0.001). The values of the GCS assigned to DAI patients at admission were similar between the dead and alive groups (p < 0.137).

Table 4 shows that there was a statistically significant association between victims who died and those that presented, during hospitalization, with other complications (p = 0.002), early signs of DAI in CT (p = 0.006), and ICH (p = 0.003). The average values for GCS 48 h after the withdrawal of sedation were different between the dead and alive groups (p < 0.001).

The multiple logistic regression model tested the variables that achieved a p-value <0.05 in the analysis. The results point to the presence of hypoxia by SpO_2 at admission (p = 0.029) and TABLE 4 | Comparisons between patient conditions (dead or alive, independent or dependent) at 6 months after DAI in relation to characteristics related to hospital stay.

	Sur	vival		GOS	S-E	
Characteristics related to hospital stay	No n (%)	Yes n (%)	<i>p</i> -Value	Independent n (%)	Dependent n (%)	<i>p</i> -Value
ICU stay						
Yes	22 (91.7)	50 (92.6)	>0.999	42 (93.3)	6 (100.0)	>0.999
No	2 (8.3)	4 (7.4)		3 (6.7)	-	
Use of continuous sedation						
Yes	22 (91.7)	47 (87.0)	0.713	39 (86.7)	6 (100.0)	>0.999
No	2 (8.3)	7 (13.0)		6 (13.3)	-	
Other treatments with drugs t	that act on the CNS					
Yes	13 (54.2)	35 (64.8)	0.372	27 (60.0)	6 (100.0)	0.078
No	11 (45.8)	19 (35.2)		18 (40.0)	_	
Surgery						
Yes	13 (54.2)	29 (53.7)	0.970	23 (51.1)	5 (83.3)	0.204
No	11 (45.8)	25 (46.3)		22 (48.9)	1 (16.7)	
Second surgery	· · · · ·	()			· · · ·	
Yes	4 (16.7)	11 (20.4)	>0.999	9 (20.0)	1 (16.7)	>0.999
No	20 (83.3)	43 (79.6)	2 01000	36 (80.0)	5 (83.3)	201000
Infection	_= (====)			()	- ()	
Yes	7 (29.2)	13 (24.1)	0.634	8 (17.8)	4 (66.7)	0.022
No	17 (70.8)	41 (75.9)	0.004	37 (82.2)	2 (33.3)	0.022
	(10.0)	11 (10.0)		01 (02:2)	2 (00.0)	
Other complications Yes	19 (79.2)	22 (40.7)	0.002	15 (33.3)	6 (100.0)	0.003
No	5 (20.8)	32 (59.3)	0.002	30 (66.7)	0 (100.0)	0.003
	5 (20.0)	52 (59.5)		30 (00.7)	-	
Early DAI signs in CT	00 (01 7)	00 (01 1)	0.000		0 (100 0)	0.070
Yes	22 (91.7)	33 (61.1)	0.006	25 (55.6)	6 (100.0)	0.070
No	2 (8.3)	21 (38.9)		20 (44.4)	-	
ICP monitoring	0 (0 0)		0.000			
Yes	2 (8.3)	1 (1.9)	0.223	-	1 (16.7)	0.118
No	22 (91.7)	53 (98.1)		45 (100.0)	5 (83.3)	
ICH						
Yes	11 (45.8)	8 (14.8)	0.003	4 (8.9)	4 (66.7)	0.004
No	13 (54.2)	46 (85.2)		41 (91.1)	2 (33.3)	
Hypotension						
Yes	7 (29.2)	6 (11.1)	0.096	5 (11.1)	1 (16.7)	0.548
No	17 (70.8)	48 (88.9)		40 (88.9)	5 (83.3)	
Hypertension						
Yes	15 (62.5)	38 (70.4)	0.601	31 (68.9)	6 (100.0)	0.170
No	9 (37.5)	16 (29.6)		14 (31.1)	-	
Hypothermia						
Yes	17 (70.8)	29 (53.7)	0.156	23 (51.1)	5 (83.3)	0.204
No	7 (29.2)	25 (46.3)		22 (48.9)	1 (16.7)	
Hyperthermia						
Yes	18 (75.0)	32 (59.3)	0.181	26 (57.8)	6 (100.0)	0.072
No	6 (25.0)	22 (40.7)		19 (42.2)	-	
Hypoglycemia						
Yes	7 (29.2)	16 (29.6)	0.967	13 (28.9)	3 (50.0)	0.363
No	17 (70.8)	38 (70.4)		32 (71.1)	3 (50.0)	
Hypoglycemia in the first 5 da		. ,				
Yes	5 (20.8)	7 (13.0)	0.498	7 (15.6)	-	0.578
No	19 (79.2)	47 (87.0)		38 (84.4)	6 (100.0)	
Hyperglycemia	· /	· · · /		· /	· · · /	
Yes	19 (79.2)	31 (57.4)	0.064	26 (57.8)	4 (66.7)	>0.999
No	5 (20.8)	23 (42.6)		19 (42.2)	2 (33.3)	
Hyperglycemia in the first 5 d					_ (= 0.0)	
Yes	13 (54.2)	25 (46.3)	0.521	21 (46.7)	4 (66.7)	0.419
No	11 (45.8)	29 (53.7)	0.021	24 (53.3)	2 (33.3)	0.410
	11 (+0.0)	20 (00.1)		2-+ (00.0)	2 (00.0)	

HCFMUSP, 2013-2014.

ICU, intensive care unit; CNS, central nervous system; CT, computed tomography; ICP, intracranial pressure; ICH, intracranial hypertension.

Bold numbers correspond to significant p values.



TABLE 5 | Comparisons between patient conditions (dead or alive, independent or dependent) at 6 months after DAI in relation to severity of DAI.

	Surv	rival		GOS	-E	
DAI severity	No n (%)	Yes n (%)	<i>p</i> -Value	Independent n (%)	Dependent n (%)	<i>p</i> -Value
Mild/moderate Severe	2 (8.3) 22 (91.7)	48 (88.9) 6 (11.1)	<0.001	44 (97.8) 1 (2.2)	1 (16.7) 5 (83.3)	<0.001

HCFMUSP, 2013–2014.

Bold numbers correspond to significant p values.

severe DAI (p < 0.001) as risk factors for death. No other variables reached significance during modeling and thus were not included in the model. The model in **Table 6** was not a good fit for the data because the confidence intervals (CIs) of odds ratios (ORs; 95%) for both variables were large.

To further explore the effects of factors other than DAI severity on the outcomes of this injury, a model excluding this variable was tested. This model showed that the presence of hypotension at admission (p = 0.016) and the value of NISS (p = < 0.001) were independently associated with mortality at the end of this regression (**Table 7**).

Factors Related to Dependence 6 Months after DAI

Considering only the 51 patients who survived and participated in the 6-month follow-up, we identified two groups of patients with DAI: those needing assistance to carry out their daily activities (dependent) and those living independently 6 months after the trauma.

Analyzing the variables that reflect the severity of the trauma and of TBI, measured by the ISS (p = 0.003), NISS (p = 0.001), MAIS-Head (p < 0.001), ICH (p = 0.004; **Table 4**), infection

(p = 0.022; **Table 4**), other complications (p = 0.003; **Table 4**), and severity of DAI (p < 0.001), all had shown statistically significant differences between the groups. **Table 5** shows that patients with severe DAI were predominant in the dependent group, whereas among patients living independently, the injury was mild/moderate in almost all cases.

There was a statistically significant difference between the groups regarding the average length of ICU hospitalization (p < 0.001), continuous sedation (p = 0.001), and length of hospital stay (p = 0.037). Furthermore, the average value of GCS 48 h after withdrawal of sedation was different between the independent and dependent groups (p < 0.001). In comparing the two groups, the mean periods of time were higher in the dependent group, and the average GCS score was lower.

During modeling, the first variable entered in the model was severity of DAI ($p \le 0.001$), with which no other variable attained p-value <0.05. Similar to the mortality model, the CI of OR (95%) was quite broad for the result of regression to dependence (**Table 8**). Thus, once more, the severity of DAI was excluded from the model; in the final model (**Table 9**), only the duration of hospital stay was statistically significant in the logistic regression model with a p-value = 0.008.

TABLE 6 | Logistic regression model of risk factors for mortality up to 6 months after DAI.

			CI for O	R (95%)
Variable	p-Value	OR	Lower limit	Upper limit
Hypoxia by SpO ₂ at admission (yes)	0.029	18.77	1.36	259.27
DAI severe	<0.001	125.63	14.02	1,125.95

HCFMUSP, 2013–2014.

OR, odds ratio; Cl, confidence interval.

Bold numbers correspond to significant p values.

TABLE 7 | Logistic regression model of risk factors for mortality up to 6 months after DAI excluding severity of injury.

			CI for O	R (95%)
Variable	p-Value	OR	Lower limit	Upper limit
Hypotension at admission (yes)	0.016	7.86	1.48	41.78
NISS	<0.001	1.14	1.07	1.22

HCFMUSP, 2013-2014.

NISS, New Injury Severity Score.

Bold numbers correspond to significant p values.

TABLE 8 | Logistic regression model of risk factors for dependence at 6 months after DAI.

			CI for OR (95%)		
Variable	<i>p</i> -Value	OR	Lower limit	Upper limit	
DAI (severe)	0.000	205.00	11.02	3,813.02	

HCFMUSP, 2013-2014.

Bold numbers correspond to significant p values.

TABLE 9 | Logistic regression model of risk factors for dependence at 6 months after DAI excluding severity of the injury.

			CI for OR (95%)		
Variable	p-Value	OR	Lower limit	Upper limit	
Duration of hospital stay (days)	0.008	1.07	1.02	1.12	

HCFMUSP, 2013-2014.

Bold numbers correspond to significant p values.

DISCUSSION

Diffuse axonal injury is a microscopic lesion associated with significant mortality and morbidity. Evaluating the risk factors related to its consequences is of great importance for the implementation of appropriate multidisciplinary care and health policies aimed at the prevention and rehabilitation of patients with DAI.

Six months after DAI, 24 patients (30.8%) had died as a consequence of the trauma or of complications. Nevertheless, among those who survived this period (51 patients), 88.2% achieved GOS-E classification consistent with independent living, and 45.1% had shown full recovery from trauma, reporting a return to the pre-injury state. During this period, individuals

with disabilities formed 29.4% of the sample, and 11.8% of those were dependent.

The literature reports worse outcomes - frequency of disability (40.0-87.5%) and dependency (20.0-41.3%) - for patients with DAI, evaluated by GOS or GOS-E at 6 months after injury (26-30). However, most participants in our study had mild (44.9%) or moderate (19.2%) DAI, and among these, only one (2.2%) was dependent during the period of the study (Table 5). Severe DAI stood out as a risk factor for mortality and dependence in this study, although the multivariate logistic regression analysis did not yield a good fit in the statistical models: CI of OR (95%) ranged from 13.65 to 395.89 for mortality and 11.2 to 3,813.02 for dependence. Though the confidence intervals clearly confirm the important role of the severity of DAI as a risk factor for adverse consequences of this injury, they were quite large because of the small number of deaths (two cases) and dependence events (one case) among patients with mild and moderate DAI, leading to instability in the model.

Diffuse axonal injury is difficult to diagnose in the acute phase. The combination of clinical signs and imaging may suggest the diagnosis, but confirmation is only possible postmortem (31). Using CT in the emergency room helps in the identification, diagnosis, and location of hemorrhages. Despite having low resolution in soft tissue evaluation after TBI, CT is considered a useful tool for identifying early signs of DAI in the acute phase and is widely employed in severe TBI victims because of the short duration of the exam, its wide availability in trauma centers, and its conduciveness for use in unstable patients (31).

Studies (3, 5, 11, 18, 27, 32) show that the frequency of DAI is higher in severe TBI victims who have indirect signs of injury on CT, such as intraventricular hemorrhage and subarachnoid hemorrhage, rather than a normal CT scan. In this study, for the analyses of association with the consequences of trauma, patients with normal CT scans were analyzed separately from those with signs suggestive of DAI, and the presence of these signs was more frequent among patients who progressed to death.

Studies that have emphasized imaging and biomarkers to estimate the severity and prognoses for patients with DAI corroborate the findings in this study: the greater the severity of DAI, the worse the outcome for the patient (32–34).

In addition to early signs of DAI in CT, other variables were associated with mortality: trauma severity indicators (ISS and NISS) and TBI (MAIS-Head); pupillary changes; hypotension; hypoxia measured by SpO₂ and hyperglycemia on admission; GCS score after withdrawal of sedation; presence of ICH; and complications, other than infection, during hospitalization. Patients who died displayed these signs and clinical changes more often during hospital admission and hospitalization and had higher severity scores and lower GCS scores after withdrawal of sedation than those who survived.

Among trauma victim characteristics, hypoxia by SpO_2 and hypotension on admission, in addition to the NISS, had significant effects in multivariate analysis. Nevertheless, the best fitting statistical model included only the last two variables and showed that patients with hypotension on admission were 7.86 times more likely to die than those without this symptom. Furthermore, each additional point in NISS value increased the chance of death in the first 6 months after DAI by 14.0%.

Physiological changes after TBI, such as hypoxia and hypotension, can result in secondary brain damage. Preserving the airways after trauma may result in favorable outcomes after severe TBI (13). Hypoxia and hypotension in severe TBI victims are common, and their occurrence in the initial hours is significantly associated with increased mortality (13, 35–37). Hypertension may relate to reduced brain perfusion and can worsen ICH and cerebral edema (36). Analysis of hypotension incidence in early resuscitation in TBI patients in the city of San Francisco showed that of 107 victims studied, 26 (24%) had hypotension, averaging 1.5 episodes per patient (mean duration 9.1 min). Of these patients with hypotension, 65.0% died, with the frequency of hypotension episodes directly proportional to the number of deaths (38).

Changes in glucose levels are either caused by metabolic or physiological disorders or are a stress response that reflects the severity of the injury, and they are related to unfavorable outcomes (39–41). Research (39) on 380 victims of TBI in the first 5 days of ICU admission indicated association of high glucose levels (\geq 160 mg/dL) in the first 24 h after admission with mortality and that mortality was higher in patients with hypoglycemia (<60 mg/dL).

Our results were broadly in line with a previous study of 78 patients diagnosed only with DAI; after an average of 12.3 months, factors significantly associated with mortality were hypotension, plasma glucose >144 mg/dL, low scores on the GCS at hospital admission, increased number of DAI lesions in CT and minor trauma injuries, presence of shock, coagulation disorders, transfusion, and no recovery of consciousness (5). In multivariate analysis, only the absence of recovery of consciousness and the large number of DAIs were identified as independent risk factors for mortality (5).

Studies that analyzed the association of TBI patient characteristics with mortality identified the following factors independently associated with mortality: the Marshall classification in CT (42), severity of the injury measured by CT (43), diffuse head injuries II–IV (44), lower score on the GCS (44, 45), hypotension (43–45), hyperglycemia (45, 46), hypothermia (46), SBP (43, 47), SpO₂ (48), hypoxia (44, 45), shock (45), ICP monitoring (49), a score of 5 on MAIS-Head (47, 49), and a high score in the ISS (43, 45, 47, 49).

In this study, NISS was independently associated with mortality; however, no other reports of NISS application to groups of DAI patients were found. Although literature review indicates that NISS has better performance than ISS in predicting mortality (50), the scientific community is still cautious about replacing ISS with NISS for trauma severity identification, and thus, this indicator is underutilized.

In addition to the severity of the injury, dependence after 6 months following DAI was associated with higher scores in trauma severity indicators (ISS and NISS) and TBI (MAIS-Head), longer duration of sedation and hospitalization in the ICU and in the hospital, the presence of ICH, infection, other complications during hospitalization, and low scores on the GCS 48 h after the withdrawal of sedation. Excluding the severity of DAI from dependence modeling, hospital stay was a significant predictor in the multiple regression model, with each additional hospitalization day increasing the chance of a patient being dependent 6 months after DAI by 7.0%.

A similar association was previously reported in an analysis of 41 patients with severe TBI in Hong Kong, which showed that prolonged hospitalization and advanced age were independent predictors of poor outcome 42 months after trauma (51). In another study (52) of 60 patients with severe TBI in the US, the length of the hospital stay and the length of the stay in the ICU were statistically associated with outcome 6 months after trauma. Moreover, in Brazil, a survey of patients with TBI conducted between 6 months and 3 years after trauma determined that individuals hospitalized for 12 days or more were 5.76 times more likely to become dependent than those with shorter hospital stays (24). According to Calvi et al. (33), factors associated with dependence or mortality in patients with TBI evaluated 3 months after trauma were lower GCS score on admission, higher ISS score, longer hospital stay, and longer stay in the ICU.

In a study (53) of 30 patients with DAI, severe TBI, pupillary abnormalities, higher ISS score, and lesions in the knee of the corpus callosum were associated with dependence 1 year after trauma. In multivariate analysis of these patients, only the corpus callosum lesions increased the risk of dependence 1 year after DAI. Assessment of patients with DAI 3 months after trauma in Japan showed that the lowest GCS score, the number of brain lesions identified on MRI, and the highest average value in ICP were significantly associated with dependence after trauma (54). In studies with patients with DAI and moderate TBI, greater severity of brain lesions identified by Marshall rating on CT (34) and higher number of DAIs in this exam (5) predicted dependence or mortality 6 months after trauma. However, the recovery of consciousness and lesions in the corpus callosum (5) were predictors of positive results after an average of 12 months after DAI. In addition, the assessment of factors related to dependence 6 months after trauma in 102 DAI patients showed that age, bilateral absence of pupillary reactivity to light, and multiple lesions observed in the corpus callosum and brainstem by MRI were associated with dependence (33).

Research on factors associated with DAI consequences typically uses imaging results for analysis (5, 34, 53, 54) and shows a relationship between changes in the images and consequences of DAI, although these results have been contradictory. In this study, only the presence of early signs of DAI in CT was tested as an independent variable, making it difficult to compare the findings.

The limitations of this study include the lack of MRI data, as the combination of imaging data with clinical findings might have made the diagnosis of DAI more reliable and allowed the comparison of clinical data with the brain lesions detected. Another limitation was the lack of available resources to perform this test on all participants; only 20 patients underwent this exam, and the difficulties of subjecting patients in a severe condition to this evaluation prevented considering MRI results in this study.

Applications of the results of this research must take into account some limitations. The sample included patients from a single institution, a referral center for the treatment of highly complex cases, which limits the generalization of the results. Moreover, the lack of hospital records on the patient's clinical condition at the trauma scene and during transport limited the identification of pre-hospital stage factors that might be associated with the outcomes of DAI.

It should also be noted that the rehabilitation treatments of the patients were listed but not included in the association analyses, although it has been observed that all patients who were not independent at the last evaluation (6 patients) were seen by health-care experts to support their recovery.

CONCLUSION

At 6 months after DAI, 24 patients (30.8%) died due to trauma or complications. However, among the survivors that were evaluated over this period (51 patients), 88.2% achieved GOS-E classification consistent with independent living, and 45.1% had full recovery from trauma. According to the GOS-E, six patients (11.8%) remained dependent at that point in time.

The sociodemographic characteristics of the study participants, related to trauma and PHC, were not associated with mortality and dependence. On the other hand, trauma severity indicators (ISS and NISS), TBI (MAIS-Head), and severity of DAI showed statistically significant associations with those consequences. Some clinical features observed at hospital admission were associated with mortality: pupillary changes, hypotension, hypoxia by SpO₂, and hyperglycemia. During hospitalization, the GCS score after withdrawal of sedation, presence of ICH, and complications other than infection were associated with mortality and dependence. Early signs of DAI were associated only with mortality. Infection, continuous sedation time, and length of stay in the ICU and hospital were factors related to dependence.

Severe DAI stood out as a risk factor for mortality and dependence in the multivariate logistic regression analysis,

REFERENCES

- Gennarelli TA. Cerebral concussion and diffuse brain injuries. 2nd ed. In: Cooper PR, editor. *Head Injury*. Baltimore: Williams & Wilkins (1987). p. 108–24.
- Gennarelli TA. Cerebral concussion and diffuse brain injuries. 3rd ed. In: Cooper PR, editor. *Head Injury*. Baltimore: Williams & Wilkins (1993). p. 137–58.
- Lagares A, Ramos A, Alday R, Ballenilla F, Pérez-Nuñez A, Arrese I, et al. Magnetic resonance in moderate and severe head injury: comparative study of CT and MR findings. Characteristics related to the presence and location of diffuse axonal injury in MR. *Neurocirugia (Astur)* (2006) 17(2):105–18. doi:10.1016/S1130-1473(06)70351-7
- Esbjörnsson E, Skoglund T, Sunnerhagen KS. Fatigue, psychosocial adaptation and quality of life one year after traumatic brain injury and suspected traumatic axonal injury; evaluations of patients and relatives: a pilot study. *J Rehabil Med* (2013) 45:771–7. doi:10.2340/16501977-1170
- Chelly H, Chaari A, Daoud E, Dammak H, Medhioub F, Mnif J, et al. Diffuse axonal injury in patients with head injuries: an epidemiologic and prognosis study of 124 cases. *J Trauma* (2011) 71(4):838–46. doi:10.1097/ TA.0b013e3182127baa
- Jeong JH, Kim YZ, Cho YW, Kim JS. Negative effect of hypopituitarism following brain trauma in patients with diffuse axonal injury. *J Neurosurg* (2010) 113(3):532–8. doi:10.3171/2009.10.JNS091152
- Ham TE, Sharp DJ. How can investigation of network function inform rehabilitation after traumatic brain injury? *Curr Opin Neurol* (2012) 25(6):662–9. doi:10.1097/WCO.0b013e328359488f

although without good fit in the final model and with large CI of the OR (95%). Patients with severe DAI (n = 28) in almost all cases died or were dependent at 6 months after DAI. Along with severe DAI, the presence of hypoxia by SpO₂ was a risk factor for mortality; however, variables of admission hypotension and NISS value showed the best fit for the model. Individuals who presented with hypotension on admission were 7.86 times more likely to die than victims without this change. The probability of dying was 14.0% higher for each additional point in the NISS.

Excluding the severity of DAI from dependence modeling, hospital stay was the variable that stood out in the multiple regression model, with each additional day of hospitalization increasing the chance of a patient remaining dependent 6 months after DAI by 7.0%.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

RV contributed to the study design, manuscript development, and data analysis, wrote the manuscript, and performed the final review. WP contributed to data analysis and reviewed the manuscript. DO contributed to the writing and review of the manuscript. MT contributed to the manuscript review. AA contributed to the manuscript review. RS contributed to the study design, manuscript development, data analysis, review of the tables, writing of the manuscript, and the final review.

FUNDING

This project was supported by São Paulo Research Foundation (FAPESP) 2013/21804-0 and Conselho Nacional de Desenvolvimento Científico and Tecnológico Universal MCTI-CNPq (444855/214-9).

- Sousa RMC. Comparisons among measurement tools in traumatic brain injury outcomes. *Rev Esc Enferm USP* (2006) 40(2):203–13. doi:10.1590/ S0080-62342006000200008
- Scholten AC, Haagsma JA, Andriessen TM, Vos PE, Steyerberg EW, van Beeck EF, et al. Health-related quality of life after mild, moderate and severe traumatic brain injury: patterns and predictors of suboptimal functioning during the first year after injury. *Injury* (2015) 46(4):616–24. doi:10.1016/j. injury.2014.10.064
- Liew BS, Johari SA, Nasser AW, Abdullah J. Severe traumatic brain injury: outcome in patients with diffuse axonal injury managed conservatively in hospital Sultanah Aminah, Johor Bahru – an observational study. *Med J Malaysia* (2009) 64(4):280–8.
- Chabok SY, Moghadam AD, Saneei Z, Amlashi FG, Leili EK, Amiri ZM. Neuron-specific enolase and S100BB as outcome predictors in severe diffuse axonal injury. *J Trauma Acute Care Surg* (2012) 72(6):1654–7. doi:10.1097/ TA.0b013e318246887e
- Bennet L, Van Den Heuij L, Dean JM, Drury P, Wassink G, Gunn AJ. Neural plasticity and the Kennard principle: does it work for the preterm brain? *Clin Exp Pharmacol Physiol* (2013) 40(11):774–84. doi:10.1111/1440-1681.12135
- Sobuwa S, Hartzenberg HB, Geduld H, Uys C. Predicting outcome in severe traumatic brain injury using a simple prognostic model. S Afr Med J (2014) 104(7):492–4. doi:10.7196/samj.7720
- Moen KG, Skandsen T, Folvik M, Brezova V, Kvistad KA, Rydland J, et al. A longitudinal MRI study of traumatic axonal injury in patients with moderate and severe traumatic brain injury. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry* (2012) 83(12):1193–200. doi:10.1136/jnnp-2012-302644

- Schaefer PW, Huisman TA, Sorensen AG, Gonzalez RG, Schwamm LH. Diffusion-weighted MR imaging in closed head injury: high correlation with initial Glasgow Coma Scale score and score on modified Rankin scale at discharge. *Radiology* (2004) 233(1):58–66. doi:10.1148/radiol.2323031173
- Tomei G, Sganzerla E, Spagnoli D, Guerra P, Lucarini C, Gaini SM, et al. Posttraumatic diffuse cerebral lesions. Relationship between clinical course, CT findings and ICP. J Neurosurg Sci (1991) 35(2):61–75.
- Liu J, Kou Z, Tian Y. Diffuse axonal injury after traumatic cerebral microbleeds: an evaluation of imaging techniques. *Neural Regen Res* (2014) 9(12):1222–30. doi:10.4103/1673-5374.135330
- Mata-Mbemba D, Mugikura S, Nakagawa A, Murata T, Kato Y, Tatewaki Y, et al. Intraventricular hemorrhage on initial computed tomography as marker of diffuse axonal injury after traumatic brain injury. *J Neurotrauma* (2014) 32(5):359–65. doi:10.1089/neu.2014.3453
- Iwadate Y, Ono J, Okimura Y, Suda S, Isobe K, Yamaura A. Computed tomography in diagnosis of diffuse axonal injury. *No Shinkei Geka* (1990) 18(10):915–20.
- Mittl RL, Grossman RI, Hiehle JF, Hurst RW, Kauder DR, Gennarelli TA, et al. Prevalence of MR evidence of diffuse axonal injury in patients with mild head injury and normal head CT findings. *AJNR Am J Neuroradiol* (1994) 15(8):1583–9.
- Association for the Advancement of Automotive Medice AAAM. *The Abbreviated Injury Scale (AIS): 2005, Update 2008.* Illinois: Des Plaines (2008).
- Baker SP, O'neill B, Haddon W, Long WB. The injury severity score: a method for describing patients with multiple injuries and evaluating emergency care. *J Trauma* (1974) 14(3):187–96. doi:10.1097/00005373-197403000-00001
- Osler T, Baker SP, Long W. A modification of the injury severity score that both improves accuracy and simplifies scoring. *J Trauma* (1997) 43(6):922–5. doi:10.1097/00005373-199712000-00009
- 24. Sousa RMC. Risk factors for dependency after traumatic brain injury. Acta Paul Enferm (2005) 18(4):354–60. doi:10.1590/S0103-21002005000400003
- Teasdele GM, Pettigrew LE, Wilson JT, Murray G, Jennett B. Analyzing outcome of treatment of severe head injury: review and update on advancing the use of the Glasgow Outcome Scale. *J Neurotrauma* (1998) 15(8):587–96. doi:10.1089/neu.1998.15.587
- Marquez de la Plata C, Ardelean A, Koovakkattu D, Srinivasan P, Miller A, Phuong V, et al. Magnetic resonance imaging of diffuse axonal injury: quantitative assessment of white matter lesion volume. *J Neurotrauma* (2007) 24(4):591–8. doi:10.1089/neu.2006.0214
- Paterakis K, Karantanas AH, Komnos A, Volikas Z. Outcome of patients with diffuse axonal injury: the significance and prognostic value of MRI in the acute phase. *J Trauma* (2000) 49(6):1071–5. doi:10.1097/00005373-20001 2000-00016
- Warner MA, Youn TS, Davis T, Chandra A, Marquez de la Plata C, Moore C, et al. Regionally selective atrophy after traumatic axonal injury. *Arch Neurol* (2010) 67(11):1336–44. doi:10.1001/archneurol.2010.149
- Mannion RJ, Cross J, Bradley P, Coles JP, Chatfield D, Carpenter A, et al. Mechanism-based MRI classification of traumatic brainstem injury and its relationship to outcome. *J Neurotrauma* (2007) 24(1):128–35. doi:10.1089/ neu.2006.0127
- Ljungqvist J, Nilsson D, Ljungberg M, Sörbo A, Esbjörnsson E, Eriksson-Ritzén C, et al. Longitudinal study of the diffusion tensor imaging properties of the corpus callosum in acute and chronic diffuse axonal injury. *Brain Inj* (2011) 25(4):370–8. doi:10.3109/02699052.2011.558038
- Li XY, Feng DF. Diffuse axonal injury: novel insights into detection and treatment. J Clin Neurosci (2009) 16(5):614–9. doi:10.1016/j.jocn.2008.08.005
- 32. SkandSen T, Kvistad KA, Solheim O, Strand IH, Folvik M, Vik A. Prevalence and impact of diffuse axonal injury in patients with moderate and severe head injury: a cohort study of early magnetic resonance imaging findings and 1-year outcome. J Neurosurg (2010) 113(3):556–63. doi:10.3171/2009.9.JNS09626
- Calvi MR, Beretta L, Dell'Acqua A, Anzalone N, Licini G, Gemma M. Early prognosis after severe traumatic brain injury with minor or absent computed tomography scan lesions. *J Trauma* (2011) 70(2):447–51. doi:10.1097/ TA.0b013e3182095e14
- Fabbri A, Servadei F, Marchesini G, Stein SC, Vandelli A. Early predictors of unfavourable outcome in subjects with moderate head injury in the emergency department. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry (2008) 79(5):567–73. doi:10.1136/ jnnp.2007.120162

- Brain Trauma Foundation, American Association of Neurological Surgeons, Congress of Neurological Surgeons. Guidelines for the management of severe traumatic brain injury. *J Neurotrauma* (2007) 24(Suppl 1):S1–106. doi:10.1089/neu.2007.9999
- Haddad SH, Arabi YM. Critical care management of severe traumatic brain injury in adults. Scand J Trauma Resusc Emerg Med (2012) 3(20):12. doi:10.1186/1757-7241-20-12
- Brenner M, Stein DM, Hu PF, Aarabi B, Sheth K, Scalea TM. Traditional systolic blood pressure targets underestimate hypotension-induced secondary brain injury. *J Trauma Acute Care Surg* (2012) 72(5):1135–9. doi:10.1097/ TA.0b013e31824af90b
- Manley G, Knudson MM, Morabito D, Damron S, Erickson V, Pitts L. Hypotension, hypoxia, and head injury: frequency, duration, and consequences. Arch Surg (2001) 136(10):1118–23. doi:10.1001/archsurg.136.10.1118
- Liu-DeRyke X, Collingridge DS, Orme J, Roller D, Zurasky J, Rhoney DH. Clinical impact of early hyperglycemia during acute phase of traumatic brain injury. *Neurocrit Care* (2009) 11(2):151–7. doi:10.1007/s12028-009-9228-6
- Griesdale DE, Tremblay MH, McEwen J, Chittock DR. Glucose control and mortality in patients with severe traumatic brain injury. *Neurocrit Care* (2009) 11(3):311–6. doi:10.1007/s12028-009-9249-1
- Bilotta F, Giovannini F, Caramia R, Rosa G. Glycemia management in neurocritical care patients: a review. *J Neurosurg Anesthesiol* (2009) 21(1):2–9. doi:10.1097/ANA.0b013e31818f8a5c
- Lorente L, Martín MM, González-Rivero AF, Ramos L, Argueso M, Cáceres JJ, et al. Serum soluble CD40 ligand levels are associated with severity and mortality of brain trauma injury patients. *Thromb Res* (2014) 134(4):832–6. doi:10.1016/j.thromres.2014.07.034
- Ley EJ, Short SS, Liou DZ, Singer MB, Mirocha J, Melo N, et al. Gender impacts mortality after traumatic brain injury in teenagers. J Trauma Acute Care Surg (2013) 75(4):682–6. doi:10.1097/TA.0b013e31829d024f
- Dantas Filho VP, Falção AL, Sardinha LA, Facure JJ, Araújo S, Terzi RG. Relevant factors in 206 patients with severe head injury. *Arq Neuropsiquiatr* (2004) 62(2A):313–8. doi:10.1590/S0004-282X2004000200022
- Sánchez-Olmedo JI, Flores-Cordero JM, Rincón-Ferrari MD, Pérez-Alé M, Muñoz-Sánchez MA, Domínguez-Roldán JM, et al. Brain death after severe traumatic brain injury: the role of systemic secondary brain insults. *Transplant Proc* (2005) 37(5):1990–2. doi:10.1016/j.transproceed. 2005.03.048
- 46. Jeremitsky E, Omert L, Dunham CM, Protetch J, Rodriguez A. Harbingers of poor outcome the day after severe brain injury: hypothermia, hypoxia, and hypoperfusion. *J Trauma* (2003) 54(2):312–9. doi:10.1097/01.TA.00000 37876.37236.D6
- Wang HE, Peitzman AP, Cassidy LD, Adelson PD, Yealy DM. Out-ofhospital endotracheal intubation and outcome after traumatic brain injury. *Ann Emerg Med* (2004) 44(5):439–50. doi:10.1016/j.annemergmed.2004. 04.008
- Parchani A, El-Menyar A, Al-Thani H, El-Faramawy A, Zarour A, Asim M, et al. Traumatic subarachnoid hemorrhage due to motor vehicle crash versus fall from height: a 4-year epidemiologic study. *World Neurosurg* (2014) 82(5):e639–44. doi:10.1016/j.wneu.2014.06.022
- 49. Lane PL, Skoretz TG, Doig G, Girotti MJ. Intracranial pressure monitoring and outcomes after traumatic brain injury. *Can J Surg* (2000) 43(6):442–8.
- Nogueira LS, Domingues CA, Campos MA, Sousa RMC. Ten years of new injury severity score (NISS): is it a possible change? *Rev Lat Am Enfermagem* (2008) 16(2):314–9. doi:10.1590/S0104-11692008000200022
- Taw BB, Lam AC, Ho FL, Hung KN, Lui WM, Leung GK. Functional survival after acute care for severe head injury at a designated trauma center in Hong Kong. *Asian J Surg* (2012) 35(3):117–22. doi:10.1016/j.asjsur.2012. 04.027
- Stein DM, Hu PF, Brenner M, Sheth KN, Liu KH, Xiong W, et al. Brief episodes of intracranial hypertension and cerebral hypoperfusion are associated with poor functional outcome after severe traumatic brain injury. *J Trauma* (2011) 71(2):364–73. doi:10.1097/TA.0b013e31822820da
- Matsukawa H, Shinoda M, Fujii M, Takahashi O, Murakata A, Yamamoto D. Acute alcohol intoxication, diffuse axonal injury and intraventricular bleeding in patients with isolated blunt traumatic brain injury. *Brain Inj* (2013) 27(12):1409–14. doi:10.3109/02699052.2013.823655
- 54. Yanagawa Y, Sakamoto T, Takasu A, Okada Y. Relationship between maximum intracranial pressure and traumatic lesions detected by T2*-weighted

imaging in diffuse axonal injury. *J Trauma* (2009) 66(1):162–5. doi:10.1097/ TA.0b013e3181469857

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2016 Vieira, Paiva, de Oliveira, Teixeira, de Andrade and Sousa. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Functional, Structural, and Neurotoxicity Biomarkers in Integrative Assessment of Concussions

Svetlana A. Dambinova¹*, Joseph C. Maroon², Alicia M. Sufrinko³, John David Mullins⁴, Eugenia V. Alexandrova⁵ and Alexander A. Potapov⁵

¹ Brain Biomarkers Research Laboratory, DeKalb Medical Center, Decatur, GA, USA, ² Neurological Surgery, University of Pittsburgh, Pittsburgh, PA, USA, ³ Orthopaedic Surgery, University of Pittsburgh, Pittsburgh, PA, USA, ⁴ Surgery, Piedmont Hospital, Atlanta, GA, USA, ⁵ Neurotrauma, Burdenko Neurosurgery Institute, Moscow, Russia

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Wellingson Silva Paiva, University of São Paulo, Brazil

Reviewed by:

Firas H. Kobeissy, University of Florida, USA Andres M. Rubiano, El Bosque University, Colombia

> *Correspondence: Svetlana A. Dambinova

dambinova@aol.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Neurotrauma, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neurology

Received: 12 July 2016 Accepted: 21 September 2016 Published: 05 October 2016

Citation:

Dambinova SA, Maroon JC, Sufrinko AM, Mullins JD, Alexandrova EV and Potapov AA (2016) Functional, Structural, and Neurotoxicity Biomarkers in Integrative Assessment of Concussions. Front. Neurol. 7:172. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2016.00172 Concussion is a complex, heterogeneous process affecting the brain. Accurate assessment and diagnosis and appropriate management of concussion are essential to ensure that athletes do not prematurely return to play or others to work or active military duty, risking re-injury. To date, clinical diagnosis relies primarily on evaluating subjects for functional impairment using instruments that include neurocognitive testing, subjective symptom report, and neurobehavioral assessments, such as balance and vestibular-ocular reflex testing. Structural biomarkers, defined as advanced neuroimaging techniques and biomarkers assessing neurotoxicity and immunoexcitotoxicity, may complement the use of functional biomarkers. We hypothesize that neurotoxicity AMPA, NMDA, and kainite receptor biomarkers might be utilized as a part of comprehensive approach to concussion evaluations, with the goal of increasing diagnostic accuracy and facilitating treatment planning and prognostic assessment.

Keywords: concussion, mild TBI, neuropsychological evaluations, advanced MRI sequences, neurotoxicity and neuroplasticity biomarkers

INTRODUCTION

Concussion is a heterogeneous injury that requires a multifaceted and comprehensive approach for assessment, diagnosis, and management. Several clinical tools are routinely used, including symptom report, neurocognitive testing, and postural stability/vestibular and oculomotor assessments (1). However, these tools, which represent functional biomarkers, have practical limitations and may not possess adequate sensitivity in diagnosing all concussions. More objective means of assessment, including advanced neuroimaging techniques and neurotoxicity biomarkers, have gained research attention. These may facilitate diagnosis and could potentially assist with monitoring recovery and determining prognosis. Preliminary studies suggest neurotoxicity biomarkers, in conjunction with neurocognitive testing, might improve diagnostic certainty of suspected concussions and may provide valuable information on what domains of brain function are affected (e.g., vestibular system) or the severity of a concussion (2). This may be particularly valuable, since the grading scales for concussion severity are not scientifically validated, lack prognostic utility, and are largely considered antiquated or outdated (3).

Laboratory chemistry tests confirm systemic changes of energy metabolites in concussion (e.g., ATP, creatine, lactate, as well as blood gases and minerals) (4). Quantitative values of brain-borne neurotoxicity degradation fragments of ionotropic glutamate receptors (GluRs) and antibodies to excitotoxicity biomarkers in blood are important early markers of injury (5). Therefore, these biomarkers, when added to a comprehensive evaluation of concussion, may improve diagnosis and prognosis. The purpose of this review is to highlight the potential role of neurotoxicity biomarkers in a comprehensive evaluation of sports-related concussion.

CLINICAL DEFINITIONS: CONCUSSION

Concussion is defined as a "complex pathophysiological process affecting the brain, induced by biomechanical forces," with associated traumatically induced alteration in mental status with or without loss of consciousness, as specified in a recent consensus statement on concussion in sports (6). Several physical, cognitive, emotional, somatic, and sleep-related symptoms may be present for days to weeks following injury. These are linked to cognitive, vestibular, and oculomotor dysfunction of various brain systems or domains (6). The terms "concussion" and "mild traumatic brain injury" (mTBI) are proposed to be used interchangeably, since much of the clinical symptomology overlaps and as many as 80% of concussions are diagnosed as mTBI. Neither mTBI nor concussive injuries show gross abnormalities on standard neuroimaging, and most patients recover without permanent impairment (7, 8). Typically, about 80% of post-concussive symptoms resolve spontaneously within 7-10 days of the acute phase (6).

BIOMECHANICS OF INJURY

Rotational forces can cause a transient disruption of function in the reticular activating system, resulting in the loss of consciousness associated with concussion (9). Prior biomechanical data have demonstrated that a simple impact of the head with a solid surface (rotational acceleration >5,000 rad/s²) leads to the greatest stress-strain to the frontotemporal regions, connecting limbic structures as well as the corpus callosum and cortical-spinal tract (10). As a result, rotational acceleration, diffuse shear, and strain forces cause variable degrees of injury to neurons, glia, the blood-brain barrier (BBB), and vascular structures, leading to transitory ionic functional disturbances with clinical manifestations. These include sudden confusion, lack of balance or coordination, vision abnormalities, and memory impairment (11). Despite using advanced techniques, such as the head impact telemetry system (HITS), researchers have not been able to diagnose concussion reliably by quantifying a specific threshold (12). Researchers argue that the validity of head impact metrics has not been adequately addressed for sports, and clinicians have been cautioned to not rely on impact magnitude or location to predict acute clinical outcomes, symptom severity (Table 1), neuropsychological function, or balance abnormalities (10, 13).

FUNCTIONAL BIOMARKERS: CLINICAL ASSESSMENT

Clinical assessment of concussion is structured around the various domain-specific impairments exhibited following

Severity	Characteri	Transitory disturbances	Reference	
	Impact force in gravity force (g) and radian per seconds (rad/ s^{2}	Impact location	Frequent symptoms Symptoduration	
Mild	Direct impact			
	Linear acceleration ~30–65 g Time ~ 1 ms	Frontal, parietal, and temporal lobes	Often no symptoms, no About 2 functional changes	24 h (14)
	Rotational acceleration – 4,000–5,000 rad/s ² Coup-countercoup (AIS ^a = 1)	Brainstem, spinal tract		(15) (16)
	linear acceleration ~ 50−100 g ICP ⁵ < 173 kPa	Frontal lobe and upper end of brainstem		
Moderate	Direct impact			
	Linear acceleration ~70–90 g Time ~ 1~3 ms	Frontal, parietal, and temporal lobes	No outward symptoms 1–3 day but substantial functional	ys (17)
	Rotational acceleration – 5,000–6,500 rad/s ² Coup-countercoup (AIS = 2)	Brainstem, spinal tract	alterations	(10)
	linear acceleration ~ 100–150 g ICP ~ 140–190 kPa	Frontal lobe and upper end of brainstem		(18)
Severe	Direct impact			
	Linear acceleration >100 g Time – 4 ms	Frontal, parietal, and temporal lobes	Often but not always clinically Up to 2 observed functional impairment	2–3 weeks (19)
	Rotational acceleration ~ 7,000–13,000 rad/s ² Coup-countercoup (AIS = 3–4)	Brainstem, spinal tract		(20)
	Linear acceleration ~ 150–250 g ICP ~ 201–282 kPa	Frontal lobe and upper end of brainstem		

^aAIS – Abbreviated Injury Scale.

^bICP – intracranial pressure.

injury – cognitive, vestibular, somatic, and emotional – adapted for various settings, such as on the "sideline" at sporting events as well as during recovery following acute, subacute, and chronic injury (**Table 2**).

Sideline Assessment

The Standardized Concussion Assessment Tool and its revisions (SCAT2, SCAT3) are the most widely used tools on the sideline (31). These comprise a number of empirically validated measures adapted across several domains of assessment, including symptom report, mental status, attention/memory, and balance. The SCAT is "likely to identify the presence of concussion in the early stages of post-injury," according to the 2013 American Academy of Neurology concussion guidelines (32). Others argue that this tool is insensitive to identifying mild deficits, and is subject to practice effects (33). Furthermore, it should not be relied on for decisions regarding whether an athlete should be allowed to return to play (34). The Display Enhanced Testing for Concussions and mTBI (DETECT) system has been developed in response to the need for a fast and efficient sideline neuropsychological test (35). It is a 7-min battery of tests that allows for real-time cognitive testing in situations previously deemed impractical or unavailable for patients with concussion, such as the sideline. However, it is still being examined for validity and reliability.

Neurocognitive Testing

Neurocognitive testing has been coined a "cornerstone" of concussion management since the initial Concussion in Sport Group meeting in 2001. Typically, neurocognitive testing is completed in an office or quiet setting, and has been shown to be sensitive both to acute deficits (e.g., <24 h following injury) as well as those detected after an athlete is symptom free (36, 37). Of all the commercially available computerized test batteries, the Immediate Post-concussion and Cognitive Testing Test Battery (ImPACT) is the most widely used and researched and the only one formally approved by the FDA; others are summarized in Table 2. Although largely reserved for those with protracted recoveries, for some athletes, traditional paper and pencil neuropsychological testing may be a component of concussion protocols. While neurocognitive evaluation is essential in assessing and managing concussion in a majority of cases, it is important to recognize that neurocognitive deficits are occasionally absent following concussion. A recent meta-analysis of computerized neurocognitive tests (CNTs) suggests an overall low-to-moderate magnitude of effects size, attributing these findings to the heterogenic nature of concussion (38). There are other limitations in using neurocognitive testing following concussion. Several extraneous factors may influence neurocognitive test performance, including motivation, effort, sleep, pain, and anxiety (39). Neurocognitive testing

TABLE 2 Test battery for concussion assessment.							
Tools	Intended use	Properties	Limitations	Reference			
Sideline							
Sports concussion assessment tool (SCAT3)	Sideline assessment diagnostic	Sensitivity 80–94% Specificity 76–91%	Should not be used for return to play decisions	(21)			
Computerized neurocognit	tive tests						
Immediate post-concussion and cognitive testing (ImPACT)	In office, diagnosis and management	Sensitivity 82–91% Specificity 69–89% Test–retest reliability 0.25–0.85	Must have a trained professional for interpretation; potential for misuse (e.g., poor control on environment, use as a standalone measure)	(22, 23) http://www. impacttest.com/			
Automated Neurocognitive Assessment Metrics (ANAM)	In office, diagnosis and management	Test–retest reliability 0.14–0.81		(24) http://www. vistalifesciences.com/ index.php/anam-intro.html			
Axon Sports Computerized Cognitive Assessment Tool	In office, diagnosis and management	Test–retest reliability 0-0.94 (53% of ICC's failing minimum standards)		www.axonsports.com/			
Concussion Vital Signs	In office, diagnosis and management	Test-retest reliability 0.07–0.87		http://www. concussionvitalsigns.com/			
Postural Stability/Vestibula	ar						
Balance error scoring system (BESS)	Sideline/Acute	Specificity up to 91% Sensitivity 34–64%	Practice effects, poor intra/inter/after season reliability	(25, 26)			
Sensory organization test (SOT)	In office	Sensitivity 48–61% Specificity of 85–90%		(27)			
Vestibular/oculomotor screening test (VOR, VMS)	In office		Relies heavily on symptom report	(28)			
Oculomotor tests							
Eye-Track Advance (ETA)	Sideline assessment	Sensitivity 54–77% Specificity of 67–92%	Depends on past medical history, medications, and drugs used	(29)			
King–Devick (K–D) test	Sideline	Test-retest reliability 0.90	Practice effects, requires baseline	(30)			
Vestibular/oculomotor screening test (saccades,	In office	Internal consistency (Cronbach's alpha = 0.92)	Relies heavily on symptom report	(28)			

Frontiers in Neurology | www.frontiersin.org

near point convergence)

can be challenging to interpret among subpopulations, such as individuals with learning disabilities or attention deficits in the absence of baseline testing (40).

Postural Stability/Vestibular

Assessing balance and postural stability may be useful in the acute stages of injury (25). The Balance Error Scoring System (BESS) is the most widely used balance assessment following concussion, due to its rapid ease of administration and low cost. However, the system's sensitivity has been criticized because of the influence of other factors, such as fatigue, type of sport, and history of ankle injury or instability (41). The Sensory Organization Test (SOT) evaluates dynamics in postural stability using a force plate, and has superior reliability compared to the BESS (27). However, it is not feasible to use on the sideline due to the required equipment. Furthermore, similar to neurocognitive testing, deficits in postural stability are not always present after concussion or may resolve rapidly. Another tool developed for concussion assessment is the vestibular/ocular motor screening (VOMS) (28), which uses several tests for screening central vestibular functioning, including the vestibular-ocular reflex and visual-motion sensitivity.

Oculomotor Assessment

Both subjective and objective measures of oculomotor functioning have utility in diagnosis and management of concussion. The VOMS measures near point of convergence and provocation of symptoms on saccades, both sensitive to concussion (28), and correlates with neurocognitive impairment (42). The King-Devick (K–D) is a 1-min test in which the athlete is asked to read, quickly and accurately, several pages of single-digit numbers that are arrayed left to right in columns that do not vertically align (43). Preliminary evidence suggests K-D is easily administered, can differentiate concussed from non-concussed athletes, and has high test-retest reliability (r = 0.90) (44). However, there is concern regarding practice effects (45). The objective eye-tracking technology concussion test, used in both sports and combat settings, records the subject visually tracking a target as it moves through a circular trajectory (46). Gaze error variability has been found to correlate significantly with attention and working memory measures on neurocognitive testing (29).

NEUROIMAGING

Concussion is generally regarded as a functional, rather than a structural, brain injury, with conventional neuroimaging findings considered normal and adding little value to clinical management of this injury beyond ruling out more severe pathology, such as a skull fracture or intracranial hemorrhage (47).

However, advanced magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) methods have demonstrated the ability to detect and localize pathophysiologic consequences of concussion or mTBI (48). Functional MRI (fMRI) data have shown a strong link between brain region functioning vs. concussion severity and time to recovery; however, this procedure is used primarily in the research setting (49). Diffusion tensor imaging (DTI)/DTIbased tractography is used to evaluate axonal tearing after the impact. Quantitative high-resolution imaging techniques, such as susceptibility-weighted imaging (SWI) or angiography (SWAN), depict iron deposits in brain microvessels, while cerebrovascular dysfunction in areas of hyper- or hypoperfusion can be detected by high-resolution diffusion-weighted imaging (DWI).

Recent studies that used SWI or perfusion-weighted imaging (PWI) with DTI and magnetic resonance (MR) spectroscopy found abnormalities in 80% of patients with mTBI when these three imaging modalities were collated (50, 51).

Diffusor Tensor Imaging

Diffusion tensor imaging (3T DTI)-based tractography evaluates diffuse axonal injury (DAI). Additionally, 3T fluid-attenuated inversion recovery (FLAIR) imaging allows detection of nonhemorrhagic DAI (47) and could potentially assist in assessment of structural abnormalities in concussions. Due to success in assessing a population with moderate-to-severe TBI, DTI has gained popularity for use in mTBI because of its enhanced technical resolution. DTI can reveal white matter alterations affecting the corticospinal tract (CST); the internal capsule; the corpus callosum (52); the inferior/superior, longitudinal, and fronto-occipital fasciculi; and the posterior thalamic and acoustic radiations in athletes following sports concussions (53). While increased fractional anisotropy (FA) numbers indicate reversible changes in white matter, reduced FA values reflect a loss of white matter integrity in a region of interest (54-56). Overall, data from DTI studies of mTBI have been contradictory, however, showing both increased FA values in acute and chronic studies (57, 58) as well as decreased FA levels (59). Recently, Davenport et al. (60) demonstrated that a single football season can produce alterations in DTI parameters in the absence of clinical concussion.

Diffusion-Weighted Imaging

Microvessel dysfunction can be detected by high-resolution DWI. DWI allows for differentiation between cytotoxic edema (restricted diffusion) and vasogenic edema (increased diffusion), and has been shown to identify shearing injuries not evident on T2/FLAIR or gradient echo sequences (61). Significant involvement of the neurovascular unit has also been shown in pediatric patients with sports-related concussions who experienced persistent symptoms (50). Recent MRI-based studies assessing cerebral flow alterations due to concussions and mTBI are indicating the emerging concept of concussion as a form of cerebrovascular disease (62).

Susceptibility Weighted Imaging

Small hemorrhages in white matter have been detected by high-resolution SWI in retrospective studies of retired NFL players (63), youths with sports-related concussion (64), and, in amateur boxers, more severe cases of mTBI (65). Significant SWI hypointensity alterations in brains of adult male hockey players within a single season have been observed in the subacute stage of injury compared to baseline images (66). However, SWI does not provide quantitative measures of magnetic susceptibility (67).

Susceptibility-Weighted Angiography

As with SWI, SWAN focuses on intracerebral small vessels for identifying cerebral hemorrhage and calcifications (68) by visualizing measurable changes in cerebral veins due to hypoxia (69). It is particularly useful in visualizating microhemorrhages and lesions near the skull base (70), and has contributed to a proposed MRI grading scale (71, 72). Application of susceptibility-weighted imaging mapping (SWIM) for quantitative assessment (67) of venous blood oxygenation in the acute stage of mTBI has shown an excess of oxygen in impacted areas that may reflect a neuroprotective response following the injury (73).

In summary, several MRI sequences (DTI, DWI, FLAIR, SWI, SWAN) may be valuable in determining the location and level of microstructural abnormalities (micro-lesions) and edema following concussion. However, to date, MRI studies for mTBI are limited by study design, including consensus in methodology; e.g., 1.5 or 3T, sequence, slice thickness, and spatial resolution (74). Furthermore, there is often variability in timing after injury, age of subjects, severity of injury, and brain region analyzed. Additionally, use of advanced imaging-derived techniques, such as DTI, with multi-shell diffusion and highdefinition tractography modeling might be useful in identifying subtle structural changes due to mild concussion (52). The development of universal and more inclusive protocol(s) for mTBI studies might help overcome current limitations in pursuit of comparable, reproducible data.

GLUTAMATER RECEPTOR BIOMARKERS

Biomarkers for concussion can be categorized as diagnostic or prognostic/monitoring (75, 76). Prospective, diagnostic biomarkers provide information about a disease or condition and may assess the severity of concussion. Prognostic biomarkers (risk assessment) are defined as indicators that may provide the anticipated natural history of a disorder in the absence of a therapeutic intervention. Monitoring biomarkers (recovery) are used to follow a previously diagnosed or established disease or condition; for example, in making a decision whether a person should be returned to play in sports or to work or active military duty.

Diagnostic Potential

Ideal biomarker(s) for the diagnosis of concussion should (i) reflect the origin of transient subtle brain injury resulting from the impact and show a specific location of subtle brain injury, (ii) include detectable biological markers at an early stage of brain damage (within minutes to hours after event), (iii) correlate with performance on clinical measures, and (iv) demonstrate functional deficits or metabolic disturbances concurrent with advanced neuroimaging (fMRI, DTI, and SWI modalities). Several candidate brain biomarkers are associated with concussion severity (**Table 3**).

Neurotoxicity biomarkers include the ionotropic GluRs. The AMPA receptors (AMPAR; GluR1 subtype) are located

Biomarker	Performance characteristics			Strengths (intended use)	Limitations (biomarker studies)	Reference
	Cut off ng/ml	Sensitivity %	Specificity %	-		
AMPAR peptide	0.4	89–91	91-92	Associated with diffuse axonal injury (DAI)	Need data assessed within 24 h after concussion	(77)
NMDAR peptide	1.0	83	91	A biomarker of microvessel damage and correlates with development of cortical vasogenic edema	Need to be assessed within 24 h after concussion	(5)
Calpain-derived αll- spectrin N-terminal fragment (SNTF)	Not established	100	75	Associated with DAI and shows white matter abnormalities	Low levels in biological liquids for mTBI. There are no concussion studies	(78)
Breakdown products of glial fibrillary acidic protein (GFAP-BDP)	0.03	60–93	75–97	Detects hemorrhage/hematoma and might be used to reduce unnecessary CT/MRI	GFAP-BDP also releases during intracerebral and subarachnoid hemorrhagic strokes. There are no concussion studies	(79)
GFAB autoantibody	2.9–3.0	_	-	Shows dynamic interactions between post-injury and specific autoimmune response	Small sample size of the study	(80)
Kainate receptor peptide	0.5	83–90	83–92	Might be associated with brainstem injury and regulates venous circulation (development of cytotoxic edema)	Need to be assessed within 24 h after concussion	(81)
S-100B	0.06 0.12	94 29	50 96	A marker of compromised blood–brain barrier	Lack of specificity	(82)
Total Tau protein	-	Area under cui (95% Cl, 0.81-		Correlates to severity of concussions and predicts longevity of recovery	Small sample size of the study	(83)
UCHL1	-	Area under cui (95% Cl, 0.57- 0.72		A potential diagnostic assessment of acute TBI Associated with outcome	UCHL1 found in more severe TBI. Limited concussion studies	(84, 85)

exclusively in synaptic terminals (77) and could indicate diffuse dendritic-axonal injury (86). AMPAR is primarily distributed in the forebrain and subcortical pathways, including the hippocampus, amygdala, thalamus, hypothalamus, and brain stem (87, 88). These regions of the brain are predictable sources of biomarkers given the functional spatial-temporal coherence, developmental pathways, and cerebral plasticity affected by mild brain injury (89). The NMDA receptors (NMDAR: NR2 subtypes) are localized on the epithelial surface of microvessels that form the BBB and regulate cerebral arterial microvascular function (90). The biomechanical forces that lead to concussion may cause mechanical damage and energy failure in parenchymal cells and endothelia that comprise the BBB. Furthermore, concussion drives neurotoxicity biomarker peptides to be released continuously into the bloodstream through the compromised BBB within hours to days after impact. During the acute phase of concussion, a massive release of glutamate upregulates excitotoxic AMPAR (55, 91). The GluR1-subunit of N-terminal AMPAR fragments are rapidly cleaved by extracellular proteases and released into the bloodstream, where this degradation product, identified as a biomarker of neurotoxicity, can be directly detected (peptide fragment of 5-7 kD).

A feasibility study examining the diagnostic potential of the AMPAR peptide assay was conducted by administering neuropsychological testing (ImPACT) and neuroimaging to concussed athletes (20.8 ± 1.8 years old, 56M/28F, 1-2 weeks post-concussion, GCS = 14-15) and age-, gender-matched healthy controls (21M/19F) in conjunction with measurements of the biomarker (86). The sensitivity (91%) and specificity (92%) of AMPAR peptide to assess acute and semi-acute concussions (preliminary cut off of 0.4 ng/mL) in college athletes was established. Additionally, in athletes with multiple concussions, worse ImPACT scores on processing speed, reaction time, and cognitive efficiency correlated with abnormal levels of AMPAR peptide (2.0-12.0 ng/mL) and DAI changes apparent on MRI (2).

Kainate receptors (KAR, GluR5/6), which are located mostly in the hippocampus, subcortical areas, spinal cord tract, and brainstem (92), might potentially affect cerebral venous circulation. Glutamate serves as a neuromediator for the medulla involved in regulation of involuntary life sustaining functions, such as breathing, swallowing, heart rate, and consciousness (92), primarily through KAR (2). In patients with mTBI, the decrease of venous function due to a rise in venous oxygenation in the affected thalamostriate and right basal areas (93) might involve KAR. As a component of post-military deployment mTBI screening, KAR peptide detection in active duty military personnel $(37M/16F, 23.0 \pm 1.2 \text{ years old}, 1 \text{ week after blast injury},$ GCS = 13-15) with impaired venous circulation in cervical areas defined by dopplerography yielded an optimal cut-off value of 1.0 ng/mL (90% sensitivity, 83% specificity), at which a positive predictive value of 93% was achieved. A clinical study conducted with civilians who sustained mTBI (25M/20F, 30.1 \pm 3.0 years old, GCS = 13-15) and admitted to ED within 24 h after the impact due to violence-related events, motor vehicle crashes, and incidental falls showed KAR peptide sensitivity of 83% and specificity of 92% (cut-off of 0.5 ng/mL), with a significant positive likelihood ratio of 10.5 to assess severe concussions

(unpublished data). Notably, AMPAR and NR2 peptides were also abnormal in these cohorts.

Prognostic/Monitoring Approaches

Biomarkers intended to measure recovery following concussion should potentially (i) reflect neurological symptoms, (ii) identify the immune system response to inflammation, (iii) further predict outcomes, and (iv) assist with treatment/therapy recommendations.

Disruption of the BBB due to biomechanical force is believed to cause instantaneous increase in brain vasculature permeability, with both immediate and delayed pathogenic consequences (7, 94). The effects of a compromised BBB are exacerbated when accompanied by an immunological response initiated by entry of peripheral anti-CNS autoantibodies (95–97), which may be prognostic biomarkers of brain injury (98). Due to the nature of the normal immune response, antibodies to brain antigens detected in serum are typically associated with advanced or chronic conditions of brain damage (99, 100), whereas neuronal antigens measured in plasma are more likely to reflect acute injuries (101).

Early experimental and clinical research of antibodies to GluR1 subtype of AMPA receptors as an immunoexcitotoxicity biomarker has demonstrated their diagnostic value in detecting pathological brain-spiking activity and epileptic seizures (102, 103) as a consequence of traumatic brain injury, thereby representing a prognostic risk factor. Above threshold increases of AMPAR antibodies measured in serum of children (n = 60, 7-16 years old) with chronic posttraumatic headache within 6-12 months after sustained single or multiple concussions were correlated with abnormal brain-spiking activity on EEG (104). Clinical studies of GluR1 antibodies in adult patients with different chronic neurological pathology (n = 1866) performed in Russia, Europe, and the USA have demonstrated diagnostic potential (sensitivity of 86-88%, specificity of 83-97%) in assessment of seizures (epilepsy) as consequence of sustained single or multiple concussions (105, 106).

One potential prognostic biomarker is a marked increase in the level of NR2 antibodies. These increased levels are evidence of persistent brain changes related to delayed cerebral ischemia (107), which can follow concussion. In three subjects with prior concussion, NR2 antibody levels remained elevated beyond the cut-off (2.0 ng/mL) throughout the 1.5-year study duration (2). Interestingly, visual memory composite scores on ImPACT were impaired in two of the three athletes. Furthermore, reduction in NR2 peptide and antibodies threshold levels corresponded with improvement on ImPACT scores and reduction of postconcussive symptoms.

An AMPAR peptide assay has been evaluated as a tool for management and decision making for return to play, work, and active military duty following concussion. In a longitudinal study, initial assessment of AMPAR peptide in athletes showed that of 84 subjects (20.8 ± 1.8 years old, 56M/28F, 1-2 weeks post-concussion, GCS = 14-15), 18 (21%) had increased biomarker levels after concussion (108). In the subsequent 15 months, AMPAR peptide values decreased in 11 of the 18 subjects (61%), with levels close to normal (0.07-0.9 ng/mL). These athletes also had

normal ImPACT scores, and were allowed to return to play. After an additional 3 months, the seven remaining athletes remained symptomatic and had higher AMPAR peptide values compared to controls. Consequently, they were advised to postpone their return to playing sports and directed to neuroimaging (2).

A recent prospective off-season study assessed AMPAR peptide levels in a professional American football team. Among players (43M, 27.8 \pm 3.1) who had no concussions reported in the prior season, AMPAR peptide levels in plasma (within 0.1–1.0 ng/mL) cleared 40 players (93%) to play. The remaining three players (7%) were advised to postpone return to play due to higher AMPAR peptide levels (1.2–2.3 ng/mL). Interestingly, two out of the three players with elevated AMPAR peptide levels reported concussion a week before blood draw, suggesting a cumulative effect. Preliminary assessment of assay performance characteristics in semi-acute (within 2 weeks after the concussion) assessment yielded an 89% sensitivity and 91% specificity (unpublished data).

Impaired Neuroplasticity Biomarkers for Concussion (Acute and Chronic Conditions)

Due to breakdown of the BBB, most proteins responsible for impaired neuroplasticity enter the bloodstream, fluids, and tissues relatively late (109). Among these are the calpain-derived α II-spectrin N-terminal fragment (SNTF) (78, 110), α II-spectrin breakdown products (SBDPs) for axonal injury (111), S100 associated with compromised BBB (112), astrocyte-specific protein glial fibrillary acidic protein (GFAP), a biomarker of hematoma/ hemorrhage (113) and GFAP autoantibody as a post-injury autoimmune response (80), tau protein, a microtubule-associated structural protein located within axons, and ubiquitin carboxy-terminal hydrolase L1 (UCHL1), a cysteine protease expressed in neurons as well as neuroendocrine cells (114) (**Table 3**).

Following TBI, SNTF accumulates in axons and blood. In a study of patients with mTBI admitted to an emergency room, blood SNTF levels correlated with white matter abnormalities on DTI, as well as cognitive dysfunction and persisted for at least 3 months (110). Among professional ice hockey players, serum SNTF increased at 1 h after concussion and remained significantly elevated from 12 h to 6 days, before declining to preseason baseline. By contrast, serum SNTF levels were unchanged after training in healthy controls (78). Serum SNTF exhibited sufficient diagnostic accuracy for delayed return to play in this study (area under the curve = 0.87).

S100 proteins are small acidic proteins with diverse functions that range from cell cycle progression, transcription protection from oxidative cell damage, and apoptosis (115, 116). A study of collegiate and semi-professional athletes who completed S100B testing at baseline and following concussion demonstrated that relative and absolute increase in serum S100B could accurately distinguish concussion from sport-related exertion (82). A correlation between S100B levels and number of sub-concussive head hits has also been reported (117). Other studies have suggested that low levels of S100B were able to rule out mTBI (118, 119). Recent studies have demonstrated that measurement of S100B would assist in indicating if a CT scan would be needed in the acute setting (120–122). The transient disruption of the BBB from multiple sub-concussive and/or concussive events may allow accumulation of S100B autoantibodies that could be associated with predisposition to neurological disease, including chronic traumatic encephalopathy (CTE). Despite prolonged rest, repetitive head impacts sustained in contact sports have been shown to cause persistent white matter alterations (123). Thus, S100B autoantibodies may be useful biomarker after acute concussion and in evaluating more chronic consequences of head trauma.

Two studies have shown that serum GFAP and its breakdown products (GFAP-BDP), markers of hemorrhage, were increased in patients with an abnormal CT compared to those with a normal CT after mTBI (124, 125). GFAP remained elevated in axonal injury on MRI in a subset of mTBI patients at 3 months' post-injury (124). Similarly, serum GFAP-BDP was significantly higher in patients with intracranial lesions on CT, compared with those without lesions, and was able to predict which patients required neurosurgical intervention (113). A recent study of 396 patients with mild-to-moderate TBI established that GFAP out-performed S100B in detecting intracranial CT lesions, particularly in the setting of extracranial fractures (126). GFAP-BDP demonstrated very good predictive ability (AUC = 0.87) as well as significant discrimination of injury severity (125). Recent study detecting GFAP autoantibodies found three to five times higher biomarker values in chronic and acute cases accompanies with prior TBI (80). However, it is unclear if serum GFAP would be useful in detecting a more mild form of TBI, such as a sportsrelated concussion.

Ubiquitin carboxy-terminal hydrolase L1 levels in CSF and serum demonstrated predictive value for severe TBI in adult and children (127, 128) and were also increased after seizures (129). It was suggested that UCHL1 is potentially reporting the BBB integrity (94). Assessments of UCH-L1 after sport-related subconcussive head hits displayed lack of clinical significance (117).

Tau protein is a microtubule-associated structural protein located within axons. The deposition of hyperphosphorylated tau (p-tau) protein in clusters around small blood vessels of the cortex is indicative of tauopathy and is related to CTE (130). Although the factors that contribute to CTE are poorly understood, both professional athletes (131) and military veterans (132) have been diagnosed with this disease. To date, CTE is primarily diagnosed postmortem (133); however, the first attempt to detect total tau protein in plasma using digital array technology (**Table 3**) has recently been reported (83).

DISCUSSION

Clinical assessment tools for concussion all represent functional biomarkers. These include symptom report, neurocognitive testing, and postural stability/vestibular and oculomotor assessments. While widely used to guide clinical care, concern regarding the sensitivity of these functional biomarkers as well as their feasibility for use in the sports arena exists. For example, sideline testing is brief and, therefore, may not be sensitive enough to identify mild concussion. Comprehensive neurocognitive

Neuroanatomical area of injury	Clinical and Neuropsychological scores		Neurotoxicity markers ^c	Proposed scores			
	GCS ImPAC	ImPACT ^a	^a SCAT3 [♭]	-	3T (or higher) MRI ^d		GCS/MRI/biomarkers
					Preferable modality	Scores	-
Subcortical dendritic-axonal injury (DAI)	15	0.3–0.4	19.3	AMPAR (A)	DTI	1	15A1
Cortical–subcortical, subcortical–cervical area, or cortical–cervical area, transient events (vasogenic edema)	14	0.2–0.3	40.7	AMPAR (A) NR2(N) KAR(K)	DWI, DTI	2	14 AN2 -cortical - subcortical 14AK2 - subcortical -cervical 14NK2- cortical-cervical
Cortical-subcortical and cervical area (cytotoxic edema)	12–13	0.1–0.2	46.2	Overall involvement of ionotropic GluRs ANK	FLAIR, SWI/SWAN, DTI	3	12ANK3 13ANK3

^aConsidered only cognitive efficacy score.

^bSCAT3 data were considered from (21).

Considered only abnormal values of AMPAR, AMPA receptor peptide fragment (candidate biomarker of DAI); NR2, peptide fragment of NMDA receptor subtype (arterial

microvascular marker candidate); KAR, kainite receptor peptide fragment (venous circulation biomarker candidate).

^dMRI scores are suggested analog to that proposed by Potapov et al. (71) based on location/level of brain lesions for TBI.

testing may appear normal, leading to premature return to play. More objective means of assessment, including advanced neuroimaging techniques and neurotoxicity biomarkers, have gained research attention. These measures may facilitate diagnosis and potentially assist with monitoring a subject's recovery. Preliminary studies suggest neurotoxicity biomarkers, in conjunction with neurocognitive testing, may improve diagnostic certainty of suspected concussions as well as provide valuable information on prognosis, allowing a clinician to modify treatment recommendations.

This review highlights potential structural and neurotoxicity biomarkers that could be integrated into the current clinical concussion evaluation that, at present, relies primarily on functional biomarkers. Research to date supports a move toward administering a more comprehensive panel of biomarkers; namely, neurotoxicity markers. These biomarkers represent a second generation of brain "tracers" that could be used to decipher the microstructural abnormalities observed on advanced neuroimaging. For example, abnormal values of one (15A1), two (14AN2, 14NK2, 14 AK2), or three GluRs (12-13ANK3) may assist in making a decision to return a subject to play, extended rest, or further medical assistance (Table 4). Those athletes or patients with abnormal scores using these biomarkers should be directed to neuroimaging assessment (DTI, DWI, SWI, FLAIR), and may benefit from an individualized treatment plan. In the future, it may be possible to classify concussion severity with neuroimaging, similar to proposed MRI classification for TBI (71). Furthermore, the use of neurotoxicity biomarkers may assist radiologists with additional information concerning the area of interest, where microstructural changes might be located (cortical, subcortical, or brainstem injuries).

Accurate diagnosis of concussion and appropriate management of the injury to prevent premature return to play is vital to protecting the long-term brain health of athletes and others at risk of re-injury. Structural and neurotoxicity biomarkers can be used to complement the functional biomarkers currently used to assess concussion to facilitate diagnosis and treatment.

HUMAN SUBJECTS

This review presents retrospective analyses of neurotoxicity biomarkers measured in subjects with concussions and mild TBI previously disclosed in peer-reviewed scientific publications.

All retrospective analyses of human data concerning GluR biomarker studies conducted by the authors were performed in accordance with institutional and national guidelines and regulations. The institutional review protocol governing the college and professional athletes' enrollment was approved by the respective Institutional Review Boards at Kennesaw State University, the University of Pittsburgh, and by the USAMRMC ORP HRPO under proposal DM090557 (award W81XWH-11-2-0081). The research protocol for using samples collected from active duty personnel and civilians who suffered mild TBI in the studies described herein were approved by the Ethics Committee at Burdenko Institute of Neurosurgery (Moscow, Russia). Written informed consent was provided by all research subjects. The privacy of participants was protected using global unique identifiers.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

SD and JDM are joint senior authors. AMS, JDM, EVA, and AAP are contributed equally to this work.

FUNDING

In parts supported by grant from US Army Medical Research and Materiel Command, 2011–2013 and grant from Skolkovo BioMed, Moscow, Russia, 2016–2017.

REFERENCES

- Collins MW, Kontos AP, Reynolds E, Murawski CD, Fu FH. A comprehensive, targeted approach to the clinical care of athletes following sport-related concussion. *Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc* (2014) 22:235–46. doi:10.1007/ s00167-013-2791-6
- Dambinova SA, Sowell RL, Maroon J. Gradual return to play: potential role of neurotoxicity biomarkers in assessment of concussions severity. *J Mol Biomark Diagn* (2013) 3(Suppl1):S003. doi:10.4172/2155-9929.S3-003
- Lebrun CM, Mrazik M, Prasad AS, Tjarks BJ, Dorman JC, Bergeron MF, et al. Sport concussion knowledge base, clinical practises and needs for continuing medical education: a survey of family physicians and cross-border comparison. Br J Sports Med (2012) 47:54–9. doi:10.1136/bjsports-2012-091480
- Zehtabchi S, Sinert R, Soghoian S, Liu Y, Carmody K, Shah L, et al. Identifying traumatic brain injury in patients with isolated head trauma: are arterial lactate and base deficit as helpful as in polytrauma? *Emerg Med J* (2007) 24:333–5. doi:10.1136/emj.2006.044578
- Dambinova SA, Bettermann K, Glynn T, Tews M, Olson D, Weissman JD, et al. Diagnostic potential of the NMDA receptor peptide assay for acute ischemic stroke. *PLoS One* (2012) 7:e42362. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0042362
- McCrory P, Meeuwisse WH, Aubry M, Cantu B, Dvorák J, Echemendia RJ, et al. Consensus statement on concussion in sport: the 4th International Conference on Concussion in Sport held in Zurich. *Br J Sports Med* (2013) 47:250–8. doi:10.1136/bjsports-2013-092313
- Blennow K, Hardy J, Zetterberg H. The neuropathology and neurobiology of traumatic brain injury. *Neuron* (2012) 76:886–99. doi:10.1016/ j.neuron.2012.11.021
- Choe MC, Babikian T, DiFiori J, Hovda DA, Giza CC. A pediatric perspective on concussion pathophysiology. *Curr Opin Pediatr* (2012) 24:689–95. doi:10.1097/MOP
- Khurana VG, Kaye AH. An overview of concussion in sport. J Clin Neurosci (2012) 19:1–11. doi:10.1016/j.jocn.2011.08.002
- Guskiewicz KM, Mihalik JP. Biomechanics of sport concussion: quest for the elusive injury threshold. *Exerc Sport Sci Rev* (2011) 39:4–11. doi:10.1097/ JES.0b013e318201f53e
- Johnston SC, Albers GW, Gorelick PB, Cumbler E, Klingman J, Ross MA, et al. National Stroke Association recommendations for systems of care for transient ischemic attack. *Ann Neurol* (2011) 69:872–7. doi:10.1002/ ana.22332
- King D, Hume P, Gissane C, Brughelli M, Clark T. The influence of head impact threshold for reporting data in contact and collision sports: systematic review and original data analysis. *Sports Med* (2016) 46:151–69. doi:10.1007/ s40279-015-0423-7
- Bailes JE, Petralia AL, Omalu BI, Nauman E, Talavage T. Role of subconcussion in repetitive mild traumatic brain injury. *J Neurosurg* (2013) 119:1235–45. doi:10.3171/2013.7.JNS121822
- Rezaei A, Karami G, Ziejewski M. Examination of brain Injury thresholds in terms of the severity of head motion and the brain stresses. *Intern Neurotrauma Lett* (2014) 35. Available from: http://www.internationalbrain. org/examination-of-bi-thresholds-in-terms-of-the-severity-of-headmotion-and-the-brain-stresses/
- Okonkwo DO, Tempel ZJ, Maroon J. Sideline assessment tools for the evaluation of concussion in athletes: a review. *Neurosurg* (2014) 75(Suppl 4):S82–95. doi:10.1227/NEU.00000000000493
- Kutcher JS, McCrory P, Davis G, Ptito A, Meeuwisse WH, Broglio SP. What evidence exists for new strategies or technologies in the diagnosis of sports concussion and assessment of recovery? *Br J Sports Med* (2013) 47:299–303. doi:10.1136/bjsports-2013-092257
- Breedlove EL, Robinson M, Talavage TM, Morigaki KE, Yoruk U, O'Keefe K, et al. Biomechanical correlates of symptomatic and asymptomatic neurophysiological impairment in high school football. *J Biomech* (2012) 45:1265–72. doi:10.1016/j.jbiomech.2012.01.034
- Chen Y, Peng Y, Li F, Yang JK, Otte D. Brain injury for vulnerable road users in vehicle accidents using mathematical models. In: Lim CT, Goh JCH, editors. *IFMBE Proceedings WCB 2010, 6th World Congress of Biomechanics (WCB 2010)* (Vol. 31), Singapore, Malaysia: Springer (2010). p. 497–500.
- 19. Guskiewicz KM, Mihalik JP, Shankar V, Marshall SW, Crowell DH, Oliaro SM, et al. Measurement of head impacts in collegiate football

players: relationship between head impact biomechanics and acute clinical outcome after concussion. *Neurosurg* (2007) 61:1244–52. doi:10.1227/01.neu.0000306103.68635.1a

- 20. Zhang L, Yang KY, King AI. A proposed injury threshold for mild traumatic brain injury. *J Biomech Eng* (2004) 126:226–36. doi:10.1115/1.1691446
- Guskiewicz KM, Register-Mihalik J, McCrory P, McCrea M, Johnston K, Makdissi M, et al. Evidence-based approach to revising the SCAT2: introducing the SCAT3. Br J Sports Med (2013) 47:289–93. doi:10.1136/ bjsports-2013-092225
- Kontos AP, Sufrinko A, Womble M, Kegel N. Neuropsychological assessment following concussion: an evidence-based review of the role of neuropsychological assessment pre-and post-concussion. *Curr Pain Headache Rep* (2016) 20:38. doi:10.1007/s11916-016-0571-y
- Resch J, McCrea M, Cullum CM. Computerized neurocognitive testing in the management of sport-related concussion: an update. *Neuropsychol Rev* (2013) 23:335–49. doi:10.1007/s11065-013-9242-5
- Coldren RL, Russell ML, Parish RV, Dretsch M, Kelly MP. The ANAM lacks utility as a diagnostic or screening tool for concussion more than 10 days following injury. *Mil Med* (2012) 177:179–83. doi:10.7205/ MILMED-D-11-00278
- Guskiewicz KM. Assessment of postural stability following sport-related concussion. *Curr Sports Med Rep* (2003) 2:24–30. doi:10.1249/00149619-200302000-00006
- 26. Valovich TC, Perrin DH, Gansneder BM. Repeat administration elicits a practice effect with the balance error scoring system but not with the Standardized Assessment of Concussion in high school athletes. *J Athl Train* (2003) 38:51–6.
- Broglio SP, Ferrara MS, Sopiarz K, Kelly MS. Reliable change of the sensory organization test. *Clin J Sport Med* (2008) 18:148–54. doi:10.1097/ JSM.0b013e318164f42a
- Mucha A, Collins MW, Elbin RJ, Furman JM, Troutman-Enseki C, DeWolf RM, et al. A brief vestibular/ocular motor screening (VOMS) assessment to evaluate concussions: preliminary findings. *Am J Sports Med* (2014) 42:2479–86. doi:10.1177/0363546514543775
- Samadani U, Ritlop R, Reyes M, Nehrbass E, Li M, Lamm E, et al. Eye tracking detects disconjugate eye movements associated with structural traumatic brain injury and concussion. *J Neurotrauma* (2015) 32:548–56. doi:10.1089/ neu.2014.3687
- King D, Brughelli M, Hume P, Gissane C. Concussions in amateur rugby union identified with the use of a rapid visual screening tool. *J Neurol Sci* (2013) 326:59–63. doi:10.1016/j.jns.2013.01.012
- Echemendia RJ, Iverson GL, McCrea M, Macciocchi SN, Gioia GA, Putukian M, et al. Advances in neuropsychological assessment of sport-related concussion. Br J Sports Med (2013) 47:294–8. doi:10.1136/ bjsports-2013-092186
- 32. Giza CC, Kutcher JS, Ashwal S, Barth J, Getchius TS, Gioia GA, et al. Summary of evidence-based guideline update: evaluation and management of concussion in sports: report of the Guideline Development Subcommittee of the American Academy of Neurology. *Neurology* (2013) 80:2250–7. doi:10.1212/WNL.0b013e31828d57dd
- 33. McLeod TC, Leach C. Psychometric properties of self-report concussion scales and checklists. *J Athl Train* (2012) 47:221–3.
- McCrea M, Kelly JP, Randolph C, Kluge J, Bartolic E, Finn G, et al. Standardized assessment of concussion (SAC): on-site mental status evaluation of the athlete. *J Head Trauma Rehabil* (1998) 13:27–35. doi:10.1097/00001199-199804000-00005
- Barker JM, Wright DW, Goldstein FC, Ockerman J, Ratcliff JJ, Laplaca MC. The DETECT System: portable, reduced-length neuropsychological testing for mild traumatic brain injury via a novel immersive environment. *J Med Eng Technol* (2007) 31:161–9. doi:10.1080/0309190050027281
- Iverson GL, Brooks BL, Collins MW, Lovell MR. Tracking neuropsychological recovery following concussion in sport. *Brain Inj* (2006) 20:245–52. doi:10.1080/02699050500487910
- McClincy MP, Lovell MR, Pardini J, Collins MW, Spore MK. Recovery from sports concussion in high school and collegiate athletes. *Brain Inj* (2006) 20:33–9. doi:10.1080/02699050500309817
- Kontos AP, Braithwaite R, Dakan S, Elbin RJ. Computerized neurocognitive testing within 1 week of sport-related concussion: meta-analytic review and

analysis of moderating factors. J Int Neuropsychol Soc (2014) 20:324–32. doi:10.1017/S1355617713001471

- De Marco AP, Broshek DK. Computerized cognitive testing in the management of youth sports-related concussion. J Child Neurol (2016) 31:68–75. doi:10.1177/0883073814559645
- Elbin RJ, Kontos AP, Kegel N, Johnson E, Burkhart S, Schatz P. Individual and combined effects of LD and ADHD on computerized neurocognitive concussion test performance: evidence for separate norms. *Arch Clin Neuropsychol* (2013) 28:476–84. doi:10.1093/arclin/act024
- Furman GR, Lin C-C, Bellanca JL, Marchetti GF, Collins MW, Whitney SL. Comparison of the balance accelerometer measure and balance error scoring system in adolescent concussions in sports. *Am J Sports Med* (2013) 41:1404–10. doi:10.1177/0363546513484446
- Pearce KL, Sufrinko A, Lau BC, Henry L, Collins MW, Kontos AP. Near point of convergence after a sport-related concussion: measurement reliability and relationship to neurocognitive impairment and symptoms. *Am J Sports Med* (2015) 43:3055–61. doi:10.1177/0363546515606430
- Vartiainen MV, Holm A, Peltonen K, Luoto TM, Iverson G, Hokkanen L. King-Devick test normative reference values for professional male ice hockey players. *Scand J Med Sci Sports* (2015) 25:e327–30. doi:10.1111/sms.12307
- Leong DF, Balcer LJ, Galetta SL, Evans G, Gimre M, Watt D. The King–Devick test for sideline concussion screening in collegiate football. *J Optom* (2015) 8:131–9. doi:10.1016/j.optom.2014
- 45. Galetta KM, Brandes LE, Maki K, Dziemianowicz MS, Laudano E, Allen M, et al. The King-Devick test and sports-related concussion: study of a rapid visual screening tool in a collegiate cohort. *J Neurol Sci* (2011) 309:34–9. doi:10.1016/j.jns.2011.07.039
- 46. Maruta J, Tong J, Lee SW, Iqbal Z, Schonberger A, Ghajar J. EYE-TRAC: monitoring attention and utility for mTBI. Proceedings SPIE 8371: Sensing Technologies for Global Health, Military Medicine, Disaster Response, and Environmental Monitoring II; and Biometric Technology for Human Identification IX, 83710L, Baltimore, Maryland (2012). doi:10.1117/12.927790
- Mechtler LL, Dhsdtri KK, Crutchfield KE. Advanced neuroimaging of mild traumatic brain injury. *Neurol Clin* (2014) 32:31–58. doi:10.1016/ j.ncl.2013.08.002
- Bigler ED. Neuroimaging biomarkers in mild traumatic brain injury (mTBI). Neuropsychol Rev (2013) 23:169–209. doi:10.1007/s11065-013-9237-2
- Lovell MR, Pardini JE, Welling J, Collins MW, Bakal J, Lazar N, et al. Functional brain abnormalities are related to clinical recovery and time to return-to-play in athletes. *Neurosurgery* (2007) 61:352–9. doi:10.1227/ 01.NEU.0000279985.94168.7F
- Kou Z, Wu Z, Tong KA, Holshouser B, Benson RR, Hu J, et al. The role of advanced MR imaging findings as biomarkers of traumatic brain injury. J Head Trauma Rehabil (2010) 25:267–82. doi:10.1097/HTR.0b013e3181e54793
- Bartnik-Olson BL, Holshouser B, Wang H, Grube M, Tong K, Wong V, et al. Impaired neurovascular unit function contributes to persistent symptoms after concussion: a pilot study. *J Neurotrauma* (2014) 31:1497–506. doi:10.1089/neu.2013.3213
- Delouche A, Attyé A, Heck O, Grand S, Kastler A, Lamalle L, et al. Diffusion MRI: pitfalls, literature review and future directions of research in mild traumatic brain injury. *Eur J Radiol* (2016) 85:25–30. doi:10.1016/ j.ejrad.2015.11.004
- 53. Chong CD, Schwedt TJ. White matter damage and brain network alterations in concussed patients: a review of recent diffusion tensor imaging and resting-state functional connectivity data. *Curr Pain Headache Rep* (2015) 19:485. doi:10.1007/s11916-015-0485-0
- Wintermark M, Sanelli PC, Anzai Y, Tsiouris AJ, Whitlow CT; ACR Head Injury Institute. Imaging evidence and recommendations for traumatic brain injury: conventional neuroimaging techniques. *J Am Coll Radiol* (2015) 12:e1–14. doi:10.1016/j.jacr.2014.10.014
- Dimou S, Lagopoulos J. Toward objective markers of concussion in sport: a review of white matter and neurometabolic changes in the brain after sport-related concussion. *J Neurotrauma* (2014) 31:413–24. doi:10.1089/ neu.2013.3050
- Shenton ME, Hamoda HM, Schneiderman JS, Bouix S, Pasternak O, Rathi Y, et al. A review of magnetic resonance imaging and diffusion tensor imaging findings in mild traumatic brain injury. *Brain Imaging Behav* (2012) 6:137–92. doi:10.1007/s11682-012-9156-5

- McAllister TW, Ford JC, Ji S, Beckwith JG, Flashman LA, Paulsen K, et al. Maximum principal strain and strain rate associated with concussion diagnosis correlates with changes in corpus callosum white matter indices. *Ann Biomed Eng* (2012) 40:127–40. doi:10.1007/s10439-011-0402-6
- Henry LC, Tremblay J, Tremblay S, Lee A, Brun C, Lepore N, et al. Acute and chronic changes in diffusivity measures after sports concussion. *J Neurotrauma* (2011) 28:2049–59. doi:10.1089/neu.2011.1836
- Lipton ML, Kim N, Zimmerman ME, Kim M, Stewart WF, Branch CA, et al. Soccer heading is associated with white matter microstructural and cognitive abnormalities. *Radiology* (2013) 268:850–7. doi:10.1148/radiol.13130545
- Davenport EM, Apkarian K, Whitlow CT, Urban JE, Jensen JH, Szuch E, et al. Abnormalities in diffusional kurtosis metrics related to head impact exposure in a season of high school varsity football. *J Neurotrauma* (2016). doi:10.1089/neu.2015.4267
- Huisman TA, Sorensen AG, Hergan K, Gonzalez RG, Schaefer PW. Diffusion-weighted imaging for the evaluation of diffuse axonal injury in closed head injury. *J Comput Assist Tomogr* (2003) 27:5–11. doi:10.1097/00004728-200301000-00002
- Ellis MJ, Ryner LN, Sobszyk O, Fierstra J, Mikulis DJ, Fisher JA, et al. Neuroimaging assessment of cerebrovascular reactivity in concussion: current concepts, methodological considerations, and review of the literature. *Front Neurol* (2016) 7:61. doi:10.3389/fneur.2016.00061
- Casson IR, Viano DC, Haacke EM, Kou Z, LeStrange DG. Is there chronic brain damage in retired NFL players? neuroradiology, neuropsychology, and neurology examinations of 45 retired players. *Sports Health* (2014) 6:384–95. doi:10.1177/1941738114540270
- Ellis MJ, Leiter J, Hall T, McDonald PJ, Sawyer S, Silver N, et al. Neuroimaging findings in pediatric sports-related concussion. *J Neurosurg Pediatr* (2015) 16:241–7. doi:10.3171/2015.1.PEDS14510
- Hasiloglu ZI, Albayram S, Selcuk H, Ceyhan E, Delil S, Arkan B, et al. Cerebral microhemorrhages detected by susceptibility-weighted imaging in amateur boxers. *AJNR Am J Neuroradiol* (2011) 32:99–102. doi:10.3174/ajnr. A2250
- 66. Helmer KG, Pasternak O, Fredman E, Preciado RI, Koerte IK, Sasaki T, et al. Hockey concussion education project, part 1. Susceptibility-weighted imaging study in male and female ice hockey players over a single season. *J Neurosurg* (2014) 120:864–72. doi:10.3171/2013.12.JNS132093
- Liu C, Li W, Tong KA, Yeom KW, Kuzminski S. Susceptibility-weighted imaging and quantitative susceptibility mapping in the brain. *J Magn Reson Imaging* (2015) 42:23–41. doi:10.1002/jmri.24768
- Docampo J, Gonzalez N, Bravo F, Sarroca D, Morales C, Bruno C. Susceptibility-weighted angiography of intracranial blood products and calcifications compared to gradient echo sequence. *Neuroradiol. J* (2013) 26:493–500. doi:10.1177/197140091302600501
- Patzig M, Feddersen B, Haegler K, Olzowy B, Mees K, Fischer R, et al. Susceptibility-weighted angiography visualizes hypoxia in cerebral veins. *Invest Radiol* (2015) 50:397–400. doi:10.1097/RLI.000000000000143
- Hayashida Y, Kakeda S, Hiai S, Ide S, Ogasawara A, Ooki H, et al. Diagnosis of intracranial hemorrhagic lesions: comparison between 3D-SWAN (3D T2*-weighted imaging with multi-echo acquisition) and 2D-T2*-weighted imaging. *Acta Radiol* (2014) 55:201–7. doi:10.1177/0284185113495836
- Potapov AA, Zarharova NE, Kornienko VN, Pronin IN, Alexandrova EV, Zaitsev OS, et al. Neuroanatomical foundations for traumatic coma: clinical and magnetic resonance correlates. *Zh Vopr Neirokhir Im N N Burdenko* (2014) 78:4–13.
- Zakharova N, Kornienko V, Potapov A, Pronin I. Neuroimaging of Traumatic Brain Injury. Heidelberg: Springer (2014). p. 35–68.
- Doshi H, Wiseman N, Liu J, Wang W, Welch RD, O'Neil BJ, et al. Cerebral hemodynamic changes of mild traumatic brain injury at the acute stage. *PLoS One* (2015) 10:e0118061. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0118061
- Gardner A, Iverson GL, Stanwell P. A systematic review of proton magnetic resonance spectroscopy findings in sport-related concussion. *J Neurotrauma* (2014) 31:1–18. doi:10.1089/neu.2013.3079
- Sahu P, Pinkalwar N, Dubey RD, Rapoha S, Chatterjee S, Chatterjee T. Biomarkers: an emerging tool for diagnosis of a disease and drug development. *Asian J Res Pharm Sci* (2011) 1:9–16.
- Henry NL, Hayes DF. Cancer biomarkers. *Mol Oncol* (2012) 6:140–6. doi:10.1016/j.molonc.2012.01.010

- 77. Ashby MC, Daw MI, Issac JTR. AMPA Receptors. In: Gereau RW IV, Swanson GT, editors. *The Glutamate Receptors*. Totowa: Humana Press (2008). p. 1–44.
- Siman R, Shahim P, Tegner Y, Blennow K, Zetterberg H, Smith DH. Serum SNTF increases in concussed professional ice hockey players and relates to the severity of postconcussion symptoms. *J Neurotrauma* (2015) 32:1294–300. doi:10.1089/neu.2014.3698
- 79. Papa L, Brophy GM, Welch RD, Lewis LM, Braga CF, Tan CN, et al. Time course and diagnostic accuracy of glial and neuronal blood biomarkers GFAP and UCH-L1 in a large cohort of trauma patients with and without mild traumatic brain injury. *JAMA Neurol* (2016) 73:551–60. doi:10.1001/ jamaneurol.2016.0039
- Wang KK, Yang Z, Yue JK, Zhang Z, Winkler EA, Puccio AM, et al. Plasma anti-glial fibrillary acidic protein autoantibody levels during the acute and chronic phases of traumatic brain injury: a transforming research and clinical knowledge in traumatic brain injury pilot study. *J Neurotrauma* (2016) 33:1270–7. doi:10.1089/neu.2015.3881
- Dambinova SA. Neurodegradomics: the source of biomarkers for mild TBI. In: Dambinova SA, Hayes RL, Wang KKW, editors. *Biomarkers for TBI*. London, UK: RSC Publishing, RSC Drug Discovery Series (2012). p. 66–86.
- Kiechle K, Bazarian JJ, Merchant-Borna K, Stoecklein V, Rozen E, Blyth B, et al. Subject-specific increases in serum S-100B distinguish sports-related concussion from sports-related exertion. *PLoS One* (2014) 9:e84977. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0084977
- Shahim P, Tegner Y, Wilson DH, Randall J, Skillbäck T, Pazooki D, et al. Blood biomarkers for brain injury in concussed professional ice hockey players. *JAMA Neurol* (2014) 71:684–92. doi:10.1001/jamaneurol.2014.367
- 84. Posti JP, Takala RS, Runtti H, Newcombe VF, Outtrim J, Katila AJ, et al. The levels of glial fibrillary acidic protein and ubiquitin C-terminal hydrolase-L1 during the first week after a traumatic brain injury: correlations with clinical and imaging findings. *Neurosurgery* (2016) 79:456–64. doi:10.1227/ NEU.000000000001226
- Takala RS, Posti JP, Runtti H, Newcombe VF, Outtrim J, Katila AJ, et al. Glial fibrillary acidic protein and ubiquitin C-terminal hydrolase-L1 as outcome predictors in traumatic brain injury. *World Neurosurg* (2016) 87:8–20. doi:10.1016/j.wneu.2015.10.066
- Dambinova SA, Shikuev AV, Weissman JD, Mullins JD. AMPAR peptide values in blood of nonathletes and club sport athletes with concussions. *Mil Med* (2013) 3:285–90. doi:10.7205/MILMED-D-12-00368
- Hammond JC, McCullumsmith RE, Funk AJ, Haroutunian V, Meador-Woodruff JH. Evidence for abnormal forward trafficking of AMPA receptors in frontal cortex of elderly patients with schizophrenia. *Neuropsychopharmacology* (2010) 35:2110–9. doi:10.1038/npp.2010.87
- Lai M, Hughes EG, Peng X, Zhou L, Gleichman AJ, Shu H, et al. AMPA receptor antibodies in limbic encephalitis alter synaptic receptor location. *Ann Neurol* (2009) 65:424–34. doi:10.1002/ana.21589
- Shrey DW, Griesbach GS, Giza CC. The pathophysiology of concussions in youth. *Phys Med Rehabil Clin N Am* (2011) 22:577–602. doi:10.1016/ j.pmr.2011.08.002
- Sharp CD, Fowler M, Jackson TH, Houghton J, Warren A, Nanda A, et al. Human neuroepithelial cells express NMDA receptors. *BMC Neurosci* (2003) 4:28. doi:10.1186/1471-2202-4-28
- Danilenko UD, Khunteev GA, Bagumyan A, Izykenova GA. Neurotoxicity biomarkers in experimental acute and chronic brain injury. In: Dambinova SA, Hayes RL, Wang KKW, editors. *Biomarkers for TBI*. London, UK: RSC Publishing, RSC Drug Discovery Series (2012). p. 87–98.
- Jin XT, Smith Y. Localization and functions of kainate receptors in the basal ganglia. In: Rodriguez-Moreno A, Sihra TS, editors. *Kainate Receptors*. New York: Springer (2011). p. 27–37.
- Alexandrova EV, Zaitsev OS, Potapov AA. Neurotransmitter basis of consciousness and unconsciousness states. *Zh Vopr Neirokhir Im NN Burdenko* (2014) 78:26–32.
- Blyth BJ, Farhavar A, Gee C, Hawthorn B, He H, Nayak A, et al. Validation of serum markers for blood-brain barrier disruption in traumatic brain injury. *J Neurotrauma* (2009) 26:1497–507. doi:10.1089/neu.2008-0738
- Engelhardt B, Ransohoff RM. The ins and outs of T-lymphocyte trafficking to the CNS: anatomical sites and molecular mechanisms. *Trends Immunol* (2005) 26:485–95. doi:10.1016/j.it.2005.07.004

- Vincent A, Bien CG, Irani SR, Waters P. Autoantibodies associated with diseases of the CNS: new developments and future challenges. *Lancet Neurol* (2011) 10:759–72. doi:10.1016/S1474-4422(11)70096-5
- 97. Raad M, Nohra E, Chams N, Itani M, Talih F, Mondello S, et al. Autoantibodies in traumatic brain injury and central nervous system trauma. *Neuroscience* (2014) 281:16–23. doi:10.1016/j.neuroscience.2014.08.045
- Blaylock RL, Maroon JC. Imminoexcitotoxicity as a central mechanism in chronic traumatic encephalopathy – A unifying hypothesis. In: Dambinova SA, Hayes RL, Wang KKW, editors. *Biomarkers for TBI*. London, UK: RSC Publishing, RSC Drug Discovery Series (2012). p. 45–65.
- Weissman JD, Khunteev GA, Heath R, Dambinova SA. NR2 antibodies: risk assessment of transient ischemic attack (TIA)/stroke in patients with history of isolated and multiple cerebrovascular events. *J Neurol Sci* (2011) 300:97–102. doi:10.1016/j.jns.2010.09.023
- 100. Nasser M, Bejjani F, Raad M, El Hassan HA, Mantash S, Nokkari A, et al. Traumatic brain injury and blood brain barrier cross talk. CNS Neurol Disord Drug Targets (2016) 15:1. doi:10.2174/1871527315666160815093525
- Dambinova SA. Biomarkers for transient ischemic attack (TIA) and ischemic stroke. *Clin Lab Int* (2008) 32:7–11.
- 102. Dambinova SA, Izykenova GA, Burov SV, Grigorenko EV, Gromov SA. The presence of autoantibodies to N-terminus domain of GluR1 subunit of AMPA receptor in the blood serum of patients with epilepsy. *J Neurol Sci* (1997) 152:93–7. doi:10.1016/S0022-510X(97)00150-0
- 103. Dambinova SA, Granstrem OK, Tourov A, Salluzzo R, Castello F, Izykenova GA. Monitoring of brain spiking activity and autoantibodies to N-terminus domain of GluR1 subunit of AMPA receptors in blood serum of rats with cobalt-induced epilepsy. *J Neurochem* (1998) 71:2088–93. doi:10.1046/j.1471-4159.1998.71052088.x
- 104. Goryunova AV, Bazarnaya NA, Sorokina EG, Semenova NY, Globa OV, Semenova ZhB, et al. Glutamate receptor antibody concentrations in children with chronic post-traumatic headache. *Neurosci Behav Physiol* (2007) 37:761–4. doi:10.1007/s11055-007-0079-3
- Mullins JD, Shikuev AV, Danilenko UI, Dambinova SA. AMPAR Peptide values in sport-related concussions. In: 2012 Military Health System Research Symposium; 2012 Aug 13-16. Ft. Lauderdale: USAMRMC (2012). p. 134.
- 106. Mullins JD. Biomarkers of TBI: implications for diagnosis and management of contusions. AMSUS 118th Annual Continuing Education Meeting; 2013 Nov 3-8. Seattle, WA (2013). 147 p. Available from: http://amsusce.org/ wp-content/uploads/2015/05/Abstract-Summaries-10.22.13.2.pdf
- 107. Sorokina EG, Semenova ZhB, Bazarnaya NA, Meshcheryakov SV, Reutov VP, Goryunova AV, et al. Autoantibodies to glutamate receptors and products of nitric oxide metabolism in serum in children in the acute phase of craniocerebral trauma. *Neurosci Behav Physiol* (2009) 39:329–34. doi:10.1007/ s11055-009-9147-1
- Dambinova SA, Gill S, St. Onge L, Sowell RL. Biomarkers for subtle brain dysfunction. In: Dambinova SA, Hayes RL, Wang KKW, editors. *Biomarkers for TBI*. London, UK: RSC Publishing, RSC Drug Discovery Series (2012). p. 134–47.
- Nag S, Kapadia A, Stewart DJ. Review: molecular pathogenesis of bloodbrain barrier breakdown in acute brain injury. *Neuropathol Appl Neurobiol* (2011) 37:3–23. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2990.2010.01138.x
- 110. Siman R, Giovannone N, Hanten G, Wilde EA, McCauley SR, Hunter JV, et al. Evidence that the blood biomarker SNTF predicts brain imaging changes and persistent cognitive dysfunction in mild TBI patients. *Front Neurol* (2013) 4:190. doi:10.3389/fneur.2013.00190
- 111. Berger RP, Hayes RL, Richichi R, Beers SR, Wang KK. Serum concentrations of ubiquitin C-terminal hydrolase-L1 and αII-spectrin breakdown product 145 kDa correlate with outcome after pediatric TBI. J Neurotrauma (2012) 29:162–7. doi:10.1089/neu.2011
- 112. Koh SX, Lee JK. S100B as a marker for brain damage and blood-brain barrier disruption following exercise. Sports Med (2014) 44:369–85. doi:10.1007/ s40279-013-0119-9
- 113. Papa L, Lewis LM, Falk JL, Zhang Z, Silvestri S, Giordano P, et al. Elevated levels of serum glial fibrillary acidic protein breakdown products in mild and moderate traumatic brain injury are associated with intracranial lesions and neurosurgical intervention. *Ann Emerg Med* (2012) 59:471–83. doi:10.1016/j. annemergmed.2011.08.021
- 114. Jaber Z, Aouad P, Al Medawar M, Bahmad H, Abou-Abbass H, Ghandour H, et al. Role of systems biology in brain injury biomarker discovery:

neuroproteomics application. In: Kobeissy F, Dixon CE, Hayes RL, Mondello S, editors. *Injury Models of the Central Nervous System* (Vol. 1462). New York: Humana Press, Methods Mol Biol Series (2016). p. 157–74.

- Sedaghat F, Notopoulos A. S100 protein family and its application in clinical practice. *Hippokratia* (2008) 12:198–204.
- 116. Steiner J, Bernstein H-G, Bielau H, Berndt A, Brisch R, Mawrin C, et al. Evidence for a wide extra-astrocytic distribution of S100B in human brain. BMC Neurosci (2007) 8:2. doi:10.1186/1471-2202-8-2
- 117. Puvenna V, Brennan C, Shaw G, Yang C, Marchi N, Bazarian JJ, et al. Significance of ubiquitin carboxy-terminal hydrolase L1 elevations in athletes after sub-concussive head hits. *PLoS One* (2014) 9:e96296. doi:10.1371/ journal.pone.0096296
- 118. Zongo D, Ribereau-Gayon R, Masson F, Laborey M, Contrand B, Salmi LR, et al. S100-B protein as a screening tool for the early assessment of minor head injury. *Ann Emerg Med* (2012) 59:209–18. doi:10.1016/ j.annemergmed.2011.07.027
- Dorminy M, Hoogeveen A, Tierney RT, Higgins M, McDevitt JK, Kretzschmar J. Effect of soccer heading ball speed on S100B, sideline concussion assessments and head impact kinematics. *Brain Inj* (2015) 29:1158–64. doi:10.3109/02699052.2015.1035324
- Hansen-Schwartz J, Bouchelouche PN. Use of biomarker S100B for traumatic brain damage in the emergency department may change observation strategy. *Dan Med J* (2014) 61:A4894.
- 121. Laribi S, Kansao J, Borderie D, Collet C, Deschamps P, Ababsa R, et al. S100B blood level measurement to exclude cerebral lesions after minor head injury: the multicenter STIC-S100 French study. *Clin Chem Lab Med* (2014) 52:527–36. doi:10.1515/cclm-2013-0621
- 122. Bazarian JJ, Blyth BJ, He H, Mookerjee S, Jones C, Kiechle K, et al. Classification accuracy of serum Apo A-I and S100B for the diagnosis of mild traumatic brain injury and prediction of abnormal initial head computed tomography scan. *J Neurotrauma* (2013) 30:1747–54. doi:10.1089/neu.2013.2853
- 123. Bazarian JJ, Zhu T, Zhong J, Janigro D, Rozen E, Roberts A, et al. Persistent, long-term cerebral white matter changes after sports-related repetitive head impacts. *PLoS One* (2014) 9:e94734. doi:10.1371/journal.pone. 0094734
- 124. Metting Z, Wilczak N, Rodiger LA, Schaaf JM, van der Naalt J. GFAP and S100B in the acute phase of mild traumatic brain injury. *Neurology* (2012) 78:1428–33. doi:10.1212/WNL.0b013e318253d5c7
- 125. McMahon PJ, Panczykowski DM, Yue JK, Puccio AM, Inoue T, Sorani MD, et al. Measurement of the glial fibrillary acidic protein and its breakdown products GFAP-BDP biomarker for the detection of traumatic brain injury compared to computed tomography and magnetic resonance imaging. *J Neurotrauma* (2015) 32:527–33. doi:10.1089/neu.2014.3635

- 126. Papa L, Silvestri S, Brophy GM, Giordano P, Falk JL, Braga CF, et al. GFAP out-performs S100β in detecting traumatic intracranial lesions on computed tomography in trauma patients with mild traumatic brain injury and those with extracranial lesions. *J Neurotrauma* (2014) 31:1815–22. doi:10.1089/ neu.2013.3245
- 127. Mondello S, Linnet A, Buki A, Robicsek S, Gabrielli A, Tepas J, et al. Clinical utility of serum levels of ubiquitin C-terminal hydrolase as a biomarker for severe traumatic brain injury. *Neurosurgery* (2012) 70:666–75. doi:10.1227/ NEU.0b013e318236a809
- 128. Mondello S, Kobeissy F, Vestri A, Hayes RL, Kochanek PM, Berger RP. Serum concentrations of ubiquitin C-terminal hydrolase-L1 and glial fibrillary acidic protein after pediatric traumatic brain injury. *Sci Rep* (2016) 6:28203. doi:10.1038/srep28203
- 129. Mondello S, Palmio J, Streeter J, Hayes RL, Peltola J, Jeromin A. Ubiquitin carboxy-terminal hydrolase L1 (UCH-L1) is increased in cerebrospinal fluid and plasma of patients after epileptic seizure. *BMC Neurol* (2012) 12:85. doi:10.1186/1471-2377-12-85
- McKee AC, Stein TD, Kiernan PT, Alvarez VE. The neuropathology of chronic traumatic encephalopathy. *Brain Pathol* (2015) 25:350–64. doi:10.1111/ bpa.12248
- Solomon GS, Zuckerman SL. Chronic traumatic encephalopathy in professional sports: retrospective and prospective views. *Brain Inj* (2015) 29:164–70. doi:10.3109/02699052.2014.965205
- 132. Omalu B, Hammers JL, Bailes J, Hamilton RL, Kamboh MI, Webster G, et al. Chronic traumatic encephalopathy in an Iraqi war veteran with posttraumatic stress disorder who committed suicide. *Neurosurg Focus* (2011) 31:E3. doi:10.3171/2011.9.FOCUS11178
- 133. Gandy S, Ikonomovic MD, Mitsis E, Elder G, Ahlers ST, Barth J, et al. Chronic traumatic encephalopathy: clinical-biomarker correlations and current concepts in pathogenesis. *Mol Neurodegener* (2014) 9:37. doi:10.1186/1750-1326-9-37

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2016 Dambinova, Maroon, Sufrinko, Mullins, Alexandrova and Potapov. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Restoration of Upper Limb Function in an Individual with Cervical Spondylotic Myelopathy using Functional Electrical Stimulation Therapy: A Case Study

Milos R. Popovic^{1,2*}, Vera Zivanovic² and Taufik A. Valiante^{1,3}

¹ Institute of Biomaterials and Biomedical Engineering, University of Toronto, Toronto, ON, Canada, ² Rehabilitation Engineering Laboratory, Lyndhurst Centre, Toronto Rehabilitation Institute – University Health Network, Toronto, ON, Canada, ³ Krembil Research Institute – University Health Network, Toronto, ON, Canada

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Renato Anghinah, University of São Paulo, Brazil

Reviewed by:

Antonino F. Germano', University of Messina, Italy Jihane Soueid, American University of Beirut, Lebanon

*Correspondence: Milos R. Popovic milos.popovic@utoronto.ca

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Neurotrauma, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neurology

Received: 16 March 2016 **Accepted:** 05 May 2016 **Published:** 10 June 2016

Citation:

Popovic MR, Zivanovic V and Valiante TA (2016) Restoration of Upper Limb Function in an Individual with Cervical Spondylotic Myelopathy using Functional Electrical Stimulation Therapy: A Case Study. Front. Neurol. 7:81. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2016.00081 Non-traumatic spinal cord pathology is responsible for 25–52% of all spinal cord lesions. Studies have revealed that spinal stenosis accounts for 16-21% of spinal cord injury (SCI) admissions. Impaired grips as well as slow unskilled hand and finger movements are the most common complaints in patients with spinal cord disorders, such as myelopathy secondary to cervical spondylosis. In the past, our team carried out couple of successful clinical trials, including two randomized control trials, showing that functional electrical stimulation therapy (FEST) can restore voluntary reaching and/or grasping function, in people with stroke and traumatic SCI. Motivated by this success, we decided to examine changes in the upper limb function following FEST in a patient who suffered loss of hand function due to myelopathy secondary to cervical spondylosis. The participant was a 61-year-old male who had C3-C7 posterior laminectomy and instrumented fusion for cervical myelopathy. The participant presented with progressive right hand weakness that resulted in his inability to voluntarily open and close the hand and to manipulate objects unilaterally with his right hand. The participant was enrolled in the study ~22 months following initial surgical intervention. Participant was assessed using Toronto Rehabilitation Institute's Hand Function Test (TRI-HFT), Action Research Arm Test (ARAT), Functional Independence Measure (FIM), and Spinal Cord Independence Measure (SCIM). The pre-post differences in scores on all measures clearly demonstrated improvement in voluntary hand function following 15 1-h FEST sessions. The changes observed were meaningful and have resulted in substantial improvement in performance of activities of daily living. These results provide preliminary evidence that FEST has a potential to improve upper limb function in patients with non-traumatic SCI, such as myelopathy secondary to cervical spondylosis.

Keywords: functional electrical stimulation, upper extremity rehabilitation, grasping, spinal cord disorders, myelopathy

INTRODUCTION

Although cervical spondylotic myelopathy (CSM) is categorized as a degenerative disorder most frequently seen in older individuals, this type of spinal cord dysfunction is influenced by genetic, environmental, and occupational factors as well. Hence, CSM affects a spectrum of patients across different age groups (1, 2), is the most common cause of spinal cord dysfunction in modern society worldwide (3), and is a major source of disability (4) that negatively affects quality of life (5, 6). Adults older than 55 years of age, who have cervical spondylosis are more predisposed to CSM as the aging process results in spondylotic changes, and these, in turn, result in direct compressive and/or ischemic dysfunction of the spinal cord (5, 6). The most characteristic CSM syndrome consists of varying combinations of the following triad: (a) painful stiff neck, (b) brachialgia and numb hands, and (c) spastic leg weakness with unsteadiness of gait (7). Upper extremity dysfunction is, in essence, one of the classic sign of CSM. This may have a variable presentation in the form of numbness or paresthesia, clumsiness, or weakness of the hand, hand and/or forearm muscle weakness, and atrophy, and occasionally there may be severe atrophy of the hand muscles. As a result, the individuals with CSM syndrome typically experience difficulty performing motor tasks, such as buttoning buttons, using keys, using a computer keyboard, pushing buttons on a cellular phone, or text messaging. These are considered as common early signs of CSM (8).

In a prospective study of CSM (8), it was observed that the earliest change indicative of CSM was the inability to adduct the little finger. This condition further progressed to affect the ring and middle fingers. As the disease became more severe, this loss of adduction in the fingers innervated by the ulnar nerve was followed by the inability to extend them (8). There are many underlying causes for this condition. In most cases, CSM is a progressive condition (9). Development of moderate to severe signs and symptoms of CSM usually indicate poor prognosis. In those cases in which the clinical status and imaging findings corroborate CSM diagnosis, surgical intervention may play a key role in managing CSM (9). Given the progressive nature of CSM, many clinicians advocate surgical treatment of patients with this condition.

In this article, we are presenting a case study in which functional electrical stimulation therapy (FEST) (explained in detail in the following section) was applied to an individual who had a CSM-related surgical treatment 22 months prior to taking part in the study. At the time, the participant enrolled in the study, he presented with progressive right hand weakness that resulted in his inability to voluntary open and close the hand and manipulate objects with his right hand. In what follows, we will present results that suggest that the FEST may be an effective intervention to manage CSM.

BACKGROUND

Functional Electrical Stimulation

Functional electrical stimulation (FES) is a method that is able to produce functional movements in paralyzed muscles after an injury or damage to the central nervous system, including, but not limited to, stroke, spinal cord injury (SCI), and traumatic brain injury (10–19). By delivering low energy electrical pulses to nerves that are innervating muscles of interest (targeted muscles), the FES is able to induce controlled movements in the limbs and body (16, 18, 19). Careful application of highly controlled stimulation sequences is able to generate synergistic muscle activations that can produce complex movements, such as reaching, grasping, and walking.

Functional Electrical Stimulation Therapy

Originally, FES was envisioned to be used as an orthotic device (also known as neuroprosthesis), intended to be worn permanently with users activating it whenever he/she required to reach or grasp an object, or to walk. Our team and others have been developing an alternative method for using FES technology. In this embodiment, FES technology is used to deliver a short-term therapeutic intervention, where the patient is expected to undergo a finite number of FEST sessions. Upon completion of the FEST program, the patient will have recovered partial or complete voluntary motor function in the targeted extremity, i.e., upper or lower extremity (20-30). The FEST program is designed to "retrain" the injured neuromuscular system, through repetitive performance of task-specific exercises. The FES during these training sessions is used to provide assistance with the components of the task that the individual is unable to perform independently. The assistance provided by the FES system to accomplish each task during the training session is determined based on day-to-day performance. At the completion of the 40-60 1-h-long FEST sessions, the individual is usually able to perform the tasks unassisted or with minimal assistance (i.e., without the help of FES device).

We have successfully used our FEST program to assist (i) adults with incomplete and complete SCI, and (ii) adults and children with severe upper limb deficit following stroke, to recover sustained reaching and/or grasping motor functions (22, 24, 25, 27-30). In our upper limb FEST program, the participant must attempt to initiate or execute the specific motor task unassisted, such as pinch grasp. Once a brief (10- to 20-s long) attempt to perform the specific task has been made, the therapist delivers FESinduced electrical pulses to the muscles to assist the individual to complete the task. Multitudes of different reaching and grasping tasks are trained. Each task is slightly different, and each task is trained on average between 5 and 7 min. During the early stages of FEST, performance of the entire task may be supported by FES, if required. As the therapy progresses, FES assistance is slowly reduced and eventually phased out. We believe that the combination of (i) active participation of the patient during therapy, (ii) the way in which FES system generates the movement, (iii) the fidelity of the movement performed using FES, (iv) the accuracy with which FES system mimics the natural limb movements, and (v) repetitive FES-induced movements are critical ingredients of this therapy. Previous experiments in SCI and stroke populations, conducted by our team (2, 22-24, 26-28, 30-32) and others (18, 33-35), indicate that improvements in grasping function, as a result of FEST, are meaningful and clinically relevant.

Currently, the mechanisms responsible for recovery of function using FEST are unknown. However, few physical and neurological mechanisms that may explain the effects of this therapeutic intervention have been already identified. The "peripheral" mechanisms are (i) muscle strengthening, (ii) increased flexibility and range of motion in the affected limb, and (iii) reduced muscle spasticity. The "neurological" mechanisms are (i) cortical reorganization, (ii) neuroplastic changes in the central nervous system, (iii) strengthening of the synaptic connection *via* Hebb's rule, and (iv) functional reorganization and retraining of unaffected, but functionally related, areas of the central nervous system, allowing them to take control over the damaged parts of the central nervous system. Presently, the FEST experts are inclined to explain the improvements using the above listed and few additional neurological mechanisms (36).

Motivation for This Study

In conclusion, there is strong evidence to support the use of FEST as an effective tool for retraining of reaching and grasping functions in neurological populations, such as stroke or SCI. Since CSM is a degenerative disorder of the cervical spine, which can be grouped among non-traumatic SCIs, it is very likely that the FEST for reaching and grasping will help this patient population improve voluntary reaching and grasping. Furthermore, it has been shown that strengthening muscles with the help of FES may as well bring about considerable improvements in walking and standing functions in the individuals with CSM (37). Therefore, this study was conducted to test if similar outcomes can be achieved in individuals with CSM following FEST. To the best of our knowledge, this is the first reported case of a chronic CSM patient treated with FEST for grasping.

DISCUSSION

Diagnosis

The study participant was a 61-year-old male who underwent C3-C7 posterior laminectomy and instrumented fusion in November 2012, for cervical myelopathy. Cervical spine X-ray showed degenerative changes more prominent at C4-C7 levels. Following surgery, the participant experienced progressive weakness in the right hand. In November 2013, he underwent a redo cervical decompression and extension of fusion down to T2 level. Cervical spine MRI revealed moderate foraminal stenosis at C5-T1, and it was recommended that he undergoes re-exploration of his previous fusion and extension down to T2, bilateral foraminotomies, at C5-C6, C6-C7, and C7-T1. Postoperatively, the study participant developed right upper extremity numbness and progression of hand weakness. A cervical spine MRI was obtained demonstrating no acute findings or evidence of epidural hematoma and otherwise expected postoperative findings. The numbness and progression of hand weakness were thought to be related to intraoperative nerve root manipulation, which are typically transient in nature. At 22 months post initial surgery, the study participant continued to have right upper extremity numbness and weakness of the hand, as well as wasting of the intrinsic muscles of the right hand. The participant was unable to extend the lateral three fingers, namely, the middle, ring, and little fingers, despite relatively well-preserved function of the wrist. He was also unable to perform rapid extension of the fingers.

Typically, following the surgery for CSM, one can expect significant functional recovery, which should plateau at 6 months following the intervention (5, 6). Since the patient did not experience any significant improvement in hand function at 22-month mark, and since his hand function continued to deteriorate, he was invited to participate in this FEST case study.

Treatment

The patient was screened to confirm that he did not have any contraindications (i.e., pacemaker, spinal stimulation, rash or open wound at any potential electrode site) to FEST. Prior to participating in the study, FEST was explained to the patient, including the risks and benefits of this treatment. After he received all pertinent information, the patient signed an informed consent form that was approved by the Research Ethics Board of the Toronto Rehabilitation Institute – University Health Network.

Our team has developed a hardware platform that can be used to deliver the FEST for improving upper limb function. This system is called Compex Motion (38), and it has four current regulated stimulation channels. The system can be used to deliver customized and diverse reaching and grasping FES protocols. In this particular case, the participant received FES protocols that enabled him to perform hand opening, palmar grasp, and lateral pinch grasp. The stimulation was delivered using standard selfadhesive surface stimulation electrodes, which were placed on the subject's skin above the following muscles:

- flexor digitorum superficialis muscle and the flexor digitorum profundus muscle (finger flexion);
- flexor pollicis brevis (thumb flexion);
- extensor digitorum muscle (finger extension);
- lumbrical muscles (finger extension).

Stimulation parameters used to stimulate the above muscles were

- balanced, biphasic, current regulated electrical pulses;
- pulse amplitude from 6 to 30 mA (muscle dependent);
- pulse duration from 0 to 250 µs;
- pulse frequency 40 Hz.

The stimulation sequences (protocols) for this patient were tailored to his clinical presentation and his goals of therapy. The protocols allowed the participant to grasp and manipulate objects with the help of FES delivered by the Compex Motion system. The command for activating the stimulation sequence was initiated by a pushbutton that was triggered by the therapist who administered the therapy. Typical activation process was as follows. The participant was instructed on a particular grasping or hand opening task that he was supposed to perform. Then, the therapist instructed the participant to try to perform that task. The participant was given 10-20 s to try to execute the task on his own. Only after the participant completed as much of the task as he could by himself, the FES was triggered by the therapist to assist the participant in completing the entire task/movement. The participant received FEST three times per week for 5 weeks, i.e., 15 treatments sessions in total.

The subject was trained to perform (i) hand opening using finger extensors only, (ii) hand opening using a combination of

lumbrical muscles and finger extensors, (iii) palmar grasp, and (iv) lateral pinch grasp. Throughout FEST sessions, the participant was taught how to approach, reach, grasp, and manipulate various objects without a fear that he will drop them during the object manipulation process. The FES-assisted grasping ensured that all objects were grasped robustly and could be manipulated with ease. With time, this training allowed the participant to become more confident in reaching, grasping, and manipulating objects. As a result, with time, the participant started to perform the same reaching, grasping, and object manipulation tasks, without using FES.

Outcome Measures

At baseline and following completion of 15 FEST sessions, the participant was assessed using the following standardized assessments. The assessments were performed by a researcher who was not involved in the therapy delivery process.

Toronto Rehabilitation Institute's Hand Function Test

Toronto Rehabilitation Institute's Hand Function Test (TRI-HFT) (39) was used to assess unilateral gross motor function of the hand. The TRI-HFT consists of two sub-tests. The first one evaluates object manipulation skills using palmar grasp and lateral or pulp pinch grasp, and the second one evaluates the strength of both palmar and lateral pinch grasps. Note: TRI-HFT has been found to be very responsive to FEST.

Action Research Arm Test

Action Research Arm Test (ARAT) (40, 41) is a test developed to assess the upper limb function in stroke patients, and it consists of four sub-tests: grasp, grip, pinch, and gross movement.

Functional Independence Measure

Functional Independence Measure (FIM) (42) is an assessment specially developed to measure the degree of independence. The FIM is commonly used by both rehabilitation institutions and insurance companies to monitor patients' improvements during rehabilitation.

Spinal Cord Independence Measure

Spinal Cord Independence Measure (SCIM) (43) is a disability scale that has been specifically developed to evaluate the functional outcomes of patients with traumatic and non-traumatic SCI.

RESULTS

The participant completed 15 therapy sessions, as well as baseline and discharge assessments. Following 5 weeks of FEST, the participant was able to pick up small objects, which he was unable to do prior to FEST (see **Figure 1**). **Table 1** summarizes all the clinical assessment scores at baseline and at discharge (i.e., after completion of therapy).



FIGURE 1 | TRI Hand Function Test – object manipulation. (A–C) Object manipulation before FES therapy, i.e., patient unable to grasp and manipulate objects, and (D–F) Object manipulation after FES therapy, i.e., patient able to grasp and manipulate objects.

TABLE 1 | Participant's scores on all outcome measures at baseline and at discharge.

Outcome measures	Scores			
	Baseline	Discharge	Change	
ARAT				
 ARAT – total score (MCID = 5.7) 	37	44	7 ^a	
ARAT – grasp	13	17	4	
• ARAT – grip	10	10	0	
ARAT – pinch	5	8	3	
 ARAT – gross movement 	9	9	0	
TRI-HFT				
 TRI-HFT – object manipulation (MCID not available) 	54	65	11 ^a	
 TRI-HFT – wooden blocks (MCID not available) 	48	62	14 ^a	
• TRI-HFT – instrumented cylinder (Nm)	0.2	0.5	0.3	
 TRI-HFT – credit card (N) 	0	5	5	
• TRI-HFT – wooden bar thumb direction	3	10	7	
TRI-HFT – wooden bar little finger direction	30	30	0	
FIM				
 FIM – total score (MCID = 22) 	109	119	10	
 FIM – self-care sub-score (MCID not available) 	25	35	10	
SCIM				
• SCIM - total score (MCID not available)	92	95	3	
 SCIM – self-care sub-score (MCID not available) 	12	15	3	

ARAT, Action Research Arm Test; TRI-HFT, Toronto Rehabilitation Institute's Hand Function Test; FIM, Functional Independence Measure; SCIM, Spinal Cord Independence Measure; MCID, minimum clinically important difference. ^aChange scores represent clinically meaningful change.

This case study examined the efficacy of FEST as a clinical intervention for treating severe upper extremity impairment due to myelopathy secondary to cervical spondylosis. We found that the participant experienced considerable and clinically meaning-ful improvements in hand function as measured by TRI-HFT and ARAT. The pre/post differences in scores on all measures clearly demonstrated improvement in voluntary hand function following FEST. It is noteworthy that, in subacute stroke and traumatic SCI individuals, at least 20 and preferably 40 1-h FEST sessions are required to achieve clinically meaningful change. The fact that we were able to elicit clinically meaningful change in a chronic patient with CSM after only 15 1-h sessions suggests that the FEST for upper limb may be a viable therapeutic intervention for this patient population. These results provide preliminary evidence that rehabilitation treatment consisting of repetitive FEST

REFERENCES

- Henderson FC, Geddes JF, Vaccaro AR, Woodard E, Berry KJ, Benzel EC. Stretch-associated injury in cervical spondylotic myelopathy: new concept and review. *Neurosurgery* (2005) 56(5):1101–13. doi:10.1227/01. NEU.0000157929.85251.7C
- Law MD, Bernhardt M, White AA 3rd. Cervical spondylotic myelopathy: a review of surgical indications and decision making. *Yale J Biol Med* (1993) 66:165–77.
- 3. Wu JC, Ko CC, Yen YS, Huang WC, Chen YC, Liu L, et al. Epidemiology of cervical spondylotic myelopathy and its risk of causing spinal

designed to improve arm and hand function has the potential to restore voluntary grasping function in patients with CSM. The results also suggest that FEST leads to subsequent improvements in the quality and complexity of tasks that the participant was able to execute before and after study completion. These improvements in hand function subsequently lead to improvements in activities of daily living and increased level of independence. Following therapy completion, the participant subjectively reported (i) that he has observed improvements in his arm and hand function, and that he felt that he gained additional independence in activities of daily living; (ii) that the FEST allowed him to "awake his hand" when his fingers felt "dead" and "glued together"; (iii) that he experienced "more normal" movements in his hand and greater articulation in his fingers especially with respect to fine motor skills; and (iv) that he is now functioning at a "higher level."

CONCLUDING REMARKS

The results of our study are very encouraging; however, the study has certain limitations. This is a single case study with no control group, which makes it difficult to comment on comparative improvement that could have been achieved if the participant was administered a same dose of conventional occupational therapy alone. However, we have to acknowledge that the participant decided to participate in this study because he had already reached a plateau in recovery following many sessions of conventional occupational therapy. Based on the results of this case study, we believe that a study with a larger number of CSM patients is warranted, where the effects of FEST for reaching and grasping can be compared against current best practices for treating this patient population.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

The work presented here was carried out in collaboration between all authors: MP, VZ, and TV. MP contributed to the design of the study, interpreted the results, and wrote the paper. VZ co-worked on associated data collection, interpreted the results, and wrote the paper. TV co-worked on data interpretation and revising paper for important intellectual content. All authors have seen and approved the manuscript.

FUNDING

This study was funded by Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council of Canada (NSERC – Grant #249669) and Toronto Rehabilitation Institute – University Health Network.

cord injury: a national cohort study. Neurosurg Focus (2013) 35:E10. doi:10.3171/2013.4.FOCUS13122

- Chang V, Lu D, Hoffman H, Buchanan C, Langston TH. Clinical results of cervical laminectomy and fusion for the treatment of cervical spondylotic myelopathy in 58 consecutive patients. *Surg Neurol Int* (2014) 5(Suppl 3):S133–7. doi:10.4103/2152-7806.130670
- Furlan JC, Kalsi-Ryan S, Kailaya-Vasan A, Massicotte E, Fehlings M. Functional and clinical outcomes following surgical treatment in patients with cervical spondylotic myelopathy: a prospective study of 81 cases. *J Neurosurg Spine* (2011) 14:348–55. doi:10.3171/2010.10. SPINE091029

- Prabhu KL, Babu KS, Samuel S, Chacko AG. Rapid opening and closing of the hand as a measure of early neurologic recovery in the upper extremity after surgery for cervical spondylotic myelopathy. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil* (2005) 86(1):105–8. doi:10.1016/j.apmr.2004.01.037
- 7. Victor M, Ropper AH. Adams and Victor's Principles of Neurology. 7th ed. New York, NY: McGraw-Hill (2001).
- Ono K, Ebara S, Fuji T, Yonenobu K, Fujiwara K, Yamashita K. Myelopathy hand: new clinical signs of cervical cord damage. *J Bone Joint Surgery Br* (1987) 69:215–9.
- Harrop JS, Naroji S, Maltenfort M, Anderson DG, Albert T, Ratliff JK, et al. Cervical myelopathy: a clinical and radiographic evaluation and correlation to cervical spondylotic myelopathy. *Spine* (2010) 35:620–4. doi:10.1097/ BRS.0b013e3181b723af
- Biering-Sørensen F, Hansen B, Lee BSB. Non-pharmacological treatment and prevention of bone loss after spinal cord injury: a systematic review. *Spinal Cord* (2009) 47(7):508–18. doi:10.1038/sc.2008.177
- Groah SL, Lichy AM, Libin AV, Ljungberg I. Intensive electrical stimulation attenuates femoral bone loss in acute spinal cord injury. *PM R* (2010) 2(12):1080–7. doi:10.1016/j.pmrj.2010.08.003
- Gyawali S, Solis L, Chong SL, Curtis C, Seres P, Kornelsen I, et al. Intermittent electrical stimulation redistributes pressure and promotes tissue oxygenation in loaded muscles of individuals with spinal cord injury. *J Appl Physiol* (2011) 110(1):246–55. doi:10.1152/japplphysiol.00661.2010
- Kennelly MJ, Bennett ME, Grill WM, Grill JH, Boggs JW. Electrical stimulation of the urethra evokes bladder contractions and emptying in spinal cord injury men: case studies. J Spinal Cord Med (2011) 34(3):315–21. doi:10.1179 /2045772311Y.0000000012
- Kutzenberger J, Domurath B, Sauerwein D. Spastic bladder and spinal cord injury: seventeen years of experience with sacral deafferentation and implantation of an anterior root stimulator. *Artif Organs* (2005) 29(3):239–41. doi:10.1111/j.1525-1594.2005.29043.x
- Lai C-H, Chang WH-S, Chan WP, Peng C-W, Shen L-K, Chen J-JJ, et al. Effects of functional electrical stimulation cycling exercise on bone mineral density loss in the early stages of spinal cord injury. *J Rehabil Med* (2010) 42(2):150–4. doi:10.2340/16501977-0499
- Masani K, Popovic MR. Functional electrical stimulation: applications in rehabilitation and neurorehabilitation. In: Kramme R, Hoffmann K-P, Pozos RS, editors. *Handbook of Medical Technology*. Berlin: Springer Handbooks (2011). p. 877–96.
- Minassian K, Hofstoetter U, Tansey K, Mayr W. Neuromodulation of lower limb motor control in restorative neurology. *Clin Neurol Neurosurg* (2012) 114(5):489–97. doi:10.1016/j.clineuro.2012.03.013
- Popovic DB, Popovic MB, Sinkjaer T, Stefanovic A, Schwirtlich L. Therapy of paretic arm in hemiplegic subjects augmented with a neural prosthesis: a cross-over study. *Can J Physiol Pharmacol* (2004) 82(8–9):749–56. doi:10.1139/y04-057
- Popovic MR, Thrasher TA. Neuroprostheses. In: Wnek GE, Bowling GL, editors. *Encyclopedia of Biomaterials and Biomedical Engineering*. 2nd ed. Marcel Dekker Inc. (2004). p. 1056–65.
- Giangregorio L, Craven BC, Richards K, Kapadia N, Hitzig SL, Masani K, et al. A randomized trial of functional electrical stimulation for walking in incomplete spinal cord injury: effects on body composition. *J Spinal Cord Med* (2012) 35(5):351–60. doi:10.1179/2045772312Y.0000000041
- Hitzig SL, Craven BC, Panjwani A, Kapadia N, Giangregorio LM, Richards K, et al. A randomized trial of functional electrical stimulation therapy for walking in incomplete spinal cord injury: effects on quality of life and community participation. *Top Spinal Cord Inj Rehabil* (2013) 19(4):245–58. doi:10.1310/sci1904-245
- Kapadia N, Zivanovic V, Furlan J, Craven BC, McGillivray C, Popovic MR. Toronto Rehabilitation Institute's functional electrical stimulation therapy for grasping in traumatic incomplete spinal cord injury: randomized control trial. *Artif Organs* (2011) 35(3):212–6. doi:10.1111/j.1525-1594.2011.01216.x
- Kapadia N, Popovic MR. Toronto Rehabilitation Institute's function electrical stimulation therapy for grasping in SCI: an overview. *Top Spinal Cord Inj Rehabil* (2011) 17(1):70–6. doi:10.1310/sci1701-70

- Kapadia N, Zivanovic V, Popovic MR. Restoring voluntary grasping function in individuals with incomplete chronic spinal cord injury: pilot study. *Top Spinal Cord Inj Rehabil* (2013) 19(4):279–87. doi:10.1310/sci1904-279
- Kapadia N, Nagai MK, Zivanovic V, Bernstein J, Woodhouse J, Rumney P, et al. Functional electrical stimulation therapy for recovery of reaching and grasping in severe chronic paediatric stroke patients. *J Child Neurol* (2014) 29(4):493–9. doi:10.1177/0883073813484088
- 26. Kapadia N, Masani K, Craven BC, Giangregorio LM, Hitzig SL, Richards K, et al. A randomized trial of functional electrical stimulation for walking in incomplete spinal cord injury: effects on walking competency. J Spinal Cord Med (2014) 37(5):511–24. doi:10.1179/2045772314Y.0000000263
- Kawashima N, Popovic MR, Zivanovic V. Effect of intensive functional electrical stimulation therapy on the upper limb motor recovery after stroke: single case study of a chronic stroke patient. *Physiother Canada* (2013) 65(1):20–8. doi:10.3138/ptc.2011-36
- Popovic MR, Thrasher TA, Adams ME, Takes V, Zivanovic V, Tonack MI. Functional electrical therapy: retraining grasping in spinal cord injury. *Spinal Cord* (2006) 44(3):143–51. doi:10.1038/sj.sc.3101822
- Popovic MR, Kapadia N, Zivanovic V, Furlan JC, Craven BC, McGillivray C. Functional electrical stimulation therapy of voluntary grasping versus only conventional rehabilitation for patients with subacute incomplete tetraplegia: a randomized clinical trial. *Neurorehabil Neural Repair* (2011) 25(5):433–42. doi:10.1177/1545968310392924
- Thrasher TA, Zivanovic V, McIlroy W, Popovic MR. Rehabilitation of reaching and grasping function in severe hemiplegic patients using functional electrical stimulation therapy. *Neurorehabil Neural Repair* (2008) 22(6):706–14. doi:10.1177/1545968308317436
- Miller RC, Popovic MR, Thrasher TA, Verrier M. Functional electrical stimulation therapy improves grasping in chronic cervical spinal cord injury: two case studies. J Automat Contr (2008) 18(2):53–62. doi:10.2298/JAC0802053M
- Popovic MR, Thrasher TA, Zivanovic V, Takaki J, Hajek V. Neuroprosthesis for restoring reaching and grasping functions in severe hemiplegic patients. *Neuromodulation* (2005) 8(1):60–74. doi:10.1111/j.1094-7159.2005.05221.x
- Popovic D, Stojanović A, Pjanović A, Radosavljević S, Popovic M, Jović S, et al. Clinical evaluation of the bionic glove. Arch Phys Med Rehabil (1999) 80(3):299–304. doi:10.1016/S0003-9993(99)90141-7
- Popovic MB, Popovic DB, Sinkjaer T, Stefanovic A, Schwirtlich L. Restitution of reaching and grasping promoted by functional electrical therapy. *Artif Organs* (2002) 26(3):271–5. doi:10.1046/j.1525-1594.2002.06950.x
- Prochazka A, Gauthier M, Wieler M, Kenwell Z. The bionic glove: an electrical stimulator garment that provides controlled grasp and hand opening in quadriplegia. Arch Phys Med Rehabil (1997) 78(6):608–14. doi:10.1016/ S0003-9993(97)90426-3
- 36. Nagai MK, Marquez-Chin C, Popovic MR. Why is functional electrical stimulation therapy capable of restoring motor function following severe injury to the central nervous system? In: Tuszynski MH, editor. *Translational Neuroscience*. New York, NY: Springer Science and Business Media LLC (2016). p. 479–98.
- Pastor D. Use of electrical stimulation and exercise to increase muscle strength in a patient after surgery for cervical spondylotic myelopathy. *Physiother Theory Pract* (2010) 26(2):134–42. doi:10.3109/09593980902750915
- Popovic MR, Keller T. Modular transcutaneous functional electrical stimulation system. *Med Eng Phys* (2005) 27(1):81–92. doi:10.1016/j. medengphy.2004.08.016
- Kapadia N, Zivanovic V, Verrier M, Popovic MR. Toronto Rehabilitation Institute's hand function test: assessment of gross motor function. *Top Spinal Cord Inj Rehabil* (2012) 18(2):167–86. doi:10.1310/sci1802-167
- 40. Carroll D. A quantitative test of upper extremity function. *J Chronic Dis* (1965) 18:479–91. doi:10.1016/0021-9681(65)90030-5
- Lyle RC. A performance test for assessment of upper limb function in physical rehabilitation treatment and research. *Int J Rehabil Res* (1981) 4(4):483–92. doi:10.1097/00004356-198112000-00001
- 42. Dodds TA, Martin DP, Stolov WC, Deyo RA. A validation of the functional independence measurement and its performance among rehabilitation inpatients. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil* (1993) 74:531–6. doi:10.1016/0003-9993(93)90119-U

 Catz A, Itzkovich M, Agranov E, Ring H, Tamir A. SCIM – spinal cord independence measure: a new disability scale for patients with spinal cord lesions. *Spinal Cord* (1997) 35:850–6. doi:10.1038/sj.sc.3100504

Conflict of Interest Statement: Dr. MP cofounded the company MyndTec, Inc. (www.myndtec.com), which is presently manufacturing the product MyndMove[®]. MyndMove[®] delivers Dr. MP's multichannel FEST for reaching and grasping for stroke and SCI patients. Although Dr. MP is the Chief Technology Officer of the company, the company is operating independently from his research program at the University of Toronto and Toronto Rehabilitation Institute – University Health

Network. The study was conducted independently of MyndTec, Inc. MyndTec, Inc. did not participate in the study design and execution.

Copyright © 2016 Popovic, Zivanovic and Valiante. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Diffusion Tensor Imaging Findings in Post-Concussion Syndrome Patients after Mild Traumatic Brain Injury: A Systematic Review

Edrea Khong, Nicole Odenwald, Eyesha Hashim and Michael D. Cusimano*

Department of Surgery, Division of Neurosurgery, Injury Prevention Research Office, Saint Michael's Hospital, Toronto, ON, Canada

Objectives: To review the evidence for the use of diffusion tensor imaging (DTI) parameters in the human brain as a diagnostic tool for and predictor of post-concussion syndrome (PCS) after a mild traumatic brain injury (mTBI).

Design: Systematic review.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Felipe Fregni, Harvard Medical School, USA

Reviewed by:

Eric Peter Thelin, Karolinska Institutet, Sweden Aunali Salim Khaku, University of Central Florida College of Medicine, USA

> *Correspondence: Michael D. Cusimano

injuryprevention@smh.ca

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Neurotrauma, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neurology

Received: 02 August 2016 Accepted: 06 September 2016 Published: 19 September 2016

Citation:

Khong E, Odenwald N, Hashim E and Cusimano MD (2016) Diffusion Tensor Imaging Findings in Post-Concussion Syndrome Patients after Mild Traumatic Brain Injury: A Systematic Review. Front. Neurol. 7:156. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2016.00156 **Data sources:** All relevant studies in AMED, Embase, MEDLINE, Ovid, PubMed, Scopus, and Web of Science through 20 May, 2016.

Study selection: Studies that analyze traditional DTI measures [fractional anisotropy (FA), mean diffusivity (MD), radial diffusivity (RD), and axial diffusivity (AD)] and the severity of PCS symptoms or the development of PCS in humans after an mTBI.

Data extraction: Population studied, patient source, mTBI diagnosis method, PCS diagnosis method, DTI values measured, significant findings, and correlation between DTI findings and PCS.

Data synthesis: Ten studies investigated correlations between DTI values and PCS symptom severity or between DTI values and the development of PCS in mTBI patients. Decreased FA and increased MD and RD were associated with the development and severity of PCS. AD was not found to change significantly. Brain regions found to have significant changes in DTI parameters varied from study to study, although the corpus callosum was most frequently cited as having abnormal DTI parameters in PCS patients.

Conclusion: DTI abnormalities correlate with PCS incidence and symptom severity, as well as indicate an increased risk of developing PCS after mTBI. Abnormal DTI findings should prompt investigation of the syndrome to ensure optimal symptom management at the earliest stages. Currently, there is no consensus in the literature about the use of one DTI parameter in a specific region of the brain as a biomarker for PCS because no definite trends for DTI parameters in PCS subjects have been identified. Further research is required to establish a standard biomarker for PCS.

Keywords: diffusion tensor imaging, mild traumatic brain injury, post-concussion syndrome, biomarker, systematic review
INTRODUCTION

Traumatic brain injury (TBI) is an important global health issue, with the incidence of TBI reported to hospitals in developed countries being approximately 200 per 100,000 people annually (1). Globally, approximately 10 million TBIs are serious enough to result in death or hospitalization each year (2). TBI is more common in adolescents and young adults; a Canadian study found that 20% of students in grades 7-12 had sustained a TBI (3). Classification of TBI as a mild traumatic brain injury (mTBI) is primarily based on an initial Glasgow Coma Scale (GCS) score of 13-15 (4). Other mTBI classification criteria consider the duration of loss of consciousness (LOC) and duration of posttraumatic amnesia (PTA), if present (5). mTBIs are the most frequent TBIs, accounting for 70-90% of all brain injuries treated at hospitals. However, because a majority of mTBI cases are not reported to hospitals, the true incidence of mTBI is estimated to be above 600 per 100,000 people per year (6).

Post-concussion syndrome (PCS), also referred to as postconcussional disorder (PCD), refers to a set of somatic, affective, and cognitive symptoms that manifests days after the initial head injury. Although these symptoms usually resolve within 3 months, they can persist for longer (7). Patients whose symptoms persist for less than 3 months are referred to as having experienced postconcussion symptoms, while those with symptoms persisting for longer than 3 months are diagnosed with PCS (8, 9). PCS often has a significant impact on quality-of-life, but currently there are no validated treatments for PCS beyond patient monitoring and symptom management.

The first step toward developing an effective treatment is to understand the pathophysiology and anatomical basis of the development of PCS and establish dependable biomarkers of the syndrome. Unfortunately, the current definition of PCS is vague because as a *syndrome*, it is only a set of signs and symptoms. Diagnosing PCS depends solely on clinical criteria, the judgment of the physician or healthcare professional, the patient's selfreporting of symptoms, and the diagnostic assessment selected. For this reason, PCS diagnosis is unreliable and poorly defined.

The Rivermead Post-Concussion Symptoms Questionnaire (RPCSQ) (10) is often used to quantify PCS symptoms. However, it has been shown that these criteria do not meet modern psychometric standards, and it was suggested that the usual practice of summating the RPCSQ into a single score is unreliable (11). Other assessments used in the diagnosis of PCS include the World Health Organization (WHO) International Classification of Diseases (ICD) guidelines (12), the British Columbia Postconcussion Symptom Inventory (BC-PSI) (13), and the Neurobehavioral Symptom Inventory (NSI) (14). Unfortunately, PCS symptoms are not specific to TBI patients (7, 15-18), further complicating PCS diagnosis via these assessments. mTBI patients have been found to report a greater number and increased severity of PCS symptoms when compared with moderate or severe TBI patients (19, 20). Identifying a biomarker specific to TBI patients with PCS would greatly improve diagnosis and treatment.

Axonal damage can cause impaired network function (21, 22) and may explain the symptoms experienced by patients after a TBI (23). Diffusion tensor imaging (DTI) is a non-invasive,

in vivo imaging technique that measures the quantity and direction of water molecule diffusion (24). It is well-documented and validated for use in mapping microstructural changes, such as axonal damage, in the brain (24–28). The most commonly measured DTI parameter in brain research is fractional anisotropy (FA) (28), a measure of the directionality of diffusion (25). Other common DTI parameters include mean diffusivity (MD), a scalar measure of the total diffusion within a voxel (25), radial diffusivity (RD), a scalar measure of the diffusion along the length of an axon (29). Through these measurements, DTI can detect microstructural changes in the brain's white matter tracts; abnormalities in these measurements indicate axonal damage, which may correlate with PCS symptoms (28, 30).

Diffusion tensor imaging has been used in the PCS population to study axonal damage that may be the underlying cause of the syndrome. A specific DTI biomarker for PCS would help identify and characterize these patients, providing the basis for treatments that target the anatomical deficits that cause the syndrome. A number of studies have looked at the classic DTI parameters in the PCS population (31-40). These studies offer information that can be helpful for clinicians and patients managing PCS, but often differ in the DTI parameters analyzed and in the brain regions found to have abnormal DTI values. A review to summate the current literature will help to design future studies to address gaps in the field. This paper reviews the use of DTI parameters as biomarkers for diagnosing and predicting PCS after mTBI. By summarizing the current literature on the use of DTI parameters in patients with PCS after an mTBI, this paper aims to assist future researchers, clinicians, and patients in determining the role of DTI as a diagnostic tool for and predictor of PCS.

METHODS

Literature Search

A comprehensive literature search was conducted on AMED, Embase, MEDLINE, Ovid, PubMed, Scopus, and Web of Science for all relevant articles reporting on the use of DTI in subjects who developed PCS post-mTBI, through 20 May, 2016. The databases were searched with the following search phrase using the Boolean logic operators "OR" and "AND": "(DTI OR diffusion tensor imaging OR diffusion tractography) AND (mTBI OR mild traumatic brain injury OR concussion) AND (postconcussive syndrome OR post-concussive syndrome OR post concussive syndrome OR postconcussion syndrome OR post-concussion syndrome OR post concussion syndrome) AND human." To ensure maximal article capture, these search terms also encompassed the following Medical Subject Headings (MeSH) terms: "diffusion tensor imaging," "brain injuries," and "post-concussion syndrome." Manual searching of relevant journals and reference lists of studies found in the above search provided additional articles.

The search terms identified above yielded 205 studies. For this review, the PCS population was defined as patients who experience persistent symptoms for 3 months or longer post-injury. Inclusion criteria were studies published in English; use of human participants; and studies that analyzed changes in measured DTI parameters in patients with PCS following an mTBI. Exclusion criteria were studies that did not report method of diagnosing PCS; studies that did not report method of diagnosing mTBI; studies that were not original research; and studies with fewer than six participants. Two readers independently screened all 205 studies, removing 79 duplicates, 16 conference abstracts, and 1 foreign language paper. Six additional studies were identified from relevant reference lists and journals. Of the 115 studies remaining, 92 were excluded for containing one or more exclusion criterion. A further 13 studies were removed after rescreening because they included patients who were assessed for PCS symptoms within 3 months of injury. This resulted in 10 studies that were included in this review. The flow diagram for the paper selection process is presented in **Figure 1**.

Data Extraction and Analysis

Each study was assessed by two reviewers for quality using STROBE guidelines (41). A point was awarded for each required criterion that was met. The two reviewers performed individual assessments, and scores were compared, with discrepancies resolved by discussion. The two reviewers also performed data extraction for the population studied, patient source, number of PCS patients, patient demographics (age and gender), mechanism of injury, mTBI diagnosis method, PCS diagnosis method, time interval between injury and PCS diagnosis, time interval between injury and matching process), DTI values

measured, DTI analysis method [voxel-wise or region of interest (ROI)], significant findings, conclusions (correlations between DTI and PCS), and study limitations for all nine studies. DTI studies most often do not quantify changes in DTI parameters because there are no established values for healthy patients, so only qualitative changes (increases and decreases) in these parameters were extracted for this review. Results of data extraction were compared between the reviewers, with discrepancies resolved with help from a third reader.

RESULTS

A total of 205 studies were screened for eligibility, with 10 studies, published within the last 6 years, qualifying for review based on the inclusion and exclusion criteria. All studies scored between 17 and 20 points out of a possible 22 in STROBE quality assessment. The 10 studies included PCS patients from 8 to 65 years of age, with the mean age across all studies being 29.58 years. One study analyzed a pediatric population (31), one study analyzed a mixed pediatric and adult population (35), and the rest analyzed adult populations. Also, 235 PCS patients were included in the 10 studies reviewed, with 141 male and 44 female PCS patients tested in the 8 studies that reported sex breakdown. All studies included control groups. One study (36) used a combination of patients with orthopedic injuries and healthy patients as controls, two studies (34, 39) used uninjured military members as controls, and the remaining seven studies used healthy controls. Nine studies (31-36, 38-40) performed a group-wise



comparison between controls and PCS subjects, while the last study (37) directly matched PCS patients to controls. Matching was achieved on the bases of age, gender, and years of education.

For the DTI analysis, four studies (33, 38–40) performed a whole brain voxel-wise analysis, four studies (31, 32, 34–36) used an ROI analysis, and two studies (37) used a voxel-wise approach to identify ROIs for subsequent ROI analysis. In the 10 studies reviewed, the time interval between injury and imaging ranged from 7 days to 259 months, with a median imaging time of 20.5 months post-injury. The time interval between injury and PCS assessment ranged from 3 to 259 months, with a median assessment time of 23.2 months post-injury.

Seven of the ten studies analyzed DTI parameters in imaging conducted after PCS was diagnosed, thereby assessing the value of DTI as a biomarker of PCS (**Table 1**). The remaining three studies analyzed imaging conducted at the subacute or pre-PCS stage of injury in patients who were later diagnosed with PCS (**Table 2**). The importance of these studies is in the prediction of PCS development in mTBI patients.

A decrease in FA and increase in MD and RD were commonly observed in PCS patients post-mTBI. The most common finding across all studies was that FA decreased in patients with PCS following mTBI compared to controls, although three studies included in the review found no significant changes in FA (**Table 3**). An increase in MD was also found, although three of the six studies that analyzed MD did not find a significant change (**Table 4**). Messé et al. (38) compared mTBI patients with PCS to mTBI patients not experiencing PCS and found higher MD values in the PCS-present group. An increase in RD was also found in three of five studies that analyzed RD (**Table 5**). No changes in AD were observed in the five studies that analyzed this parameter. These changes in DTI parameters also had a positive correlation with PCS symptom severity. The corpus callosum was most frequently reported as being affected in PCS, with reduced FA and increased MD and RD (**Table 6**).

DISCUSSION

Findings in DTI Parameters

Decreased FA and increased MD and RD were reported in PCS patients compared to healthy controls or PCS-absent trauma patients. Abnormal DTI values were also reported to be correlated with an increase in number and severity of PCS symptoms, suggesting that greater axonal damage causes more severe PCS symptoms. Decreased FA is a well-documented finding in brain injury (42–46), as is increased MD (42, 44, 45) and RD (43). In addition, regions within the corpus callosum were most often found to be affected in PCS patients. Two additional articles reporting on case studies also found decreased FA, specifically in PCS patients (47, 48). The corpus callosum is involved in inter-hemispheric integration of motor, sensory, and cognitive information, and damage to this area might lead to extensive behavioral, emotional, and cognitive impairments, as observed in the PCS groups. Although the effects of damage to the corpus

TABLE 1 Studies looking at DTI parameters as a biomarker for PCS.	
---	--

Article	Population studied	Diagnosis method (mTBI; PCS)	DTI analysis approach	DTI values measured
Bartnik-Olson et al. (31)	Pediatric patients, sustained a sports-related mTBI in an organized athletic event	International Conference on Concussion in Sport; self-reported symptoms	ROI analysis	FA, MD, RD, AD
Bouix et al. (32)	Patients with persistent PCS, sustained an mTBI in an MVC, blast exposure, sports-related event, or assault	Emergency department triage; headaches, emotional dysregulation, cognitive, or memory impairments	ROI analysis	FA, MD, RD, AD
Dean et al. (33)	Patients who sustained an mTBI but did not report to the hospital, no reported mechanism of injury	WHO (ICD-10); RPCSQ	Voxel-wise analysis	FA
Delano-Wood et al. (34)	Military veterans with a closed head TBI from blast exposure or blunt force trauma	US DoD and the Department of Veterans Affairs TBI Task Force; NSI	ROI analysis	FA
Levin et al. (36)	Post-deployment veterans and service members, sustained mTBI in a blast exposure	Physician diagnosis; NSI	ROI analysis	FA, MD
Maruta et al. (37)	Patients with a single, isolated concussive injury to the head, no reported mechanism of injury	Physician diagnosis; self-reported symptoms	Voxel-wise and ROI analysis	FA, MD, RD, AD
Miller et al. (39)	Military veterans, sustained an mTBI in a blast exposure	American Congress of Rehabilitation Medicine; RPCSQ	Voxel-wise analysis	FA

TABLE 2 | Studies looking at DTI parameters in prospective PCS patients.

Population studied	Diagnosis method (mTBI; PCS)	DTI analysis approach	DTI values measured
Patients from a neurosurgery clinic, no reported mechanism of injury	American Congress of Rehabilitation Medicine; RPCSQ	ROI analysis	FA, MD
Patients presenting to the emergency department, sustained an mTBI in an MVC, pedestrian injury, or aggression incident	American Congress of Rehabilitation Medicine; self-reported symptoms	Voxel-wise analysis	MD
PCS patients referred from a concussion clinic, sustained an mTBI in a sports-related event, fall, or when struck by an object	Physician diagnosis <i>via</i> the Buffalo Concussion Treadmill Test; WHO	Voxel-wise analysis	FA, MD, RD, AD
	Patients from a neurosurgery clinic, no reported mechanism of injury Patients presenting to the emergency department, sustained an mTBI in an MVC, pedestrian injury, or aggression incident PCS patients referred from a concussion clinic, sustained an	Patients from a neurosurgery clinic, no reported mechanism of injury American Congress of Rehabilitation Medicine; RPCSQ Patients presenting to the emergency department, sustained an mTBI in an MVC, pedestrian injury, or aggression incident American Congress of Rehabilitation Medicine; self-reported symptoms PCS patients referred from a concussion clinic, sustained an MCC Physician diagnosis via the Buffalo Concussion	Patients from a neurosurgery clinic, no reported mechanism of injury American Congress of Rehabilitation Medicine; RPCSQ ROI analysis Patients presenting to the emergency department, sustained an mTBI in an MVC, pedestrian injury, or aggression incident American Congress of Rehabilitation Medicine; self-reported symptoms Voxel-wise analysis PCS patients referred from a concussion clinic, sustained an Physician diagnosis via the Buffalo Concussion Voxel-wise

TABLE 3 | Studies that analyzed fractional anisotropy.

Article	Affected region	Change
Studies that found cha	nges in FA	
Bouix et al. (32)	Whole brain	\downarrow
Dean et al. (33)	Right anterior corona radiata, internal capsule (anterior limb), corpus callosum (splenium), fornix, frontal medial superior gyrus	Ļ
Delano-Wood et al. (34)	Pontine tegmentum	Ţ
D'Souza et al. (35)	Corpus callosum, left uncinate fasciculus, bilateral superior thalamic radiations	Ļ
Levin et al. (36)	Corpus callosum	↓
Miller et al. (39)	Greater number of white matter clusters	↓
Polak et al. (40)	Corpus callosum (genu)	\downarrow
Studies that found no d Bartnik-Olson et al. (31) Maruta et al. (37) Messé et al. (38)	changes in FA	

TABLE 4 | Studies that analyzed mean diffusivity.

Article	Brain region	Change
Studies that found char	nges in MD	
Bartnik-Olson et al. (31)	Corpus callosum (genu)	1
D'Souza et al. (35)	Left uncinate fasciculus	1
Messé et al. (38) Polak et al. (40)	Corpus callosum (forceps major and minor), inferior fronto-occipital fasciculus, inferior longitudinal fasciculus, superior longitudinal fasciculus, corticospinal tract, left anterior thalamic radiation Corpus callosum (genu)	↑ ↑
Studies that found no c Bouix et al. (32) Levin et al. (36) Maruta et al. (37)	1 (0)	I

TABLE 5 | Studies that analyzed radial diffusivity.

Article	Brain region	Change
Studies that found chang	ges in RD	
Bartnik-Olson et al. (31)	Internal capsule (right anterior limb)	1
Bouix et al. (32)	Whole brain	1
Polak et al. (40)	Corpus callosum (genu)	1
Studies that found no ch	anges in RD	
Maruta et al. (37)		
Messé et al. (38)		

TABLE 6 | Studies that found changes in the corpus callosum.

Specific region	DTI value	Change	Article
Genu	MD	↑	Bartnik-Olson et al. (31)
			Polak et al. (40)
	RD	1	Polak et al. (40)
Splenium	FA	\downarrow	Dean et al. (33)
Whole corpus callosum	FA	\downarrow	Levin et al. (36)
			D'Souza et al. (35)
Forceps major	MD	1	Messé et al. (38)
Forceps minor	MD	1	Messé et al. (38)

callosum are not fully understood, it is reasonable to expect that these effects would include the symptoms of PCS patients.

Studies included in this review assessed different patient populations, including pediatric, adult, and military. Although age- and education-related differences in structural and functional neuroanatomy have been documented (49, 50), all of the studies had a case-control design. Patients were matched to controls by age, gender, and education level, therefore ensuring that changes detected in DTI parameters were not a result of comparisons made between inherently distinct populations. However, consistent findings in FA, MD, and RD across the studies suggest that the microstructural white matter damage detected is consistent in all patient groups. This possibility increases the value of DTI as a universal biomarker of PCS. In addition, 8 of the 10 studies (31-35, 38-40) excluded patients with abnormal CT or routine clinical MRI findings. This exclusion criterion indicates that there is damage identified by DTI, which is not detected via more commonly used modalities, further emphasizing the utility and importance of DTI in the clinical setting. It is often acknowledged that the more widely available structural neuroimaging modalities have limited value in the mTBI and PCS populations (8, 51, 52).

Post-concussion syndrome has been found to be more prevalent in the mTBI population than the moderate or severe TBI populations (19, 20). However, it has been noted that axonal injury in these more severely injured groups usually presents with focal lesions and so is detectable via clinical MRI (53). Therefore, not all axonal injury is indicative of PCS. This evidence suggests that generalized axonal injury does not correlate well with PCS, but diffuse axonal injury (DAI), which presents as widespread axonal injury limited to the microstructure scale, may be more specific to PCS. This is also supported by a recent study using magnetic resonance spectroscopy (MRS), which found significant correlations between DAI and PCS (54). However, PCS may not only be a result of neurological damage but may also develop due to psychological distress (55-57). For this reason, a patient who has not sustained an mTBI may still experience PCS because it is not unique to the mTBI or TBI population. Although patients with DAI may develop PCS, not all PCS patients have DAI.

ROI versus Voxel-Wise Analysis

Two studies (37, 39) that applied a voxel-wise analysis of the whole brain reported no significant findings in the corpus callosum. Maruta et al. (37) reported no significant findings in any brain region but was the only study to have no significant findings in all four DTI parameters in a whole brain analysis. Miller et al. (39) did find a decreased FA in several white matter clusters in the whole brain but did not identify specific brain regions where the clusters were located. Voxel-wise analysis requires intersubject registration of subjects' brains and normalization to standard atlases. Both of these processes involve smoothing and hence may result in masking small differences between subjects or groups. All studies that used ROI analysis found significant changes in DTI parameters, suggesting that ROI analysis might be more proficient at identifying changes in specific brain regions. However, ROI analysis has some limitations: it requires a brain structure to be predefined for analysis, and manual selection of the region to draw an ROI may lead to intersubject differences in ROI location. Despite these limitations, the success of ROI analysis in the studies reviewed is encouraging; once a particular region has been identified as most commonly damaged in PCS, diagnosis *via* DTI will be faster than if a voxel-wise approach was necessary.

Data Synthesis

Although DTI can detect axonal damage and possibly predict PCS onset or be used to diagnose PCS, there is insufficient evidence supporting the observed results to validate any parameter in a specific brain region as a biomarker for PCS. The trends in the parameters are a decrease in FA and an increase in MD and RD, but there is no uniformity in the brain areas investigated for these changes. These findings suggest that there may be more than one DTI biomarker for PCS and that axonal damage does contribute to PCS symptoms. The subjective nature of PCS and the possibility of a large number of brain regions being involved in PCS may have led to the indefinite results. Each patient has a unique illness experience due to their baseline for many of the symptoms, such as fatigue, feelings of depression, feelings of frustration, forgetfulness, poor concentration, and restlessness. Patients have varying pain tolerances and emotional fortitudes that could either magnify or diminish the severity of PCS symptoms being reported. In addition, a researcher may focus on one or more brain regions or on the entire brain, depending on his or her research interests and image processing preferences.

Other Potential PCS Biomarkers

Other imaging modalities have been used to study PCS. In addition to the poor value of CT and MRI in the PCS population, studies have shown conflicting results in positron emission tomography (PET) in the PCS population, with some finding correlations between PET results and PCS (58-60), while others do not (51). A more promising imaging modality may be MRS, which has been used to detect DAI that is significantly correlated with PCS (54), although there is unsubstantial evidence that it is a reliable PCS biomarker. Evoked potential (EP) studies have concluded that significant results in the EP data correlate with PCS (61, 62), but there is not enough concrete evidence to support these measurements as a PCS biomarker. Biochemical markers of PCS may also be viable. A review paper (63) identified S100 proteins, neuron-specific enolase (NSE), and cleaved Tau protein (CTP) as potential serum biochemical markers for predicting PCS after an mTBI. The review concluded that none of the three compounds are well-validated for use, although \$100 was most widely studied in the mTBI population and appears to be the most promising. It is possible that a combination of DTI, clinical factors, and biochemical markers may be needed to accurately and objectively diagnose PCS or predict its development after an mTBI.

Future Research Directions

Further research into this topic is necessary. All of the studies included in this review are cross-sectional. Future studies should

consider a longitudinal cohort study design to track changes in DTI parameters during PCS progression and resolution, which would provide more concrete evidence of a specific biomarker for PCS. Recruiting a larger PCS patient population is required to reduce sample size biases. Research on DTI parameters in the brain is also required to establish "normal" values for FA, MD, RD, and AD, so that significant differences are based on a universal standard as opposed to being derived from each study's controls. This will ensure that significant results are not misrepresented. Future case-control studies should try to use an orthopedic or other non-head trauma control group to help remove error in PCS reporting due to factors other than the sustained mTBI. Case-control studies may also consider comparing PCS-present mTBI patients to PCS-absent mTBI patients to eliminate most external confounding factors. These studies would be more likely to observe changes in DTI parameters specifically due to PCS. The large range of time intervals between injury and imaging reported in the ten reviewed articles is also a concern. In addition, 13 articles were excluded from this review because researchers conducted PCS assessment within 3 months of injury. It is suggested that future studies include patients whose PCS symptoms persist for 3 months or longer, as the literature supports PCS diagnosis when symptoms persist for this length of time. Finally, a standard PCS assessment should be administered to ensure consistency across all future studies. Consulting the Common Data Elements identified by the National Institutes of Health would help establish assessment standards.

CONCLUSION

To our knowledge, this is the first systematic review that examines the use of DTI parameters in the human brain as a diagnostic tool for patients with PCS and a predictor of PCS in mTBI patients. DTI abnormalities indicate axonal damage, which leads to an increased risk of developing PCS after an mTBI. However, no DTI biomarker for PCS is identified due to the small body of research conducted on the topic and the heterogeneity of results reported. Further research is required to establish a standard DTI biomarker for PCS diagnosis and prediction.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

EK and NO – study concept, study design, literature search, quality assessment, data extraction and analysis, manuscript draft, manuscript critical revision, and final approval. EH and MC – study concept, study design, manuscript critical revision, and final approval. All authors agree to be accountable for all aspects of the work.

FUNDING

This research was supported by the Canadian Institutes of Health Research Strategic Team Grant in Applied Injury Research # TIR-103946.

REFERENCES

- 1. Bruns JJ, Hauser WA. The epidemiology of traumatic brain injury: a review. *Epilepsia* (2003) 44:2–10. doi:10.1046/j.1528-1157.44.s10.3.x
- Langlois JA, Rutland-Brown W, Wald MM. The epidemiology and impact of traumatic brain injury: a brief overview. J Head Trauma Rehabil (2006) 21:375–8. doi:10.1097/00001199-200609000-00001
- Ilie G, Boak A, Adlaf EM, Asbridge M, Cusimano MD. Prevalence and correlates of traumatic brain injuries among adolescents. *JAMA* (2013) 309:2550–2. doi:10.1097/QAD.00000000000837
- Kay T, Harrington DE, Adams R, Anderson T, Berrol S, Cicerone K, et al. Definition of mild traumatic brain injury. *J Head Trauma Rehabil* (1993) 8:86–7. doi:10.1097/00001199-199309000-00010
- Rao V, Lyketsos C. Neuropsychiatric sequelae of traumatic brain injury. *Psychosomatics* (2000) 41:95–103. doi:10.1176/appi.psy.41.2.95
- Cassidy JD, Carroll LJ, Peloso PM, Borg J, von Holst H, Holm L, et al. Incidence, risk factors and prevention of mild traumatic brain injury: results of the WHO Collaborating Centre Task Force on mild traumatic brain injury. J Rehabil Med (2004) 36:28–60. doi:10.1080/16501960410023732
- Dean PJA, O'Neill D, Sterr A. Post-concussion syndrome: prevalence after mild traumatic brain injury in comparison with a sample without head injury. *Brain Inj* (2012) 26:14–26. doi:10.3109/02699052.2011.635354
- Ryan LM, Warden DL. Post concussion syndrome. Int Rev Psychiatry (2003) 15:310–6. doi:10.1080/09540260310001606692
- Silverberg ND, Iverson GL. Etiology of the post-concussion syndrome: physiogenesis and psychogenesis revisited. *NeuroRehabilitation* (2011) 29:317–29. doi:10.3233/NRE-2011-0708
- King NS, Crawford S, Wenden FJ, Moss NEG, Wade DT. The Rivermead Post Concussion Symptoms Questionnaire: a measure of symptoms commonly experienced after head injury and its reliability. *J Neurol* (1995) 242:587–92. doi:10.1007/BF00868811
- Eyres S, Carey A, Gilworth G, Neumann V, Tennant A. Construct validity and reliability of the Rivermead Post-Concussion Symptoms Questionnaire. *Clin Rehabil* (2005) 19:878–87. doi:10.1191/0269215505cr905oa
- 12. WHO. ICD-10. Geneva: WHO (1992).
- Iverson GL, Lange RT. Examination of "postconcussion-like" symptoms in a healthy sample. *Appl Neuropsychol* (2003) 10:137–44. doi:10.1207/ S15324826AN1003_02
- Cicerone KD, Kalmar K. Persistent postconcussion syndrome: the structure of subjective complaints after mild traumatic brain injury. *J Head Trauma Rehabil* (1995) 10:1–17. doi:10.1097/00001199-199510030-00002
- Cassidy JD, Cancelliere C, Carroll LJ, Côté P, Hincapié CA, Holm LW, et al. Systematic review of self-reported prognosis in adults after mild traumatic brain injury: results of the International Collaboration on Mild Traumatic Brain Injury Prognosis. Arch Phys Med Rehabil (2014) 95:5132–51. doi:10.1016/j.apmr.2013.08.299
- Landre N, Poppe CJ, Davis N, Schmaus B, Hobbs SE. Cognitive functioning and postconcussive symptoms in trauma patients with and without mild TBI. Arch Clin Neuropsychol (2006) 21:255–73. doi:10.1016/j.acn.2005. 12.007
- Lange RT, Iverson GL, Rose A. Depression strongly influences postconcussion symptom reporting following mild traumatic brain injury. *J Head Trauma Rehabil* (2011) 26:127–37. doi:10.1097/HTR.0b013e3181e4622a
- Carlson KF, Kehle SM, Meis LA, Greer N, MacDonald R, Rutks I, et al. Prevalence, assessment, and treatment of mild traumatic brain injury and posttraumatic stress disorder: a systematic review of the evidence. *J Head Trauma Rehabil* (2011) 26:103–15. doi:10.1097/HTR.0b013e3181e50ef1
- Belanger HG, Kretzmer T, Vanderploeg RD, French LM. Symptom complaints following combat-related traumatic brain injury: relationship to traumatic brain injury severity and posttraumatic stress disorder. *J Int Neuropsychol Soc* (2009) 16:194–9. doi:10.1017/S1355617709990841
- Yeh P-H, Wang B, Oakes TR, French LM, Pan H, Graner J, et al. Postconcussional disorder and PTSD symptoms of military-related traumatic brain injury associated with compromised neurocircuitry. *Hum Brain Mapp* (2014) 35:2652–73. doi:10.1002/hbm.22358
- Leisman G, Rojas RR, García-Ramó KB, Carballo M, Iturria Y, Machado C. Measurement of axonal fiber connectivity in consciousness evaluation. 2014 IEEE 28th Convention of Electrical and Electronics Engineers in Israel. Eilat (2014). doi:10.13140/2.1.4845.7289

- Stone JR, Okonkwo DO, Dialo AO, Rubin DG, Mutlu LK, Povlishock JT, et al. Impaired axonal transport and altered axolemmal permeability occur in distinct populations of damaged axons following traumatic brain injury. *Exp Neurol* (2004) 190:59–69. doi:10.1016/j.expneurol.2004.05.022
- Sugiyama K, Kondo T, Higano S, Endo M, Watanabe H, Shindo K, et al. Diffusion tensor imaging fiber tractography for evaluating diffuse axonal injury. *Brain Inj* (2007) 21:413–9. doi:10.1080/02699050701311042
- Mori S, Zhang J. Principles of diffusion tensor imaging and its applications to basic neuroscience research. *Neuron* (2006) 51:527–39. doi:10.1016/j. neuron.2006.08.012
- Le Bihan D, Mangin J-F, Poupon C, Clark CA, Pappata S, Molko N, et al. Diffusion tensor imaging: concepts and applications. *J Magn Reson Imaging* (2001) 13:534–46. doi:10.1002/jmri.1076
- Basser PJ, Mattiello J, LeBihan D. MR diffusion tensor spectroscopy and imaging. *Biophys J* (1994) 66:259–67. doi:10.1016/S0006-3495(94)80775-1
- Stieltjes B, Kaufmann WE, van Zijl PCM, Fredericksen K, Pearlson GD, Solaiyappan M, et al. Diffusion tensor imaging and axonal tracking in the human brainstem. *Neuroimage* (2001) 14:723–35. doi:10.1006/nimg. 2001.0861
- Assaf Y, Pasternak O. Diffusion tensor imaging (DTI)-based white matter mapping in brain research: a review. J Mol Neurosci (2008) 34:51–61. doi:10.1007/s12031-007-0029-0
- Alexander AL, Lee JE, Lazar M, Field AS. Diffusion tensor imaging of the brain. *Neurotherapeutics* (2007) 4:316–29. doi:10.1016/j.nurt.2007.05.011
- Huisman TA, Schwamm LH, Schaefer PW, Koroshetz WJ, Shetty-Alva N, Ozsunar Y, et al. Diffusion tensor imaging as potential biomarker of white matter injury in diffuse axonal injury. *AJNR Am J Neuroradiol* (2004) 25:370–6.
- Bartnik-Olson BL, Holshouser B, Wang H, Grube M, Tong K, Wong V, et al. Impaired neurovascular unit function contributes to persistent symptoms after concussion: a pilot study. *J Neurotrauma* (2014) 31:1497–506. doi:10.1089/ neu.2013.3213
- Bouix S, Pasternak O, Rathi Y, Pelavin PE, Zafonte R, Shenton ME. Increased gray matter diffusion anisotropy in patients with persistent post-concussive symptoms following mild traumatic brain injury. *PLoS One* (2013) 8:e66205. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0066205
- Dean PJA, Sato JR, Vieira G, McNamara A, Sterr A. Long-term structural changes after mTBI and their relation to post-concussion symptoms. *Brain Inj* (2015) 29:1211–8. doi:10.3109/02699052.2015.1035334
- 34. Delano-Wood L, Bangen KJ, Sorg SF, Clark AL, Schiehser DM, Luc N, et al. Brainstem white matter integrity is related to loss of consciousness and postconcussive symptomatology in veterans with chronic mild to moderate traumatic brain injury. *Brain Imaging Behav* (2015) 9:500–12. doi:10.1007/ s11682-015-9432-2
- 35. D'Souza MM, Trivedi R, Singh K, Grover H, Choudhury A, Kaur P, et al. Traumatic brain injury and the post-concussion syndrome: a diffusion tensor tractography study. *Indian J Radiol Imaging* (2015) 25:404–14. doi:10.4103/0971-3026.169445
- 36. Levin HS, Wilde E, Troyanskaya M, Petersen NJ, Scheibel R, Newsome M, et al. Diffusion tensor imaging of mild to moderate blast-related traumatic brain injury and its sequelae. *J Neurotrauma* (2010) 27:683–94. doi:10.1089/ neu.2009.1073
- Maruta J, Palacios EM, Zimmerman RD, Ghajar J, Mukherjee P. Chronic post-concussion neurocognitive deficits. I. Relationship with white matter integrity. *Front Hum Neurosci* (2016) 10:1–8. doi:10.3389/fnhum.2016.00035
- 38. Messé A, Caplain S, Paradot G, Garrigue D, Mineo J-F, Soto Ares G, et al. Diffusion tensor imaging and white matter lesions at the subacute stage in mild traumatic brain injury with persistent neurobehavioral impairment. *Hum Brain Mapp* (2011) 32:999–1011. doi:10.1002/hbm.21092
- Miller DR, Hayes JP, Lafleche G, Salat DH, Verfaellie M. White matter abnormalities are associated with chronic postconcussion symptoms in blast-related mild traumatic brain injury. *Hum Brain Mapp* (2016) 37:220–9. doi:10.1002/hbm.23022
- Polak P, Leddy JJ, Dwyer MG, Willer B, Zivadinov R. Diffusion tensor imaging alterations in patients with postconcussion syndrome undergoing exercise treatment: a pilot longitudinal study. J Head Trauma Rehabil (2015) 30:32–42. doi:10.1097/HTR.00000000000037
- 41. von Elm E, Altman DG, Egger M, Pocock SJ, Gøtzsche PC, Vandenbroucke JP, et al. The strengthening the reporting of observational studies in epidemiology

(STROBE) statement: guidelines for reporting observational studies. *J Clin Epidemiol* (2008) 61:344–9. doi:10.1016/j.ijsu.2014.07.013

- Inglese M, Makani S, Johnson G, Cohen BA, Silver JA, Gonen O, et al. Diffuse axonal injury in mild traumatic brain injury: a diffusion tensor imaging study. *J Neurosurg* (2005) 103:298–303. doi:10.3171/jns.2005.103.2.0298
- Kraus MF, Susmaras T, Caughlin BP, Walker CJ, Sweeney JA, Little DM. White matter integrity and cognition in chronic traumatic brain injury: a diffusion tensor imaging study. *Brain* (2007) 130:2508–19. doi:10.1093/brain/ awm216
- Rugg-Gunn FJ, Symms MR, Barker GJ, Greenwood R, Duncan JS. Diffusion imaging shows abnormalities after blunt head trauma when conventional magnetic resonance imaging is normal. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry* (2001) 70:530–3. doi:10.1136/jnnp.70.4.530
- Sundgren PC, Dong Q, Gómez-Hassan D, Mukherji SK, Maly P, Welsh R. Diffusion tensor imaging of the brain: review of clinical applications. *Neuroradiology* (2004) 46:339–50. doi:10.1007/s00234-003-1114-x
- 46. Wada T, Asano Y, Shinoda J. Decreased fractional anisotropy evaluated using tract-based spatial statistics and correlated with cognitive dysfunction in patients with mild traumatic brain injury in the chronic stage. *AJNR Am J Neuroradiol* (2012) 33:2117–22. doi:10.3174/ajnr.A3141
- Krishna R, Grinn M, Giordano N, Thirunavukkarasu M, Tadi P, Das S. Diagnostic confirmation of mild traumatic brain injury by diffusion tensor imaging: a case report. J Med Case Rep (2012) 6:66. doi:10.1186/1752-1947-6-66
- Strauss S, Hulkower M, Gulko E, Zampolin RL, Gutman D, Chitkara M, et al. Current clinical applications and future potential of diffusion tensor imaging in traumatic brain injury. *Top Magn Reson Imaging* (2015) 24:353–62. doi:10.1097/RMR.000000000000071
- Schlaggar BL, Brown TT, Lugar HM, Visscher KM, Miezin FM, Petersen SE. Functional neuroanatomical differences between adults and school-age children in the processing of single words. *Science* (2002) 296:1476–9. doi:10.1126/science.1069464
- Wilke M, Schmithorst VJ, Holland SK. Normative pediatric brain data for spatial normalization and segmentation differs from standard adult data. *Magn Reson Med* (2003) 50:749–57. doi:10.1002/mrm.10606
- Chen SHA, Kareken DA, Fastenau PS, Trexler LE, Hutchins GD. A study of persistent post-concussion symptoms in mild head trauma using positron emission tomography. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry* (2003) 74:326–32. doi:10.1136/jnnp.74.3.326
- Shenton ME, Hamoda HM, Schneiderman JS, Bouix S, Pasternak O, Rathi Y, et al. A review of magnetic resonance imaging and diffusion tensor imaging findings in mild traumatic brain injury. *Brain Imaging Behav* (2012) 6:137–92. doi:10.1007/s11682-012-9156-5
- 53. Park SJ, Hur JW, Kwon KY, Rhee JJ, Lee JW, Lee HK. Time to recover consciousness in patients with diffuse axonal injury: assessment with reference

to magnetic resonance grading. J Korean Neurosurg Soc (2009) 46:205-9. doi:10.3340/jkns.2009.46.3.205

- Kirov II, Tal A, Babb JS, Reaume J, Bushnik T, Ashman TA, et al. Proton MR spectroscopy correlates diffuse axonal abnormalities with post-concussive symptoms in mild traumatic brain injury. *J Neurotrauma* (2013) 30:1200–4. doi:10.1089/neu.2012.2696
- 55. Bryant R. Post-traumatic stress disorder vs traumatic brain injury. *Dialogues Clin Neurosci* (2011) 13:251–62.
- Meares S, Shores E, Taylor A, Batchelor J, Bryant R, Baguley I, et al. Mild traumatic brain injury does not predict acute postconcussion syndrome. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry* (2007) 79:300–6. doi:10.1136/jnnp.2007.126565
- 57. Meares S, Shores EA, Taylor AJ, Batchelor J, Bryant RA, Baguley IJ, et al. The prospective course of postconcussion syndrome: the role of mild traumatic brain injury. *Neuropsychology* (2011) 25:454–65. doi:10.1037/a0022580
- Humayun MS, Presty SK, Lafrance ND, Holcomb HH, Loats H, Long DM, et al. Local cerebral glucose abnormalities in mild closed head injured patients with cognitive impairments. *Nucl Med Commun* (1989) 10:335–44. doi:10.1097/00006231-198905000-00004
- Otte A, Ettlin TM, Nitzsche EU, Wachter K, Hoegerle S, Simon GH, et al. PET and SPECT in whiplash syndrome: a new approach to a forgotten brain? *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry* (1997) 63:368–72. doi:10.1136/jnnp.63.3.368
- Ruff RM, Crouch JA, Tröster AI, Marshall LF, Buchsbaum MS, Lottenberg S, et al. Selected cases of poor outcome following a minor brain trauma: comparing neuropsychological and positron emission tomography assessment. *Brain Inj* (1994) 8:297–308. doi:10.3109/02699059409150981
- Freed S, Hellerstein LF. Visual electrodiagnostic findings in mild traumatic brain injury. *Brain Inj* (1997) 11:25–36. doi:10.1080/026990597123782
- Gaetz M, Weinberg H. Electrophysiological indices of persistent postconcussion symptoms. *Brain Inj* (2000) 14:815–32. doi:10.1080/026990 500421921
- Begaz T, Kyriacou DN, Segal J, Bazarian JJ. Serum biochemical markers for post-concussion syndrome in patients with mild traumatic brain injury. *J Neurotrauma* (2006) 23:1201–10. doi:10.1089/neu.2006.23.1201

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2016 Khong, Odenwald, Hashim and Cusimano. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Role of Anticonvulsants in the Management of Posttraumatic **Epilepsy**

Batool F. Kirmani^{1*}, Diana Mungall Robinson², Ekokobe Fonkem³, Kevin Graf³ and Jason H. Huang⁴

¹ Epilepsy Center, Department of Neurology, Baylor Scott & White Health Neuroscience Institute, Texas A&M Health Science Center College of Medicine, Temple, TX, USA, ²Department of Psychiatry, University of Virginia Medical Center, Charlottesville, VA, USA, ³Division of Neuro-oncology, Department of Neurosurgery, Baylor Scott & White Health Neuroscience Institute, Texas A&M Health Science Center College of Medicine, Temple, TX, USA, ⁴Department of Neurosurgery, Baylor Scott & White Health Neuroscience Institute, Texas A&M Health Science Center College of Medicine, Temple, TX, USA

Posttraumatic seizures (PTS) have been recognized as a major complication of traumatic brain injury (TBI). The annual incidence of TBI in the United States is 1.7 million. The role of anticonvulsants in the treatment of posttraumatic epilepsy (PTE) remains uncertain. Based on current studies, however, anticonvulsants have been shown to reduce early PTS occurring within the first 7 days, but little to no benefits have been shown in late PTS occurring after 7 days. In this paper, we provide a mini review of the role of anticonvulsants and current advances in the management of PTE.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Renato Anghinah,

University of São Paulo School of Medicine, Brazil

Reviewed by:

Firas H. Kobeissy, University of Florida, USA Elham Abbasloo. Kerman Physiology Research Center, Iran

> *Correspondence: Batool F. Kirmani Batool.kirmani@BSWHealth.org

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Neurotrauma. a section of the journal Frontiers in Neurology

Received: 27 August 2015 Accepted: 29 February 2016 Published: 22 March 2016

Citation:

Kirmani BF, Robinson DM, Fonkem E, Graf K and Huang JH (2016) Role of Anticonvulsants in the Management of Posttraumatic Epilepsy. Front. Neurol. 7:32. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2016.00032 Keywords: posttraumatic seizures, traumatic brain injury, epilepsy, anticonvulsants, management

POSTTRAUMATIC EPILEPSY

Posttraumatic epilepsy (PTE) due to traumatic brain injury (TBI) has many causes, including wartime combat, vehicle accidents, work-related injuries, and sports injuries. Wartime combat injuries, especially blast injuries and penetrating head injuries (PTI), have shown to increase the risk of seizures, as that of blast models of TBI (1-4). The annual incidence of TBI is estimated to be 1.7 million in the United States, and seizures have been recognized as one of the major complications of this condition (5). The incidence of PTE was described by Annegers and colleagues who conducted a retrospective study in order to identify the characteristics of brain injuries that are associated with the development of seizures for 50 years. The results showed that the severity of the injury was correlated with the interval during which the risk of seizures was increased, even after more than 20 years post injury (6). The other study of interest was the Vietnam Head Injury Study (VHIS) that was a prospective, longitudinal follow-up of 1,221 Vietnam War Veterans who had PTI. The prevalence of PTE in this cohort was 45–53%. Patients with PTI carry a high risk of PTE even for decades; so, long-term medical follow-up is required (7). Similarly, the prospective study by Salazar and colleagues showed that seizure frequency in the first year predicted future severity of seizures. A higher seizure frequency was seen in the first year and was also associated with subjects having a longer duration of epilepsy and persistent seizures (8).

ROLE OF ANTICONVULSANTS IN THE MANAGEMENT OF POSTTRAUMATIC EPILEPSY

The seizures after head injury result in secondary brain damage, which involves increased intracranial pressure, increased metabolic brain demands posthead injury, and excessive release of neurotransmitters, which result in further complicating the existing damage. The main goal of anticonvulsants is to minimize the brain damage by preventing early seizures (9).

The other role of anticonvulsants apart from antiseizure activity is the neuroprotective effect, which has been demonstrated in animal models. Phenytoin, which is still considered as an agent of choice, has been shown to have neuroprotective properties in animal models. Vartanian and colleagues showed that phenytoin has been linked with decreased neuronal damage in neonatal rats following hypoxia (10). Another study by Tasker and colleagues showed similar results in rat hippocampal structures (11). Researchers suggested that neuroprotective effects were related to a blockage of voltage-dependent sodium channels during hypoxia, which decreased the spread of calcium-induced neurotoxicity following hypoxic brain injury (10, 11).

Posttraumatic seizures (PTS) are divided into two subgroups, early and late PTS. Early seizures occur within the first 7 days after brain injury, and late seizures occur after 7 days of injury. These definitions are important in terms of management and predicting prognosis of PTE (12).

The prospective randomized trials did not show promising results of the role anticonvulsants in the management of PTS. The randomized clinical trials are summarized in **Table 1**. No significant differences were seen in the treatment versus the non-treatment groups (13–20). Summary of selected non-randomized trials for posttraumatic seizure prevention was shown in **Table 2**, which also did not show a significant difference between groups (21–28).

Temkin and colleagues showed that phenytoin was considered effective in preventing provoked seizures and promising at preventing unprovoked seizures. Carbamazepine was considered effective in preventing provoked seizures after TBI, although its status was considered uncertain in preventing unprovoked seizures. Phenobarbital was considered promising at preventing provoked seizures and uncertain at preventing unprovoked seizures. Finally, the combination of phenytoin and phenobarbital was considered promising to prevent provoked and unprovoked seizures. It was also shown that provoked seizures showed promising results, but for unprovoked seizures, no drugs were shown to be effective. AEDs prescribed to prevent epileptogenesis should be avoided until clinical trials have found a drug for this purpose (29). Similarly, Chang and Lowenstein conducted a literature review of the evidence of AED prophylaxis in patients with severe TBI in order to guide better practice recommendations. Patients given phenytoin prophylaxis compared to controls had a significantly lower risk of early PTS in

Reference	Study design	Number of patients randomized (N)	Methods	Outcome
Dikmen et al. (13)	RCT	124	Phenytoin versus placebo Patients were randomized to receive either PHT or placebo for 1 year and observed one more year without medication	No significant differences seen in neuropsychological examinations in 1 year between the 2 groups
Temkin et al. (14)	RCT	123	Phenytoin versus placebo Treatment was started within 24 h of injury for 1 year and then 2 groups were followed for 2 years	Early seizures: improvement seen in the PHT GROUP Late seizures: no difference between the 2 groups
Young et al. (15)	RCT	244	Phenytoin versus placebo Treatment was started within 24 h of injury	Early seizures: no difference between the 2 groups Late seizures: study was not designed to determine late seizure outcome
Young et al. (16)	RCT	179	Phenytoin versus placebo Treatment was started within 24 h of injury and 2 groups were followed for 18 months to determine late seizure outcome	Early seizures: study was not designed to determine early seizure outcome Late seizures: no difference between the 2 groups
McQueen et al. (17)	RCT	164	Phenytoin versus placebo Two groups were followed for 2 years Occurrence of seizures was used as outcome measure	Early seizures: study was not designed to determine early seizure outcome Late seizures: no difference between the 2 groups
Szaflarski et al. (18)	RCT	52	Phenytoin versus levetiracetam Treatment was started within 24 h of injury between the 2 groups	Early seizures: no difference between the 2 groups Late seizures: study was not designed to determine late seizure outcome
Temkin et al. (19)	RCT	379	Phenytoin for 1 week versus valproate for 1 month versus valproate for 6 months Treatment was started within 24 h of injury Follow-up of these groups continued for 2 years	Early seizures: no difference among 3 groups Early seizures: no difference among 3 groups
Manaka (20)	RCT	191	Phenobarbital versus no treatment Treatment was started within 4 weeks post head injury They received full dose for 2 years and tapered off in third year Follow-up in 5 years	Early seizures: study was not designed to determine early seizure outcome Late seizures: no difference among 3 groups

TABLE 2 | Summary of selected non-randomized trials for posttraumatic seizure prevention.

Reference	Study design	Number of patients randomized (N)	Methods	Outcome
Servit and Musil (21)	Non-RCT	167	Treatment group ($n = 143$) were administered phenytoin or phenobarbital Control group ($n = 24$) where conventional treatment was used Duration: 2 years	Early seizures: not applicable Late seizures: 25% in the control group and 2.1% in the treatment group
Inaba et al. (22)	Prospective controlled trial	813	Participants were administered either levetiracetam or phenytoin for 7 days	Early seizures: no difference between the 2 groups Late seizures: not applicable
Kruer et al. (23)	Retrospective cohort	109	Retrospective review of patients who received levetiracetam or phenytoin	Early seizures: no difference between the 2 groups Late seizures: not applicable
Gabriel and Rowe (24)	Cohort	19	Participants were divided based on levetiracetam and phenytoin prophylaxis Follow-up interview conducted to assess seizure outcome	Early seizures: no difference between the 2 groups Late seizures: no difference between the 2 groups
Jones et al. (25)	Cohort	27	Phenytoin versus levetiracetam administered during first 24 h post severe TBI	Early seizures: no difference between the 2 groups Late seizures: not applicable
Bhullar et al. (26)	Case-control	93	Phenytoin versus no treatment to determine occurrence of early seizures	Early seizures: no difference between the 2 groups Late seizures: not applicable
Formisano et al. (27)	Retrospective and prospective	137	Anticonvulsants versus no treatment Study 1: prospective Study 2: retrospective	Study 1 – No difference between the 2 groups Study 2 – Late seizures higher in the treated group
Watson et al. (28)	Cohort	404	Glucocorticoids administered within 1 day versus no glucocorticoids	Early seizures: not applicable Late seizures: no difference between the 2 groups

pooled class I studies. There were no significant differences in the risk of late PTS patients receiving phenytoin, carbamazepine, or valproate prophylaxis versus controls in pooled class I and class II studies. In these studies, adverse effects were frequent, but mild and serum AED levels were suboptimal. The authors concluded that phenytoin prophylaxis is effective in decreasing the risk of early PTS in adult patients with severe TBI. However, late PTS are not decreased by AED prophylaxis (30). Current guidelines issued by the Brain Trauma Foundation and the American Academy of Neurology (AAN) for the management of severe TBI recommend seizure prophylaxis only for 7 days post injury. Phenytoin still remains the desired treatment because it has been extensively studied and there is proven evidence of its efficacy. The other antiepileptic agents, such as phenobarbital, valproate, and carbamazepine, have gone through limited trials as compared to phenytoin and their adverse effect profiles and pharmacodynamics properties still make phenytoin the desired antiepileptic for early prophylaxis of PTS (30).

The new anticonvulsants were favored over the older agents because of their unique pharmacokinetic properties, fewer serious side effects, and fewer drug–drug interactions (31). A second generation anticonvulsant that has generated particular interest is levetiracetam (23). Jones and colleagues conducted a retrospective study, which showed that levetiracetam can be used as an alternative to phenytoin, but the study was limited due to a small sample size (25). Szaflarski and colleagues conducted the first prospective randomized comparative trial of intravenous levetiracetam versus phenytoin for seizure prophylaxis in the neurointensive care unit setting, which showed that levetiracetam can be used as an alternative to phenytoin for seizure prophylaxis in the neuroscience intensive care setting. This study had limitations, including a small sample size and a lack of data reported on the concomitant use of sedating agents for induction of pharmacologically-induced coma (18). Kirmani and colleagues also conducted a literature review on the role of intravenous levetiracetam in seizure prophylaxis of severe TBI patients, which showed that levetiracetam can be used as an option in acute PTS (32). Gabapentin (GBP) is another anticonvulsant that acts at the $\alpha 2\delta$ -1 submit of the L-type calcium channel. It has been shown that chronic administration of GBP after cortical injury is antiepileptogenic in the undercut model of PTE. The results suggest that it may have a neuroprotective effect and may also decrease excitatory synapse formation. These results suggest the potential use of GBP as an anticonvulsant following TBI (33). A meta-analysis by Zafar and colleagues also concluded that there is no particular drug that is superior in preventing early seizures (34).

Wroblewski and Joseph reported 10 case studies of TBI patients treated with intramuscular midazolam for acute seizure cessation after other benzodiazepine drugs had failed. Slight to moderate sedation was the only reported side effect. The study was limited due to small sample size and was conducted to treat rather than prevent PTS (35).

The role of anticonvulsants in early PTS seems favorable as compared to late PTS. Anticonvulsants are found to be effective in patients who develop PTE.

Phenytoin remains the most commonly used anticonvulsants, but the side effects do favor the use of newer anticonvulsants, e.g., levetiracetam because of lack of drug–drug interactions and availability in parenteral form. The cognitive side effects and non linear kinetics limit the use in certain patient populations (13). Carbamazepine has shown to be effective but drug–drug interactions and unavailability in parenteral form limits the use of this agent. Neurocognitive side effects were also seen in other older anticonvulsants, including Phenobarbital, which may mask the mental status findings in TBI patients because of the sedating effects. Valproate can cause coagulopathy which may result in intracranial hemorrhage (30, 31).

Unfortunately, limited scientific data exist, which are specific to PTE with other anticonvulsants, and there is a need for additional controlled randomized clinical trials to explore more options.

NEW DIRECTIONS IN THE MANAGEMENT OF POSTTRAUMATIC EPILEPSY

The PTE can be differentiated from PTS that are sequelae from TBI. The term PTE signifies recurrent seizure disorder due to TBI or any surgery on the brain (36).

Posttraumatic epilepsy remains a challenge despite new medications that have come in the last decade. We still face problems with effective seizure control. TBI is the most common cause of acquired focal epilepsy (37–40). The model that was commonly used to assess antiepileptogenic interventions is the rostral parasagittal fluid percussion injury model (rpFPI) (41–43). This model helps in mimicking closed head injury by reproducing destructive processes as well as regenerative inflammatory processes (44). This is now considered as an excellent model for PTE (41–44). This model may progress to intractable multifocal epilepsy after a few months post injury (45). Interestingly, this model has shown to represent a severe form of PTE which is not controlled by carbamazepine, valproic acid, and carisbamate (41, 42). One study using this model showed mild cooling of

REFERENCES

- 1. Kovacs SK, Leonessa F, Ling GS. Blast TBI models, neuropathology, and implications for seizure risk. *Front Neurol* (2014) 5:47. doi:10.3389/fneur.2014.00047
- Krisztian KS, Leonessa F, Grimes J, Ling GSF. A neuropathology approach to understanding of explosive blast TBI seizure risk. *J Neurol Disord Stroke* (2014) 2:1071.
- Steinmetz S, Tipold A, Löscher W. Epilepsy after head injury in dogs: a natural model of post-traumatic epilepsy. *Epilepsia* (2013) 54(4):580–8. doi:10.1111/ epi.12071
- Pitkänen A, McIntosh TK. Animal models of post-traumatic epilepsy. J Neurotrauma (2006) 23(2):241–61. doi:10.1089/neu.2006.23.241
- Faul M, Xu L, Wald MM, Coronado VG. *Traumatic Brain Injury in the United States: Emergency Department Visits, Hospitalizations, and Deaths*. Atlanta, GA: Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, National Center for Injury Prevention and Control (2010).
- Annegers JF, Hauser WA, Coan SP, Rocca WA. A population-based study of seizures after traumatic brain injuries. N Engl J Med (1998) 338:20–4. doi:10.1056/NEJM199801013380104
- Raymont V, Salazar AM, Lipsky R, Goldman D, Tasick G, Grafman J. Correlates of post-traumatic epilepsy 35 years following combat brain injury. *Neurology* (2010) 75(3):224–9. doi:10.1212/WNL.0b013e3181e8e6d0
- Salazar AM, Jabbari B, Vance SC, Grafman J, Amin D, Dillon JD. Epilepsy after penetrating head injury. I. Clinical correlates: a report of the Vietnam Head Injury Study. *Neurology* (1985) 35:1406–14. doi:10.1212/WNL.35.10.1406
- Schierhout G, Roberts I. Prophylactic antiepileptic agents after head injury: a systematic review. *Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry* (1998) 64:108–12. doi:10.1136/ jnnp.64.1.108
- Vartanian MG, Cordon JJ, Kupina NC, Schielke GP, Posner A, Raser KJ, et al. Phenytoin pretreatment prevents hypoxic-ischemic brain

epileptogenic focus and prevention of recurrent seizures. Based on the above studies, prolonged and mild cooling has been tried in these subgroups of patients and was found to be safe and improve functional recovery (46–49).

The animal model data also show that it is possible to target anti-inflammatory agents that are used for other indications as alternative to anticonvulsants. Progesterone has been shown to have promising effects in several brain injury models (50). The smaller sample size in humans did show some positive results (51, 52). However, the current evidence is insufficient to support the use of progesterone in the management of TBI (53).

CONCLUSION

Anticonvulsants have proven to be beneficial in the first 7 days post injury. Phenytoin still remains the anticonvulsant of choice because it is widely studied and researched as compared to other anticonvulsants. Levetiracetam seems to be a viable alternative because of its unique pharmacodynamics properties; however, more head-on prospective clinical trials are needed regarding phenytoin in order to prove its efficacy as a first line agent in PTE. Clinical trials are needed to study the efficacy of second and third generation anticonvulsants in the treatment of PTE. Clinical trials are also needed to prove the role of mild selective cooling in patients with PTE.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors listed, have made substantial, direct, and intellectual contribution to the work and approved it for publication.

damage in neonatal rats. Brain Res Dev Brain Res (1996) **95**(2):169-75. doi:10.1016/0165-3806(96)00073-9

- Tasker RC, Coyle JT, Vornov JJ. The regional vulnerability to hypoglycemia-induced neurotoxicity in organotypic hippocampal culture: protection by early tetrodotoxin or delayed MK-801. J Neurosci (1992) 12(11):4298–308.
- Vespa PM, Miller C, McArthur D, Eliseo M, Etchepare M, Hirt D, et al. Nonconvulsive electrographic seizures after traumatic brain injury result in a delayed, prolonged increase in intracranial pressure and metabolic crisis. *Crit Care Med* (2007) 35:2830–6. doi:10.1097/01.CCM.0000295667.66853.BC
- Dikmen SS, Temkin NR, Miller B, Machamer J, Winn HR. Neurobehavioral effects of phenytoin prophylaxis of posttraumatic seizures. *JAMA* (1991) 265(10):1271–7. doi:10.1001/jama.265.10.1271
- Temkin NR, Dikmen SS, Wilensky AJ, Keihm J, Chabal S, Winn HR. A randomized, double-blind study of phenytoin for the prevention of post-traumatic seizures. N Engl J Med (1990) 323(8):497–502. doi:10.1056/ NEJM199008233230801
- Young B, Rapp RP, Norton JA, Haack D, Tibbs PA, Bean JR. Failure of prophylactically administered phenytoin to prevent early posttraumatic seizures. *J Neurosurg* (1983) 58(2):231–5. doi:10.3171/jns.1983.58.2.0236
- Young B, Rapp RP, Norton JA, Haack D, Tibbs PA, Bean JR. Failure of prophylactically administered phenytoin to prevent late posttraumatic seizures. *J Neurosurg* (1983) 58(2):236–41. doi:10.3171/jns.1983.58.2.0236
- McQueen JK, Blackwood DHR, Harris P, Kalbag RM, Johnson AL. Low risk of late post-traumatic seizures following severe head injury: implications for clinical trials of prophylaxis. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry* (1983) 46(10):899–904. doi:10.1136/jnnp.46.10.899
- Szaflarski JP, Sangha KS, Lindsell CJ, Shutter LA. Prospective, randomized, single-blinded comparative trial of intravenous levetiracetam versus phenytoin for seizure prophylaxis. *Neurocrit Care* (2010) 12:165–72. doi:10.1007/ s12028-009-9304-y

- Temkin NR, Dikmen SS, Anderson GD, Wilensky AJ, Holmes MD, Cohen W, et al. Valproate therapy for prevention of posttraumatic seizures: a randomized trial. J Neurosurg (1999) 91(4):593–600. doi:10.3171/jns.1999.91.4.0593
- Manaka S. Cooperative prospective study on posttraumatic epilepsy: risk factors and the effect of prophylactic anticonvulsant. *Jpn J Psychiatry Neurol* (1992) 46(2):311–5.
- Servit Z, Musil F. Prophylactic treatment of posttraumatic epilepsy: results of a long-term follow-up in Czechoslovakia. *Epilepsia* (1981) 22(3):315–20. doi: 10.1111/j.1528-1157.1981.tb04115.x
- Inaba K, Menaker J, Branco BC, Gooch J, Okoye OT, Herrold J, et al. A prospective multicenter comparison of levetiracetam versus phenytoin for early posttraumatic seizure prophylaxis. *J Trauma Acute Care Surg* (2013) 74(3):766–71. doi:10.1097/TA.0b013e3182826e84
- Kruer RM, Harris LH, Goodwin H, Kornbluth J, Thomas KP, Slater LA, et al. Changing trends in the use of seizure prophylaxis after traumatic brain injury: a shift from phenytoin to levetiracetam. *J Crit Care* (2013) 28(5):.e9–13. doi:10.1016/j.jcrc.2012.11.020
- 24. Gabriel WM, Rowe AS. Long-term comparison of GOS-E scores in patients treated with phenytoin or levetiracetam for posttraumatic seizure prophylaxis after traumatic brain injury. *Ann Pharmacother* (2014) **48**(11):1440–4. doi:10.1177/1060028014549013
- Jones KE, Puccio AM, Harshman KJ, Falcione B, Benedict N, Jankowitz BT, et al. Levetiracetam versus phenytoin for seizure prophylaxis in severe traumatic brain injury. *Neurosurg Focus* (2008) 25:E3. doi:10.3171/FOC.2008.25.10.E3
- Bhullar IS, Johnson D, Paul JP, Kerwin AJ, Tepas JJ, Frykberg ER. More harm than good: antiseizure prophylaxis after traumatic brain injury does not decrease seizure rates but may inhibit functional recovery. *J Trauma Acute Care Surg* (2014) **76**(1):54–61. doi:10.1097/TA.0b013e3182aafd15
- Formisano R, Barba C, Buzzi MG, Newcomb-Fernandez J, Menniti-Ippolito F, Zafonte R, et al. The impact of prophylactic treatment on post-traumatic epilepsy after severe traumatic brain injury. *Brain Inj* (2007) 21(5):499–504. doi:10.1080/02699050701310994
- Watson NF, Barber JK, Doherty MJ, Miller JW, Temkin NR. Does glucocorticoid administration prevent late seizures after head injury? *Epilepsia* (2004) 45(6):690–4. doi:10.1111/j.0013-9580.2004.59403.x
- Temkin NR. Antiepileptogenesis and seizure prevention trials with antiepileptic drugs: meta-analysis of controlled trials. *Epilepsia* (2001) 42:515–24. doi:10.1046/j.1528-1157.2001.28900.x
- Chang BS, Lowenstein DH; Quality Standards Subcommittee of the American Academy of Neurology. Practice parameter: antiepileptic drug prophylaxis in severe traumatic brain injury: report of the Quality Standards Subcommittee of the American Academy of Neurology. *Neurology* (2003) 60:10–6. doi:10.1212/01.WNL.0000031432.05543.14
- LaRouche SM. A new look at the second generation antiepileptic drugs: a decade of experience. *Neurologist* (2007) 13(13):133-9. doi:10.1097/01. nrl.0000256353.14257.7c
- Kirmani BF, Mungall D, Ling G. Role of intravenous levetiracetam in seizure prophylaxis of severe traumatic brain injury patients. *Front Neurol* (2013) 4:170. doi:10.3389/fneur.2013.00170
- Li H, Graber KD, Jin S, McDonald W, Barres BA, Prince DA. Gabapentin decreases epileptiform discharges in a chronic model of neocortical trauma. *Neurobiol Dis* (2012) 48(3):429–38. doi:10.1016/j.nbd.2012.06.019
- Zafar SN, Khan AA, Ghauri AA, Shamim MS. Phenytoin versus levetiracetam for seizure prophylaxis after brain injury – a meta analysis. *BMC Neurol* (2012) 12:30. doi:10.1186/1471-2377-12-30
- Wroblewski BA, Joseph AB. The use of intramuscular midazolam for acute seizure cessation or behavioral emergencies in patients with traumatic brain injury. *Clin Neuropharmacol* (1992) 15(1):44–9. doi:10.1097/00002826-199202000-00006
- Hunt RF, Boychuk JA, Smith BN. Neural circuit mechanisms of post-traumatic epilepsy. Front Cell Neurosci (2013) 7:89. doi:10.3389/fncel.2013.00089
- Agrawal A, Timothy J, Pandit L, Manju M. Post-traumatic epilepsy: an overview. *Clin Neurol Neurosurg* (2006) 108:433–9. doi:10.1016/j.clineuro.2005.09.001

- Eftekhar B, Sahraian MA, Nouralishahi B, Khaji A, Vahabi Z, Ghodsi M, et al. Prognostic factors in the persistence of post-traumatic epilepsy after penetrating head injuries sustained in war. *J Neurosurg* (2009) 110(2):319–26. doi:10.3171/2008.4.17519
- Christensen J. Traumatic brain injury: risks of epilepsy and implications for medicolegal assessment. *Epilepsia* (2012) 53(4):43–7. doi:10.1111/ j.1528-1167.2012.03612.x
- Frey LC. Epidemiology of post-traumatic epilepsy: a critical review. *Epilepsia* (2003) 44(10):11–7. doi:10.1046/j.1528-1157.44.s10.4.x
- Eastman CL, Verley DR, Fender JS, Temkin NR, D'Ambrosio R. ECoG studies of valproate, carbamazepine and halothane in frontal-lobe epilepsy induced by head injury in the rat. *Exp Neurol* (2010) **224**(2):369–88. doi:10.1016/ j.expneurol.2010.04.013
- Eastman CL, Verley DR, Fender JS, Stewart TH, Nov E, Curia G, et al. Antiepileptic and antiepileptogenic performance of carisbamate after head injury in the rat: blind and randomized studies. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther* (2011) 336(3):779–90. doi:10.1124/jpet.110.175133
- Thompson HJ, Lifshitz J, Marklund N, Grady MS, Graham DI, Hovda DA, et al. Lateral fluid percussion brain injury: a 15-year review and evaluation. *J Neurotrauma* (2005) 22(1):42–75. doi:10.1089/neu.2005.22.42
- D'Ambrosio R, Eastman CL, Darvas F, Fender JS, Verley DR, Farin FM, et al. Mild passive focal cooling prevents epileptic seizures after head injury in rats. *Ann Neurol* (2013) 73(2):199–209. doi:10.1002/ana.23764
- D'Ambrosio R, Fender JS, Fairbanks JP, Simon EA, Born DE, Doyle DL, et al. Progression from frontal-parietal to mesial-temporal epilepsy after fluid percussion injury in the rat. *Brain* (2005) 128(Pt. 1):174–88. doi:10.1093/ brain/awh337
- Fox JL, Vu EN, Doyle-Waters M, Brubacher JR, Abu-Laban R, Hu Z. Prophylactic hypothermia for traumatic brain injury: a quantitative systematic review. *CJEM* (2010) 12:355–64.
- Polderman KH. Induced hypothermia and fever control for prevention and treatment of neurological injuries. *Lancet* (2008) 371(9628):1955–69. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(08)60837-5
- Jiang JY, Xu W, Li WP, Gao GY, Bao YH, Liang YM, et al. Effect of longterm mild hypothermia or short-term mild hypothermia on outcome of patients with severe traumatic brain injury. *J Cereb Blood Flow Metab* (2006) 26(6):771–6. doi:10.1038/sj.jcbfm.9600253
- Sadaka F, Veremakis C. Therapeutic hypothermia for the management of intracranial hypertension in severe traumatic brain injury: a systematic review. *Brain Inj* (2012) 26(7–8):899–908. doi:10.3109/02699052.2012.661120
- Sayeed I, Stein DG. Progesterone as a neuroprotective factor in traumatic and ischemic brain injury. *Prog Brain Res* (2009) 175:219–37. doi:10.1016/ S0079-6123(09)17515-5
- Wright DW, Kellermann AL, Hertzberg VS, Clark PL, Frankel M, Goldstein FC, et al. ProTECT: a randomized clinical trial of progesterone for acute traumatic brain injury. *Ann Emerg Med* (2007) 49(4):391–402. doi:10.1016/j. annemergmed.2006.07.932
- Xiao G, Wei J, Yan W, Wang W, Lu Z. Improved outcomes from the administration of progesterone for patients with acute severe traumatic brain injury: a randomized controlled trial. *Crit Care* (2008) 12(2):R61. doi:10.1186/cc6887
- Stein DG, Sayeed I. Is progesterone worth consideration as a treatment for brain injury? Am J Roentgenol (2010) 194(1):20–2. doi:10.2214/AJR.09.3407

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2016 Kirmani, Robinson, Fonkem, Graf and Huang. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Effects of Soccer Heading on Brain Structure and Function

Ana Carolina Rodrigues^{1,2}, Rodrigo Pace Lasmar³ and Paulo Caramelli^{2*}

¹ Pró-Reitoria de Graduação, Reitoria da Universidade Federal de Minas Gerais, Belo Horizonte, Minas Gerais, Brazil, ² Grupo de Pesquisa em Neurologia Cognitiva e do Comportamento, Departamento de Clínica Médica, Faculdade de Medicina da Universidade Federal de Minas Gerais, Belo Horizonte, Minas Gerais, Brazil, ³ Faculdade de Ciências Médicas de Minas Gerais, Belo Horizonte, Minas Gerais, Brazil

Soccer is the most popular sport in the world, with more than 265 million players worldwide, including professional and amateur ones. Soccer is unique in comparison to other sports, as it is the only sport in which participants purposely use their head to hit the ball. Heading is considered as an offensive or defensive move whereby the player's unprotected head is used to deliberately impact the ball and direct it during play. A soccer player can be subjected to an average of 6-12 incidents of heading the ball per competitive game, where the ball reaches high velocities. Moreover, in practice sessions, heading training, which involves heading the ball repeatedly at low velocities, is common. Although the scientific community, as well as the media, has focused on the effects of concussions in contact sports, the role of subconcussive impacts, as it can occur during heading, has recently gained attention, considering that it may represent an additional mechanism of cumulative brain injury. The purpose of this study is to review the existing literature regarding the effects of soccer heading on brain structure and function. Only in the last years, some investigations have addressed the impact of heading on brain structure, by using neuroimaging techniques. Similarly, there have been some recent studies investigating biochemical markers of brain injury in soccer players. There is evidence of association between heading and abnormal brain structure, but the data are still preliminary. Also, some studies have suggested that subconcussive head impacts, as heading, could cause cognitive impairment, whereas others have not corroborated this finding. Questions persist as to whether or not heading is deleterious to cognitive functioning. Further studies, especially with longitudinal designs, are needed to clarify the clinical significance of heading as a cause of brain injury and to identify risk factors. Such investigations might contribute to the establishment of safety guidelines that could help to minimize the risk of possible adverse effects of soccer on brain structure and function.

Keywords: sports, soccer, heading, injury, brain, cognition

INTRODUCTION

Soccer is the most popular sport in the world, with more than 265 million players worldwide, including professional and amateur ones (1). Although it is a sport not traditionally identified as high-risk for concussions (2–4), soccer players are prone to traumatic brain injury (5–7), and up to 22% of all soccer injuries are concussions (8). Furthermore, several studies have shown that concussion rates in

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Renato Anghinah, Medicine School of University of Sao Paulo, Brazil

Reviewed by:

Robert A. Stern, Boston University School of Medicine, USA Manuel B. Graeber, University of Sydney, Australia

> *Correspondence: Paulo Caramelli caramelli@ufmg.br

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Neurotrauma, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neurology

Received: 28 January 2016 Accepted: 07 March 2016 Published: 21 March 2016

Citation:

Rodrigues AC, Lasmar RP and Caramelli P (2016) Effects of Soccer Heading on Brain Structure and Function. Front. Neurol. 7:38. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2016.00038

84

soccer are comparable to, and often exceed, those of other contact sports traditionally considered as inherently more violent, such as football and ice hockey (9). A prospective study investigating female middle-school soccer players (10) reported that heading the ball accounted for 30.5% of concussions. Similarly, a recent retrospective analysis involving high-school soccer players (11) showed that heading was responsible for 30.6% of concussions among boys and 25.3% among girls, although the most frequent mechanism of injury in heading-related concussions was player– player contact during the ball dispute.

Head injury during soccer is usually the result of either direct contact (e.g., head vs. head, head vs. knee, and head vs. the ground) or contact with the ball while heading it. In this sense, soccer is unique in comparison to other sports, as it is the only sport in which participants purposely use their head to hit the ball. Heading is considered an offensive or defensive move whereby the player's unprotected head is used to deliberately impact the ball and direct it during play. Players may head the ball to pass to another player, move the ball down the field, or score a goal. To counter to external forces to the head during impact, players must prepare for impact by bracing the neck musculature and properly execute the technique by moving the entire body in one motion (12). A soccer player can be subjected to an average of 6-12 incidents of heading the ball per competitive game, where the ball reaches high velocities (13). Moreover, in practice sessions, heading training, which involves heading the ball repeatedly at low velocities, is common. Although the scientific community, as well as the media, has focused on the effects of concussions in contact sports, the role of subconcussive impacts, as it can occur during heading, has recently gained attention, considering that it may represent an additional mechanism of cumulative brain injury. The term "subconcussive" was proposed to describe the impact to the head that may cause neuronal dysfunction in the absence of concussive symptoms (14).

Heading involves repeated impact, acceleration–deceleration of the brain inside the skull, and possibly rotation of the brain. Moreover, cumulative effects of repetitive minor injury may not manifest for many years, as in chronic traumatic encephalopathy (15). Therefore, pathological evidence of traumatic brain injury, if detectable, is likely to present prior to onset of overt symptoms or disability. Importantly, the possible negative effects of heading may depend on the rate of exposures, the time between exposures, and the vulnerability of individual players (15).

The purpose of this study is to review the existing literature regarding the effects of soccer heading on brain structure and function. These investigations have explored the consequences of immediate (e.g., after a soccer match), short-term (e.g., after one or few soccer seasons), and long-term (e.g., after many soccer seasons) heading exposure. Only in the last years, some studies have addressed the impact of heading on brain structure, by using neuroimaging techniques. Similarly, there have been some recent studies investigating biochemical markers of brain injury in soccer players. There is evidence of association between heading and abnormal brain structure, but the data are still preliminary. Also, some studies have suggested that subconcussive head impacts, as heading, could cause cognitive impairment, whereas others have not corroborated this finding.

We searched three databases – such as PubMed, LILACS, and Scopus – for articles published until December 2015, by using the terms "soccer," "heading," and "brain." The search retrieved 92 articles published from 1981 to 2015. Considering the inclusion criteria, which involved papers with original research design, English language, and focus on the effects of soccer heading on brain structure and/or function, 29 articles were selected for the present review. We had full access to all these studies, except to two of them.

EFFECTS OF SOCCER HEADING ON BRAIN STRUCTURE

Some investigations have demonstrated changes in brain structure of soccer players and suggested an association between these changes and soccer heading. However, the data are still preliminary, as summarized in **Table 1**.

Neuroimaging

A small number of studies have investigated the impact of heading on brain structure by using neuroimaging techniques. An early study by Sortland and Tysvaer (16) evaluated male former professional soccer players, aged between 39 and 68 years, who were submitted to cerebral computer tomography (CCT) with assessment for brain atrophy, visually and by linear measurements. The results showed that, by visual grading, about one-third of the players had slight to moderate central atrophy with widening of the lateral ventricles, which was strongly supported by linear measurements compared to normal controls. The authors assumed that the brain damage is a result of playing soccer for years, therefore a consequence of long-term heading exposure, with multiple small head injuries mainly connected with heading.

More recently, Lipton et al. (15) investigated white matter microstructure in male and female amateur soccer players, with a mean age of 30.9 years, by using the diffusion tensor magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) technique. The primary imaging outcome was fractional anisotropy (FA), which provides assessment of the degree of anisotropic diffusion, defined as the presence of diffusional movements in different directions, occurring within a brain region. FA tends to be high in regions of high cellular organization, and low in regions where the cells are not specifically oriented (17). Therefore, FA is often used to measure the integrity of white matter, since it reflects the degree of myelination and axonal density. The participants completed a questionnaire to quantify heading in the prior 12 months, which characterizes a short-term heading exposure, and were also submitted to a computerized neuropsychological evaluation, which aimed to assess psychomotor speed, attention, executive function, and memory. Each soccer player headed approximately 432 times over the previous year. High frequency of heading was associated with lower FA at three locations in temporo-occipital white matter, and also with poorer performance in the memory test. Interestingly, these associations were not linear, but there were thresholds in terms of number of headings needed to trigger FA reduction (between 885 and 1550 headings per year, depending on the brain region) and cognitive impairment (1800 headings per year). The results,

TABLE 1 Summary of the studi	es investigating the effects of	soccer heading on brain structure.
--------------------------------	---------------------------------	------------------------------------

Reference	Samples	Methods	Heading exposure	Main results
Neuroimaging				
Sortland and Tysvaer (16)	Male former professional soccer players	CCT	Long-term exposure	One-third of the players had slight to moderate central atrophy with widening of the lateral ventricles
Lipton et al. (15)	Male and female amateur soccer players	Diffusion tensor MRI	Short-term exposure	High frequency of heading was associated with lower FA at three locations in temporo-occipital white matter
Koerte et al. (18)	Male former professional soccer players and non- contact sport athletes	MRI	Long-term exposure	Greater cortical thinning with increasing age in the right inferolateral- parietal, temporal, and occipital cortex was demonstrated in soccer players compared to controls
Jordan et al. (21)	Male professional soccer players and track athletes	MRI	Long-term exposure	No differences were verified in brain structure between soccer players and controls
Biochemical m	narkers of brain injury			
Mussack et al. (22)	Male amateur soccer players and patients after minor traumatic brain injury	Analysis of serum S-100B levels	Immediate exposure	S-100B serum levels were elevated after heading when compared to normal exercise. None of the soccer players reached S-100B serum levels verified in subjects showing traumatic brain injury
Stålnacke et al. (24)/Stålnacke et al. (25)	Male professional soccer players/female professional soccer players	Analysis of serum S-100B and NSE levels	Immediate exposure	Serum levels of S-100B and NSE increased after a game. Increases ir S-100B were positively correlated to the number of headings and of other trauma events
Straume- Naesheim et al. (26)	Male professional soccer players	Analysis of serum S-100B levels	Immediate exposure	Serum levels of S-100B increased after a regular league match, with or without head impact, after a high-intensity training session without heading, and after a low-intensity training session with heading exercises. The increase for the match groups was higher than for the training groups, but no differences were seen between the two match groups or the two training groups
Bamaç et al. (27)	Male professional soccer players	Analysis of serum NGF and BDNF levels	Immediate exposure	Serum levels of NGF and BDNF were elevated in response to heading exercises
Koerte et al. (29)	Male former professional soccer players and non-contact sport athletes	Magnetic resonance spectroscopy	Long-term exposure	Increases in choline and myo-inositol were verified in soccer players when compared with controls. Myo-inositol and glutathione were positively correlated with lifetime estimate of headings
Zetterberg et al. (30)	Male amateur soccer players and non-athletic subjects	Analysis of serum and/or cerebrospinal fluid concentrations of NF-L, T-tau, GFAP, S-100B, and albumin	Immediate exposure	There were no differences in concentrations of biomarkers of brain injury between soccer players who performed 10 or 20 headings or between either of these two groups and the control group. Biomarker levels did not correlate with the number of headings
Stålnacke and Sojka (31)	Male amateur soccer players	Analysis of serum S-100B levels	Immediate exposure	There were no increases in serum levels of S-100B after a heading session. No differences were seen in S-100B between players who performed or not headings, either before or after the session

CCT, cerebral computed tomography; MRI, magnetic resonance imaging; FA, fractional anisotropy; NSE, neuron-specific enolase; NGF, nerve growth factor; BDNF, brain-derived neurotrophic factor; NF-L, neurofilament light protein; T-tau, total tau protein; GFAP, glial fibrillary acidic protein.

which suggest an association between heading and abnormal white matter microstructure and also poorer cognitive performance, were not explained by lifetime concussion history and demographic features. Nonetheless, a limitation of this study is its cross-sectional nature, which avoids the establishment of a clear causal relationship between heading and brain changes.

Koerte et al. (18), in a recent investigation, evaluated cortical thickness in male former professional soccer players, with a mean age of 49.3 years, compared to age- and gender-matched former professional non-contact sport athletes, by using high-resolution structural MRI. All individuals, in both groups, were still actively participating in their respective sports at the time of the study. Soccer players were asked to inform how many headings they performed per week during the past 12 months prior to the investigation, and such a number was multiplied by the total years of formal training in soccer in order to obtain a lifetime estimate of headings, that is, an approximate calculation of long-term heading

exposure. The results demonstrated greater cortical thinning with increasing age in the right inferolateral-parietal, temporal, and occipital cortex in soccer players compared to controls. In addition, cortical thinning in soccer players was associated with lower cognitive processing speed in the Trail Making Test A (19), which measures visual search and psychomotor speed, as well as with estimated exposure to repetitive subconcussive head impact. Also, a cognitive comparison between groups revealed decreased memory performance in soccer players, in relation to controls, in the Rey-Osterrieth Complex Figures Test (20), which measures visuoconstruction, planning and organization, and visual memory, although findings were in the normal range for both groups. According to the researchers, despite the limitations of the study, which include the small sample size and athletes self-report about history of headings, the results suggest that repetitive subconcussive head impact may play a role in age-related cortical thinning that may lead to early cognitive decline in soccer players.

On the other hand, a previous study by Jordan et al. (21) failed to find any evidence of brain structure damage in soccer players. Male professional soccer players, with a mean age of 24.8 years, were compared with age- and gender-matched elite track athletes with respect to a questionnaire regarding symptoms of head and neck injuries, as well as to MRI abnormalities. A heading exposure index was developed to assess a dose-response effect of chronic heading over the player's career. Thus, the authors aimed to examine the consequences of long-term heading exposure. Questionnaire analysis and MRI results demonstrated no significant differences between groups. Among the soccer players, there was no correlation between the outcome variables and heading exposure parameters. However, reported head injury symptoms correlated significantly with histories of prior acute head injuries. According to the researchers, these findings suggest that any evidence of brain trauma in soccer players relates more to acute head injuries than repetitive heading.

Biochemical Markers of Brain Injury

Some studies have specifically investigated biochemical markers of brain damage in soccer players, as well as their relationship with head impacts. Mussack et al. (22) measured serum levels of S-100B, a calcium-binding protein that is present in the astroglial cells of the central nervous system, in male young amateur soccer players, aged between 12 and 17 years, before and after controlled heading and normal exercise, as well as in older patients after minor traumatic brain injury. Previous studies have demonstrated that increased serum concentrations of this biomarker may reflect the presence and severity of brain tissue damage (23). The results of this investigation, which explored the effects of immediate heading exposure, demonstrated that the increases in S-100B serum levels 1 h after a session of heading and also after a session of normal exercise were insignificant and that these concentrations returned to the starting values 6 h after both training sessions. However, S-100B serum levels were significantly elevated, at the three measurement points, after heading when compared to normal exercise. Importantly, none of the young amateur soccer players reached S-100B serum levels verified in subjects showing traumatic brain injury with visible brain damage.

Stålnacke et al. (24) analyzed serum concentrations of two biochemical markers - S-100B and neuron-specific enolase (NSE), a cytoplasmatic enzyme that occurs predominantly in neurons and is also considered as a biomarker of brain tissue damage (23) - in male professional soccer players with a mean age of 26 years. Blood samples were taken from the participants before and after a competitive game and the numbers of headings and of trauma events during soccer play were obtained by video recordings. The results showed that serum concentrations of both S-100B and NSE significantly increased after the game in comparison with the pre-game values. Also, increases in S-100B were significantly and positively correlated to the number of headings and to the number of other trauma events. However, as emphasized by the authors, although heading may have contributed to these increases, the mechanisms involved in the rise of serum concentrations of the biochemical markers are not known yet. A further study by Stålnacke et al. (25), which also examined the consequences of immediate heading exposure, aimed to

investigate serum levels of S-100B and NSE in female professional soccer players, with a mean age of 23 years. The results were very similar to that verified in male players, that is, the game induced increases in serum concentrations of S-100B and NSE, and there were significant correlations between the number of headings and of other trauma events and S-100B level increase.

In a study involving male professional soccer players aged between 19 and 35 years, Straume-Naesheim et al. (26) explored the effects of immediate heading exposure, by comparing serum levels of S-100B under four different conditions: after a head impact occurring during a regular league match, after a regular league match with no recorded head trauma, after a high-intensity training session without heading, and after a low-intensity training session with heading exercises only. Blood samples were taken at baseline, within 1 h after the match or the training session (B1), and the next morning (B12). All groups had a significant increase in serum concentrations of S-100B between baseline and B1 and a similar significant decrease from B1 to B12. The increase for the match groups was significantly higher than for the training groups, but no significant differences were seen between the two match groups or the two training groups for any of the sampling time points. In the match group without head trauma, there was no correlation between serum level of S-100B and number of headings. Furthermore, in the training group with heading exercises, no relationship was detected between serum concentration of S-100B and perceived heading intensity. The results suggest that both soccer matches and soccer training cause a transient increase in S-100B. According to the researchers, there is a possible additive effect of high-intensity exercise and heading, but minor head impacts do not seem to cause an additional increase.

Bamaç et al. (27) investigated the effects of immediate heading exposure on serum levels of nerve growth factor (NGF) and brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) in male professional soccer players with a mean age of 24 years. NGF and BDNF, members of the neurotrophin family, are argued to be reliable markers of brain damage when released into the circulation (28). Each player completed a series of 15 headings and blood samples were obtained just before and after the training. The results showed that NGF and BDNF serum levels were significantly elevated in response to heading exercise. The authors speculate that the microtrauma caused by repetitive heading and/or the course of survival of the injured neurons may lead to increased NGF and BDNF levels. However, they acknowledge that measurements in peripheral blood can reflect only a limited view of the whole metabolism of these neurotrophins.

Another recent study by Koerte et al. (29) evaluated brain neurochemistry, by using magnetic resonance spectroscopy, in male former professional soccer players, with a mean age of 52 years, without a known history of concussion, in comparison to age- and gender-matched former professional non-contact sport athletes. As in their more recent investigation (18), which involved nearly the same groups of subjects, all participants were still actively participating in their respective sports at the time of the study and, in the group of soccer players, lifetime estimate of headings, an approximate calculation of long-term heading exposure, was also based on the athlete's self-report. The results showed significant increases in choline, a marker of membrane disruption, and myo-inositol, a marker of glial activation, in soccer players when compared with controls. In addition, myoinositol and glutathione, an anti-oxidant, were significantly and positively correlated with lifetime estimate of headings in the soccer group. A brief cognitive and balance evaluation revealed no significant differences between groups. This study suggests, as pointed out by the authors, a possible association between heading and altered brain neurochemistry in soccer players. It is possible that even subconcussive head impacts may affect brain chemical concentrations and precede cognitive alterations, although these data are still preliminary.

It is important to emphasize that research on biochemical markers of brain damage in soccer players has also produced controversial findings. Zetterberg et al. (30), who aimed to investigate the consequences of immediate heading exposure, examined serum and cerebrospinal fluid concentrations of some biomarkers of brain injury in male amateur soccer players aged between 19 and 32 years and age- and gender-matched non-athletic control subjects. The players participated in a training session that involved heading a ball kicked from a distance of 30 m. Some players were instructed to perform 10 headings, whereas others were required to perform 20 headings. The participants underwent lumbar puncture - for measurement of neurofilament light protein (NF-L), total tau protein (T-tau), glial fibrillary acidic protein (GFAP), S-100B, and albumin - and serum sampling - for measurement of S-100B and albumin - 7-10 days after the training session. There were no significant differences in serum and cerebrospinal fluid concentrations between soccer players who had performed 10 or 20 headings or between either of these two groups and the control group. Also, biomarker levels did not correlate with the number of headings performed. Therefore, the results suggest that standardized headings in soccer are not associated with known biochemical signs of acute brain injury.

Another study, conducted by Stålnacke and Sojka (31), also explored the effects of immediate heading exposure and aimed to analyze whether the controlled heading of soccer balls was associated with increased serum concentrations of S-100B. Male amateur soccer players, with a mean age of 22 years, were randomly divided into two groups. Players in the experimental group were instructed to perform 5 headings of a ball which was dropped from a height of 18 m, while players in the control group performed no headings. Blood samples were taken before and 30 min, 2, and 4 h after the heading session. The results showed no significant increases in serum concentrations of S-100B in the experimental group at any time point after headings, in comparison with baseline measures. Also, there were no significant differences in serum levels of S-100B between groups, either before or after the heading session. The researchers argue that, in this investigation, the impact probably was not sufficient to cause biochemically discernible damage of brain tissue.

EFFECTS OF SOCCER HEADING ON BRAIN FUNCTION

Similar to the research addressing the effects of soccer heading on brain structure, the literature investigating the effects of these subconcussive impacts on brain function has produced contradictory findings, as summarized in Tables 2 and 3. Tysvaer and Løchen (32) examined the consequences of long-term heading exposure, by investigating neuropsychological performance of male former professional soccer players aged between 35 and 64 years. The players were compared with a control group of age- and education-matched hospitalized patients suffering from a variety of disorders, but having no history of head or neck injuries and no evidence of brain damage. The neuropsychological examination, which included tests of attention, concentration, memory, and judgment, demonstrated that 81% of the soccer players had some degree of impairment, compared to 40% of the controls with only a mild degree of impairment. The authors hypothesize that their findings probably reflect the cumulative result of repeated traumas from heading the ball. However, the study offers no evidence of a clear association between heading and cognitive impairment.

A study conducted by Matser et al. (7) compared male professional soccer players (mean age 25.4 years) with a group of age- and gender-matched elite non-contact sport athletes for level of cognitive functioning, by using an extensive neuropsychological test battery. Professional soccer players reported a median of 800 headings during competitive matches in one soccer season, a period of time that can be considered as involving short-term heading exposure, and 54% of them experienced one or more soccer-associated concussions with or without loss of consciousness. The results showed that soccer players exhibited more cognitive impairment when compared with controls, as they had poorer performance on verbal and visual memory, planning, and visuoperceptual processing tasks. Moreover, an increasing number of headings and concussions incurred during soccer participation were associated negatively with cognitive functioning. Field position also influenced performance on neuropsychological testing, as forward and defensive players performed significantly poorer than midfield players and goalkeepers on some tasks. According to the researchers, the results suggest that participation in professional soccer may affect adversely some aspects of cognition, which appears to be attributed to increased frequency of heading the ball and soccer-related concussions, although more investigations are needed to allow extrapolating the findings to amateur or lower exposure soccer players.

Downs and Abwender (33) compared male and female soccer players with swimmers on neuropsychological tests assessing motor speed, attention, concentration, reaction time, and conceptual thinking. Each group of participants was composed of college and professional athletes, with a mean age of 19.6 and 42.1 years, respectively. The results showed that soccer players performed worse than swimmers on measures of conceptual thinking. In particular, the subgroup of older soccer players performed poorer than all other subgroups on measures of conceptual thinking and reaction time. The neuropsychological test scores did not vary as a function of reported history of concussion. Moreover, in the group of soccer players, estimates of career exposure to brain trauma, based on length of career and level of play, an approximate calculation of long-term heading exposure, predicted significantly poorer performance on measures of conceptual thinking, even after statistically

Reference	Samples	Methods	Heading exposure	Main results
Tysvaer and Løchen (32)	Male former professional soccer players and patients with no evidence of brain injury	Extensive neuropsychological test battery	Long-term exposure	81% of the soccer players had mild-to-severe deficits in tests of attention, concentration, memory, and judgment, compared to 40% of the controls with a mild degree of impairment
Matser et al. (7)	Male professional soccer players and non- contact sport athletes	Extensive neuropsychological test battery	Short-term exposure	Soccer players had poorer performance on verbal and visual memory, planning, and visuoperceptual processing tasks, compared with controls. An increasing number of headings and concussions were associated negatively with cognitive functioning. Forward and defensive players performed poorer than midfield players and goalkeepers on some tests
Downs and Abwender (33)	Male and female amateur and professional soccer players and swimmers	Four tests measuring motor speed, attention, concentration, reaction time, and conceptual thinking	Long-term exposure	Soccer players performed worse than swimmers on conceptual thinking. Older players performed poorly than all other subgroups on conceptual thinking and reaction time. Estimates of heading predicted poorer performance on conceptual thinking
Webbe and Ochs (34)	Male amateur and professional soccer players	Extensive neuropsychological test battery	Immediate and long- term exposure	Soccer players with the highest self-reported estimates of heading who experienced headings within the previous 7 days scored lower on tests of verbal learning, verbally based conceptual performance, planning and attention, and information processing speed than other combinations of heading and recency
Rutherford et al. (35)	Male amateur soccer players and rugby and non-contact sport players	Extensive neuropsychological test battery	Long-term exposure	Performance of soccer players was worse than that of rugby and non- contact sport players on divided attention. Cumulative head injury and cumulative heading were marginal predictors of poorer performance on some tests
Zhang et al. (38)	Female amateur soccer players and non-soccer players	One test measuring executive functioning	Immediate exposure	Soccer players were slower than controls. There was an association between slower reaction times and increased hours of soccer per week and years of soccer experience

controlling for age. As pointed out by the authors, these results suggest that playing soccer may be associated with cognitive impairment, although, due to the cross-sectional design of the investigation, heading may not be specifically implicated as a cause.

In a study which explored the effects of immediate heading exposure, by investigating the interaction between recent heading activity and current heading frequency, as well as the consequences of long-term heading exposure, Webbe and Ochs (34) evaluated the cognitive performance of male amateur and professional soccer players aged between 16 and 34 years. Participants were administered a battery of 6 neuropsychological tests and provided a report of their heading practices by answering a structured interview. Players with the highest self-reported estimates of current heading who also experienced headings within the previous 7 days scored significantly lower on tests that measured verbal learning, verbally based conceptual performance, planning and attention, and information processing speed than the other groups, characterized by heading frequency (high, moderate, or low) and recency (presence or absence of heading practice within the previous 7 days). On the other hand, the basic comparison of neuropsychological performance of soccer players vs. age- and gender-matched control athletes, as well as the comparison across the heading groups showed, at most, a weak heading effect. Also, no significant effect was found for estimates of lifetime heading on neuropsychological performance. The researchers argue that although it is not possible to isolate heading from other sources of head impacts, the results suggest that heading the ball may

be a factor sufficient to depress, at least temporarily, cognitive functioning in some players.

Rutherford et al. (35) compared male university soccer players (mean age 20.5 years) with age- and gender-matched rugby and non-contact sport players, on a range of 16 neuropsychological tests. Cumulative head injury incidence and cumulative heading, an approximate calculation of long-term heading exposure, were estimated by using self-reports and a combination of observation and self-reports, respectively. The only significant difference between groups was in accuracy scores of Test of Attention Performance (TAP) – Divided Attention (36). After control for the influence of the number of head injuries sustained, performance of soccer players was significantly worse than that of rugby and non-contact sport players. Cumulative head injury was a marginal predictor of Trail Making Test B, which measures executive control, and TAP – Divided Attention latencies in a positive fashion. Also, cumulative heading was a marginal predictor of the number of category shifts in the Wisconsin Card Sorting Test (37), which measures executive functioning abilities, in a negative fashion. The authors emphasize that, as consequence of the exploratory analysis, it would be inappropriate to interpret their results as clear evidence of an association between soccer practice, including heading, and neuropsychological impairment. As they point out, this study is limited to identifying relations worthy of further confirmatory examination.

Zhang et al. (38) aimed to investigate if frequent head-to-ball contact could cause cognitive dysfunctions and brain injury to soccer players and compared two groups of high-school female

TABLE 3 | Summary of the studies without evidence of brain function impairment in soccer players.

Reference	Samples	Methods	Heading exposure	Main results
Tysvaer and Storli (39)	Male professional soccer players	Questionnaire elaborated to record the incidence of head injuries due to heading	Long-term exposure	50% of the soccer players reported acute symptoms (e.g., disorientation), 16.4% related protracted symptoms (e.g., headache), and only 4.7% described prolonged symptoms (e.g., weakened memory) due to heading
Putukian et al. (40)	Male and female amateur soccer players	Four tests measuring reaction time, concentration, attention span, speed of information processing, divided attention, and active problem solving	Immediate exposure	There were no differences in pre-test or in post-test scores between athletes who participated in a session of heading practice and athletes who abstained from heading during exercises
Janda et al. (12)	Male and female amateur soccer players	Four tests measuring verbal learning, attention, tracking, information processing speed, and memory	Short-term exposure	After 1 year, no differences were found when comparing pre- season with post-season testing scores. There was no difference between the scores in this study and the standardized norms. There was no correlation between the number of ball impacts and cognitive performance, with the exception of a weak inverse association involving verbal learning in the second year
Stephens et al. (41)	Male amateur soccer players and rugby and non-contact sport players	Extensive neuropsychological test battery	Long-term exposure	There was no difference between groups in scores of all tests. There was no relationship between either cumulative head injury or cumulative heading and cognitive functioning. The only exception was a marginal prediction of poorer performance on divided attention by cumulative heading
Straume- Naesheim et al. (42)	Male professional soccer players	Extensive neuropsychological test battery	Long-term exposure	There was no association between estimated match or lifetime heading exposure and cognitive performance. Only 1.5% of the players qualified as outliers for one or more subtests when compared with the normal range
Kaminski et al. (44)	Female amateur high- school and college soccer players and non-athletes	Two tests measuring concentration, immediate memory recall and verbal memory	Short-term exposure	In both the college and high-school soccer groups, there were no correlations between the total number of headings and the change in scores of all outcome measures from pre-season to post-season. There were no differences between the three groups
Kaminski et al. (45)	Female amateur soccer players	Extensive neuropsychological test battery	Short-term exposure	There was no relationship between the number of headings and neuropsychological performance. None of the cognitive measures demonstrated decreases in performance over a soccer season
Kontos et al. (46)	Male and female amateur soccer players	Extensive neuropsychological test battery and symptom report	Short-term exposure	There were no differences in cognitive performance or symptoms among low, moderate, and high heading exposure groups
Vann Jones et al. (48)	Male retired professional soccer players	One test measuring memory	Long-term exposure	10.9% of the soccer players scored positively for possible mild cognitive impairment or dementia. There was no association between low-risk and high-risk playing positions, respectively, associated with reduced and greater frequency of heading, as well as length of playing career, and a positive screening result

students aged between 15 and 18 years - soccer and non-soccer players - by using a tablet-based approach designed to evaluate executive functioning. This study involved a task in which a visual target appeared randomly at one of the four locations in the screen. In the first situation, the participant was instructed to touch the response box containing the target and, in the second situation, the subject had to touch the response box opposite to the target location. Every soccer player performed head balls during the practice session before the testing, with median 6 head balls per session based on self-reports. No participant in the non-soccer group performed a head ball before testing. Therefore, the authors explored the consequences of immediate heading exposure. Although there were no differences between groups in reaction times in the first situation, soccer players were slower than controls in the second situation, which indicates a disruption specific to voluntary responses. Also, the data showed an association between slower reaction times and

increased hours of soccer per week and years of soccer experience. According to the researchers, the results suggest that even subconcussive impacts could be associated with cognitive function changes that are consistent with mild traumatic brain injury of the frontal lobes. However, further studies are needed to evaluate soccer players for longer periods to investigate if these changes are transient or longer lasting.

Although some studies have suggested some degree of association between heading and brain function impairment, others have not corroborated this result. An early study by Tysvaer and Storli (39), which addressed the effects of long-term heading exposure, aimed to examine to what extent heading produced discomfort or permanent head trouble. Male professional soccer players, aged between 18 and 34 years, answered a questionnaire elaborated to record the incidence of head injuries due to heading. None of the players had been operated on for epi- or subdural hematoma or other brain damage an only a few had suffered concussion. The results also showed that 50% of players reported acute symptoms (e.g., disorientation), 16.4% related protracted symptoms (e.g., headache), and only 4.7% described prolonged symptoms (e.g., weakened memory) due to heading. According to the authors, the questionnaire's data suggest that there seems to be a low percentage of serious head injuries associated with heading practice, although they acknowledge that heading can be dangerous and attention should be paid to teach young players how to head correctly.

Putukian et al. (40) investigated the consequences of immediate heading exposure, by assessing cognitive function of male and female college soccer players before and after typical training sessions. The neuropsychological battery measured reaction time, concentration, attention span, speed of information processing, divided attention, and active problem solving. In one session, the athletes participated in heading practices and, in the other session, they abstained from heading during the exercises. The results showed no differences in pre-test or in post-test scores between heading and non-heading groups. A practice effect was found, since there was an increase in post-test scores compared with pre-test ones, which was consistent between groups. There were also significant differences between males and females in some cognitive test variables. As argued by the researchers, this study was exploratory in nature and only examined the acute effect of heading on a limited number of neuropsychological tests and with a limited sample.

In a study involving a younger population, Janda et al. (12) evaluated the effect of repetitive head impacts due to heading in male and female amateur soccer players with a mean age of 11.5 years, by using a neuropsychological testing protocol and documentation of concussive symptoms. The players were followed over a period of three seasons during the first year and a subgroup of male players was followed for an additional year. Thus, a short-term heading exposure was investigated in this study. The number of times a player headed the ball was monitored throughout the seasons. When comparing pre-season with post-season testing scores, the authors found no significant difference. Also, there was no evidence of difference between the scores in this study and the standardized norms. The data showed no significant correlation between the number of ball impacts and cognitive performance, with the exception of a weak inverse association involving verbal learning in the second year. Of note, however, is the fact that, in the first year, 49% of the players complained of headaches after heading the ball. As pointed out by the authors, it is unclear whether the reported headaches were consequence of mild head injuries or rather localized pain in the region of the impact.

Stephens et al. (41) compared neuropsychological test scores of male school team soccer players with those of male rugby players and non-contact sport players, all aged between 13 and 16 years. Cumulative head injury incidence and cumulative heading, an approximate calculation of long-term heading exposure, were estimated by using self-reports and a combination of observation and self-reports, respectively. The results showed no significant difference between groups in scores of 13 neuropsychological tests. Also, there was no relationship between either cumulative head injury or cumulative heading and cognitive functioning. The only exception was a marginal prediction of *TAP – Divided Attention* accuracy scores by cumulative heading, consistent with the study hypothesis of poorer neuropsychological test performance with increasing cumulative heading. According to the researchers, although this variable should be considered in further research, an interpretation of no heading effects in these adolescent soccer players is more appropriate until results of confirmatory analyses are known.

Another study, conducted by Straume-Naesheim et al. (42), examined the association between long-term heading exposure and previous concussions with performance on neuropsychological tests among male professional soccer players with a mean age of 25.6 years. The athletes completed a questionnaire assessing heading exposure and previous concussions, and a subgroup of players were observed in two to four matches for direct counting of heading actions. All participants were submitted to the computer-based neuropsychological test battery CogSport (43), which measures motor function, decision-making, simple, divided and complex attention, working memory, and learning and memory. The results showed no association between estimated match or lifetime heading exposure and cognitive performance. Importantly, self-reported number of headings correlated well with the observed values. Only 1.5% of the players qualified as outliers for one or more subtasks when compared with the normal range. The number of previous concussions was positively associated with lifetime heading exposure, but there was no association between previous concussions and cognitive performance. Although this study has some important limitations, it reveals no evidence of cognitive impairment caused by subconcussive and concussive trauma in soccer.

Kaminski et al. (44) investigated whether there was a relationship between number of headings taken in a season, which characterizes a short-term heading exposure, and scores on cognitive function and balance in female high-school and college soccer players (mean age 15.1 and 19.1 years, respectively). The study also involved an age- and gender-matched college control group, whose members were not participating in any organized sport. Prior to and immediately following the soccer season, all participants were given a battery of neuropsychological and postural stability tests. Heading data were documented by counting the number of times each player headed the ball during sanctioned games. In both the college and high-school groups, there were no significant correlations between the total number of headings and the change in scores of all outcome measures from pre-season to post-season. Moreover, the authors found no significant differences between the three groups in post-season scores of the neuropsychological tests, which measured concentration and immediate memory recall and verbal memory. The only significant difference was noted in post-season balance scores between the college players and the other two groups, as the first group had a worse performance. However, while the high-school and control groups were slightly improved from pre-season to post-season, the college group did not change, which suggests that one season of soccer participation did not have a detrimental effect on postural control. Therefore, overall, the results showed no evidence of cognitive or balance deficits in female soccer players.

In a further study, also involving female high-school soccer players and exploring the effects of short-term heading exposure, Kaminski et al. (45) evaluated computerized neuropsychological test performance before and after a competitive soccer season and measured the number of headings per match. There was no relationship between purposeful heading and neuropsychological performance. The results indicated that none of the cognitive measures deteriorated. Interestingly, two measures showed small but significant improvements over baseline, which the authors attribute to a test–retest practice effect. Although this investigation involved a large number of participants and provided a perspective over one playing season, studies involving longer time periods are needed to help answer the question about the potential long-term effects of heading practice.

Aiming to compare the effects of low, moderate, and high short-term heading exposure, Kontos et al. (46) investigated male and female amateur soccer players, aged between 13 and 18 years, on computerized cognitive performance and symptoms. Participants completed the Immediate Postconcussion Assessment and Cognitive Testing (ImPACT), a previously validated test battery used to assess and manage concussions in sports (47), which includes a report of concussive symptoms and measures verbal memory, visual memory, motor processing speed, reaction time, and impulse control. The researchers recorded observed numbers of headings for each player during two randomly selected practices and games for each of the soccer teams during a season. The results showed no differences in computerized cognitive performance or symptoms among low, moderate, and high heading exposure groups. Moreover, the sample of soccer players scored significantly higher across all cognitive tasks and reported fewer symptoms than the age- and gender-matched 10th percentile (i.e., unusually low) norms. A comparison between genders revealed that males headed the ball more frequently and showed lower verbal and visual memory and motor processing speed scores than females. According to the researchers, the findings do not support a relationship between soccer heading exposure and cognitive impairment and symptoms in male and female youth soccer players. They suggest that if any association exists, it is subtle and may affect only a small number of athletes, which deserves future investigation.

In a recent study, Vann Jones et al. (48) questioned whether long-term heading exposure was associated with persistent cognitive decline. Male retired professional soccer players were required to complete a self-assessed test of cognition, the Test Your Memory questionnaire, a previously validated tool (49). Further information was collected in order to analyze the potential effect of a number of variables on cognition. The mean age of the participants and the mean length of the professional playing career were 67.4 and 13.8 years, respectively. The results showed that 10.9% of the responders scored positively for possible mild cognitive impairment or dementia. There was no association between low-risk and high-risk playing positions, respectively, associated with reduced and greater frequency of heading, as well as length of playing career, and a positive screening result. As expected, age was a risk factor, although this was not significantly different from the local population prevalence for mild cognitive impairment across age groups over 65 years (50). Therefore, the

results demonstrated no evidence of association between chronic subconcussive head injury in soccer and accelerated cognitive decline. The authors suggest that the short-term and mediumterm cognitive impairment caused by heading may only be transient. Thus, once the players end their playing careers, their risk of cognitive decline would fall in line with the population. However, future longitudinal studies involving larger samples of professional soccer players are needed to support these findings.

FINAL COMMENTS

The research about the effects of heading on brain structure and function has produced intriguing results, but the findings are still inconclusive. There are very few studies involving neuroimaging techniques in order to investigate possible associations between heading practice and brain structure abnormalities in soccer players. Also, a small number of studies have evaluated biochemical markers of brain injury in these individuals. Both neuroimaging and biomarker technologies are promising areas of research that should be more explored in future investigations for assessing the effects of heading.

Although the number of studies addressing the effects of subconcussive impacts on brain function is relatively greater, when compared to the amount of investigations focused on brain structure, questions persist as to whether or not heading is deleterious to cognitive functioning. Many of these studies have methodological limitations, which should be taken into account when considering discrepancies in results, including lack of a suitable control group, failure to control for history of concussion, lack of screening for alcohol use, estimates of heading exposure based on self-reports, small sample size, low or unknown response rates, inappropriate statistical methods, among others. It is also important to note that most research in this area has concentrated on male soccer players. The growth of the female soccer population at all levels of competition (44) calls attention to the need of including these athletes in further studies.

It is noteworthy, although not focused in this review, that some investigations [e.g., see Ref. (51–55)] have addressed the effects of heading practice specifically on postural stability and oculomotor control, which ultimately also reflect brain functioning. However, their results are still inconclusive. Moreover, other relevant studies [e.g., see Ref. (56–60)] have investigated biomechanical aspects of heading, by exploring measurements of head impact, which can help to better understand the risk and safety of heading a soccer ball.

It has been estimated that professional soccer players play approximately 300 games and head the ball more than 2000 times during their careers (39). The technique of heading is complex and varies for different game situations. Proper heading technique, which involves stabilization of the neck musculature as well as the torso to reduce rotational forces, may protect soccer players from possible deleterious effects (5). In this sense, younger players may be at a great risk for head and neck injury from heading, since their technique is not yet fully developed. While learning this skill, several impacts will probably occur using an improper technique. In addition, a study involving female high-school soccer players (61) demonstrated significant, albeit moderate, negative correlations between neck strength and head acceleration from heading. Thus, as pointed out by the authors, the results suggest that athletes with weaker necks cannot tolerate headings as well as athletes with stronger necks. Therefore, more studies involving individuals in the formative years of development of soccer skills, including investigations about validity of protection equipment as well as age-appropriated soccer balls, could be valuable.

Considering that soccer extends its reach throughout the world, and it is currently the most played sport, the long-term consequences of soccer-related concussive and subconcussive brain trauma may represent a major public health problem. As emphasized by some authors (62), although a spectrum of chronic neurological injuries may occur, a primary concern involves chronic traumatic encephalopathy. All reported neuropathologically confirmed cases of this neurodegenerative disease have history of repetitive brain trauma, although not all individuals with such a history develop the pathology (63, 64). The prevalence of chronic traumatic encephalopathy, originally reported in boxers by Martland (65), is still unknown and an

REFERENCES

- 1. Kunz M. 265 Million Playing Football. Zurich: FIFA Magazine (2007). p. 10-5.
- Schmidt-Olsen S, Jørgensen U, Kaalund S, Sørensen J. Injuries among young soccer players. Am J Sports Med (1991) 19:273–5. doi:10.1177/ 036354659101900311
- Cantu RC. Athletic head injuries. Clin Sports Med (1997) 16:531–42. doi:10.1016/S0278-5919(05)70038-7
- Delaney JS, Lacroix VJ, Gagne C, Antoniou J. Concussions among university football and soccer players: a pilot study. *Clin J Sport Med* (2001) 11:234–40. doi:10.1097/00042752-200110000-00005
- Tysvaer AT. Head and neck injuries in soccer. Impact of minor trauma. Sports Med (1992) 14:200–13. doi:10.2165/00007256-199214030-00006
- Autti T, Sipilä L, Autti H, Salonen O. Brain lesions in players of contact sports. Lancet (1997) 349:1144. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(05)63019-X
- Matser JT, Kessels AG, Jordan BD, Lezak MD, Troost J. Chronic traumatic brain injury in professional soccer players. *Neurology* (1998) 51:791–6. doi:10.1212/WNL.51.3.791
- Covassin T, Swanik CB, Sachs ML. Epidemiological considerations of concussions among intercollegiate athletes. *Appl Neuropsychol* (2003) 10:12–22. doi:10.1207/S15324826AN1001_3
- Levy ML, Kasasbeh AS, Baird LC, Amene C, Skeen J, Marshall L. Concussions in soccer: a current understanding. *World Neurosurg* (2012) 78:535–44. doi:10.1016/j.wneu.2011.10.032
- O'Kane JW, Spieker A, Levy MR, Neradilek M, Polissar NL, Schiff MA. Concussions among female middle-school soccer players. *JAMA Pediatr* (2014) 168:258–64. doi:10.1001/jamapediatrics.2013.4518
- Comstock RD, Currie DW, Pierpoint LA, Grubenhoff JA, Fields SK. An evidence-based discussion of heading the ball and concussions in high-school soccer. JAMA Pediatr (2015) 169:830–7. doi:10.1001/jamapediatrics.2015.1062
- Janda DH, Bir CA, Cheney AL. An evaluation of the cumulative concussive effect of soccer heading in the youth population. *Inj Control Saf Promot* (2002) 9:25–31. doi:10.1076/icsp.9.1.25.3324
- Spiotta AM, Bartsch AJ, Benzel EC. Heading in soccer: dangerous play? Neurosurgery (2012) 70:1–11. doi:10.1227/NEU.0b013e31823021b2
- Bailes JE, Petraglia AL, Omalu BI, Nauman E, Talavage T. Role of subconcussion in repetitive mild traumatic brain injury. *J Neurosurg* (2013) 119:1235–45. doi:10.3171/2013.7.JNS121822
- Lipton ML, Kim N, Zimmerman ME, Kim M, Stewart WF, Branch CA, et al. Soccer heading is associated with white matter microstructural and cognitive abnormalities. *Radiology* (2013) 268:850–7. doi:10.1148/radiol.13130545

in vivo diagnosis is not currently possible, which may enhance the concern about potential consequences of heading practice.

Further studies, especially with longitudinal designs, are needed to clarify the clinical significance of heading as a cause of brain injury, which remains controversial and unexplored, and to identify risk factors. Such investigations might contribute to the establishment of safety guidelines that could help to minimize the risk of possible adverse effects of soccer on brain structure and function.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors gave substantial contributions to conception and design of the article. AR drafted the work, and RL and PC revised it critically. All authors approved the final version of the review and are accountable for all aspects of the study.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

PC, M.D., Ph.D., is supported by CNPq, Brazil.

- Sortland O, Tysvaer AT. Brain damage in former association football players: an evaluation by cerebral computed tomography. *Neuroradiology* (1989) 31:44–8.
- Grieve SM, Williams LM, Paul RH, Clark CR, Gordon E. Cognitive aging, executive function, and fractional anisotropy: a diffusion tensor MR imaging study. Am J Neuroradiol (2007) 28:226–35.
- Koerte IK, Mayinger M, Muehlmann M, Kaufmann D, Lin AP, Steffinger D, et al. Cortical thinning in former professional soccer players. *Brain Imaging Behav* (2015). doi:10.1007/s11682-015-9442-0
- Lezak M. Neuropsychological Assessment. 3rd ed. Oxford: Oxford University Press (1995).
- Shin MS, Park SY, Park SR, Seol SH, Kwon JS. Clinical and empirical applications of the Rey-Osterrieth complex figure test. *Nat Protoc* (2006) 1:892–9. doi:10.1038/nprot.2006.115
- Jordan SE, Green GA, Galanty HL, Mandelbaum BR, Jabour BA. Acute and chronic brain injury in United States National Team soccer players. *Am J Sports Med* (1996) 24:205–10. doi:10.1177/036354659602400216
- Mussack T, Dvorak J, Graf-Baumann T, Jochum M. Serum S-100B protein levels in young amateur soccer players after controlled heading and normal exercise. *Eur J Med Res* (2003) 8:457–64.
- Herrmann M, Curio N, Jost S, Wunderlich MT, Synowitz H, Wallesch CW. Protein S-100B and neuron specific enolase as early neurobiochemical markers of the severity of traumatic brain injury. *Restor Neurol Neurosci* (1999) 14:109–14.
- Stålnacke BM, Tegner Y, Sojka P. Playing soccer increases serum concentrations of the biochemical markers of brain damage S-100B and neuron-specific enolase in elite players: a pilot study. *Brain Inj* (2004) 18:899–909. doi:10.108 0/02699050410001671865
- 25. Stålnacke BM, Ohlsson A, Tegner Y, Sojka P. Serum concentrations of two biochemical markers of brain tissue damage S-100B and neurone specific enolase are increased in elite female soccer players after a competitive game. *Br J Sports Med* (2006) 40:313–6. doi:10.1136/bjsm.2005.021584
- Straume-Naesheim TM, Andersen TE, Jochum M, Dvorak J, Bahr R. Minor head trauma in soccer and serum levels of S-100B. *Neurosurgery* (2008) 62:1297–306. doi:10.1227/01.neu.0000333301.34189.3d
- Bamaç B, Tamer GS, Colak T, Colak E, Seyrek E, Duman C, et al. Effects of repeatedly heading a soccer ball on serum levels of two neurotrophic factor of brain tissue, BDNF and NGF, in professional soccer players. *Biol Sport* (2011) 28:177–81. doi:10.5604/959284
- Hicks RR, Martin VB, Zhang L, Seroogy KB. Mild experimental brain injury differentially alters the expression of neurotrophin and neurotrophin receptor

mRNAs in the hippocampus. *Exp Neurol* (1999) **160**:469–78. doi:10.1006/ exnr.1999.7216

- Koerte IK, Lin AP, Muehlmann M, Merugumala S, Liao H, Starr T, et al. Altered neurochemistry in former professional soccer players without a history of concussion. *J Neurotrauma* (2015) 32:1–7. doi:10.1089/ neu.2014.3715
- Zetterberg H, Jonsson M, Rasulzada A, Popa C, Styrud E, Hietala MA, et al. No neurochemical evidence for brain injury caused by heading in soccer. Br J Sports Med (2007) 41:574–7. doi:10.1136/bjsm.2007.037143
- Stålnacke BM, Sojka P. Repeatedly heading a soccer ball does not increase serum levels of S-100B, a biochemical marker of brain tissue damage: an experimental study. *Biomark Insights* (2008) 3:87–91.
- Tysvaer AT, Løchen EA. Soccer injuries to the brain: a neuropsychologic study of former soccer players. Am J Sports Med (1991) 19:56–60. doi:10.1177/036354659101900109
- Downs DS, Abwender D. Neuropsychological impairment in soccer athletes. J Sports Med Phys Fitness (2002) 42:103–7.
- Webbe FM, Ochs SR. Recency and frequency of soccer heading interact to decrease neurocognitive performance. *Appl Neuropsychol* (2003) 10:31–41. doi:10.1207/S15324826AN1001_5
- Rutherford A, Stephens R, Potter D, Fernie G. Neuropsychological impairment as a consequence of football (soccer) play and football heading: preliminary analyses and report on university footballers. *J Clin Exp Neuropsychol* (2005) 27:299–319. doi:10.1080/13803390490515504
- 36. Zimmerman P, Fimm B. Test for Attentional Performance (TAP) Version 1.02, Operating Manual. Herzogenrath: Psytest (1995).
- Iverson G, Slick D, Franzen M. Clinical normative data for the WCST-64 following uncomplicated mild head injury. *Appl Neuropsychol* (2000) 7:247–51. doi:10.1207/S15324826AN0704_7
- Zhang MR, Red SD, Lin AH, Patel SS, Sereno AB. Evidence of cognitive dysfunction after soccer playing with ball heading using a novel tablet-based approach. *PLoS One* (2013) 8(2):e57364. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0057364
- Tysvaer A, Storli O. Association football injuries to the brain: a preliminary report. Br J Sports Med (1981) 15:163–6. doi:10.1136/bjsm.15.3.163
- Putukian M, Echemendia RJ, Mackin S. The acute neuropsychological effects of heading in soccer: a pilot study. *Clin J Sport Med* (2000) 10:104–9. doi:10.1097/00042752-200004000-00004
- Stephens R, Rutherford A, Potter D, Fernie G. Neuropsychological impairment as a consequence of football (soccer) play and football heading: a preliminary analysis and report on school students (13-16 years). *Child Neuropsychol* (2005) 11:513–26. doi:10.1080/092970490959629
- Straume-Naesheim TM, Andersen TE, Dvorak J, Bahr R. Effects of heading exposure and previous concussions on neuropsychological performance among Norwegian elite footballers. *Br J Sports Med* (2005) **39**(Suppl I):i70–7. doi:10.1136/bjsm.2005.019646
- Collie A, Darby D, Maruff P. Computerized cognitive assessment of athletes with sports related head injury. *Br J Sports Med* (2001) 35:297–302. doi:10.1136/bjsm.35.5.297
- 44. Kaminski TW, Wikstrom AM, Gutierrez GM, Glutting JJ. Purposeful heading during a season does not influence cognitive function or balance in female soccer players. J Clin Exp Neuropsychol (2007) 29:742–51. doi:10.1080/13825580600976911
- Kaminski TW, Cousino ES, Glutting JJ. Examining the relationship between purposeful heading in soccer and computerized neuropsychological test performance. *Res Q Exerc Sport* (2008) **79**:235–44. doi:10.1080/02701367.2 008.10599486
- Kontos AP, Dolese A, Elbin RJ III, Covassin T, Warren BL. Relationship of soccer heading to computerized neurocognitive performance and symptoms among female and male youth soccer players. *Brain Inj* (2011) 25:1234–41. d oi:10.3109/02699052.2011.608209
- Schatz P, Pardini JE, Lovell MR, Collins MW, Podell K. Sensitivity and specificity of the ImPACT test battery for concussion in athletes. *Arch Clin Neuropsychol* (2006) 21:91–9. doi:10.1016/j.acn.2005.08.001
- Vann Jones SA, Breakey RW, Evans PJ. Heading in football, long-term cognitive decline and dementia: evidence from screening retired professional

footballers. Br J Sports Med (2014) 48:159-61. doi:10.1136/bjsports-2013-092758

- Koekkoek PS, Rutten GE, van den Berg E, van Sonsbeek S, Gorter KJ, Kappelle LJ, et al. The "test your memory" test performs better than the MMSE in a population without known cognitive dysfunction. *J Neurol Sci* (2013) 328:92–7. doi:10.1016/j.jns.2013.02.028
- Fish M, Bayer AJ, Gallacher JE, Bell T, Pickering J, Pedro S, et al. Prevalence and pattern of cognitive impairment in a community cohort of men in South Wales: methodology and findings from the Caerphilly prospective study. *Neuroepidemiology* (2008) 30:25–33. doi:10.1159/000115439
- Mangus BC, Wallmann HW, Ledford M. Analysis of postural stability in collegiate soccer players before and after an acute bout of heading multiple soccer balls. Sports Biomech (2004) 3:209–20. doi:10.1080/14763140408522841
- Broglio SP, Guskiewicz KM, Sell TC, Lephart SM. No acute changes in postural control after soccer heading. Br J Sports Med (2004) 38:561–7. doi:10.1136/ bjsm.2003.004887
- Schmitt DM, Hertel J, Evans TA, Olmsted LC, Putukian M. Effect of an acute bout of soccer heading on postural control and self-reported concussion symptoms. *Int J Sports Med* (2004) 25:326–31. doi:10.1055/s-2004-819941
- Haran FJ, Tierney R, Wright WG, Keshner E, Silter M. Acute changes in postural control after soccer heading. *Int J Sports Med* (2013) 34:350–4. doi: 10.1055/s-0032-1304647
- Kawata K, Tierney R, Phillips J, Jeka JJ. Effect of repetitive sub-concussive head impacts on ocular near point of convergence. *Int J Sports Med* (2016). doi:10 .1055/s-0035-1569290
- Naunheim RS, Standeven J, Richter C, Lewis LM. Comparison of impact data in hockey, football, and soccer. J Trauma (2000) 48:938–41. doi:10.1097/00005373-200005000-00020
- Naunheim RS, Bayly PV, Standeven J, Neubauer JS, Lewis LM, Genin GM. Linear and angular head accelerations during heading of a soccer ball. *Med Sci Sports Exerc* (2003) 35:1406–12. doi:10.1249/01.MSS.0000078933.84527.AE
- Tierney RT, Higgins M, Caswell SV, Brady J, McHardy K, Driban JB, et al. Sex differences in head acceleration during heading while wearing soccer headgear. J Athl Train (2008) 43:578–84. doi:10.4085/1062-6050-43.6.578
- Dezman ZD, Ledet EH, Kerr HA. Neck strength imbalance correlates with increased head acceleration in soccer heading. *Sports Health* (2013) 5:320–6. doi:10.1177/1941738113480935
- Ponce E, Ponce D, Andresen M. Modeling heading in adult soccer players. IEEE Comput Graph Appl (2014) 34:8–13. doi:10.1109/MCG.2014.96
- Gutierrez GM, Conte C, Lightbourne K. The relationship between impact force, neck strength, and neurocognitive performance in soccer heading in adolescent females. *Pediatr Exerc Sci* (2014) 26:33–40. doi:10.1123/ pes.2013-0102
- Montenigro PH, Corp DT, Stein TD, Cantu RC, Stern RA. Chronic traumatic encephalopathy: historical origins and current perspective. *Annu Rev Clin Psychol* (2015) 11:309–30. doi:10.1146/annurev-clinpsy-032814-112814
- McKee AC, Stein TD, Nowinski CJ, Stern RA, Daneshvar DH, Alvarez VE, et al. The spectrum of disease in chronic traumatic encephalopathy. *Brain* (2013) 136:43–64. doi:10.1093/brain/aws307
- Stern RA, Daneshvar DH, Baugh CM, Seichepine DR, Montenigro PH, Riley DO, et al. Clinical presentation of chronic traumatic encephalopathy. *Neurology* (2013) 81:1122–9. doi:10.1212/WNL.0b013e3182a55f7f
- Martland HS. Punch drunk. JAMA (1928) 91:1103-7. doi:10.1001/ jama.1928.02700150029009

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2016 Rodrigues, Lasmar and Caramelli. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

